# Families and functioning in childhood and adolescence

**Edited by** Liane Simon and Olaf Kraus De Camargo

**Published in** Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-927-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-927-0

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# Families and functioning in childhood and adolescence

#### **Topic editors**

Liane Simon — Medical School Hamburg, Germany Olaf Kraus De Camargo — McMaster University, Canada

#### Citation

Simon, L., De Camargo, O. K., eds. (2022). *Families and functioning in childhood and adolescence*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-927-0

#### 🐉 **frontiers** | Research Topics

# Table of contents

05	Editorial: Families and Functioning in Childhood and
	Adolescence

Liane Simon and Olaf Kraus de Camargo

- 07 Understanding Stability and Change in Perceived Social Support in Parents of Autistic Children and Adolescents Jonathan A. Weiss, Suzanne Robinson, Rebecca Pillai Riddell and David Flora
- 17 Information and Empowerment of Families of Children With Cerebral Palsy in Brazil: The Knowledge Translation Role of Nossa Casa Institute

Marina J. Airoldi, Beatriz S. Vieira, Rachel Teplicky, Deborah Chalfun, Rafael G. A. S. Bonfim, Marisa C. Mancini, Peter Rosenbaum and Marina B. Brandão

- 23 Fathers Matter: Enhancing Healthcare Experiences Among Fathers of Children With Developmental Disabilities Tatiana Ogourtsova, Maureen E. O'Donnell, Derrick Chung, Frank Gavin, Aline Bogossian and Annette Majnemer
- 39 A Narrative Review of Function-Focused Measures for Children With Neurodevelopmental Disorders Kajaani Shanmugarajah, Peter Rosenbaum, Mohammad Zubairi and Briano Di Rezze
- 52 Assessing the Quality of Life of Parents of Children With Disabilities Using WHOQoL BREF During COVID-19 Pandemic Usman Ali, Vardah Bharuchi, Nasreen Gulzar Ali and Sidra K. Jafri
- 61 Developmental Disability: Families and Functioning in Child and Adolescence Peter Rosenbaum
- 67 Reconceptualizing the Family to Improve Inclusion in Childhood Disability Research and Practice Michelle Phoenix, Meaghan Reitzel, Rachel Martens and Jeanine Lebsack
- 73 Critically Examining the Person–Environment Relationship and Implications of Intersectionality for Participation in Children's Rehabilitation Services

Meaghan Reitzel, Lori Letts, Briano Di Rezze and Michelle Phoenix

79 Canadian Resources for Siblings of Youth With Chronic Health Conditions to Inform and Support With Healthcare Management: A Qualitative Document Analysis

Linda Nguyen, Hanae Davis, Samantha Bellefeuille, Jessica Havens, Susan M. Jack, Briano Di Rezze, Marjolijn Ketelaar and Jan Willem Gorter

97 A Mixed-Methods Feasibility Study of Integrated Pediatric Complex Care: Experiences of Parents With Care and the Value of Parent Engagement in Research

> Oksana Hlyva, Charlene Rae, Shelby Deibert, Rakhshan Kamran, Haniah Shaikh, Lehana Thabane, Peter Rosenbaum, Anne Klassen and Audrey Lim

108 Investigating the Associations Between Child Autistic Symptoms, Socioeconomic Context, and Family Life: A Pilot Study

> Frank Koziarz, Caroline Roncadin, Anna Kata, Eric Duku, Amber Cauwenbergs, William Mahoney, Briano Di Rezze, Colleen Anderson, Irene Drmic, Judy Eerkes, Kathleen Dekker, Katholiki Georgiades, Lorraine Hoult, Olaf Kraus de Camargo, Olivia Ng, Peter Rosenbaum, Ronit Mesterman, Stephen J. Gentles, Sue Robertson, Teresa Bennett and Stelios Georgiades

115 Child Maltreatment and the Child Welfare System as Environmental Factors in the International Classification of Functioning

> Katherine Kim, Corinne Moss, Jane Jungyoon Park and Christine Wekerle





# **Editorial: Families and Functioning in Childhood and Adolescence**

Liane Simon<sup>1\*</sup> and Olaf Kraus de Camargo<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Family, Child and Social Work, MSH Medical School Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

Keywords: editorial, introduction, families, childhood, adolescence, functioning, authors

#### **Editorial on Research Topic**

#### Families and Functioning in Childhood and Adolescence

In WHO's International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF), "functioning" refers to the sum of functions and structures of the body and mind, the actions people perform, and the execution of activities when participating in diverse life situations. These interact with personal and environmental factors. Functioning in childhood and youth is highly dependent on the family. Every family is different, and the concept of family has changed over time and is diverse in different geographic regions of the world. According to the American Academy of Family Physicians: "A family is a group of individuals with a continuing legal, genetic, and/or emotional relationship. Society relies on the family group to provide for the economic and protective needs of individuals, especially those who are vulnerable." (1).

In the field of child development disciplines (e.g., early intervention, developmental paediatrics, social paediatrics, paediatric rehabilitation, child and youth mental health, etc.) the so-called "main complaints" are brought to the attention of professionals by family members or caregivers. We see and support families who live and struggle with their children and youth. Supporting and encouraging the people with whom a child lives and interacts and improving other environmental factors promotes a child's activity and participation opportunities and improves the child's quality of life. It is a person-centred approach taking into consideration a child's life situation. On the other hand, we know that goals defined by parents would not necessarily match with those a child would describe as meaningful for them (2).

Authors from around the world followed our invitation to publish their ideas and research findings about how to engage and consider family aspects in working with children and adolescents. Those ideas share a common approach in seeing a person within their environment and life situation (3). We are excited to share an extremely diverse, intriguing, and thought-provoking collection of contributions. Embracing a family-centred attitude, some of the articles were co-written with families (parents and youth). This intimate collaboration reflects a paradigm shift described by Nowotny et al. (4) in their book "Re-thinking Science": instead of science speaking to society, we are living in a time where society speaks to science. New knowledge and insights are co-created and developed within meaningful contexts. The science ivory tower is open to the agora of the people for an inclusive conversation.

"Scientists listening to families" is the topic of two articles that describe the perspectives of siblings and fathers, two groups often easily overlooked when caring for children with complex or chronic health conditions (Nguyen et al.; Ogourtsova et al.). Another easily overlooked aspect is that of non-traditional family constellations such as LGBTQ + parents and polygamous and polyamorous families. Phoenix et al. describe how clinicians and service providers can easily create barriers for them to access services by perpetrating systemic patterns of racism, sexism, and ableism. In this vein also belongs the reflection of Reitzel et al. on how an intersectional lens between personal and

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited and reviewed by:

Jerome Edmond Bickenbach, Swiss Paraplegic Research, Switzerland

#### \*Correspondence:

Liane Simon liane.simon@ medicalschool-hamburg.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 19 January 2022 Accepted: 04 February 2022 Published: 24 March 2022

#### Citation:

Simon L and Kraus de Camargo O (2022) Editorial: Families and Functioning in Childhood and Adolescence. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 3:858239. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2022.858239 environmental factors can help us identify the risk for discrimination by expanding the use of the ICF.

With relation to service structures, the importance of familycentred care and how it influences functioning of children and adolescents is described by Rosenbaum who also contributes extensively in disseminating those ideas around the world, as the example from Brazil in this collection demonstrates (Airoldi et al.).

One of the important contributors to child and adolescent functioning is the perceived parental social support as described by Weiss et al. following families with autistic children longitudinally. Such support is further compromised the current COVID-19 pandemic for families with children with disabilities impacting their quality of life as shown by Ali et al. with data from Pakistan.

When families are not available, and children or youth are being cared for by child protection services, different aspects and factors need to be considered. Kim et al. demonstrate in their review of longitudinal studies through the "ICF lens"

#### REFERENCES

- Definition of Family. American Academy of Familty Physicians. (2019). Available online at: https://www.aafp.org/about/policies/all/family-definition. html (accessed January 10, 2019).
- Curtis DJ, Weber L, Smidt KB, Norgaard B. Do we listen to children's voices in physical and occupational therapy? A scoping review. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (2021) 2021:1–22. doi: 10.1080/01942638.2021.2009616
- Cornell KL. Person-in-situation: history, theory, and new directions for social work practice. *PRAXIS*. (2006) 6(Fall):50–7. Available online at: https://www. canonsociaalwerk.eu/1940\_Hamilton/Person%20in%20situation.pdf
- 4. Nowotny H, Scott P, Gibbons M. Re-Thinking Science. Cambridge: Polity Press (2001).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial

how having a distal and proximal assessment of functioning can help in understanding the different risks and trajectories observed in children in care. This insight is innovative and might help in conceptualizing future longitudinal studies within the ICF framework.

We hope that these ideas stimulate our readers to reflect on their own practice and help them to develop inclusive approaches to engage children and families in clinical practice and research.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

LS and OK would like to express their sincere thanks to the authors for sending their articles, which helped to make the volume so interesting and varied.

relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Simon and Kraus de Camargo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Understanding Stability and Change in Perceived Social Support in Parents of Autistic Children and Adolescents

Jonathan A. Weiss<sup>1\*</sup>, Suzanne Robinson<sup>1,2</sup>, Rebecca Pillai Riddell<sup>3</sup> and David Flora<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Developmental Disabilities and Mental Health Laboratory, Department of Psychology, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Roncesvalles Psychology Clinic, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Opportunities to Understanding Childhood Hurt Laboratory, Department of Psychology, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Quantitative Methods, Department of Psychology, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada

Parents of children with autism often have their own support needs. Informal social support can be an important component of managing parenting-related stressors. We know very little about the factors that lead to higher levels of perceived social support or the potential reciprocal relationship social support has with other factors in parents of children with autism. The current longitudinal study examined the reciprocal relations of perceived social support and parent stress and child behavior problems across a 1-year period, using three time points. There was remarkable stability in variables over time. Baseline perceived social support significantly predicted changes in child behavior and parent stress at the 6-month time point, but neither of those variables significantly predicted social support and clarifies how perceived social support relates to other factors longitudinally.

Keywords: social support, autism, parent stress, behavior problems, longitudinal design

#### INTRODUCTION

The benefits of social support are well-documented for parents of individuals with autism [e.g., (1-7)]. Cohen et al. (8) state that social support is "the social resources that persons perceive to be available or that are actually provided to them by non-professionals in the context of both formal support groups and informal helping relationships" (p. 4). *Perceived social support* is the belief that support is adequate or available if needed, reflecting how supported a person feels rather than specific or concrete supports experienced (9). It appears that perceived support can help with a person's well-being regardless of the stressors experienced (10) and may be particularly important within the context of chronic and acute negative life events (11).

Perceived support is consistently linked to well-being in parents, including lower levels of stress (12), depressive symptoms (13), distress (14), and increased self-confidence (15). This pattern is also found in parents of people with autism as well (2), with perceived support being associated with lower mental health problems and greater life satisfaction and general well-being, in both mothers and fathers (4, 16–19). One of the most commonly studied correlates of perceived support is parents' stress (20), broadly defined as the distress, discomfort, or arousal experienced in response to perceived demands.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Olaf Kraus De Camargo, McMaster University, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Julia Schuchard, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Gabriel Ronen, McMaster University, Canada

#### \*Correspondence:

Jonathan A. Weiss jonweiss@yorku.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 12 March 2021 Accepted: 30 April 2021 Published: 02 June 2021

#### Citation:

Weiss JA, Robinson S, Riddell RP and Flora D (2021) Understanding Stability and Change in Perceived Social Support in Parents of Autistic Children and Adolescents. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:679974. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.679974

7

Child behavior problems is a particularly relevant variable to consider in reference to perceived support for parents of people with autism. Individuals with autism may struggle with high levels of irritability, emotion regulation problems, aggression, or self-injurious behaviors, which regularly require parent support (21). For example, in a study of 1,380 parents of children and adolescents with autism, nearly 70% reported that their child had demonstrated aggression toward caregiver, and half toward non-caregivers (22). There is some research to suggest that caregivers may struggle to mobilize support or be more reluctant to seek support when children with autism show more difficult behaviors. From interviews with 46 parents of children with autism, Ryan (23) described parent reluctance to enter public places and struggles to find social acceptance. Without obvious outward signs of their child's disability, parents often perceived judgement from the community when their child acted out or pushed societal norms. Similarly, Gray's (24) qualitative study involving 33 Australian parents of school-aged children (4-19 years) with autism found that parents withdrew from their social networks in response to perceived stigma and the stressful nature of public encounters. Many parents report heightened feelings of isolation when their child had aggressive or disruptive behavior, suggesting a potential link between child behavior and perceived availability of support. A decade later, Gray (25) interviewed 28 of these families again to examine how coping changes over time. Parents reportedly felt more comfortable engaging in social activities in the community because they perceived their child's behaviors to have improved, but parents also had grown accustomed to the longstanding social restrictions that existed for their families. Cross-section surveys confirm this negative correlation between child behavior problems and social support, found in studies of very young children to late adolescence (3, 18, 26).

While there is substantial cross-sectional information to support the idea of associations, we know little about the directionality of perceived social support. To date, no study has examined stress as a determinant of perceived social support longitudinally for parents of individuals with autism, or considered a bidirectional relationship between stress or child behavior problems and perceived social support. While it is possible that changes in stressors or child functioning leads to changes in perceived support, it is also possible that greater support leads to improved perceptions of stressors and stressresponses. More broadly, there is evidence that these variables show a degree of stability over short periods of time (27-30) and it is an empirical question as to the degree of change and stability that is witnessed in community samples of stress, perceived support, and child behavior problems. Using online survey data collected from 249 parents of school-aged children with autism, the current study assessed the relationships between perceived social support and parent perceived stress and child behavior problems across three time points, within a 1-year period. While we expected stability in terms of child behavior problems, we also considered that their presence would lead to changes in perceived social support over time, and that changes in support would lead to changes in behavior problems. Similarly, though we would see stability in parent stress levels, above this we expected strong relationships with support over time.

#### METHODS

#### **Participants**

Baseline data were available for 249 parents who sufficiently completed an online survey (i.e., at least 75% of survey items) and met all eligibility criteria (described below). At time 2 (6 months after baseline), 194 participants responded. At time 3 (12 months after baseline), there were 180 participants (17 of these participants did not respond at time 2). The study had 163 participants complete all three surveys. The 163 participants who sufficiently completed all three time points were compared to the 86 parents who did not. The two groups did not significantly differ on the main study variables or on family and child characteristics including parent education, household income, child age, child autism symptoms, and child adaptive skills (all p > 0.05).

As shown in **Table 1**, parent age ranged from 27 to 62 years (M = 43.98, SD = 6.2, Median = 44). Participants were primarily mothers (95.6%) and currently married/common law (83.1%). Most parents (81.9%) had graduated college or university. Parents were from suburban (39.9%), urban (39.1%), rural (16.5%), and remote (4.4%) settings across Canada. The children with autism ranged in age from 4 to 18 years (M = 11.47, SD = 3.95, Median = 11) and most were male (83.1%). Additional child diagnoses from a physician, as reported by parents, included intellectual disability (42.4%), learning disability (37.8%), attention deficit disorder or attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (38.4%), anxiety or depression (37.1%), and behavior or conduct problems (29.0%). Nearly half (45.7%) had at least one chronic health condition, including epilepsy, cerebral palsy, or asthma.

#### Measures

#### Demographics

Parents reported their own age, gender, marital status, and income as well as their child's age, gender, and diagnoses.

#### Autism Symptoms

The Social Communication Questionnaire—Lifetime (SCQ) (31) was used to assess autism symptom severity. The SCQ is an autism symptom screener assessing social and communication behaviors and consists of 40 yes-or-no items. Higher total scores indicate greater autism symptom severity. The SCQ has shown strong internal consistency, as well as good discriminant validity for distinguishing between children with autism and those without (32). In the current study, baseline scores had adequate internal consistency (coefficient  $\alpha = 0.82$ ).

#### Child Adaptive Behavior

Adaptive behavior was measured as a control variable, using the Waisman Activities of Daily Living Scale (W-ADL) (33). This is a 17-item measure of an individual's independence in performing daily activities (e.g., dressing and undressing or drinking from

**TABLE 1** | Parent, household, and child characteristics.

	N (%) or M (SD)
Parent/household variables	
Age (n = 233)	43.98 (6.21) Range: 27–64
Gender	
Female	238 (95.6)
Male	10 (4.0)
Transgender	1 (0.4)
Relationship status ( $n = 248$ )	
Married/common law	210 (83.1)
Single (never married)	10 (4.0)
Separated/divorced	31 (12.5)
Widowed	1 (0.4)
Education level ( $n = 248$ )	
High school or less	23 (9.2)
Partial college (at least 1 year)	22 (8.9)
College diploma/university undergraduate degree	150 (60.5)
Graduate degree	53 (21.4)
Annual household income after taxes ( $n = 244$ )	
\$45,000 or less	57 (23.4)
\$45,000–95,000	105 (43.0)
\$95,000 or more	82 (33.6)
Geographical Location ( $n = 248$ )	
Suburban area	99 (39.9)
Urban area	97 (39.1)
Rural	41 (16.5)
Remote	11 (4.4)
Child variables	
Age	11.47 (3.95)
	Range: 4–18
Gender	
Female	41 (16.5)
Male	207 (83.1)
Transgender	1 (0.4)
Born outside of Canada	12 (4.8)
Activities of daily living skills (W-ADL)	16.69 (7.11)
	Range: 0–33
Autism Symptoms (SCQ)	22.17 (6.34) Range: 11–38

N = 249.

a cup). Item responses are given using a three-point Likerttype scale, with 0 = Does not do at all and 2 = Independent or does on own. Total scores range from 0 to 34. The WADL has been used with parents of children with intellectual disabilities [e.g., (34)] and with adolescents and adults with autism and no intellectual disability (35). Maenner et al. (33) report good internal consistency and strong validity, as the scale is highly correlated with other measures of adaptive functioning. In the current study, baseline scores had good internal consistency (coefficient  $\alpha = 0.92$ ).

#### **Child Behavior Problems**

Child behavior problems were assessed using the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire [SDQ; (36)]. The 25 items assess prosocial behavior, peer relationship problems, conduct problems, hyperactivity, and emotional symptoms. Each item is scored using a 3-point scale (not true, somewhat, and certainly true) and a total difficulties score is calculated by summing the four problem behavior subscales. Example items include "generally liked by other children," "easily distracted, concentration wanders," and "often loses temper." The scale is meant to serve as a brief behavioral screener and is often used in research involving parents of children with developmental disabilities or autism [e.g., (37, 38)]. In the present study, prosocial behavior and peer subscales were not used because they represent areas of functioning represented in the diagnostic criteria for autism, consistent with other studies [e.g., (21)]. The SDQ has shown good internal consistency, test-retest reliability, and validity for parents of typically developing children (39) and internal consistency has been high in a sample of parents of children with autism (0.97) (38). For the current study, coefficient  $\alpha = 0.78$  for baseline total difficulties (sum of conduct problems, hyperactivity and emotional symptoms).

#### Parent Stress

The Stress subscale from the Depression Anxiety and Stress Scale (DASS-42) (40) is a 14-item scale assessing global perceptions of stress. The stress subscale measures the extent to which individuals had difficulty relaxing, feelings of nervousness, agitation, intolerance, impatience, or irritability in the last week. Item responses are given on a four-point Likert-type scale from 0 (did not apply to me at all) to 3 (applied to me very much or most of the time), where higher scores suggest more perceived stress. Example items include "I found it difficult to tolerate interruptions to what I was doing" and "I was in a state of nervous tension." The scale has shown acceptable reliability for parents of children with developmental disabilities or autism [e.g., (41)], with coefficient  $\alpha$  of 0.85 in a similar study sample (42). Good validity has been demonstrated with a sample of adult psychiatric patients (43) and a non-clinical sample (44). In the current study, baseline scores had good internal consistency (coefficient  $\alpha = 0.94$ ).

#### Perceived Social Support

Perceived social support was measured with the Social Provisions Scale (45). The scale provides a summary score of global perceived availability of social support. The 24 items are scored using a four-point Likert-type scale ranging from *strongly disagree* to *strongly agree*, with higher scores suggesting greater perceptions of support. Example items include "I feel part of a group of people who share my attitudes and beliefs," "there are people I can count on in an emergency," and "there is someone I could talk to about important decisions in my life." The scale had excellent internal consistency in a large-scale study of its psychometric properties (coefficient  $\alpha = 0.92$ ) and good convergent and divergent validity (45). The scale has also shown good reliability in studies involving parents of children with

behavior difficulties (46) and autism (47). In the current study, baseline scores had good internal consistency,  $\alpha = 0.94$ .

#### Procedure

Following approval from University's Research Ethics Board, parents of individuals with autism were recruited through postings on the Canadian autism websites, community organizations, and through an ongoing research database available through the primary researcher's lab. A link to the online consent form and survey was provided and parents were invited to contact the researcher by email or phone to request a paper survey. After parents completed the initial survey, they were invited to complete follow-up surveys 6 and 12 months later.

To be eligible for this study, participants were required to have a school-aged child (between 4 and 18 years of age) with a confirmed diagnosis of an Autism Spectrum Disorder and be able to complete the survey in English. Autism diagnosis was confirmed in two ways. First, the parent confirmed that a professional with the capacity to diagnose provided the child with an autism-related diagnosis (selecting one of the of the following: psychologist, psychiatrist, developmental pediatrician, general pediatrician, family doctor, nurse practitioner, multidisciplinary or developmental team, genetic testing, neurologist) and provided the date of diagnosis. Second, the parent-reported score on the Social Communication Questionnaire—Lifetime (SCQ) (31) was above a pre-specified cut-off score of 11, indicating a possible autism diagnosis (48).

#### **Data Analysis Plan**

Two separate autoregressive cross-lagged path models were calculated, allowing for individual examination of stress and child behavior problems with perceived social support across the three time points. This type of statistical model is used to examine transactional relationships between variables and has recently been used in the field of autism research [e.g., (35, 38, 49, 50)]. The model allows for examination of the directionality of effects between two variables measured over time while also considering auto-regression, which is variable stability across time points. Model fit was assessed using a series of common fit statistics such as comparative fit index (CFI), root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and Tucker-Lewis index (TLI). The individual parameter estimates pertaining to the cross-lagged effects were subsequently interpreted. Robust

maximum likelihood estimation (MLR) (51) was used to account for the possibility of multivariate non-normality and for its effectiveness in dealing with missing data. Demographic variables that showed a significant association with model variables at the bivariate level were included as control variables, to account for many additional stressors that could inadvertently influence the presence of stress, child behavior problems and support, ultimately representing more conservative findings.

#### RESULTS

As shown in **Table 2**, the means and within-variable correlations indicated considerable stability. Further, at Time 1, perceived support was correlated with child adaptive behavior level (r =0.22, p < 0.001), child autism symptom severity (r = -0.18, p =0.003), the presence of at least one chronic health condition  $[t_{(244)}]$ = 2.0, p = 0.04], parent education level (r = 0.27, p < 0.001), and household income level (r = 0.22, p = 0.001). Child behavior problems was associated with child autism symptom severity (r =0.15, p = 0.02), and parent education level (r = -0.18, p = 0.005). Stress was associated with child adaptive behavior (r = -0.19, p =0.003), child autism symptom severity (r = 0.15, p = 0.02), and parent education level (r = -0.16, p = 0.01). Higher perceived social support was significantly related to lower levels of parent stress ( $r = -0.44 \ p < 0.001$ ) and child behavior problems (r =-0.17, p = 0.01). Given this pattern, household income, parent education, presence of child chronic health conditions, child adaptive behavior level, and child autism symptom severity were entered as control variables in both path models.

#### Is There a Reciprocal Relation Between Perceived Social Support and Child Behavior Problems, While Controlling for Continuity Over Time for Both Variables?

Initial model fit for this model was poor (CFI = 0.86; TLI = 0.56; RMSEA = 0.17; SRM r = 0.09). Residual correlations showed strong autoregressive relationships between variables at Time 1 and Time 3, and modification indices suggested that adding direct paths between T1 and T3 would substantially improve the model fit. The adjusted model fit the data well (CFI = 1.0; TLI = 1.0; RMSEA = 0.00; SRM r = 0.01). See **Table 3** for unstandardized estimates and **Figure 1** for the corresponding path diagram with standardized parameter estimates.

TABLE 2 | Descriptive and within-variable correlations of main study variables across time points.

	Baseline	6 months	12 months	T1-T2	T2-T3	T1-T3
	M (SD)	M (SD)	M (SD)	r	r	r
Perceived social support (SPS)	75.06 (11.85)	76.33 (11.46)	74.46 (12.29)	0.77*	0.78*	0.80*
Stress (DASS)	15.46 (8.91)	15.75 (9.43)	14.55 (8.90)	0.60*	0.61*	0.65*
Child behavior (SDQ)	12.86 (5.09)	13.55 (4.72)	13.17 (4.90)	0.65*	0.78*	0.62*

\*p < 0.05.

TABLE 3   Unstandardized estimates of the relationships between perceived
social support and child behavior problems.

	Estimate (SE)	p
SS 6 months		
SS baseline	0.72 (0.05)	<0.001
Behavior baseline	0.08 (0.10)	0.44
Education	0.40 (0.68)	0.55
Household income	-0.07 (0.19)	0.70
Child health condition	-0.82 (1.04)	0.43
Autism symptoms	-0.18 (0.08)	0.02
Adaptive skills	0.10 (0.08)	0.21
Behavior 6 months		
Behavior baseline	0.58 (0.06)	<0.001
SS baseline	-0.06 (0.02)	0.02
Education	0.04 (0.30)	0.97
Household income	-0.03 (0.09)	0.71
Child health condition	0.19 (0.53)	0.67
Autism symptoms	-0.01 (0.04)	0.95
Adaptive skills	-0.01 (0.04)	0.64
SS 12 months		
SS 6 months	0.43 (0.07)	<0.001
SS baseline	0.46 (0.07)	<0.001
Behavior 6 months	-0.24 (0.12)	0.05
Behavior 12 months		
Behavior 6 months	0.70 (0.07)	<0.001
Behavior baseline	0.22 (0.06)	<0.001
SS 6 months	-0.01 (0.02)	0.72

SS = perceived social support.

There were significant autoregressive effects for both perceived social support and child behavior problems, indicating that the prior levels of either variable were strongly related to the same variable's subsequent levels. Specifically, baseline to 6-month social support (b = 0.72, p < 0.001), 6- to 12-month social support (b = 0.43, p < 0.001), baseline to 6-month child behavior (b = 0.58, p < 0.001), and 6- to 12-month behavior (b = 0.70, p < 0.001) were all significant autoregressive effects. Cross-lagged effects showed baseline social support significantly predicted child behavior problems at 6 months (b = -0.06, p = 0.02), but baseline behavior did not significant predict 6-month social support. There were no significant cross-lagged paths from 6 to 12 months.

#### Is There a Reciprocal Relation Between Perceived Social Support and Parent Stress, While Controlling for Continuity Over Time for Both Variables?

The initial planned model with perceived social support and parent stress had an inadequate fit to the data (CFI = 0.84; TLI = 0.70; RMSEA = 0.14; SRM r = 0.10). Based on residual correlations and modification indices, direct paths from social support at time 1 to time 3 and from stress at time 1 to time 3 were added to the model. This modification improved model fit such that the adjusted model fit the data well (CFI = 1.0; TLI = 0.99; RMSEA = 0.03; SRM r = 0.02). Unstandardized results for this model are reported in **Table 4**. As shown in **Figure 2**, both perceived social support and stress were stable over time. Specifically, autoregressive coefficients from baseline to 6-month social support (b = 0.71, p < 0.001), 6- to 12-month support (b = 0.47, p < 0.001), and 6- to 12-month stress (b = 0.33, p < 0.001) were all significant.





TABLE 4   Unstandardized estimates of the relationships between perceived
social support and stress.

	Estimate (SE)	p
SS 6 months		
SS baseline	0.71 (0.05)	<0.001
Stress baseline	-0.04 (0.06)	0.43
Education	0.29 (0.65)	0.66
Household income	-0.04 (0.19)	0.81
Child health condition	-0.67 (1.04)	0.52
Autism symptoms	-0.17 (0.08)	0.03
Adaptive skills	0.09 (0.08)	0.29
Stress 6 months		
Stress baseline	0.57 (0.07)	<0.001
SS baseline	-0.15 (0.05)	0.006
Education	1.76 (0.72)	0.02
Household income	-0.44 (0.19)	0.02
Child health condition	-0.01 (1.14)	0.99
Autism symptoms	-0.10 (0.09)	0.31
Adaptive skills	-0.06 (0.08)	0.48
SS 12 months		
SS 6 months	0.46 (0.08)	< 0.001
SS baseline	0.44 (0.07)	< 0.001
Stress 6 months	-0.05 (0.06)	0.36
Stress 12 months		
Stress 6 months	0.33 (0.09)	< 0.001
Stress baseline	0.41 (0.08)	<0.001
SS 6 months	-0.01 (0.04)	0.77

SS = perceived social support.

The cross-lagged path from baseline social support to stress at 6 months was significant (b = -0.15, p = 0.006), indicating that higher baseline social support is associated with lower levels of stress at 6 months. All other cross-lagged paths were non-significant.

#### DISCUSSION

Results shed light on how perceived support uniquely relates to parent stress and child problem behavior. As expected, there was remarkable stability in our three variables over a 1-year period. In community samples, it is common to find that without major treatment initiatives, many of the stressors associated with chronic neurodevelopmental conditions are themselves chronic, adding to the level of short term relative stability in the presence of behavior problems, which may take longer to change than a 1-year period (52). Stress itself has been described as a state that is associated with stable personality traits, such as neuroticism (53), it is likely that these parent characteristics also inserted a degree of relative consistency across respondents. Given that we can expect little change in stressors, stress, and support within a year, it is important to consider ensuring that families have access to interventions to address their needs in a timely manner to foster greater positive change.

Coupled with the fact that this stability was confirmed over a 1-year period, and that we controlled for many additional potential confounding variables, including parent education level and family household income, child health conditions, and the level of children's adaptive and autism symptoms, it is perhaps unsurprising that the degree of cross-lagged variance accounted for in our models was small though significant in the first 6month period. Cross-lagged models are unique in that they



T3 = 12 months; Dotted lines represent non-significant associations; \*p < 0.05.

control for variable stability across time points and are better equipped to assess reciprocal relationships. This methodology has been used in the autism research field to elucidate the reciprocal relationships among expressed emotion and behavior problems in adults (54), child anxiety and over-responsivity (49), adolescent behavioral development and vocational engagement (35), and child behavior and parent well-being (38, 55). In the current analysis, baseline perceived social support predicted 6month child behavior and 6-month stress, but neither of the latter variables predicted subsequent social support. Greater within-subject variability over time may have resulted in more observations of cross-lagged effects.

The existing research framing child behavior problems as a determinant of perceived social support posits that caregivers may struggle to mobilize supports or are more reluctant to seek support when their children have more difficult behaviors [e.g., (3)]. This pattern was evident in our bivariate correlation analyses, as perceived social support was negatively associated with increased child behavior problems. However, results did not confirm this pattern longitudinally. Specifically, baseline perceived support significantly predicted subsequent child behavior problems at 6 months such that higher levels of perceived social support led to lower levels of child behavior problems, but child behavior did not predict subsequent social support. Research is scant on the potential mechanisms leading from social support to child behavior in the general population. One explanation is that perceived social support influences parenting practices which, in turn, affects child behavior. For instance, Hashima and Amato (56) found that perceived support was negatively associated with punitive parenting practices. Correspondingly, higher levels of parent social support have been associated with increased child praising and less controlling parent behavior (57). Increased social support and a rich social network may expose parents to positive practices or reinforce parenting norms through social pressure (58). The association between parenting practices and perceived support was noted in one study involving parents of children with autism, where perceived social support was correlated with increased perceived limit setting ability, maternal involvement, and satisfaction with parenting (59).

Baseline support was also found to lead to decreased stress at 6 months, though the path from 6-month support to 12month stress was not significant. This result provides partial support for the hypothesis that social support is a resource that may alleviate parent stress, even when past stress levels and known stressors are controlled (e.g., education level, income, child autism symptoms, adaptive skills). There was no evidence that higher stress levels lead to perceived support. These results are consistent with the single existing study examining this bidirectional relationship longitudinally for mothers of children without neurodevelopmental conditions. Green and Rodgers (60) reported that baseline perceived social support predicted perceived stress 1 year later, but stress did not predict subsequent social support over and above baseline social support. Further, in a longitudinal study involving 283 Canadian mothers of young children with autism, higher perceived social support at baseline was associated with lower levels of subsequent parent stress 2 years later (61), but the opposite effect was not investigated. These findings are consistent with cross-sectional studies.

#### Limitations

This study has a number of limitations. Participants were recruited through community organizations and a research lab database, and thus parents were likely engaged with autism services or had previously been active in research activities. Parents were mainly well-educated mothers living in suburban or urban locations and nearly all children were born in Canada. Further work with more diverse samples and comprehensive national recruitment strategies is needed as the current study results may not generalize to all parents of children with autism. Second, the data were collected through self-report surveys and it is possible associations among variables are inflated due to shared method variance. We relied on parent report of the autism diagnosis source (e.g., pediatrician, psychologist), diagnosis date, and parent report SCQ scores. Although the SCQ has been found to a valid screener for autism symptoms, in-person diagnostic testing is ideal. Additionally, the current study investigated social support over a 12-month period and future research should study social support over longer periods of time to better understand patterns of change. Furthermore, survey measures used different time periods of reference and this may have influenced the strength of associations. For instance, the measure of stress asked participants to consider the previous week, while the received support measure focused on the previous 4 weeks. Adjusting the time point reference for consistency would be something to consider for future studies. Finally, future studies could examine other dimensions of social support (e.g., social network characteristics, support needs support from specific sources), assess stress within specific contexts (e.g., parenting stress), or consider other social support determinants such as date of autism diagnosis (61), familial interactions from early childhood (30), parenting practices [e.g., (62)], and personal predispositions [e.g., (63)].

#### Conclusions

After controlling from socioeconomic status, health status and autism symptomology, the stability of perceived social support, parental stress and child behavior challenges were clearly demonstrated. Consistent small to moderate concurrent relationships between perceived social support were and parent stress were found, with minimal evidence for cross-lagged relationships (perceived social support was related to parent stress and behavior problems 6 months later). Examining the concurrent and cross-lagged relationships between perceived social support and child behavior problems, no relationships were found between the 6- and 12-month time point. Given this stability, it is critical that interventions aim to address child behavior problems, stress, and also ways of shifting social support. To our knowledge, within the context of children with autism, there is no existing evidencebased intervention specifically targeting parents' perceptions of their support, though some multi-component programs have incorporated discussions on accessing social support (64– 66). Given the presence of both considerable evidence for parenting stress programs (67) and programs to address child behavior problems (68), early access to methods of improving perceptions of social support would be a logical next line of intervention research.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets presented in this article are not readily available because we are unable to provide access to the dataset related to this work for privacy and consent reasons. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to jonweiss@yorku.ca.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Human Participation Review Committee, York University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### REFERENCES

- Barker ET, Hartley SL, Seltzer MM, Floyd FJ, Greenberg JS, Orsmond GI. Trajectories of emotional well-being in mothers of adolescents and adults with autism. *Dev Psychol.* (2011) 47:551–61. doi: 10.1037/a0021268
- Boyd BA. Examining the relationship between stress and lack of social support in mothers of children with autism. *Focus Autism Other Dev Disabil.* (2002) 17:208–15. doi: 10.1177/10883576020170040301
- Bromley J, Hare DJ, Davison K, Emerson E. Mothers supporting children with autistic spectrum disorders social support, mental health status and satisfaction with services. *Autism.* (2004) 8:409–23. doi: 10.1177/1362361304047224
- Ekas NV, Lickenbrock DM, Whitman TL. Optimism, social support, and wellbeing in mothers of children with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2010) 40:1274–84. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-0986-y
- Gray DE, Holden WJ. Psycho-social well-being among the parents of children with autism. Aust N Z J Dev Disabil. (1992) 18:83– 93. doi: 10.1080/07263869200034841
- Robinson S, Weiss JA, Lunsky Y, Ouellette-Kuntz H. Informal support and burden among parents of adults with intellectual and/or developmental disabilities. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. (2016) 29:356–65. doi: 10.1111/jar.12184
- Robinson S, Weiss JA. Examining the relationship between social support and stress for parents of individuals with autism. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2020) 74:101557. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2020.101557
- 8. Cohen S, Gottlieb B, Underwood L. Social Relationships and Health: Challenges for Measurement and Intervention. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2000).
- Thoits PA. Conceptual, methodological, and theoretical problems in studying social support as a buffer against life stress. J Health Soc Behav. (1982) 23:145–59. doi: 10.2307/2136511
- Cohen S, Wills TA. Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychol Bull.* (1985) 98:310–57. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.98.2.310
- Cohen S. Psychosocial models of the role of social support in the etiology of physical disease. *Health Psychol.* (1988) 7:269–97. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.7.3.269
- Tak YR, McCubbin M. Family stress, perceived social support and coping following the diagnosis of a child's congenital heart disease. *J Adv Nurs.* (2002) 39:190–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2648.2002.02259.x

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JW was responsible for overall supervision of the project, conceptualization, funding, and final manuscript preparation. SR was responsible for conceptualization, data collection and analysis, and initial manuscript preparation. RP and DF provided guidance for research design, data analysis, conceptualization, and contributed to manuscript preparation. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### **FUNDING**

Funding was provided by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Chair in ASD Treatment and Care Research to JW (Grant Number: 8749) and a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council Doctoral Scholarship to SR.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the many parents who contributed to this work.

- Rueger SY, Malecki CK, Pyun Y, Aycock C, Coyle S. A meta-analytic review of the association between perceived social support and depression in childhood and adolescence. *Psychol Bull.* (2016) 142:1017–67. doi: 10.1037/bul0000058
- Cohen AN, Hammen C, Henry RM, Daley SE. Effects of stress and social support on recurrence in bipolar disorder. J Affect Disord. (2004) 82:143– 17. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2003.10.008
- Freeman P, Rees T. Perceived social support from team-mates: direct and stress-buffering effects on self-confidence. *Eur J Sport Sci.* (2010) 10:59– 67. doi: 10.1080/17461390903049998
- Benson PR, Karlof KL. Anger, stress proliferation, and depressed mood among parents of children with ASD: a longitudinal replication. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2009) 39:350–62. doi: 10.1007/s10803-008-0632-0
- Hastings RP, Johnson E. Stress in UK families conducting intensive homebased behavioral intervention for their young child with autism. J Autism Dev Disord. (2001) 31:327–36. doi: 10.1023/A:1010799320795
- Lai F. The relationship between parenting stress, child characteristics, parenting self-efficacy, and social support for parents of children with Autism in Taiwan (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Columbia University, New York, NY, United States (2013).
- Tobing LE, Glenwick DS. Predictors and moderators of psychological distress in mothers of children with pervasive developmental disorders. J Fam Soc Work. (2007) 10:1–22. doi: 10.1300/J039v10n04\_01
- Hayes SA, Watson SL. The impact of parenting stress: a meta-analysis of studies comparing the experience of parenting stress in parents of children with and without autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:629–42. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1604-y
- Totsika V, Hastings RP, Emerson E, Lancaster GA, Berridge DM. A population-based investigation of behavioural and emotional problems and maternal mental health: associations with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry.* (2011) 52:91–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02295.x
- 22. Kanne SM, Mazurek MO. Aggression in children and adolescents with ASD: prevalence and risk factors. J Autism Dev Disord. (2011) 41:926–37. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1118-4
- Ryan S. 'Meltdowns', surveillance and managing emotions; going out with children with autism. *Health Place*. (2010) 16:868–75. doi: 10.1016/j.healthplace.2010.04.012
- 24. Gray DE. Coping with autism: stresses and strategies. *Sociol Health Illn.* (1994) 16:275–300. doi: 10.1111/1467-9566.ep11348729

- Gray DE. Coping over time: the parents of children with autism. J Intellect Disabil Res. (2006) 50:970–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2006.00933.x
- Lamminen LM. Family functioning and social support in parents of children with Autism Spectrum Disorders (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky (2008).
- Carter AS, Martínez-Pedraza FDL, Gray SA. Stability and individual change in depressive symptoms among mothers raising young children with ASD: maternal and child correlates. *J Clin Psychol.* (2009) 65:1270– 80. doi: 10.1002/jclp.20634
- Eaves LC, Ho HH. Brief report: stability and change in cognitive and behavioral characteristics of autism through childhood. J Autism Dev Disord. (1996) 26:557–69. doi: 10.1007/BF02172276
- Joseph L, Thurn A, Farmer C, Shumway S. Repetitive behaviour and restricted interests in young children with autism: comparisons with controls and stability over 2 years. *Autism Res.* (2013) 6:584–95. doi: 10.1002/aur.1316
- Sarason IG, Sarason BR, Shearin EN. Social support as an individual difference variable: its stability, origins, relational aspects. J Pers Soc Psychol. (1986) 50:845–55. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.50.4.845
- Rutter M, Bailey A, Lord C. Social Communication Questionnaire. Los Angeles, CA: Western Psychological Services (2003).
- Berument SK, Rutter M, Lord C, Pickles A, Bailey A. Autism screening questionnaire: diagnostic validity. Br J Psychiatry. (1999) 175:444–51. doi: 10.1192/bjp.175.5.444
- Maenner MJ, Smith LE, Hong J, Makuch R, Greenberg JS, Mailick MR. Evaluation of an activities of daily living scale for adolescents and adults with developmental disabilities. *Disabil Health J.* (2013) 6:8– 17. doi: 10.1016/j.dhjo.2012.08.005
- Weiss JA, Burnham Riosa PB. Thriving in youth with autism spectrum disorder and intellectual disability. J Autism Dev Disord. (2015) 45:1– 13. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2412-y
- Taylor JL, Smith LE, Mailick MR. Engagement in vocational activities promotes dehavioral development for adults with autism spectrum disorders. J Autism Dev Disord. (2014) 44:1447–60. doi: 10.1007/s10803-01 3-2010-9
- 36. Goodman R. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (1997) 38:581– 6. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x
- 37. Emerson E. Use of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire to assess the mental health needs of children and adolescents with intellectual disabilities. J Intellect Dev Disabil. (2005) 30:14–23. doi: 10.1080/13668250500033169
- 38. Totsika V, Hastings RP, Emerson E, Lancaster GA, Berridge DM, Vagenas D. Is there a bidirectional relationship between maternal well-being and child behavior problems in autism spectrum disorders? Longitudinal analysis of a population-defined sample of young children. *Autism Res.* (2013) 6:201– 11. doi: 10.1002/aur.1279
- Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the Strengths and Difficulties questionnaire. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2001) 40:1337– 45. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200111000-00015
- Lovibond PF, Lovibond SH. The structure of negative emotional states: comparison of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS) with the Beck Depression and Anxiety Inventories. *Behav Res Ther.* (1995) 33:335– 43. doi: 10.1016/0005-7967(94)00075-U
- Merkaj V, Kika M, Simaku A. Symptoms of stress, depression and anxiety between parents of autistic children and parents of typically developing children. *Acad J Interdiscip Stud.* (2013) 2:345–52. doi: 10.5901/ajis.2013.v2n2p345
- Seymour M, Wood C, Giallo R, Jellett R. Fatigue, stress and coping in mothers of children with an autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:1547–54. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1701-y
- Clara IP, Cox BJ, Enns MW. Confirmatory factor analysis of the Depression– Anxiety–Stress Scales in depressed and anxious patients. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. (2001) 23:61–7. doi: 10.1023/A:1011095624717
- Crawford JR, Henry JD. The Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS): Normative data and latent structure in a large non-clinical sample. Br J Clin Psychol. (2003) 42:111–31. doi: 10.1348/014466503321903544
- 45. Cutrona CE, Russell DW. The provisions of social relationships and adaptation to stress. *Adv Personal Relat.* (1987) 1:37–67.

- McCabe KM, Yeh M, Lau A, Garland A, Hough R. Racial/ethnic differences in caregiver strain and perceived social support among parents of youth with emotional and behavioral problems. *Ment Health Serv Res.* (2003) 5:137– 47. doi: 10.1023/A:1024439317884
- Renty J, Roeyers H. Individual and marital adaptation in men with autism spectrum disorder and their spouses: The role of social support and coping strategies. J Autism Dev Disord. (2007) 37:1247–55. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0268-x
- Allen CW, Silove N, Williams K, Hutchins P. Validity of the social communication questionnaire in assessing risk of autism in preschool children with developmental problems. J Autism Dev Disord. (2007) 37:1272– 8. doi: 10.1007/s10803-006-0279-7
- Green SA, Ben-Sasson A, Soto TW, Carter AS. Anxiety and sensory over-responsivity in toddlers with autism spectrum disorders: bidirectional effects across time. J Autism Dev Disord. (2012) 42:1112–9. doi: 10.1007/s10803-011-1361-3
- Rodriguez G, Drastal K, Hartley SL. Cross-lagged model of bullying victimization and mental health problems in children with autism in middle to older childhood. *Autism.* (2021) 25:90–101. doi: 10.1177/1362361320947513
- 51. Muthén LK, Muthén BO. *Mplus User's Guide, 2010.* Los Angeles, CA: Muthén and Muthén (2012).
- Simonoff E, Jones CRG, Baird G, Pickles A, Happé F, Charman T. The persistence and stability of psychiatric problems in adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2012) 54:186– 94. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02606.x
- Ebstrup J, Eplov LF, Pisinger C, Jørgensen T. Association between the Five Factor personality traits and perceived stress: is the effect mediated by general self-efficacy? *Anxiety Stress Coping.* (2011) 24:407– 19. doi: 10.1080/10615806.2010.540012
- 54. Greenberg JS, Seltzer MM, Hong J, Orsmond GI. Bidirectional effects of expressed emotion and behavior problems and symptoms in adolescents and adults with autism. *Am J Mental Retard.* (2006) 111:229–49. doi: 10.1352/0895-8017(2006)111229:BEOEEA2.0.CO;2
- Neece CL, Green SA, Baker BL. Parenting stress and child behavior problems: a transactional relationship across time. *Am J Intellect Dev Disabil.* (2012) 117:48–66. doi: 10.1352/1944-7558-117.1.48
- Hashima PY, Amato PR. Poverty, social support, parental behavior. *Child Dev.* (1994) 65:394–403. doi: 10.2307/1131391
- Jennings KD, Stagg V, Connors RE. Social networks and mothers' interactions with their preschool children. *Child Dev.* (1991) 62:966– 78. doi: 10.2307/1131146
- McConnell D, Breitkreuz R, Savage A. From financial hardship to child difficulties: main and moderating effects of perceived social support. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2011) 37:679–91. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2010. 01185.x
- Falk NH, Norris K, Quinn MG. The factors predicting stress, anxiety and depression in the parents of children with autism. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2014) 44:3185–203. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2189-4
- Green BL, Rodgers A. Determinants of social support among low-income mothers: a longitudinal analysis. Am J Commun Psychol. (2001) 29:419– 41. doi: 10.1023/A:1010371830131
- Zaidman-Zait A, Mirenda P, Duku E, Vaillancourt T, Smith IM, Szatmari P, et al. Impact of personal and social resources on parenting stress in mothers of children with autism spectrum disorder. *Autism.* (2017) 21:155– 66. doi: 10.1177/1362361316633033
- Izzo C, Weiss L, Shanahan T, Rodriguez-Brown F. Parental self-efficacy and social support as predictors of parenting practices and children's socioemotional adjustment in Mexican immigrant families. J Prev Interv Commun. (2000) 20:197–213. doi: 10.1300/J005v20n01\_13
- Dunkel-Schetter C, Skokan LA. Determinants of social support provision in personal relationships. J Soc Pers Relat. (1990) 7:437–50. doi: 10.1177/0265407590074002
- 64. Bitsika V, Sharpley C. Development and testing of the effects of support groups on the well-being of parents of children with autism-II: specific stress management techniques. *J App Health Behav.* (2000) 2:8–15.
- 65. Clifford T, Minnes P. Logging on: Evaluating an online support group for parents of children with autism spectrum disorders.

J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:1662–75. doi: 10.1007/s10803-01 2-1714-6

- 66. Elfert M, Mirenda P. Evaluation of a support group for fathers of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Can J Couns Psychother*. (2015) 49:115–38.
- Da Paz NS, Wallander JL. Interventions that target improvements in mental health for parents of children with autism spectrum disorders: a narrative review. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2017) 51:1–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2016.10.006
- Tarver J, Pamer M, Webb S, Scott S, Slomins V, Simonoff E, et al. Child and parent outcomes following parent interventions for child emotional and behavioral problems in autism spectrum disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Autism.* (2019) 23:1630–44. doi: 10.1177/1362361319830042

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Weiss, Robinson, Riddell and Flora. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Information and Empowerment of Families of Children With Cerebral Palsy in Brazil: The Knowledge Translation Role of Nossa Casa Institute

Marina J. Airoldi<sup>1</sup>, Beatriz S. Vieira<sup>1</sup>, Rachel Teplicky<sup>2</sup>, Deborah Chalfun<sup>1</sup>, Rafael G. A. S. Bonfim<sup>1</sup>, Marisa C. Mancini<sup>3</sup>, Peter Rosenbaum<sup>2</sup> and Marina B. Brandão<sup>3\*</sup>

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Alexander Shoshmin, Albrecht Federal Scientific Centre of Rehabilitation of the Disabled, Russia Patricia Welch Saleeby, Bradley University, United States

\*Correspondence:

Marina B. Brandão marinabbrandao@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> **Received:** 14 May 2021 **Accepted:** 21 June 2021 **Published:** 19 July 2021

#### Citation:

Airoldi MJ, Vieira BS, Teplicky R, Chalfun D, Bonfim RGAS, Mancini MC, Rosenbaum P and Brandão MB (2021) Information and Empowerment of Families of Children With Cerebral Palsy in Brazil: The Knowledge Translation Role of Nossa Casa Institute. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:709983. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.709983 <sup>1</sup> Nossa Casa Institute, Campinas, Brazil, <sup>2</sup> CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Occupational Therapy Department and Graduate Program in Rehabilitation Sciences, Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

Knowledge translation (KT) is gaining attention in the pediatric rehabilitation field. Nossa Casa Institute is the first organization in Brazil aiming to foster cerebral palsy (CP) awareness and empower families by discussing reliable information. This study aims to build a network where individuals with CP and their families, researchers, health care professionals, and services can communicate and share experiences. In this article, we describe the experience of planning and conducting an educational and interactive online workshop to foster principles of family-centered service (FCS). We used the action cycle from the Knowledge to Action (KTA) framework to describe and ground the proposed activities. In Module 1, "Challenges and barriers to incorporate family-centered principles," we discussed the historical perspective, main principles, and challenges related to FCS implementation. Module 2, "What is my contribution to the family-centered service?" was aimed to foster strategies to improve the implementation of principles of FCS in the care of children with disabilities. In Module 3, "What can we do together?" the groups presented their ideas and suggestions. This interactive and educational workshop was an opportunity for Nossa Casa Institute to disseminate accessible and reliable information regarding FCS and to empower families to participate actively in the rehabilitation process and advocate for the best provision of care for their children. Future actions of Nossa Casa Institute include the coordination of a national conference to connect families, individuals with CP, healthcare and rehabilitation professionals, and researchers. There is also a need, and opportunity, for formal evaluation of these KT activities.

Keywords: knowledge translation, family-centered, action cycle, pediatric rehabilitation, cerebral palsy

#### INTRODUCTION

Knowledge translation (KT) is defined by the Canadian Institutes for Health Research as "a dynamic and iterative process that includes synthesis, dissemination, exchange, and ethically sound application of knowledge" (1). KT aims to diminish the gap between the research literature and its application into practice (2–4). In this process, there should be an articulation between researchers and the end-use stakeholders (i.e., health care professionals, policymakers, and patients) (4–8).

Different models have been proposed to explain the KT process (9). The Knowledge to Action Model (KTA) proposed by Graham et al. (2) has been extensively used in health care studies (10). In the KTA model, KT involves two main elements: knowledge creation and an action cycle (2). Knowledge creation involves knowledge inquiry, synthesis, and the formation of tools and products. The action cycle is composed of activities to allow knowledge application. It encompasses identification of the problem to be addressed, adaptation of the knowledge to the local context, assessments of barriers to knowledge use, selection and implementation of interventions, and monitoring, evaluating, and sustaining knowledge use (2).

Knowledge translation is gaining considerable attention in the rehabilitation field (6–8, 11, 12). The resources and strategies used in KT vary from the provision of single activities (e.g., educational workshops) to multifaceted approaches, with the use of active and multiple tools (e.g., educational workshops and public audit) (6, 11). In pediatric rehabilitation, most initiatives are tailored to overcome the knowledge-to-practice gap, with specific actions directed to health care professionals and services, aimed to promote changes in clinical behavior and to improve care (11, 13–15). Recently, some KT activities with the participation of families have been reported (7, 15, 16).

CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability Research is a university-based health services research program, and an example of an organization pursuing research, education, and KT in pediatric rehabilitation (15–17). The center's interest and engagement with KT have become a major focus of its activities, grounded in the principles of the KTA framework outlined above.

Despite progressive efforts to promote and achieve KT actions in health, many challenges are reported (10, 18–20). Ferraz et al. (18), in a scoping review, synthesized the main challenges. One of the challenges is the lack of cohesion among researchers, populations, and health care policymakers. In this sense, researchers and end-user stakeholders should communicate, so that research questions and methods meet the needs of the community as identified by the community. Second, is the difficulty for health professionals to translate and apply new knowledge. This may be due to the lack of abilities of clinicians or time available to appraise the literature critically and to understand statistical methods. Third, the lack of incentives and supports from health institutions to engage in KT restricts opportunities for continued education of their professionals (18).

Challenges for KT in health are intensified in developing countries (20–22). To the best of our knowledge, there was no structured program in KT in the pediatric rehabilitation field in Brazil before the foundation of *Nossa Casa Institute* 

in 2016. It is the first online platform to discuss the daily living of individuals with cerebral palsy (CP) and their families, considering the importance to facilitate both communication and implementation of knowledge about CP among all stakeholders in Brazil.

#### NOSSA CASA INSTITUTE

*Nossa Casa Institute* is a non-profit organization, funded and started in 2016, that grew out of collaboration among individuals with CP, families, health care professionals, and researchers. The meaning of "*Nossa Casa*" in English is "*Our Home*." These words were chosen to represent a place for open discussion of information and ideas about CP in a welcoming, friendly, and safe way. This institute aims to build a network where local and international researchers, health care professionals and services, individuals with CP, and their families can communicate, discuss, and share experiences. In 2018, *Nossa Casa Institute* was recognized by the Cerebral Palsy Foundation in the World Cerebral Palsy Day, winning the "Public Awareness" award.

The online tools of Nossa Casa Institute include a website, an Instagram account with almost 16,000 followers, a Facebook fan page with 20,800 participants, and 2,500 subscribers on its YouTube account. As a KT Institute, we seek to discuss reliable information regarding issues in the daily lives of people with CP and evidence-based information about assessment and intervention strategies for this population, using plain, accessible user-friendly language. Four groups of activities are conducted by Nossa Casa Institute: (1) online interactions, including social media posts and live sessions; (2) development of educational and informative materials, such as videos, awareness campaigns, tutorials, and translated guidelines and worksheets; (3) educational training, workshops and conferences, with national and international experts discussing topics related to CP; and (4) collaboration with researchers to conduct studies aimed at promoting the daily functioning of individuals with CP. 
 Table 1 shows the main actions developed by Nossa Casa Institute
 since its foundation.

The activities at Nossa Casa Institute involve active collaboration among families, individuals with CP, health care professionals, and researchers. Families and individuals with CP participate in online interactions, suggest themes to be discussed, conduct live interactions, and review the content of the shared posts. As for the educational and informative materials, families and individuals with CP collaborate with the conception, illustration, and description of the videos and with content review. Educational training was originally directed to health care professionals and researchers (e.g., General Movement Assessment workshop). In 2019, the International CP Conference was opened to families who showed interest in attending the event. At this conference, one speaker presented his experience as an adult with CP and two mothers of a child with CP spoke. Nowadays, the main efforts of Nossa Casa Institute are focused on planning and developing educational training activities with accessible language and active participation of families and individuals with CP. Main representatives

#### TABLE 1 | Description of main actions and activities developed by Nossa Casa Institute, from 2016 to 2021.

Main actions	Activities
Online interactions, including social media posts	463 Instagram Posts (@nossacasa.org.br)
and live interactions	40 Instagram lives (@nossacasa.org.br)
	57 Youtube videos (Instituto Nossa Casa)
	Facebook fanpage 1 website (www.nossacasa.org.br)
Development of educational and informative	8 video animations:
materials regarding individuals with cerebral palsy	<ul> <li>"Let's talk about cerebral palsy!", 2,900 views (Available at: https://youtu.be/0qm142gZ3Hc)</li> </ul>
(CP), such as videos, tutorials, and translated	<ul> <li>"What's cerebral palsy?" 52,400 views (Available at: https://youtu.be/oo4NIPgqLW4)</li> </ul>
guidelines and worksheets	<ul> <li>"F-Words," 10,000 views (Available at: https://youtu.be/xPMzPJwWop8)</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>"Perinatal stroke," 6,800 views (Available at: https://youtu.be/ml5rEOTUImg)</li> </ul>
	- "Early intervention in hemiparesis," 15,800 views (Available at: https://youtu.be/MpSCPKHVDmw)
	<ul> <li>"Cerebral Palsy and ICF," 6,900 views (Available at: https://youtu.be/JknMCYaopF8)</li> </ul>
	- "What is evidence-based practice?", 4,700 views (Available at: https://youtu.be/aNck3M5QWqo)
	- "Family-Centred Service" (to be released in 2021) 2 video tutorials:
	- "Moving is Power!" (adapted from Go Baby Go) (to be released in 2021)
	- Low-cost adapters for play (to be released in 2021)
	- Translation: FCS worksheets from Canchild (to be released in 2021)
Educational training, workshops, and conferences,	- "General Movements Assessment Workshop," conducted by Christa Einspieler, Campinas, Brazil, 2016
with national and international experts	- World CP Day Campaign in Brazil (2017, 2018, 2019, 2020)
	<ul> <li>"Children with CP GMFCS levels IV and V: what should we do?", conducted by Ginny Paleg, Campinas Brazil, 2018</li> </ul>
	- International Cerebral Palsy Conference (800 participants, 35 speakers), Campinas, Brazil, 2019
	- "Moving is Power!", conducted by Marina Alroldi and Beatriz Vieira, 200 participants, online event
	<ul> <li>"Family-Centred Workshop," conducted by Marina Brandão, Peter Rosenbaum, Rachel Teplicky, 80 participants, online event, 2020</li> </ul>
	- "Cerebral Palsy Online Congress," 1,700 participants, 72 speakers, online event, 2021
Collaboration with researchers and institutions	- CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada
	- Universidade Federal de Minas Gerais, Belo Horizonte, Brazil

of families and individuals with CP are also collaborators of research initiatives in KT at *Nossa Casa Institute*, including the conception of the studies, data collection, and writing process.

#### FAMILY-CENTERED WORKSHOP: FROM CHALLENGES TO SHARED SOLUTIONS TO IMPLEMENT FAMILY-CENTERED SERVICES (FCS)

The active participation of families in the rehabilitation of their children with disabilities is widely encouraged in the literature (23–26). To make the best decisions for their children, families should have access to reliable and accessible information and the opportunity to express their preferences, interests, and concerns (23, 24, 27). Although literature on FCS has been available since the 1990s, the implementation of its principles in practice is still challenging. Thus, the proposal of an FCS Workshop with online interactions and educational material in Portuguese (Brazil) aimed to facilitate the incorporation of FCS principles in the pediatric rehabilitation field.

In this "perspective" article, we describe the FCS Workshop to illustrate the role of the *Nossa Casa Institute* in KT activities. We anchored the activities of this workshop in the action cycle of the KTA framework (2) (**Figure 1**).

# Identifying the Problem: Preparing for the FCS Workshop

The workshop was moderated by two researchers from CanChild and one researcher from Brazil, who are experienced in

developing and implementing FCS. The co-founders of *Nossa Casa Institute* organized two online meetings with the researchers to discuss the workshop format from their previous experience and the relevant content related to the FCS literature. The workshop audience included 16 families of children and adolescents with disabilities, 2 adults with CP, 40 health care professionals, 10 healthcare service coordinators, and 16 academics (i.e., professors, researchers, and students).

The structure of the online workshop included access to pre-recorded educational videos and interactive online sessions. The pre-recorded videos presented preliminary information for the online discussions, as well as providing the participants access to the main literature regarding FCS. Participants were encouraged to access the educational videos prior to each online interaction to create a common starting point for discussions. The online interactions were designed to promote opportunities for all participants actively to build competencies in FCS. Each interaction lasted 1 h on average. The workshop had 3 modules: Module 1: "Challenges and barriers to incorporate family-centered principles"; Module 2: "What is my contribution to family-centered service?" and Module 3: "What can we do together?" The modules were organized so that the participants could share initial thoughts of challenges regarding the FCS principles and then build their own competencies and possibilities to assume family-centered behaviors and attitudes.

# Adaptation of the Knowledge to the Local Context: Module 1

The workshop started with an online interaction to present a historical perspective of FCS for children with disabilities



and debate its main principles. For that purpose, CanChild researchers discussed the main principles and a brief historical perspective of FCS. All participants were encouraged to post their questions and considerations in an online chat to show their opinions and comments. Such interaction facilitated an understanding of the main concerns and expectations of the participants. Three pre-recorded educational videos were available with the main characteristics of FCS.

# Assessments of Barriers to Knowledge Use: Module 1

After the first online session, we sent an anonymous online survey to be completed by the participants, built specifically for the workshop. We prepared five surveys following the same structure, but including information specific to the group of the participants (i.e., adults with CP, families of children/adolescents with disabilities, health care professionals, health care coordinators, and academics). In this survey, we asked opinions of the people regarding the main barriers to the implementation of FCS principles in Brazil, and the challenges they faced. We were interested in issues and experience with the services undergone by the children and families. We wanted to hear the experiences of adults with CP in their daily routines and services, and in their interactions with health care professionals, coordinators, and researchers. It was important to learn which FCS principles are already incorporated in the care of their child (families), the care of adults with CP in their daily practices and services with health care professionals, coordinators, and researchers, and which aspects related to FCS they would like to discuss in the workshop.

The information from the online survey of the participants was classified according to challenges related to the behaviors, attitudes, and actions of therapists; behaviors and expectations of families; and the actions of those involved in the format and regulations of services in Brazil. The main concerns reported by the participants were discussed in a second online live interaction to elucidate the possible myths and common misunderstandings underlying FCS.

# Selection and Implementation of Interventions: Module 2

Module 2 was designed to discuss strategies to improve the implementation of principles of FCS. We prepared six prerecorded video lectures in Portuguese (Brazil) based on FCS sheets of CanChild (28): effective communication; building on competencies of families; respect; negotiation; partnership; and decision-making process. The choice for these topics was based on the challenges and barriers that participants reported in the survey. We provided two additional lectures with instrumental information related to FCS implementation: assessment tools to measure FCS outcomes and analysis of family involvement in interventions for children with CP.

The online interactions occurred in four main groups: families and adults with CP, health care professionals, health care coordinators of services, and academics (i.e., professors, undergraduate, and graduate students). In these separate meetings, each group was assigned a specific topic for discussion, with the assistance of a moderator. With families and adults with CP, we asked the participants to discuss their main priorities and needs from rehabilitation services and health care professionals, based on FCS principles. Health care professionals discussed how to improve the family-centered relational components (e.g., behaviors, attitudes, and values) and operational components (i.e., assessment tools and intervention strategies). Health care coordinators discussed ideas to structure their services in light of family-centered characteristics. Academics, including professors, graduate, and undergraduate students, were asked to consider the academic role in implementing FCS.

#### Monitor Knowledge Use: Module 2

After discussing their main ideas, the participants in each group were asked to prepare a small presentation to be shared in the last meeting. Their interactions had previously been moderated by the Brazilian researcher in Telegram discussion forums.

#### **Evaluate Outcomes: Module 3**

In the last online interaction, the groups presented their ideas and suggestions from the separate discussions. All participants were encouraged to present their perspectives to identify effective strategies to promote FCS practices. The first group to present were the "families and adults with CP group," who expressed their needs and their expectations from services and therapists. Parents reinforced their desire to be listened to and trusted by therapists regarding their priorities; they asked for their voices of children to be heard; they believe that their children should be seen as children who need time to play and to have fun; and they reported the desire that therapists should involve not only mothers but also fathers and the extended family in their rehabilitation program. They were also encouraged to express their opinions during the presentations of the other groups. The following three groups (health care professionals, academics, health care providers) presented relational and instrumental strategies they recommended to be adopted in their daily practices. After their presentations, we asked the participants to report their comments and suggestions about their experience at the workshop.

# Sustain Knowledge Use: After the FCS Workshop

After the workshop, we invited the participants to join one Telegram group. In this group, they were able to contact each other and share experiences. The information regarding the feedback of the participants in the workshop helped to create online information on the social media channels from *Nossa Casa Institute.* In addition, such information supported the planning and development of an online conference (Online CP Conference: From all to All), aimed at improving the dissemination of knowledge among individuals with CP, families, health care professionals, and researchers. Specific information regarding the online conference and its impact will be reported in future studies.

#### LESSONS LEARNED

Nossa Casa Institute was conceived to share information about the daily living of individuals with disabilities, with emphasis on CP. It is also creating opportunities for listening and exchanging knowledge through actions on social networks (e.g., interactive video lives, campaigns, and educational workshops) with the participation of all stakeholders. The involvement of families and individuals with disabilities in activities held at Nossa Casa Institute has contributed to the greater empowerment of these populations. Furthermore, these actions are enhancing the awareness and education of health care professionals and researchers and reinforcing the value of involving families and individuals with disabilities in research and educational initiatives.

One of the main challenges experienced by the *Nossa Casa Institute* is related to the lack of financial support from the Brazilian government or other agencies; so far, such activities are conducted by volunteering work from its collaborators. Possible subsidies would support future KT activities at *Nossa Casa Institute*. Future studies are planned to explore and evaluate the impact of the proposed actions to support the KT in the pediatric rehabilitation field in Brazil.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MB coordinated the project and was involved in the conception, writing, and review of the manuscript. MA, BV, and MM were involved in in the conception, writing, and review of the manuscript. DC and RB are representatives of families and adults with cerebral palsy and they helped in the conception and review of the manuscript. RT and PR were involved in the conception and review of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank the participants of the FCS workshops and contributors from *Nossa Casa Institute*, including health care professionals, families, and researchers.

#### REFERENCES

- Canadian Institutes of Health Research. *Knowledge Translation*. (2020). Available online at: https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/29529.html (accessed May 04, 2021).
- Graham ID, Logan J, Harrison MB, Straus SE, Tetroe J, Caswell W, et al. Lost in knowledge translation: time for a map? *J Contin Educ Health Prof.* (2006) 26:13–24. doi: 10.1002/chp.47
- Bjørk IT, Lomborg K, Nielsen CM, Brynildsen G, Frederiksen AM, Larsen K et al. From theoretical model to practical use: an example of knowledge translation. J Adv Nurs. (2013) 69:2336–47. doi: 10.1111/jan.12091
- Mairs K, McNeil H, McLeod J, Prorok JC, Stolee P. Online strategies to facilitate health-related knowledge transfer: a systematic search and review. *Health Info Libr J.* (2013) 30:261–77. doi: 10.1111/hir.12048
- Bowen SJ, Graham ID. From knowledge translation to engaged scholarship: promoting research relevance and utilization. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2013) 94:S3–8. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.04.037
- Levac D, Glegg SM, Camden C, Rivard LM, Missiuna C. Best practice recommendations for the development, implementation, and evaluation of online knowledge translation resources in rehabilitation. *Phys Ther.* (2015) 95:648–62. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20130500
- Moore JL, Shikako-Thomas K, Backus D. Knowledge Translation in rehabilitation: a shared vision. *Pediatr Phys Ther.* (2017) 29:S64–72. doi: 10.1097/PEP.00000000000381
- Longo E, Galvão ÉRVP, Ferreira HNC, Lindquist ARR, Shikako-Thomas K. Knowledge translation in pediatric rehabilitation: expanding access to scientific knowledge. *Braz J Phys Ther.* (2017) 21:389–90. doi: 10.1016/j.bjpt.2017.10.003
- 9. Esmail R, Hanson HM, Holroyd-Leduc J, Brown S, Strifler L, Straus SE, et al. A scoping review of full-spectrum knowledge translation theories, models, and frameworks. *Implement Sci.* (2020) 1:11. doi: 10.1186/s13012-020-0964-5
- Field B, Booth A, Ilott I, Gerrish K. Using the Knowledge to Action Framework in practice: a citation analysis and systematic review. *Implement Sci.* (2014) 23:172. doi: 10.1186/s13012-014-0172-2
- Jones CA, Roop SC, Pohar SL, Albrecht L, Scott SD. Translating knowledge in rehabilitation: systematic review. *Phys Ther.* (2015) 95:663– 77. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20130512
- Hitch D, Lhuede K, Vernon L, Pepin G, Stagnitti K. Longitudinal evaluation of a knowledge translation role in occupational therapy. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2019) 19:154. doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-3971-y
- Jeong Y, Law M, DeMatteo C, Stratford P, Kim H. Knowledge translation from research to clinical practice: measuring participation of children with disabilities. *Occup Ther Health Care.* (2016) 30:323–43. doi: 10.1080/07380577.2016.1192311
- Russell DJ, Rivard LM, Walter SD, Rosenbaum PL, Roxborough L, Cameron D et al. Using knowledge brokers to facilitate the uptake of pediatric measurement tools into clinical practice: a before-after intervention study. *Implement Sci.* (2010) 5:92. doi: 10.1186/1748-5908-5-92
- Russell DJ, McCauley D, Novak I, Kolehmainen N, Shikako-Thomas K, D'Costa R, et al. developing a knowledge translation strategy for a centre of childhood disability research: description of the process. *Scholarly Res Commun.* (2015) 7:0105237. doi: 10.22230/src.2016v7n1a237

- Cross A, Rosenbaum P, Grahovac D, Brocklehurst J, Kay D, Baptiste S, et al. web-based knowledge translation resource for families and service providers (the "F-Words" in childhood disability knowledge hub): developmental and pilot evaluation study. *JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol.* (2018) 5:e10439. doi: 10.2196/10439
- Rosenbaum P. Knowledge translation: who needs to know what research tells us? *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2012) 54:99. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.04211.x
- Ferraz L, Pereira RP, Pereira AM. Knowledge Translation and contemporary challenges in the health field: a scope review. *Saúde Debate*. (2019) 43:200– 16. doi: 10.1590/0103-11042019S215
- Morris ZS, Wooding S, Grant J. The answer is 17 years, what is the question: understanding time lags in translational research. J R Soc Med. (2011) 104:510–20. doi: 10.1258/jrsm.2011.110180
- Santesso N, Tugwell P. Knowledge translation in developing countries. J Contin Educ Health Prof. (2006) 26:87–96. doi: 10.1002/chp.55
- Miranda ES, Figueiró AC, Potvin L. Are public health researchers in Brazil ready and supported to do knowledge translation? *Cad Saúde Públ.* (2020) 36:e00003120. doi: 10.1590/0102-311X00003120
- 22. Vieira ACG, Gastaldo D, Harrison D. How to translate scientific knowledge into practice? Concepts models, and application. *Rev Bras Enferm.* (2020) 73:e20190179. doi: 10.1590/0034-7167-2019-0179
- MacKean GL, Thurston WE, Scott CM. Bridging the divide between families and health professionals' perspectives on family-centred care. *Health Expect.* (2005) 8:74–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2005.00319.x
- Rosenbaum P, King S, Law M, King G, Evans J. Family-centred service: a conceptual framework and research review. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (1998) 18:1–20. doi: 10.1080/J006v18n01\_01
- King G, Chiarello L. Family-centered care for children with cerebral palsy: conceptual and practical considerations to advance care and practice. J Child Neurol. (2014) 29:1046–54. doi: 10.1177/0883073814533009
- Almasri NA, An M, Palisano RJ. Parents' perception of receiving familycentered care for their children with physical disabilities: a meta-analysis. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (2018) 38:427–43. doi: 10.1080/01942638.2017.1337664
- King G, Williams L, Hahn Goldberg S. Family-oriented services in pediatric rehabilitation: a scoping review and framework to promote parent and family wellness. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2017) 43:334–47. doi: 10.1111/cch.12435
- CanChild. Family-Centred Service. (2021). Available online at: https://www. canchild.ca/en/research-in-practice/family-centred-service (accessed May 04, 2021).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Airoldi, Vieira, Teplicky, Chalfun, Bonfim, Mancini, Rosenbaum and Brandão. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Fathers Matter: Enhancing Healthcare Experiences Among Fathers of Children With Developmental Disabilities

Tatiana Ogourtsova<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Maureen E. O'Donnell<sup>4,5</sup>, Derrick Chung<sup>6</sup>, Frank Gavin<sup>6</sup>, Aline Bogossian<sup>7</sup> and Annette Majnemer<sup>2,3,6,8</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Research Center of the Jewish Rehabilitation Hospital, Centre intégré de santé et de services sociaux de Laval, Site of Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal, Laval, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>3</sup> School of Physical and Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Provincial Health Services Authority, Vancouver, BC, Canada, <sup>5</sup> Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, <sup>6</sup> The Research Institute of the McGill University Health Center, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>7</sup> School of Social Work, University of Montreal, Montreal, QC, Canada, <sup>8</sup> Montreal Children's Hospital, Montreal, QC, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Patricia Welch Saleeby, Bradley University, United States Julia Schuchard, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States

\*Correspondence: Tatiana Ogourtsova tatiana.ogourtsova@mail.mcgill.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 13 May 2021 Accepted: 14 June 2021 Published: 21 July 2021

#### Citation:

Ogourtsova T, O'Donnell ME, Chung D, Gavin F, Bogossian A and Majnemer A (2021) Fathers Matter: Enhancing Healthcare Experiences Among Fathers of Children With Developmental Disabilities. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:709262. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.709262 **Background:** Being a parent of a child with a developmental disability (DD; e. g., cerebral palsy, autism) comes with great challenges and apprehensions. Mothers and fathers of children with DD are experiencing heightened levels of psychological distress, physical health problems, financial difficulties, social isolation, and struggles with respect to traditional parenting roles. In relation to the latter, the involvement of fathers in caregiving in today's society is increasing and is highlighted by its importance and positive contribution to the development of their children. However, fathers of children with DD report feeling excluded and marginalized by healthcare providers (HCPs) when arranging for and getting involved in healthcare services for their children. Currently, there is limited evidence as to what factors influence those experiences. We aimed to explore barriers to and facilitators of positive and empowering healthcare experiences, from the perspectives of fathers of children with DD and HCPs.

**Methods:** A mixed-method approach, such as quantitative (survey) and qualitative (semi-structured interview) strategies, was used. Participants were fathers of children with DD and HCPs working in childhood disability. Data analysis consisted of using descriptive statistics and an inductive-thematic analysis of emergent themes.

**Results:** Fathers (n = 7) and HCPs (n = 13, 6 disciplines) participated. The fathers indicated that while they were moderate to very much satisfied with their interactions with HCPs, they reported that HCPs were only sometimes attentive to them during interactions. Fathers also revealed that positive interactions with HCPs in relation to their children had multiple benefits. Several themes related to barriers and facilitators of optimal interactions and parent–professional relationships emerged. These included session factors (time, attention), personal factors (knowledge of the condition, child and healthcare system, acceptance vs. denial, previous experiences, culture, stereotypes, pre-existing beliefs, stress levels, working schedule), and family

dynamics. The participants offered several insights into the different strategies that can be implemented to promote optimal interactions between fathers and HCPs.

**Conclusion:** We identified several barriers, facilitators, and improvement strategies for optimal interactions and enhanced parent-professional relationships from the perspectives of fathers and HCPs. These can be integrated by existing clinical settings in efforts to enhance current clinical practices and improve child- and parent-related outcomes.

Keywords: health-care experiences, barriers and facilitators, interactions with health-care professionals, clinical practice, family-centered approach, father, children with disabilities

#### INTRODUCTION

Becoming a parent, in itself, is a stressful life event. Becoming a parent of a child with a disability imposes even greater challenges and concerns, as parents now need to adjust to provide care for a child with emergent and frequently changing healthcare needs [reviewed in (1)]. Both mothers and fathers of children with disabilities are reported to experience heightened levels of stress and psychological distress (2, 3), physical health problems, financial difficulties, social isolation, depression, and conflict with traditional gender roles (4, 5). Moreover, for the last five decades, the amount of time fathers spend with their children has increased dramatically (6). Currently, fathers are acquiring a wide range of roles and responsibilities beyond the traditional ones, where they are becoming more conscious and aware of being models of social and emotional behavior for their children (7). In fact, the involvement of the father in childcare is reported to result in positive socio-emotional, cognitive, and developmental outcomes of their child [reviewed in (8)], as well as in improvements to the emotional well-being and stress levels of the mother (9).

However, despite the increasing involvement of fathers in caregiving, as well as its important and positive contribution to child development, research in the field of childhood-onset disability is still primarily focused on mothers (10–12). For instance, while the applications of family-centered approaches involving parents are on the rise, these are mainly directed toward and largely used by mothers (13). The need to consider fathers, however, and the challenges this can present are increasingly recognized (10). For example, preliminary evidence suggests that fathers of children with disabilities feel excluded and marginalized by healthcare providers (HCPs) when arranging for and getting involved in healthcare services provided for their children (14).

Communication of parents with healthcare professionals in relation to their child with disability reveals a great deal. For example, a pilot study examining a coping intervention for parents of children with disabilities determined that the amount and the quality of the communication with HCPs were a primary predictor of how fathers managed condition-related stress levels (15). Similarly, the quality of parent–professional relationships was hypothesized to influence these interactions (1) and ensure the understanding of the father about the condition of their child (16). Previous efforts have been made to describe the healthcare experiences of fathers of children with (10) and without disabilities (8). Nonetheless, to the best knowledge of the authors, there is limited evidence as to what factors influence the father-healthcare professional interactions, both from the points of view of fathers and healthcare professionals.

With the aim to promote beneficial and helpful interactions and experiences for fathers of children with developmental disabilities, the goal was to explore the barriers to and facilitators of positive interactions and empowering parenthealthcare professional relationships, from the perspectives of fathers of children with developmental disabilities and healthcare professionals (HCPs).

Where,

...children with developmental disabilities are children (0–18 years old) with primary motor impairments (e.g., cerebral palsy, muscular dystrophies, spina bifida, spinal muscular atrophies, etc.) and/or with developmental behavioral conditions (e.g., autism spectrum disorders).

... *father* is the male parent in relation to the child (biological, adopted, foster, step).

...healthcare service experiences include interactions with HCPs for diagnostic, treatment or medical follow-up purposes related to the disability of the child, in different healthcare settings (e.g., hospitals, rehabilitation centers, community clinics).

... *HCPs* include all-specialty physicians and surgeons, nurses, occupational and physical therapists, speech language pathologists, social workers, special educators, etc.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design**

A mixed-method study design was used, including quantitative (Likert-scale survey) and qualitative (semi-structured interview) methods. In addition, we adopted a patient-oriented research methodology. This was achieved by recruiting two parent advisors to be part of the research team prior to protocol development (DC & FG). They are both fathers of children with disabilities. The parent advisors were involved in the following activities in relation to the project: development of study protocol, development of measurement tools (survey and structure of the interview), data interpretation, and

review of ensuing knowledge translation material (presentations, present manuscript).

#### **Study Population**

Populations of interest included HCPs and fathers of children with DD. The inclusion criterion for HCPs was to be a licensed HCP, working in the field of childhood-onset developmental disability for  $\geq 6$  months, and providing direct assessment and/or intervention for a minimum of 50% of their working time. The exclusion criterion was (1) research or medical assistant personnel (e.g., administrative assistants) who are not directly involved in procedures related to diagnostics and/or treatment and follow-up of children with DD. For fathers of children with DD, the inclusion criteria were (1) male gender and (2) being a father (biological, adopted, step, foster) for  $\geq 6$  months of a child with a diagnosed DD (e.g., cerebral palsy). All the participants needed to be fluent in English or in French.

#### **Sample Size Consideration**

We aimed to recruit a sufficient number of participants to achieve data saturation. An effort was made to recruit HCPs from different disciplines and fathers of children with different disabilities and various age groups.

#### Source of Data

The participants were recruited using word-ofmouth/snowball/convenience sampling techniques at the collaborative healthcare services points. These included the Montreal Children's Hospital, Shriners Hospital for Children (Montreal, Quebec, Canada), and the BC Children's Hospital, Sunny Hill Health Centre for Children (Vancouver, BC, Canada). Recruitment was performed via wall-mounted/email/webposted advertisements. Ethical approval was obtained from all participating clinical sites and informed consent was provided by all the recruited participants prior to their engagement with the study.

#### **Study Procedures**

First, the participants were asked to fill out a demographic form and a short Likert-scale based survey that was developed in-house and reviewed by all team members, including patient advisors (Supplementary Material 1). For the father-participants, the survey aimed to gather information about their involvement in the healthcare of their child and overall perceptions regarding their experiences and interactions with HCPs in the past. For the HCPs, the survey was designed to gather their perspectives about the involvement of fathers in the healthcare of children and their experiences and interactions with fathers in their clinical practice. Individual interviews were then conducted online using Zoom (Zoom Video Communications, Inc., San Jose, CA, United States). The interviews followed a semi-structured format that was co-developed by the team, including patientpartners (Supplementary Material 1). The interviews included introductory statements, open-ended theme-related questions, and interview terminations using closing remarks and a summary of discussed topics/points raised. The interviews ended when no new ideas emerged following the summary/closing remarks statement (i.e., data saturation was reached).

#### **Variables Collected**

Demographic variables for HCPs included their discipline and degree, practice clinical setting, amount of experience in the field of childhood disability, age, gender, race/ethnicity, population served, and time spent on continuing education. Demographic variables for fathers of children with disabilities included their age, race/ethnicity, relation to the child (biological, foster, stepparent, adopted), marital status, education level, employment status, and information about the child with a disability (age, condition, rank in the family).

Main variables collected (from the perspectives of both study groups) included (1) the perception of involvement of fathers in healthcare of their child; (2) satisfaction and comfort level in interactions between HCP and fathers of children with disabilities; (3) influential factors (barriers and facilitators) impacting experiences/interactions of fathers of children with disabilities with HCPs; (4) effects of involvement of fathers (from the perspective of HCPs only) and effects of interactions with HCPs (from the perspective of fathers of children with disabilities only) on personal, child-related, and family-related outcomes; and (5) strategies and recommendations to enhance interactions and parent–professional relationships and promote family-centered care.

#### **Data Management and Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize demographic data. Audio data from the interviews were transcribed verbatim. The NVivo<sup>®</sup> software (QSR International, Doncaster Australia) was used for data management. Triangulation methods were used for data analysis (17). More specifically, one author (TO) read all the transcripts to gain a general sense of the meaning of the content. The content of the transcripts was then analyzed by generating initial codes for all meaningful ideas emerging from the data using a directed content-based analysis technique (18). Following this, a second coder (research assistant who was not a study participant and did not assist with the interviews in any way) verified the coding grid. Discrepancies were discussed with both raters to explore their meaning and/or relationship to other codes, and a consensus was reached. A final round of analysis was then performed by the first coder to ensure that all relevant statements were coded and that agreement between raters was 100% for all statements.

#### RESULTS

#### **Demographics of Participants**

Seven (n = 7) fathers of children with disabilities were recruited. The father-participants were 42.6  $\pm$  8.2 years old, 100% Caucasian, all biological parents to their children, all fulltime workers, four (n = 4) were married, and three (n = 3) were single. Their education level ranged from a college professional diploma (n = 3), Bachelor (n = 3) to Masters (n = 1). Their children with disability (male: n = 4; female: n = 3) were on average 9.4  $\pm$  5.3 years old (range: 18 months-15 years) with the following TABLE 1A | Response frequencies of father-participants: involvement in healthcare and satisfaction/comfort level of child in interactions with HCPs.

	Not all all Never n (%)	Slightly Sometimes n (%)	Moderately Often n (%)	Very much All the time n (%)
am involved in setting up/arranging/organizing health-care services for my child.	2 (28.5)		2 (28.5)	3 (42.8)
am involved in taking my child to his/her health-care services appointment(s) and/or emergency visit(s).		2 (28.5)	2 (28.5)	3 (42.8)
l am present (with my spouse/partner, if applicable) when my child is receiving health-care services.		1 (14.2)	4 (57.1)	2 (28.5)
advocate for my child's health-services.	1 (14.2)	2 (28.5)		4 (57.1)
am taking part in applying treatment recommendations that my child receives			2 (28.5)	5 (71.4)
Overall, I am satisfied with the interactions/communication I had with HCPs in the past.		2 (28.5)	2 (28.5)	3 (42.8)
HCPs are generally attentive to me.		4 (57.1)	1 (14.2)	2 (28.5)
feel generally comfortable with the HCPs.		1 (14.2)	1 (14.2)	5 (71.4)
feel generally understood by the HCPs.		1 (14.2)	3 (42.8)	3 (42.8)
feel generally supported by HCPs.		2 (28.5)	3 (42.8)	2 (28.5)
feel that generally I formed and continue to have good relationships with the HCPs.			3 (42.8)	4 (57.1)
had positive/good experiences/helpful interactions with HCPs.			1 (14.2)	6 (85.7)
had negative/bad experiences/not helpful interactions with HCPs	4 (57.1)	1 (14.2)	2 (28.5)	

0 to <25	
25 to <50	
50 to <75	
75–100	

conditions: epilepsy, anxiety, cognitive and language delay, trisomy 21, cerebral palsy, autism spectrum disorder, attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder, developmental coordination disorder, behavioral challenges, and globoid cell leukodystrophy.

Thirteen (n = 13) HCPs were recruited. HCPs (female: n =10; male: n = 3) were 37.8  $\pm$  13 years old. Degrees obtained included Bachelor (n = 1), Masters (n = 8), Medical doctor (n = 1)= 1), and PhD (n = 2), with diplomas obtained anywhere from 1982 to 2017. The HCPs were from the following disciplines: Occupational Therapy (n = 6) Speech Language Pathology (n = 6)= 2); Neuropsychology (n = 2), Pediatrics (Medical Doctor, n= 1), Social Work (n = 1), and Nursing (n = 1). Most of them were working fulltime (n = 10) in the field of childhood disability for an average of 11.5  $\pm$  9.7 years. Fields of practice included general neurodevelopment and autism spectrum disorder (n = 7), orthopedics (n = 2), neurotrauma (n = 2), intellectual disability (n = 1), and complex care (n = 1). Clinical settings included university teaching hospitals (n = 5), rehabilitation centers (n = 3), community or private clinics (n = 3); and a mix of clinical settings (n = 2). On average, the recruited HCPs spent  $10.2 \pm 12.3$  h per month on continuing education.

#### Survey Responses: Involvement of Fathers in Healthcare and Satisfaction/Comfort Level of Child in Interactions With HCPs

Tables 1A,B outline response frequencies to the initial survey regarding the involvement of fathers in the healthcare of their

child, and satisfaction/comfort level in interactions from the perspectives of both groups.

Father-participants reported that 57.1 to 85.7% of them were "Moderately (Often)" to "Very much (All the time)" involved in the healthcare of their child, such as organizing services, taking the child to their appointments and medical visits, being present during medical visits, and advocating for the healthcare of their child. All of them (100%) reported that, at all times, they are taking part in applying treatment recommendations that their child receives. In terms of their satisfaction and comfort level in interactions with HCPs, father-participants reported that 71.3 to 85.7% of them are "Moderately" to "Very much" satisfied with the interactions they have had with HCPs in the past, where they conveyed feeling comfortable, understood, and supported by HCPs. However, 57.1% reported that HCPs are only "Sometimes" attentive to them during interactions. All of them reported that they were able to form a good relationship with HCPs and had a positive/good experience/helpful interaction(s). Only 28.5% of them reported having frequent negative experiences in interacting with HCPs in relation to the care of their child.

On the other hand, 92.3 to 100% of the HCPs reported that fathers are only "Slightly (Sometimes)" to "Moderately (Often)" involved in advocating for the healthcare needs of their child, implementing and applying the recommendation/treatment regiments, getting involved in setting up healthcare services for their child, taking the child to medical visits, and being present during appointments. On average, 83.1% of the HCPs reported that they are satisfied with the interactions they have had with TABLE 1B | Response frequencies of HCPs: satisfaction/comfort level in interactions with fathers and involvement of father in healthcare of child.

	Not all all Never <i>n</i> (%)	Slightly Sometimes n (%)	Moderately Often n (%)	Very much All the time n (%)
Overall, I am satisfied with the interactions/communication I had with fathers of children with disabilities in the past.		3 (23.0)	6 (46.1)	4 (30.7)
Fathers of children with disabilities are generally attentive with me during interactions.		3 (23.0)	7 (53.8)	3 (23.0)
I feel comfortable interacting with fathers of children with disabilities.		1 (7.6)	2 (15.3)	10 (76.9)
I feel that fathers of children with disability understand me.		3 (23.0)	5 (38.4)	5 (38.4)
I feel that fathers of children with disabilities feel supported by me.		4 (30.7)	4 (30.7)	5 (38.4)
I feel that I form/continue a good relationship with fathers of children with disabilities.		1 (7.6)	5 (38.4)	7 (53.8)
The extent to which fathers				
advocate for their child.		4 (30.7)	9 (69.2)	
implement and apply your recommendations/treatment regiments you are providing them with.		6 (46.1)	7 (53.8)	
are involved in setting up/arranging/organizing health-care services for their child.		9 (69.2)	3 (23.0)	1 (7.6)
are involved in taking their child to his/her health-care services appointment(s) or emergency visit(s).		6 (46.1)	7 (53.8)	
are present when their child is receiving health-care services (alone or with spouse/partner).		6 (46.1)	6 (46.1)	1 (7.6)
Response frequency (%) Color-code				
0 to <25%				
25 to <50				
50 to <75				
75–100				

fathers of children with disabilities. HCPs reported that fathers are generally attentive to them and understand them, and that they (the HCPs) were comfortable in those interactions and were able to form good relationships. However, a lower percentage of the HCPs (69.2%) conveyed that fathers of children with a disability felt "Moderately" (30.7%) to "Very much" (38.4%) supported by them.

#### **Semi-structured Interviews**

The initial agreement between the two independent coders of the semi-structured interviews was high at 96.6%. The few discrepancies in coding were resolved through discussion to reach a 100% consensus.

Four main themes emerged from the semi-structured interviews:

- 1. Impacts of the interactions between fathers of children with disabilities and HCPs (from the perspectives of the father-participants).
- 2. Impacts of fathers in the healthcare of their child with a disability (from the perspectives of the HCPs).
- 3. Barriers and facilitators to optimal and empowering interactions between fathers of children with disabilities and HCPs.
- 4. Solutions to optimize: (a) interactions between fathers of children with disabilities and HCPs and (b) involvement of fathers in the healthcare of their child.

Those four themes and their respective subthemes are described below, along with the most salient utterances from the study participants.

## Impacts of Interactions (From the Perspectives of Father-Participants)

Father participants (FP) reported several impacts of positive (n = 6 subthemes, n = 14 utterances) and negative (n = 4 subthemes, n = 7 utterances) interactions with HCPs in relation to their child. Impacts of positive interactions included "Gaining a better perception and awareness of child's needs, challenges and strengths" (n = 7 utterances):

FP3: "I think generally when I walk away from [positive interactions with HCPs], I am being reminded about [my child's] issues and that tends to have a positive effect generally on how I interact with [my child]."

The participants also reported that positive interactions allowed them to "Focus on what is important" (n = 2 utterances) and "Bringing the family closer together" (n = 1 utterance):

FP3: "Dealing with an issue with [my child] is something that is a scary trying thing on the family, and I think things like that tend to bring us closer together, and [my wife] and I always bond in a positive way over you know what's going on with [our child] and it helps you set aside the sort of small issues that you are having

during the day, you know the small stuff suddenly doesn't seem so important. It tends to bring us closer together, I think".

Improvements to their "Role as a father" (n = 2 utterances), "Relationship with their child" (n = 1 utterance) and their "Overall mood" (n = 1 utterance) were also conveyed:

FP3: "[Positive interactions with HCPs] tend to make me act a little more [with my child]. It kind of brings out the best in me as a father."

FP3: "Those interactions you do have with HCP, they are very significant, and I think that, I'm sure those professionals they deal with hundreds of people a week, but for us as parents, it's a big deal, so if you have a good interaction and somebody is kind and considerate it definitely can influence your overall mood [...]."

Impacts of negative interactions with HCPs included fathers becoming more "Protective" (n = 3 utterances), "Assertive" (n = 2 utterances) and "Vigilant" (n = 1 utterance):

FP2: "[Previous negative experiences with HCPs] resulted in the fact that I was checking everything, verifying if there were any errors. When there was even a small error or inconsistency, I would jump on the opportunity to complain and report it. I think this contributed to us receiving the services we needed [for my child]."

One participant also reported that negative interactions with HCPs had the potential to "Affect subsequent relations with their partner and/or their child" (n = 1 utterance):

*FP3:* "[...] *if you have a negative interaction, it can definitely stick with you and can kind of come out with the wife or the kids.*"

#### Impacts of Fathers in the Healthcare of Their Child With Disability (From the Perspectives of HCPs)

The HCPs reported that the involvement of fathers in the healthcare of their child with a disability had numerous positive impacts (n = 6 subthemes, n = 30 utterances). The most commonly described effect is that fathers have the potential to "Contribute to the child's development, recovery and well-being" when they are involved and engaged in the healthcare of the child (n = 11 utterances):

HCP05: "I think [fathers] have a significant role [...]. We have limited amount of time to facilitate recovery or adaptation with compensatory measures, it only moves the needle so far. If we can extend that with dad's support, so if they are involved if they are supportive, that facilitates I think in general quicker improvement, quicker recovery, quicker restoration of function and independence. And when I've seen it, it's been amazing."

Second, the HCPs convey that when fathers are involved, this leads to a "Relief in burden of care for the mother and promotes mother's well-being" (n = 9 utterances).

HCP03: "[Father's contribution to mother's wellbeing] is huge, it's the biggest role that the father can have, because [he is] the immediate partner, and the immediate support system that the mother has, so it would be a huge impact." Several participants mentioned that fathers can promote "Therapy through play and fun" (n = 5 utterances) and "Can be very innovative" (n = 2 utterances):

HCP13: "One of my favorite dad moments was working with a child who was not yet a word user. So, I was having dad say the word 'up' and then toss the kid up in the air, gently, with lots of care and love, and that child did eventually say the word 'up.' Me and the dad thought that might have been the child's first word after maybe about half an hour of that rough and tumble physical play. This was a nice match of a style of play that the dad was comfortable with. 'Up' is a great first word because it's easy and meaningful." HCP01: "Dads' ideas are really great and dismissing them or not knowing how they are contributing - I think we are losing a big piece of information. Because you see [...] the strategies they think of might be something totally out of your ball game, so they are giving a completely different perspective that could be excellent, so by disregarding them you are missing that."

The involvement of fathers can also lead to more "Compliance in therapy" (n = 2 utterances) and enhanced "Family dynamics and overall functioning" (n = 1 utterance).

HCP10: "The thought that I had would be the kid who gets really frustrated when either they don't understand what is going on or they can't communicate or both [...] if the dad explains to the other kids and to the grandparents 'here's how we deal with little Johnny,' and if little Johnny feels supported and understood as much as possible, I think that probably has a positive effect on the child's behavior; therefore, the whole family's functioning. It would just sort of reduce the frustration for the child [and will make] everyone a little happier."

#### Barriers and Facilitators to Optimal and Empowering Interactions Between Fathers of Children With Disabilities and HCPs

**Tables 2A,B** outline the emerging subthemes related to barriers and facilitators to optimal and empowering interactions between fathers and HCPs from the perspectives of both study groups. Overall, 147 (n = 147) utterances were classified in barriers (n = 87 utterances; HCP-reported n = 68; father-participantsreported n = 19) and facilitators (n = 60; HCP-reported n = 41; father-participants-reported n = 19).

The most commonly reported barrier to optimal and empowering interactions between fathers and HCPs (n = 34 utterances, accounting for 39.1% of all barriers) was found to be associated with *Father-related factors*. Predominantly, accounting for 76.5% of barriers, these factors included fathers who were uninvolved or disengaged; rigid working schedule and high stress level of fathers; certain personality traits (e.g., being demanding, dismissive, or too imposing); and being in denial with regard to condition and challenges of their child:

HCP01: "There are two general types of dads that are less helpful: one is the one that is uninvolved – that's the one that even if they are present, they might be on their phone the whole time not paying attention. You kind of feel like you are bothering them if you have to ask them a question or if you want to point something out to them that their child is doing... those dads are not that helpful. The TABLE 2A | Barriers to optimal and empowering interactions and parent-professional relationships between fathers of children with disabilities and HCPs.

Theme <i>n</i> = number of utterances % of Barriers	Subtheme	Description	Father's utterances <i>n</i> (% of total)	HCPs' utterances n (% of total)	Total utterances <i>n</i> (% of Theme)
Factors related to fathers $N = 34$	Uninvolved or disengaged	Fathers who are uninvolved and/or disengaged in the healthcare of their child (e.g., during medical visits)	O (O)	7 (100)	7 (20.5)
39.1%	Rigid working schedule and stress level	Fathers' working schedule and stress levels that limit the possibility of interactions and involvement in the healthcare of their child.	2 (28.5)	5 (71.4)	7 (20.5)
	Unhelpful personality traits	Fathers' personality traits impeding communication and parent-professional relationship building (e.g., too demanding, dismissive, imposing).	O (O)	6 (100)	6 (17.6)
	Denial	Fathers who are in denial about their child's challenges or who have difficulty accepting the situation.	1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)	6 (17.6)
	Lack of understanding	Fathers who lack understanding or knowledge about their child and/or about the condition of their child.	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	4 (11.7)
	Previous experiences	Fathers with previous negative experiences with HCPs and/or the healthcare system and who are "carrying the baggage" into a new conversation/interaction.	O (O)	2 (100)	2 (5.8)
	Difficulty opening up	Fathers who have difficulty opening up about certain issues and/or share their feelings and concerns for fear of being perceived "weak."	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (2.9)
	Difficulty understanding HCPs	Fathers who have difficulty understanding HCPs for various reasons (e.g., communication barrier, low education level)	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (2.9)
		Total	4 (11.7)	30 (88.2)	34 (100)
Cultural beliefs $N = 18$	Father's role	The cultural beliefs about father's role in the family and the healthcare of the child.	2 (28.5)	5 (71.4)	7 (38.8)
20.7%	HCP who are female	Father's cultural beliefs toward HCPs who are female.	O (O)	4 (100)	4 (22.2)
	Culture-general	Ethnicity or general cultural factors that can affect interactions.	O (O)	3 (100)	3 (16.6)
	Disability	Fathers' cultural beliefs about their child's disability.	O (O)	2 (100)	2 (11.1)
	HCP discipline	Fathers' cultural beliefs about HCP discipline (e.g., physicians vs. therapists).	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (5.5)
	HCP age/experience level	Fathers' cultural beliefs about HCP of young age and/or possible low level of experience in childhood disability.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (5.5)
		Total	2 (11.1)	16 (88.8)	18 (100)
Stereotypical thinking or assumptions N = 9 10.3%	-	Refers to preconceived or stereotypical beliefs (e.g., "father is present at the medical visit because of lack of trust or unsatisfaction with services").	3 (33.3)	6 (66.7)	9 (100)
		Total	3 (33.3)	6 (66.7)	9 (100)
Family dynamics $N = 8$ 9.1%	-	Refers to various limiting family dynamics (e.g., overpowering partner).	0 (0)	8 (100)	8 (100)
		Total	0 (0)	8 (100)	8 (100)
Factors related to the healthcare and child-care systems N = 7	Accessibility to information, services, or contacts	Challenges related to accessing information, services or contact within the electronic record system/scheduling system.	3 (60.0)	2 (40.0)	5 (71.4)
8.0%	Delays in appointments - long waiting times	Long waiting lists for medical appointments.	1 (100)	0 (0)	1 (14.2)
	Maternity vs. paternity leaves	Refers to a longer vs. shorter maternity vs. paternity leave, possibly affecting father's involvement in child's healthcare, general care, knowledge about child and condition.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (14.2)

(Continued)

#### TABLE 2A | Continued

Theme n = number of utterances % of Barriers	Subtheme	Description	Father's utterances <i>n</i> (% of total)	HCPs' utterances n (% of total)	Total utterances <i>n</i> (% of Theme)	
		Total	4 (57.1)	3 (42.8)	7 (100)	
Factors related to HCPs N = 6 6.8%	Focus on negative aspects	HCP focusing on negative aspects, disability.	2 (100)	O (O)	2 (33.3)	
	Lack of attention to fathers	HCP not directing attention specifically to fathers in interactions.	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	2 (33.3)	
	Lack of knowledge about cultural factors and how to bridge them	HCP who lacks awareness about certain cultural factors that can be at play and how to bridge them during interactions.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (16.7)	
	Early career, confidence level	HCP who is early in their career and have a low confidence level when interacting with fathers.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (16.7)	
		Total	3 (50.0)	3 (50.0)	6(100)	
Time limitation N = 5 5.7%	-	Refers to time limitations during interactions (e.g., feeling of being rushed through medical visit or limited appointment time because of ongoing case load of the HCP).	3 (60.0)	2 (40.0)	5 (100)	
		Total	3 (60.0)	2 (40.0)	5 (100)	
		Grand Total	19 (21.8)	68 (78.2)	87 (100)	

second type of dad that is not that helpful is the authoritative dad who thinks that he knows best because he is the parent. I've had a dad pull me out of a room before I see a child and tell me: 'Tell my kid he can't drive.' whereas that might not be the situation, but he thinks his son cannot drive and therefore I should be conveying the same message. So those are the two general types of dads who are a little less helpful in situations. And also, it puts a strain on the therapeutic relationship because if you aren't going to carry through for ethical reasons or professional reasons you are deemed a bad therapist. And then there is of course stress and work if dads are very-very busy, they may not feel the importance to put down their phone to listen to what we are saying [...]. So, they are stressed and thinking of many-many things, they might miss appointments, and you as the health care professional have the impression that they are not involved but it's not necessarily true because they might be very involved at home it's just that they can't miss work. [...] Stress and work can really affect the way a dad might come across. Maybe they are stressed about something external, and they are taking it out on whoever is in front of them. You don't know what has happened while they have been waiting in the waiting room."

FP06: "Yeah, I feel like my ex-wife was accepting my kid like she was. She was more supportive than I was. I was engaged but I was demanding. She was engaged, but she was supportive. I was trying to push [my child] and my ex-wife was trying to support her. When you come in front of a professional, you can't keep pushing; you have to start accepting so you can help. It took me time. [...] I heard quite a bit of that, of people telling me that's not a real issue. So sometimes, the first reaction you get from men is not a very supportive one, so I guess when you go meet a professional if you don't believe in what you are doing and you just doubt the reality of that, it's going to be difficult."

The remainder of *Factors related to fathers* included lack of understanding or knowledge of fathers regarding the condition of

their child; their previous negative experiences with HCPs and/or the healthcare system; difficulty opening about issues and feelings with the HCP; and difficulty understanding the HCP:

FP03: "[...] In my experience, [my wife] is always the one with the information and the background knowledge and previous experience with these people and therefore is getting a lot more value out of the meetings. For me, if I don't have the base knowledge of what we are talking about then I'm not going to get as much out of it."

HCP09: "So what I find most difficult is when you see that something is bothering [dads] and then they are just not talking. [...] It is hard to get them to confide because they do not do that necessarily, that's not in their nature really to share their feelings, so, but you can actually see that something is wrong and they're just not talking about it. So, it's hard to tiptoe around the issue where you know something is not right, but then, that's another thing, a mom would just come out and tell you what's wrong and what's bothering her and then you can talk about it and get it out and try to find solutions, but with dads it's much more difficult to do that."

*Cultural beliefs*, such as those about role of a father, disability, and HCP discipline/gender/age-experience level, accounted for 20.7% of all barriers:

HCP10: "I see a lot more different cultures, and over the years it is often, not always, the mother who is the one who describes. Like the dad sort of drove her there, but he doesn't answer a lot of my questions, often isn't that worried, and sometimes I think that is a cultural thing that it's this is the moms job, the mom raises the kids and I make the money or I'm the provider or am the patriarch, but that's their culture for the father not to be as involved and also not that worried about developmental disabilities." TABLE 2B | Facilitators to optimal and empowering interactions and parent-professional relationships between fathers of children with disabilities and HCPs.

Theme Subtheme n = number of utterances of Facilitators		Description	Father's utterances n (% of total)	<ul> <li>HCPs'</li> <li>utterances</li> <li>n (% of total)</li> </ul>	Total utterances <i>n</i> (% of Theme)	
Factors related to fathers	Engagement	Father who is engaged and involved in child's care and healthcare.	O (O)	5 (100)	5 (17.2)	
N = 29 48.3%	Ability to see the overall picture and practicality	Father who can see the overall picture and be practical with solutions, innovative.	O (O)	5 (100)	5 (17.2)	
	Acceptance	Father who accepts the child's conditions and challenges.	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	4 (13.7)	
	Knowledge of the child's condition, medical history	Father who had a good understanding and awareness of the child's condition, medical history and child's needs.	0 (0)	4 (100)	4 (13.7)	
	Personality	Helpful personality traits (e.g., advocacy, perseverance, authority).	2 (66.7)	1 (33.3)	3 (10.3)	
	Responsibilities sharing	Father who is sharing responsibilities with partner (cultural shift in traditionally set roles).	O (O)	2 (100)	2 (6.8)	
	Ability to prioritize	Father who is able to prioritize needs.	O (O)	2 (100)	2 (6.8)	
	Openness to learn	Father who is open to learn.	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	2 (6.8)	
	Ability share feelings	Father who is able to open up and share feelings, talk about issues.	O (0)	1 (100)	1 (3.4)	
	Working conditions	Employer who understands father's situation and is flexible, allowing father to be involved in child's healthcare needs.		0 (0)	1 (3.4)	
		Total	5 (17.2)	24 (82.7)	29 (100)	
Factors related to HCPs	Providing explanations	HCP who is providing explanations during interactions with fathers of children with disabilities.	4 (100)	0 (0)	4 (16.6)	
N = 23 38.3%	Taking their time in the interactions	HCP who is taking their time during interactions with fathers and do not "rush the appointment."	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	4 (16.6)	
	Using family-centered care approach	HCP who is using a family-centered approach, where the needs of all family members are heard and considered, where both parents are treated equally.	3 (75.0)	1 (25.0)	4 (16.6)	
	Level of experience (novice vs. seasoned)	HCP with more years of experience in the field of childhood disability.	O (O)	3 (100)	3 (12.5)	
	Having the intent to involve fathers	HCP with intent to involve fathers of children with disability into assessment, treatment plan and/or follow-up.	O (O)	2 (100)	2 (8.3)	
	Reporting improvements, focus on positive aspects	HCP who is not solely focusing on disability and challenges, but who also report on positive aspects and improvements.	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	2 (8.3)	
	Advocating for family's needs	HCP who is acting as an advocate for the family and the child.	2 (100)	0 (0)	2 (8.3)	
	Grabbing the opportunity when father shows interest	HCP who can detect father's interest and take the opportunity to involve them as soon as possible.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (4.1)	
	Engaging fathers	HCP who is engaging fathers as much as possible.	1 (100)	0 (0)	1 (4.1)	
	Having a positive father role model	HCP who themselves have had a positive father role model in their life.	1 (100)	0 (0)	1 (4.1)	
		Total	13 (54.2)	11 (45.8)	24 (100)	
Communication strategies	Everyday examples	Using examples from everyday life to describe complex situations.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (25.0)	
N = 4 6.6%	Visual supports	Using visual supports in interactions that require deep understanding and lots of explanation.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (25.0)	
	Humor	Using humor during interactions, where appropriate.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (25.0)	
	Concreteness	Emphasizing how a father can help <i>via</i> concrete and clear suggestions and explanations why it is helpful.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (25.0)	
		Total	0 (0)	4 (100)	4 (100)	
Long lasting relationship with the same HCP	-	Refers to having a long-lasting parent-professional relationship with the same HCP.	1 (100)	O (O)	1(100)	

(Continued)

#### TABLE 2B | Continued

Theme n = number of utterances % of Facilitators	Subtheme	Description	Father's utterances n (% of total)	HCPs' utterances n (% of total)	Total utterances n (% of Theme)
		Total	1 (100)	0 (0)	1 (100)
<b>Follow-up</b> <i>N</i> = 1 1.6%	-	Refers to following up with fathers if they are absent from the medical visit in relation to their child's care.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (100)
		Total	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (100)
Accommodating father's schedule N = 1 1.6%	-	Refers to accommodating father's schedule in the attempt to have them present during healthcare visits.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (100)
		Total	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (100)
		Grand Total	19 (31.7)	41 (68.3)	60 (100)

*Stereotypical thinking or assumptions; Family dynamics* (e.g., overpowering partner); *Factors related to the healthcare and child-care system* (e.g., wait times, accessibility to services); and *Time limitation* (e.g., feeling rushed through the appointments) were also reported as barriers:

FP02: "Every time the physiotherapist sees me [the father], she has this face: 'Oh okay, it's the father...' as if I were there to be mean, to see how you do your job. I have the impression that it looks like when they see the father [at the medical visit], they think it is because there is something wrong."

FP03: "One thing that always bothers me is when I sense that there is a rush on the meeting, if there is a rush on the interaction we are having, and if there's not enough thought going into a suggestion. You have just met my kid, you are telling him this thing right here, and it is like hang on, there can be an impact there on me, where I feel like, you know you are more apt to follow someone's advice or hear what they have to say if you believe that they know what you are dealing with, they know your particularities. Going to any HCP where they are trying to rush you out of the office it's not a good situation for any positive interaction."

Lastly, certain *Factors related to HCPs* also emerged as obstacles and included: HCPs who are focusing on negative aspects and on disability; those lacking attention to fathers in their interactions; the lack of knowledge about cultural factors and how to bridge them; and being early in their career (e.g., low confidence level in interacting with fathers):

FP03: "I feel like it's just important to remind [HCPs] that we as parents can really use a dose of positivity, and it feels good when they, I think starting out on a foot of positivity has been great and too often people jump straight into 'Okay, here's what I'm seeing that's wrong with your son.' [...] it's all about what he's sort of failing at, really, and that can be really stressful actually."

HCP13: "I've seen professionals that are great at coaching moms [...] but in other situations, just totally stone-wall dad. What are you doing? He came to the appointment, like you might hook him!" HCP13: "I have a child on my list right now who, they speak [another language]. During one of my feeding visits, dad is very polite and very quiet, just kind of smiles and nods. And in one of my feeding visits, I said 'I like seeing you, I like seeing you here, I'd love to see you, you know for communication visits, you are so invited, you could come if you wanted to, we'd have fun together,' and then he came to some subsequently which really made [me happy]. But I do not always know how to build that bridge, especially if I do not meet dad in the clinic area in the first place. I don't always know how to build that bridge."

HCP10: "When I was new, I was probably intimidated talking to anyone, I felt like an imposter, like I didn't know what I was doing."

In terms of facilitators, *Factors related to fathers* were reported 48.3% of the time and included: engagement of father; ability to see the overall picture and practicality; acceptance of the condition of child, strengths and weaknesses; knowledge of the condition of the child; positive personality traits (e.g., advocacy, perseverance); sharing of responsibilities; ability to prioritize; openness to learn; ability to share feelings; and flexible working conditions:

HCP10: "The [experiences and interactions] that are positive are [with] the involved dads. They are the ones who are asking me questions who seem to know their child quiet well, they are aware of their child's strengths and weakness."

HCP11: "So the father would come to some appointments and the positive interaction was [that] he was always [sharing] with me how he felt about the kid. He was always very happy when he came back and he had put into place the recommendations I had given him."

HCP01: "[Fathers] still care for their child very-very much, but they aren't caught up in their insecurities, and their guilt, and their anxieties. They are able to take a step back and really see objectivity what is important in this moment for their child."

HCP12: "...Father's openness and willingness to receive information will have a play on how comfortable I am too. So, with the fathers who are really interested and want to know why we are doing certain activities, [the interaction] is really not a problem." Several *Factors related to HCPs* emerged as enablers and included: providing explanations; taking their time in the interactions; using a family-centered approach; level of experience; intent to involve fathers; reporting improvements and focus on positive aspects; advocating for needs of the family; grabbing on the opportunity when the father shows interest; engaging fathers; and having a positive father role model in their lives. Seventy percent (70%) of all the utterances of the father-participants in the theme "Facilitators" were found to be in this category (i.e., *Factors related to HCPs*):

FP04: "I would more say was the one where we did the occupational therapy where the HCP was actively engaged with the parents, they showed us the techniques to do at home in order to help Jackson when he is at home not just at the therapy sessions, so for me they were engaged with us."

FP03: "[One facilitator to optimal interactions is to] try as best as you can to give time to the interaction, to provide knowledge in the meeting itself for when it's needed, like if, I mean it's definitely not on them to educate us every time, but it's helpful and I appreciate it." FP02: "[In the best interactions], we [father and mother] were considered both as parents of equal value, and not 'the mother and the father who is on the side.""

Further, *Communication strategies* were reported as positive (100% by HCPs) and included: the use of everyday examples; visual supports; and humor; and concreteness, where the HCP can emphasize how a father can help using clear suggestions and explanations as to why it is beneficial.

HCP09: "So a lot of the good interaction that I find is when we do teach or we're trying to solve issues, they are very engaged in that. So, to give them concrete explanations, to give them concrete things to do, like, that's what they like, and that's what they're engaged into." HCP07: "I use humor a lot with fathers, they get on well.. Sometimes when we use a little bit with humor, it creates good interactions."

The remaining facilitators included having a *Long-lasting* relationship with the same HCP; Following-up with fathers when they are absent from the medical visit; and Accommodating father's schedule in attempt to have them present during healthcare visits.

#### Solutions to Optimize Interactions Between Fathers of Children With Disabilities and HCPs and Involvement of Fathers in the Healthcare of Their Child

Seventy (n = 70) utterances (n = 18, 25.7% from the fatherparticipants; n = 52, 74.3% from the HCPs) were categorized into the theme of Solutions to optimize interactions between fathers of children with disabilities and HCPs and overall father's involvement in the healthcare of their child. Table 3 outlines the reported solutions. Most solutions (65.7%) were proposed directly for HCPs and included: Changes to communication strategies; assessment, treatment and follow-up; Appointments and scheduling; Fair consideration of both parent figures; and consideration of cultural differences and values.

For *Changes to communication strategies*, the participants recommended: including fathers in conversations and directing attention to them; taking time in conversation and avoid rushing patients; adjusting communication strategies to the educational level of fathers, culture, values, comprehension level and interest; focusing on positive aspects; being practical and outlining how fathers can help; listening actively to observations of fathers; and clearly outlining expectations from the start.

Several suggestions on how the process of Assessment, treatment, and follow-up can be improved emerged and included: involving fathers in the intervention and assessment sessions as much as possible, providing visual supports in home programs, following-up with fathers if they are absent, and modifying the assessment setting (by including a double-sided mirror) to alleviate the stress related to the presence of HCP during an assessment conducted via observation (e.g., playtime, parentchild interaction, feeding). Considering both parents' agendas and Accommodating fathers' schedules to promote their presence at medical visits was also reported as one solution. The HCPs also suggested the need to be Sensitive to cultural differences and values during interactions and adjust their approach accordingly.

Solutions related to *Education and awareness* were reported by the HCPs only (100%) and included developing and launching: (1) formal education curriculum for trainees with a focus on family-centered care and particularities related to fathers; (2) continuing education material for practicing HCPs in the field of childhood disability, outlining current issues and how to bridge them; and (3) material targeting fathers of children with disability, with an aim to increase their awareness about potential positive outcomes of their involvement and engagement in the healthcare and upbringing of their child.

Changes to *Healthcare services* at large (e.g., improving access, transparency, and visibility of information; medical records, and administration) were proposed entirely by the father-participants (100%). In addition, modifications to *how fathers are portrayed* in the media and in the healthcare system (e.g., program titles) were recommended:

HCP13: "So I think also that when we see children represented in the media, they are with mums, and then when we see children with disabilities represented in the media they are with mums and then like if we even manage to get a representation of a dad, we don't often see pictures and videos of dads with kids with disabilities. And if we do, we do not see a spectrum of dad abilities - we get hero- dad. We do not see ordinary dads doing the ordinary things that come with kids with disabilities. I think representation matters and representation of dads who maybe are not superheroes, maybe they are just regular dads who play in regular ways. When dads exist in the media with kids, they are either amazing at that play or they are described as amazing even when they are just doing their jobs. I think we hit both sides of that so I think dads can either get intimidated, like if I am not YouTube worthy, I best not jump in. Or yeah just they don't know that people that look like them can be a part of the picture."

HCP12: "[What was helpful is] for example, our toddler group is called 'Moms and Tots' and recently we changed it to 'Parents and

TABLE 3 | Solutions to improve interactions and parent-professional relationships between fathers of children with disabilities and HCPs.

Theme n = number of utterances % of Solutions	Subtheme <i>n</i> = number of utterances % of Theme	Sub-subtheme	Description	Father's utterances n (% of total)	HCPs' utterances n (% of total)	Total utterance <i>n</i> (% of Theme
Solutions for HCPs $N = 46$	Communication strategies N = 20 43.5%	Inclusion and direct attention	To include fathers in conversations and direct attention to them in interactions.	1 (12.5)	7 (84.5)	8 (40.0)
65.7%		Time	To take more time when interacting with fathers.	1 (33.3)	2 (66.7)	3 (15.0)
		Adjustment, individualization	To adjust communication strategies to father's educational level, culture, values, comprehension level, and interests.	1 (33.3)	2 (66.7)	3 (15.0)
		Positive focus	To focus on strengths and positive aspects.	2 (100)	O (O)	2 (10.0)
		Practicality	To make conversation practical for fathers and outline how can they help, be educational.	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	2 (10.0)
		Active listening	To listen actively to fathers and their observations.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (5.0)
		Clear expectations	To outline expectations from the start.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (5.0)
			Total	6 (30.0)	14 (70.0)	20 (100)
	Assessment, treatment and follow-up N = 12 26.1%	Involvement in intervention session	To involve fathers in interventions sessions.	1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)	6 (50.0)
		Involvement in assessment sessions.	To involve fathers in assessments and screening sessions.	0 (0)	2 (100)	2 (16.6)
		Visual supports for home programs.	To develop visual supports for home programs and include pictures of male figures.	2 (100)	O (O)	2 (16.6)
		Follow-up	To follow up with fathers if they are absent from the session by providing updates and keeping them informed.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (8.3)
		Assessment setting modification	To modify assessment setting by including a double-sided mirror.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (8.3)
			Total	3 (25.0)	9 (75.0)	12 (100)
	Appointments and scheduling	Agenda	To consider both parents' agendas and accommodate father's schedule for him to be present.	1 (14.3)	6 (85.7)	7 (77.7)
	N = 9 19.5%	Crucial timepoints	To insist on seeing both parents at crucial timepoints (initial assessment, diagnosis, planning for treatment, re-assessments).	O (O)	2 (100)	2 (22.2)
		Total			8 (88.8)	9 (100)
	Fair consideration of fathers vs. mothers N = 4 8.6%	-	HCP to offer fair attention to fathers and mothers by considering them as equal parent-partners.	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	4 (100)
			Total	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	4 (100)
	Consideration of cultural differences and values $N = 1$ 2.1%	-	HCP to consider cultural difference and values that might be at play (their own vs. patient's) and be sensitive to those factors when interacting with families.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (100)

(Continued)

Fathers Matter

#### TABLE 3 | Continued

Theme n = number of utterances % of Solutions	Subtheme <i>n</i> = number of utterances % of Theme	Sub-subtheme	Description	Father's utterances <i>n</i> (% of total)	HCPs' utterances <i>n</i> (% of total)	Total utterances <i>n</i> (% of Theme)
			Total	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (100)
Education and awareness N = 11 15.7%	Formal education curriculum for trainees N = 6 54.5%	1 -	Refers to the development and inclusion of an educational module (for trainees) that is specific to family-centered care in the formal curriculum within the health-sciences programs (pediatric-related sections).	0 (0)	6 (100)	6 (54.5)
	Continuing education for HCPs N = 4 36.4%	-	Refers to the development and launch of a continuing educational module that is specific to family-centered care for practicing clinicians in the field of childhood disability.	O (O)	4 (100)	4 (36.3)
	Fathers' awareness N = 1 9.0%	-	Refers to the development and launch of knowledge translation material to raise awareness of fathers (and other family members) about their positive contributions to child's health and family's well-being when they are actively involved and engaged in child's healthcare and upbringing.	O (O)	1 (100)	1 (9.1)
			Total	0 (0)	11 (100)	11 (100)
Healthcare services and media $N = 11$ 15.7%	Access N = 5 45.4%	-	Refers to improving access, transparency and visibility of information and services.	5 (100)	0 (0)	5 (45.4)
	Public relations (media, titles of groups/programs) N = 4 36.6%	3 -	Refers to changing how fathers are portrayed in the media and in materials used by the healthcare settings and modify the titles of groups/program to be inclusive of fathers.	O (O)	4 (100)	4 (36.3)
	Medical records/administrate $N = 2$ 18.2%	ion	Refers to minimizing administrative and medical record biases (e.g., primary phone number is always that of the mother) to accommodate both parents and promote inclusiveness.	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	2 (18.1)
			Total	6 (54.5)	5 (45.5)	11 (100)
Solutions for fathers $N = 2$ 2.8%	Engagement N = 1 50%	-	Refers to fathers to actively engage in conversations during interactions with HCPs.	1 (100)	0 (0)	1 (50.0)
	Awareness $N = 1$ 50%	-	Refers to fathers gaining awareness about their potential impacts of involvement in child's healthcare.	0 (0)	1 (100)	1 (50.0)
			Total	1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	2 (100)
			Grand Total	18 (25.7)	52 (74.3)	70 (100)

Ogourtsova et al.
Tots.' I find it makes a difference, the fathers that started to get included they kept asking: Why it is called 'Moms and Tots,' and so little things like that..."

Lastly, solutions *Targeting fathers* emerged and included: increasing engagement and awareness of fathers about their potential impacts of engagement in the healthcare of their child.

## DISCUSSION

To enhance healthcare-related interactions and experiences for fathers of children with developmental disabilities, the goal was to explore the barriers to and facilitators of positive and empowering interactions and parent–professional relationships, from the perspectives of fathers of children with developmental disabilities and HCPs. The participants of this study reported numerous impacts of positive interactions and involvement of fathers in the healthcare of their children. Also, we determined several influential factors (obstacles vs. enablers) that are at play during parent–professional interactions. We also outlined practical solutions that can be implemented in various clinical settings with the aim of improving interactions and parent–professional relationships, as well as promoting familycentered care.

In this study, the fathers reported to be moderate to very much involved in the healthcare of their child (e.g., arranging healthcare services and being present during medical visits) and other activities (e.g., home program, feeding, exercises). This is congruent with results from previous qualitative studies on fathering children with disabilities (19-21). Nonetheless, the HCP-participants conveyed that fathers are only somewhat involved in those activities. The discrepancy in findings between the two study groups could be attributed to selection and response biases. To explain, the interviewed HCPs have experience with numerous fathers of children with disabilities with different engagement levels (involved vs. not involved). On the other hand, the fathers who participated voluntarily in this study are parents who are moderate to very much engaged in the healthcare and upbringing of their child. However, previous research has suggested that, resulting from cultural beliefs about parenting roles in the family, some fathers of children with disabilities may choose to be less involved with their children. It is common for the mother to undertake the role of primary caregiver and the care from the father related to the child becomes optional (22). Similarly, we also found that cultural factors, such as the traditional beliefs about the role of the father in the upbringing and healthcare of the child, represented 20.7% of all reported barriers and were predominantly conveyed by the HCPs (88.8% of the time). Furthermore, the fathers reported that although they are overall satisfied with the interactions they have had with HCPs in the past, they report that HCPs are only sometimes attentive to them during interactions. This finding resonates with previous research where many fathers report feeling "invisible" during interactions with service providers in relation to the care of their child (23, 24).

Personal factors related to fathers (e.g., their level of engagement/involvement, personality traits, denial vs.

acceptance, difficulty opening up about issues) accounted for most of the obstacles or enablers to optimal interactions and parent-professional relationships. Those factors may originate from and be further exacerbated by the high stress levels and mental health issues potentially experienced by fathers of children with disabilities. For example, Giallo et al. (25) demonstrated that in fathers of children with disabilities, there were high rates of symptoms of depression and stress, with nearly 8% reporting severe to extreme symptoms. A recent Canadian study using population-level administrative data from the Ministry of Health compared the mental health of parents of children who have a DD with the mental health of parents of typically developing children. They reported that diagnosed mental health issues were the most prevalent health issues among parents of children with disabilities (including fathers at 60%) (26). The findings of this study regarding external factors, such as supportive vs. hindering work conditions, resonate with previous research suggesting that parents of children with disability experience different stressors, capacity to work, and patterns of pastimes compared with parents of typically developing children (27). It is, therefore, important for HCPs to be aware of those elements and to be sensitive to potential mental health challenges and lived stressors when interacting with fathers of children with disabilities.

Further, the father's denial vs. acceptance of the child's condition, strengths, and challenges was identified as an important influential factor by both study groups. Comparatively, a recent study explored experiences of fathering children with autism spectrum disorder (19). In this study, fathers described their experiences as a "path toward acceptance." Hence, we propose that HCPs support fathers in their journey toward acceptance and this might lead to enhanced connections and experiences.

Similar to previous findings, where fathers report feeling overwhelmed and overshadowed during interactions with HCPs (22, 24), we found that factors, such as family dynamics (e.g., overpowering partner), factors related to HCPs (e.g., focusing on negative aspects, lack of knowledge about cultural factors, lack of attention to fathers), and time limitation, where fathers feel rushed through the medical visits, are hindering interactions and parent-professional relationships. The study participants also reported several issues with the healthcare system in general (e.g., long waiting times, lack of visibility of services and transparency), and that previous negative experiences with the healthcare system shaped them into being more vigilant, defensive, or protective. Analogous results have been reported in the past, where fathers of children with disabilities saw themselves as "advocates fighting obstructive services to access appropriate care" (19). On the other hand, when HCPs provide explanations, take their time during interactions, implement family-centered approaches in care, demonstrate intent to involve fathers, advocate for the family, and engage fathers whenever possible, it enables interactions and builds and maintains parent-professional relationships.

Finally, in line with identified barriers and facilitators, several practical solutions emerged. These solutions can be easily implemented in the clinical settings of today to enhance the experiences of fathers of children with disabilities and promote

helpful and empowering interactions between fathers and HCPs. The majority of the suggestions pertain to communication strategies (e.g., directly including fathers and paying attention to fathers in sessions), changes in clinical practices related to evaluation, treatment, administrative system (scheduling), family-centered care (where both parents are considered equally), and consideration of cultural differences. Access to information and services, as well as how fathers are portrayed vs. not portrayed in the media and within the healthcare system should also be evaluated and adjusted as needed. We propose that future research should focus on promoting the development and launch of knowledge translation tools to include educational materials to increase knowledge and awareness of trainees, practicing clinicians, and parents about fathers of children with disabilities.

There are limitations in this study, such as the small sample size of father-participants, potentially limiting the generalizability of the findings. Nonetheless, the data analysis showed saturation of ideas with the included participants. To the advantage of the authors, the sample also included fathers of children from a wide age range and variability in diagnoses, single and married individuals, and of different educational backgrounds. The use of surveys and interviews enabled us to triangulate perspectives through mixed methods, allowing a richer understanding of the experiences of fathers and HCPs. In addition, given the use of patient-oriented research strategy, the study greatly benefited from the inclusion of two father-advisors on the research team, boosting the relevance and suitability of measurement strategies and interpretation of findings.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors upon request, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Research Institute of the McGill

## REFERENCES

- Swallow V. An exploration of mothers' and fathers' views of their identities in chronic-kidney-disease management: parents as students? *J Clin Nurs.* (2008) 17:3177–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02642.x
- Majnemer A, Shevell M, Law M, Poulin C, Rosenbaum P. Indicators of distress in families of children with cerebral palsy. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2012) 34:1202–7. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2011.638035
- 3. Raina P, O'Donnell M, Schwellnus H, Rosenbaum P, King G, Brehaut J, et al. Caregiving process and caregiver burden: conceptual models to guide research and practice. *BMC Pediatr.* (2004) 4:1. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-4-1
- Baker-Ericzen M, Brookman-Frazee L, Stahmer A. Stress levels and adaptability in parents of toddlers with and without autism spectrum disorders. *Res Pract Persons Sev Disabil.* (2005) 30:194–204. doi: 10.2511/rpsd.30.4.194
- Davis NO, Carter AS. Parenting stress in mothers and fathers of toddlers with autism spectrum disorders: associations with child characteristics. J Autism Dev Disord. (2008) 38:1278–91. doi: 10.1007/s10803-007-0512-z

University Health Center and University of British Columbia. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TO drafted the first version of the manuscript. All the authors developed the study protocol, reviewed the manuscript, provided modifications, and suggestions where appropriate.

### FUNDING

This study was funded by the Richard and Edith Strauss Foundation in Knowledge Translation, received at the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, McGill University. This study was supported by infrastructures from the Research Institute-McGill University Health Center and Montreal Children's Hospital and the Centre for Interdisciplinary Research in Rehabilitation of Greater Montreal (CRIR), both of which are funded by the FRQS. TO was funded as a post-doctoral fellow by the CHILD -BRIGHT Network (www.child-bright.ca) and the CRIR.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Emma Steven (The Research Institute of the McGill University Health Center) and Galil Osman (McGill University) for their assistance with data analysis. Furthermore, the authors would like to thank all participating families and clinicians.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fresc. 2021.709262/full#supplementary-material

- Yeung WJ, Sandberg JF, Davis-Kean PE and Hofferth SL. Children's time with fathers in intact families. J Marriage Fam. (2001) 63:136– 54. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3737.2001.00136.x
- Cabrera NJ, Tamis-LeMonda CS, Bradley RH, Hofferth S, Lamb ME. Fatherhood in the twenty-first century. *Child Dev.* (2000) 71:127–36. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00126
- Garfield CF, Isacco A. Fathers and the well-child visit. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 117:e637–45. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-1612
- Song CS, Chun BY, Choi YI. The influence of fathers' parenting participation with disabled children on parenting stress in mothers. *J Phys Ther Sci.* (2015) 27:3825–8. doi: 10.1589/jpts.27.3825
- Lashewicz BM, Shipton L, Lien K. Meta-synthesis of fathers' experiences raising children on the autism spectrum. *J Intellect Disabil*. (2017) 23:117–131. doi: 10.1177/1744629517719347
- Cassano M, Adrian M, Veits G, Zeman J. The inclusion of fathers in the empirical investigation of child psychopathology: an update. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. (2006) 35:583–9. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp350 4\_10

- Braunstein L, Peniston N, Perelamn A, Cassano MC. The inclusion of fathers in investigations of autistic spectrum disorders. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2013) 7:858–65. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2013.03.005
- Ogourtsova T, O'Donnell M, De Souza Silva W, Majnemer A. Health coaching for parents of children with developmental disabilities: a systematic review. *Develop. Med. Child Neurol.* (2019) 61(11):1259–1265. https://doi.org/10. 1111/dmcn.14206
- 14. Towers C. Let's not forget about fathers. *Learn Disabil Today*. (2007) 7:15–21. https://www.mentalhealth.org.uk/sites/default/files/let-not-forget-about-fathers.pdf
- Pei-Fan M. Paternal reaction to a child with epilepsy: uncertainty, coping strategies, and depression. J Adv Nurs. (2005) 49:367– 76. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03300.x
- Knafl K, Zoeller L. Childhood chronic illness: a comparison of mothers' and fathers' experiences. J Fam Nurs. (2000) 6:287–302. doi: 10.1177/107484070000600306
- Denzin NK. Sociological Methods: A Sourcebook. 2nd ed. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill. (1978. p. xii, 434.
- Hsieh HF, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. *Qual Health Res.* (2005) 15:1277–88. doi: 10.1177/1049732305276687
- Burrell A, Ives J, Unwin G. The experiences of fathers who have offspring with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2017) 47:1135– 47. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3035-2
- Cashin GH, Small SP, Solberg SM. The lived experience of fathers who have children with asthma: a phenomenological study. J Pediatr Nurs. (2008) 23:372–85. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2007.08.001
- Donaldson SO, Elder JH, Self EH, Christie MB. Fathers' perceptions of their roles during in-home training for children with autism. J Child Adolesc Psychiatr Nurs. (2011) 24:200–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6171.2011. 00300.x
- 22. Torquato IMB, de Araujo Dantas MS, de Oliveira SMD, Dantas de Assis W, Novaes dos Santos Fechinne CP, Collet N. Paternal

participation in caring for the child with Down Syndrome. J Nurs. (2013) 7:30–8. doi: 10.5205/reuol.3049-24704-1-LE.0701201305

- Lai YC. Invisible fathers' voices about the integrated programme implemented in mainstream child care centres in Hong Kong: implications for educational change. *Educ Rev.* (2020) 72:23–40. doi: 10.1080/00131911.2018.1481 017
- Bagner DM. Father's role in parent training for children with developmental delay. J Fam Psychol. (2013) 27:650–7. doi: 10.1037/a0033465
- Giallo R, Seymour M, Matthews J, Gavidia-Payne S, Hudson A, Cameron C. Risk factors associated with the mental health of fathers of children with an intellectual disability in Australia. *J Intellect Disabil Res.* (2015) 59:193– 207. doi: 10.1111/jir.12127
- Marquis SM, McGrail K, Hayes M. Mental health of parents of children with a developmental disability in British Columbia, Canada. J Epidemiol Community Health. (2020) 74:173–8. doi: 10.1136/jech-2018-211 698
- Mitchell DB, Szczerepa A, Hauser-Cram P. Spilling over: partner parenting stress as a predictor of family cohesion in parents of adolescents with developmental disabilities. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2016) 49–50:258– 67. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2015.12.007

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Ogourtsova, O'Donnell, Chung, Gavin, Bogossian and Majnemer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## A Narrative Review of Function-Focused Measures for Children With Neurodevelopmental Disorders

Kajaani Shanmugarajah<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Peter Rosenbaum<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Mohammad Zubairi<sup>3,4</sup> and Briano Di Rezze<sup>1,2,4†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Rehabilitation Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability Research, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> McMaster Autism Research Team, Hamilton, ON, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Julia Schuchard, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Patricia Welch Saleeby, Bradley University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Kajaani Shanmugarajah shanmugk@mcmaster.ca

> > <sup>†</sup>Senior author

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> **Received:** 14 May 2021 **Accepted:** 02 July 2021 **Published:** 29 July 2021

#### Citation:

Shanmugarajah K, Rosenbaum P, Zubairi M and Di Rezze B (2021) A Narrative Review of Function-Focused Measures for Children With Neurodevelopmental Disorders. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:709978. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.709978

Clinical measures in health and rehabilitation settings are often used to examine child functioning to better support the diverse needs of children with neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD) and their families. The WHO's International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) framework reflects a focus of health beyond biomedical deficits, using the concept of functioning to create opportunities for measurement development involving this construct. In the measures developed in the field of childhood NDD, it is unclear whether and how these tools measure and incorporate the ICF framework and its domains within health care contexts. Understanding how these measures utilize the ICF will enable researchers and clinicians to operationalize function-focused concepts in studies and clinical practice more effectively. This narrative review aims to identify and describe function-focused measures that are based on the ICF for children with NDD, as described in the peer-reviewed literature. This review used a systematic search strategy with multiple health-focused databases (Medline, PsycInfo, EMBASE, EMCARE), and identified 14 clinical measures that provide direct support for children (aged 0-21) with NDD in pediatric health (and other) settings. Results described the measures that were primarily developed for three main diagnostic populations [cerebral palsy, autism spectrum disorder, and communication disorders]; had varying contextual use (clinical-only or multiple settings); and for which authors had conducted psychometric tests in the measure's initial development studies, with the most common being content validity, interrater reliability, test-retest reliability. Participation (79%, n = 11) & Activities (71%, n = 10) were the most common ICF domains captured by the set of measurement tools. Overall (71%, n = 10) of the identified measures utilized multiple ICF domains, indicating that the "dynamic nature" of the interactions of the ICF domains was generally evident, and that this result differentiated from "linking rules," commonly used in research and clinical practice. The implications of these findings suggest that clinical measures can be an effective application of the ICF's defined concepts of functioning for children with NDD.

Keywords: children, neurodevelopmental disabilities, clinical measures, ICF, NDD

## INTRODUCTION

Neurodevelopmental disorders (NDD), as defined by the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edition (DSM-5), refer to a group of conditions that present during a child's early developmental period and are characterized by developmental deficits that may create challenges in the child's personal, social, academic, or occupational functioning (1). Common examples of NDD include autism spectrum disorder (ASD), communication and/or language disorders, attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder, motor disorders (including cerebral palsy [CP]), learning disorders, and developmental coordination disorder (1). The prevalence rate for NDD in developed countries range from 7 to 14% of all children (2). Children with NDD may experience challenges in different environments, potentially impacting their functioning within academic settings (school), daily living skills (home), and the broader community (3-7). The DSM-5 describes these challenges as a symptom of excess, deficit, or delay in key aspects of child functioning, especially when considering the achievement of expected developmental milestones (1).

Historically, biomedical models and thinking have greatly influenced clinical practice, including the field of childhood disability (8, 9). This traditional way of thinking focused on the attributes of a child's deficits and limitations, for diagnostic purposes and to treat aspects of the child's "disability" (10, 11). In 2001, the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) – a contemporary conceptual framework – challenged these practices and highlighted the paradigm shift to think beyond the biomedical model to an integrated biopsychosocial model of human functioning and disability (8). This biopsychosocial model emphasizes that individuals with disabilities have needs that extend beyond the medical scope of practice, and are often broad-based in nature within social, educational, and functional settings (12).

As shown in **Figure 1**, the four key domains of the ICF are: *body function & structures* (functioning at the level of the body); *activities* (functioning at the level of the individual); *participation* (functioning of a person as a member of society); and *contextual factors* (personal and environmental factors that can exist as facilitators or barriers) (8). The ICF framework defines *functioning* as an umbrella term to describe the interactions of these four domains, examining the positive or neutral aspects occurring between the individual's health condition(s) and their context (8). "Disability" is an alternate umbrella term used to describe the interactions of an individual's impairments, activity limitations and participation restrictions, examining the negative aspects of the *interaction* between the individual's health condition(s) and their context (8).

This ICF framework depicts the interactive and non-linear nature of the core domains, establishing that these conceptual domains are not independent when examining functioning and/or disability. The framework is representative of the biopsychosocial perspective, as it recognizes how the influences of physical, psychological, and social factors within "functioning and disability" can be understood from the viewpoint of the individual with respect to their health condition (13, 14). Without focusing on single descriptors to label a child's functional abilities, this framework utilizes a holistic approach that still highlight the nuances in the interactions of the different elements that build a child's functional profile (14, 15). This framework indicates a paradigm shift in the ways that researchers and clinicians understand disability, as it provides a multidimensional perspective that both classifies functioning independently from the individual's diagnosis and views disability as product of person-environment interactions (12, 15, 16).

Children with NDD exhibit a wide range of levels of functioning within and between their diagnostic groups (17). In addition to the ICF framework, the field of NDD has seen growth in the concept of functioning that takes into consideration the heterogeneous level of abilities within diagnostic populations that extends across NDD (10). For example, within ASD literature, the concept of *neurodiversity* views neurological differences as inherent human variation, rather than as a disorder, and celebrates the individuality of a person – regardless of their capabilities (18, 19). This change in thinking in the field of ASD has had a great influence in promoting various abilities and child differences within ASD interventions, including the language that is being used to describe the diagnosis (19, 20).

Similar concepts of functioning started in the field of CP, in relation to interventions in pediatric rehabilitation. Rather than using the traditional approaches of CP that attempt to normalize movement patterns and minimize the development of secondary impairments, there is an increased emphasis on enabling the child to master various tasks and participate in different activities (21, 22). Over the last 20 years, in the field of CP, clinical care and research have examined child functioning as it relates to interacting contextual factors (22, 23). Although the needs and abilities of children with NDD (and their families) are heterogeneous, everyday functioning is continually regarded as an important outcome to families (24).

Examining clinical contexts in particular, there is a notable emphasis of functioning in the ICF, as this term is often used to describe abilities-focused processes – otherwise commonly referred to as function-focused care (12, 24, 25). Within this type of pediatric care planning, there are typically certain measures used with families to promote child functioning or child abilities.

Although these measures may have the appropriate psychometric testing completed to illustrate their effectiveness in clinical utility, it is also important that there is some consistency with the language that is being used with these measures (20, 26, 27). For example, the terms "function," "functional," and "everyday functioning," are used synonymously in the literature, whereas the ICF's conceptualization of functioning emphasizes it as the complex interactions between the four domains (10). There are various measures that aim to assess concepts related to function, such as adaptive behavior [e.g., Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales (28), Adaptive Behavior Assessment System (29), Behavior Assessment System for Children (30)]. However, these measures are not based on the ICF, and therefore describe everyday function differently compared to ICF-based measures.

Operationalizing the ICF framework (i.e., its domains and the interactions between them) within measurement tools can create opportunities for the ICF to be widely utilized in clinical



environments for children with NDD (14). It is unclear how many measures in the field of NDD are developed using the definitions and concepts of the ICF framework. It has been demonstrated in the literature that clinical measures can be mapped on or "linked" to the ICF framework by following a set of established and standardized rules, as described by Fayed et al. (31). With NDD interventions shifting to focus more specifically on strengths and support needs, there is a need for further description of how measures that purport to be function-focused are utilized in clinical systems. The focus of this study is directed toward examining how researchers who have developed ICFbased measures conceptualized their measure, specifically with whether and how the ICF domains were utilized in pediatric clinical contexts and research.

## METHODS

We undertook a narrative review and synthesis of the peerreviewed literature to understand existing function-focused, ICF-based measures that are used with children diagnosed with NDD. A narrative review summarizes and describes previously published information with an interpretation of the contents of different studies using a comprehensive, critical and objective analysis (32, 33). This study was guided by SANRA, the Scale for the Assessment of Narrative Review Articles, specifically by reviewing the six items deemed necessary for a quality review: (1) justification of the review's importance for the reader; (2) review focus/aim(s); (3) description of literature search; (4) referencing; (5) scientific reasoning; and (6) relevant and appropriate endpoint/presentation data (33).

We used a two-stage approach to review the literature. The first stage was to identify original research texts that (a) focused on children (18 and younger) diagnosed with NDD defined by DSM-5, and (b) referenced the ICF framework. Both criteria

needed to be stated within the abstract of the study. Initial keywords were generated for each conceptual category of the research aim with the guidance of a trained librarian in a health sciences library to form the search strategy. Keywords were identified within three categories (NDD diagnosis, child [age range 0-18], and ICF), and were used to search the following databases: Medline, PsycInfo, EMBASE, and EMCARE. Search terms were developed and customized for each database. Abstracts were then screened to identify whether any measures were used in an intervention study and/or discussed in the literature; we also required the clinical measure to be the focus of the abstract. Searches were restricted to both English language journals and publication date (2002-April 2021), as selected papers were required to be published post-publication of the ICF in 2001. Studies were excluded if the aim was to translate the measure to explore psychometric properties within an alternate language/country/context. Measures that were used within indirect care (i.e., measures that focused on data collection and/or inter-professional collaboration) were also excluded. Lastly, secondary studies (i.e., systematic reviews, scoping reviews) as well as editorials and commentaries were excluded. The titles and abstracts of the resulting articles from the database search were exported to Covidence (34), a reference managing software. Duplicate records were then deleted using the software.

The second stage required full-text screening to identify whether select measures were ICF-based, and to identify whether the study reported the development of the measure. If a study described an ICF-based measure but was not the original paper of the measure's development, hand-searching was conducted to retrieve the original article describing its development. Handsearching for original articles was accomplished by looking at the reference lists of the indexed articles that had described the use of these measures within their abstracts. This task was also completed using Covidence (34).



This study used a matrix to extract key details including age ranges, context(s), diagnosis sample, as well as descriptions and psychometric properties of the measures described. Details and descriptions of these measures were determined by using its original development article. After the characteristics of the included measures were extracted, the original studies of the measures were analyzed again to extract ICF-related details, specifically regarding the ICF domain(s) that were prioritized by the measure and how this framework influenced the measure's initial conception. Measures were categorized by using the definitions of the four domains of the ICF framework (body structures and function, activities, participation, and contextual factors).

## RESULTS

The initial search identified 2811 published abstracts. After duplicates were removed, 1947 papers remained. These papers were reviewed by title and abstract with the first set of inclusion criteria, resulting in 141 potentially relevant studies. For the second stage, full-text versions of these studies were obtained and reviewed to assess whether they fit the second set of inclusion criteria, at which time 97 studies were excluded. Studies were excluded mainly for having a non-relevant focus—not focused on an ICF-based measure providing direct support for children with NDD; focusing on a non-pediatric sample; or being based on secondary data. The 44 papers that remained included 9 studies that described the initial development of an ICF-based measure, and 35 articles that described the use of ICF-based measures but were not the measure's original development paper, for which hand-searching was then necessary.

From the 35 articles, five additional ICF-based measures for children with NDD were identified and included; these comprised of four additional studies (35–38), and one manual (39). In total, 14 initial development studies describing 14 individual measures were included. This information is summarized using the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) flowchart in **Figure 2** (40).

The 14 measures originated in seven countries including Canada, US, UK, Australia, Sweden, Switzerland, and Taiwan. These measures were predominately described as either assessment and/or outcome measures (64%, n = 9) or classification systems (36%, n = 5), and could be utilized in various contexts including home, community, educational, and clinical environments. The most common diagnosis was CP (50%, n = 7), followed by non-diagnostic/multiple diagnoses (29%, n = 4), ASD (14%, n = 2), and communication disorders (7%, n = 1). Age applicability of these measures ranged from 0 to 21 years. The diagnosis sample, age groups, and brief descriptions are reported in **Table 1**. The common characteristics of these measures are also described.

 TABLE 1 | General description and characteristics of ICF-based clinical measures.

Measure acronym	Measure full name and citation	Type of measure	Country of origin	Primary context(s)	Diagnosis sample	Age range	Construct of interest	Brief description
ICF-CS	ICF Core Set (41)	Standardization for Assessment and Description	Switzerland	Multiple (i.e., clinical, home, educational, community)	Multiple versions with different diagnoses (ASD, ADHD, CP)	Multiple versions with different age ranges	Functional Abilities	This measure uses select categories from the ICF classification to describe relevant information in regards to an individual's level of functioning; this helps facilitate a systematic and comprehensive system for either a specific health condition or health context (41). There are two versions of this measure: ICF Comprehensive Core Sets and ICF Brief Core Sets (41).
GMFCS – E&R	Gross Motor Function Classification System Expanded and Revised (35)	Classification System	Canada	Clinical	Cerebral Palsy	0–18 years	Gross Motor Function	A 5-level classification system that describes gross motor function for children and youth with CP, specifically focused on self-initiated movement when a child sits, walks, and/or uses a wheeled mobility device (35).
MACS	Manual Ability Classification System (42)	Classification System	Sweden	Clinical	Cerebral Palsy	4–18 years	Manual Ability	Developed from the GMFCS, this 5-level classification system examines typical manual performance of children with CP, specifically in regards to a child's ability to handle objects (i.e., assistance needs, potential adaptations required, quantity/quality of performance) (42).
BFMF	Bimanual Fine Motor Function (43)	Classification System	Sweden	Clinical	Cerebral Palsy	Not specified	Fine Motor Function	A 5-level classification system that examines fine motor function in children with CP, specifically in regards to a child's ability to grasp, manipulate, and hold objects for each hand (43).
CFCS	Communication Function Classification System (44)	Classification System	USA	Multiple (i.e., clinical, home, educational, community)	Cerebral Palsy	2–18 years	Communication	A 5-level classification system used by clinicians for children with CP, to classify and understand the patterns of a child's performance in everyday communication effectiveness with a partner (44).
ACSF:SC	Autism Classification System of Functioning: Social Communication (36)	Classification System	Canada	Multiple (i.e., clinical, home, educational, community)	ASD	3–5 years	Social Communication	A 5-level classification system that provides a simplified method to describe social communication functioning for preschool children with ASD (36). This measure provides parents and service providers with an understanding of the potential differences in social communication abilities based on a child's capacity and typical performance within different contexts (36).
GOAL	Gait Outcomes Assessment List (45)	Assessment Measure	Canada	Clinical	Cerebral Palsy	Not specified	Gait Priorities	An assessment measure that evaluates gait priorities and functional mobility for ambulant children with CP, addressing the spectrum of needs and/or goals of these children and their caregivers (45).
FOCUS®	Focus on the Outcomes of Communication Under Six (46)	Outcome Measure	Canada	Clinical	Communication Disorders	0–6 years	Communication	An outcome measure that evaluates change in communicative-participation, examining 'real world' changes in preschool children's communication abilities (46).
QYPP	Questionnaire of Young People's Participation (47)	Assessment Measure	United Kingdom	Clinical	Cerebral Palsy	13–21 years	Participation	A 45-item questionnaire assessing participation frequency across multiple domains for children and adolescents with cerebral palsy (47).

(Continued)

Function-Focused Measures for Children NDD

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Measure acronym	Measure full name and citation	Type of measure	Country of origin	Primary context(s)	Diagnosis sample	Age range	Construct of interest	Brief description
MEVU	Measure of Early Vision Use (48)	Assessment Measure	Australia	Clinical	Cerebral Palsy	Not specified	Vision	A measure that examines typical performance with 'how vision is used' during a child's everyday activities, interactions and environments (48).
CAP-HAND	Children's Assessment of Participation with Hands (37)	Assessment Measure	Australia	Multiple (i.e., clinical, home, educational, community)	No specific diagnosis	2–12 years	Participation	A parent report questionnaire, examining upper limb abilities across disorders, as well as the extent to which children participate in life situations (with a focus on hanc use) (37).
CAPE & PAC	Children's Assessment of Participation and Enjoyment and Preferences for Activities of Children (39)	Assessment & Outcome Measure	Canada	Multiple (i.e., clinical, home, educational, community)	No specific diagnosis	6–21 years	Participation and Activity Preferences	Together, CAPE & PAC are self-report measures that examine children's participation and activity preferences within six dimensions of activity (39). CAPE documents the extent to which children with or without disabilities participate in everyday activities outside of their mandated school activities. PAC examines children's specific activity preferences (39).
-	ICF-CY Based Questionnaire (49)	Assessment Measure	Taiwan	Clinical	ASD	3–6 years	Functional Profile	This measures comprises of 118 items using the ICF-CY structure to evaluate the functional profiles of preschool children with ASD (49).
PEM-CY	Participation and Environment Measure for Children and Youth (38)	Outcome Measure	USA	Multiple (i.e., clinical, home, educational, community)	No specific diagnosis	5–17 years	Participation and Environment	This parent-reporting survey allows parents, researchers, and service providers to better understand a child's participation patterns in home, school, and community settings, by studying both participation and environmental factors at the same time (38).

Measure acronym	Development study	Diagnosis sample	Description of psychometric properties in development article
ICF-CS	A guide on how to develop an International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health Core Set (41)	Multiple versions with different diagnoses (ASD, ADHD, CP)	Not included in the development article.
GMFCS – E&R	Development of the Gross Motor Function Classification System for cerebral palsy (35)	Cerebral Palsy	Not included in the development article.
MACS	The Manual Ability Classification System (MACS) for children with cerebral palsy: scale development and evidence of validity and reliability (42)	Cerebral Palsy	External construct validation process was initiated, involving rehab professionals within pediatric rehabilitation and parents of children with CP (42). Interrater reliability was conducted using testing between parents and therapists (42).
BFMF	Neuroimpairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions in children with cerebral palsy (43)	Cerebral Palsy	Not included in the development article.
CFCS	Developing and validating the Communication Function Classification System for individuals with cerebral palsy (44)	Cerebral Palsy	The second and third phases of the measure's development focused on revision and validation using nominal group studies and Delphi surveys (content validity) (44). The fourth phase measured interrater reliability among clinicians and parents as well as test-retest reliability (44).
ACSF:SC	Developing a classification system of social communication functioning of preschool children with autism spectrum disorder (36)	ASD	Interrater reliability reported good for parents and very good for professionals (36). Content validity of level descriptions and ratings were trialed by participants in each stage of measure development using surveys (36).
GOAL	The Gait Outcomes Assessment List: validation of a new assessment of gait function for children with cerebral palsy (45)	Cerebral Palsy	Concurrent validity was assessed comparing the GOAL with two related valid and reliable assessments of motor function (45). Further studies will be required with larger cohorts to assess validity and reliability of the GOAL in different populations (45).
FOCUS®	Development of the FOCUS (Focus on the Outcomes of Communication Under Six), a communication outcome measure for preschool children (46)	Communication Disorders	Parents completed the Pediatric Quality of Life Inventory (PedsQL) at the start and completion of treatment to evaluate FOCUS' content validity (46). Parents and clinicians completed the FOCUS measure twice within a 1 week period for test-retest reliability (46).
QYPP	The Questionnaire of Young People's Participation (QYPP): a new measure of participation frequency for disabled young people (47)	Cerebral Palsy	Test-retest reliability was examined by intra-class correlations using a two-way mixed model; results were comparable with other participation measures (i.e., GMFCS, MACS) (47). Using a rigourous expert review of the measure's item pool, content validity was maximized; known-groups (discriminant) validity was also supported (47).
MEVU	Measure of Early Vision Use: development of a new assessment tool for children with cerebral palsy (48)	Cerebral Palsy	Not included in the development article.
CAP-HAND	Development and Psychometric Evaluation of a New Measure for Children's Participation in Hand-Use Life Situations (37)	No specific diagnosis	Evidence for construct validity was established using Rasch analysis. Differences in summary scores of each domain between children with and without disabilities were also significant (37). Test-retest reliability using ICCs of the measure was moderate-high, except for a single dimension scale. Internal consistency varied across the dimensions, providing preliminary evidence for construct validity and reliability (37).
CAPE & PAC	Children's Assessment of Participation and Enjoyment and Preferences for Activities of Children Manual (39)	No specific diagnosis	Information from the measure's longitudinal study was used to examine the technical characteristics of the CAPE and PAC (39). The data provided evidence of reliability and validity of the CAPE and PAC (39).
ICF-CY Based Questionnaire	ICF-CY based assessment tool for children with autism (49)	ASD	This measure has evidence of good interrater reliability, expert (construct) validity, and reflects the functional profile of preschool children with autism (49). Further testing is required to confirm other psychometric characteristics (49).
PEM-CY	Development of the participation and environment measure for children and youth: conceptual basis (38)	No specific diagnosis	Not included in the development article.

## **Assessment (and Outcome) Measures**

The following nine ICF-based measures have a primary focus on the assessment of a specific construct of interest: ICF Core Sets (ICF-CS) (41), Gait Outcomes Assessment List (GOAL) (45), Focus on the Outcomes of Communication Under Six (FOCUS<sup>®</sup>) (46), Questionnaire of Young People's Participation (QYPP) (47), Measure of Early Vision Use (MEVU) (48), Children's Assessment of Participation with Hands (CAP-HAND) (37), Children's Assessment of Participation and Enjoyment & Preferences for Activities of Children (CAPE & PAC) (39), the ICF-CY Based Questionnaire (49), and the Participation and Environment Measure for Children and Youth (PEM-CY) (38). These types of measures describe details of functioning, can observe and evaluate a child's abilities and limitations within the construct of interest (otherwise referred to as outcome measures—a subset of assessment measures), and in some cases, it may be used to predict within-person change over time (26). These assessments can be completed by various individuals that are familiar with and/or are knowledgeable about the child's competencies within their daily routines, including caregivers, clinicians, and teachers (39). With the conceptual grounding of the ICF, these measures can provide a comprehensive and clinically useful understanding of a specific phenomenon, which can then be used for various applications within research and practice (39).

## **Classification Systems**

The remaining five ICF-based measures are classification systems that can be used for children with NDD: Gross Motor Function Classification System Expanded & Revised (GMFCS-ER) (35), Manual Ability Classification System (MACS) (42), Bimanual Fine Motor Function (BFMF) (43), Communication Function Classification System (CFCS) (44), and Autism Classification System of Functioning: Social Communication (ACSF:SC) (36). The GMFCS-ER (35), MACS (42), BFMF (43), and CFCS (44) each individually describe functioning in children with CP based on specific constructs (i.e., gross motor function, manual ability, fine motor function, and communication), and the ACSF:SC (36) describes social communication functioning in children diagnosed with ASD. In these classification systems, level I typically describes child functioning with the highest level of ability in that aspect of functioning, whereas levels IV-V typically describe child functioning with more significant limitations (43). The five levels in these systems are ordinal, describing different levels of a child's abilities for a specific construct (36). It is important to note that the differences between these levels are not equal, as these systems provide a simplified guide for families and clinicians to communicate level of functioning within the clinical process (43).

## Psychometric Properties of Development Studies

The studies in which these measures were first established were published between 2002 and 2021. Almost all measures were initially published in journal articles (93%, n = 13), with one measure [CAPE & PAC (39)] described in a manual format. Most studies of these measures (64%, n = 9) provided

some psychometric testing information during the measure's development. The most common forms of testing include content validity, interrater reliability, and test-retest reliability (29%, n = 4). Other types of psychometric testing include various types of construct validity testing, such as discriminant validity, expert validity, and concurrent validity (each 7%, n = 1) or were generally described as construct validity (14%, n = 2). The CAPE & PAC (39). Manual did not specify the type of reliability and validity results (see **Table 2**).

## **ICF Domains of Measures**

To understand the role of the ICF framework in the conception of these clinical measures, it was important to analyze what ICF domain(s) were prioritized, and the specific foundational concepts from the ICF framework during the initial development process (see **Table 3**). All listed measures included at least one domain of interest, and the ICF-CS (41), GOAL (45), and ICF-CY Based Questionnaire (49) using all four ICF domains. The most common domain across measures was Participation (79%, n = 11), followed by Activities (71%, n = 10), Contextual Factors (43%, n = 6), and Body Structures and Function (29%, n = 4). Seventy one percent of the measures (n = 10) used more than one domain of the ICF.

## DISCUSSION

This study is the first of which we are aware to identify ICFbased clinical measures for children with NDD. We have reported the psychometric properties and characteristics of 14 measures that are grounded in the ICF framework, using the information gathered from the initial development studies. We also identified the prominent ICF conceptual domain(s) that these measures represent, and the extent to which the framework was captured, including its interactive nature. There may be more ICF-based measures for this population that exist outside the clinical context (i.e., educational-based measures) and some of these tools may be applicable to other settings; however, the intent of this study was to examine how ICF-based clinical measures were operationalized in practice. Therefore, only health-focused databases were consulted.

The initial development studies for the selected measures included varying levels and types of psychometric properties conducted and described. Some studies [ICF-CS (41), GMFCS-ER (35), BFMF (43), MEVU (48), and PEM-CY (38)] placed emphasis on the process that the research team experienced when developing the measure, rather than describing specific psychometric characteristics of their measure. These studies had concurrent publications that described the conceptual processes and psychometric testing separately. The remaining studies combined psychometric testing with the measure's development process. The most common psychometric tests that were completed were interrater and test-retest reliability as well as content validity. It is important for clinical instruments to demonstrate good psychometric properties (27), and 64% of the measures were introduced with some form of psychometric testing conducted. These results provide a descriptive overview of the function-focused tools developed in the field of childhood TABLE 3 | ICF domains prioritized in the development of the measure.

		IC		Total domains	How is the ICF described overall?	
	Body structures and function	Activities	Participation	Contextual factors		
ICF-CS	1	1	1	1	4	This instrument selects essential categories that cover each component of the ICF.
GMFCS – E&R		1		1	2	"Our group's perspectives have evolved and been shaped considerably by the World Health Organization's (WHO) International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) [] The basic ideas concerning capacity and performance were included in the original GMFCS concepts but have been sharpened considerably with the publication of the ICF" [35, p. 251]
MACS		1			1	"The focus is on manual ability, as defined in the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health [] the classification looks at activities and gives a single 'level' for the collaborative use of both hands when handling objects in daily life" [42, pp549-52].
BFMF	J	1	1		3	"Motor function and learning disability were important predictors for participation restrictions in children with CP. The ICF has the capacity to be a model to help plan interventions for specific functional goals and to ascertain the child's participation in society" [43, p. 309].
CFCS		1	7		2	"The purpose of this study was to create and validate the Communication Function Classification System (CFCS) for children with CP, for use by a wide variety of individuals interested in CP. This required a shift from the traditional focus on body structure and function (i.e., assessing components of speech, language, and hearing problems), to a focus on activity/ participation, specifically the way in which to classify a person's communication capacity within real-life situations" [44, p. 705].
ACSF:SC		1	J		2	"Using the ICF activities and participation framework, resulting autism classifications will focus on how children's differing social communication affects their activities and participation in daily lives" [36, p. 943].
GOAL	$\checkmark$	1	1	J	4	"Used with gait analysis, the GOAL provides comprehensive assessment across all International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health domains" [45, p. 619].
FOCUS®			J	1	2	"The constructs used in the FOCUS are derived from the ICF framework to measure changes in communication and their impact on participation. The response set in part II of the FOCUS (i.e., "cannot do at all" to "can always do without help") was designed to evaluate the shift from capacity to performance by evaluating the leve of assistance required to complete items successfully" [46, p. 51].
QYPP		1	7		2	"In developing the new instrument, we differentiated activities from participation at the level of ICF sub-domains, regarding activities as simpler elements of functioning at body level while participation usually includes those sub-domains made up of a number of activity functions and where the result is of intrinsic socia and personal importance" [47, p. 501].
MEVU		✓			1	"This new measure is conceptually grounded within the Activity level domain of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health as a measure of a single visual ability construct" [48, p. 1].

(Continued)

#### TABLE 3 | Continued

		IC	F domains	_	Total domains	How is the ICF described overall?	
	Body structures and function	Activities	Participation	Contextua factors	I		
CAP-HAND			1		1	"The conceptual frameworks underlying the development of the Children's Assessment of Participation with Hands are the ICF and the ICF-CY, in combination with additional participation definitions/attributes proposed by Coster and Khetani" [37, p. 1046]. ICF provided only an initial framework for the measure's development.	
CAPE and PAC			~		1	"The CAPE and PAC both focus on a subset of the ICF domains of participation and are based on two taxonomies, or classifications, of leisure and recreational participation" [39, p. 7].	
ICF-CY Based Questionnaire	$\checkmark$	√	$\checkmark$	1	4	"The ICF-CY based questionnaire for children with autism comprised 4 domains: body functions, activities, participation and environment" [49, p. 679].	
PEM-CY			5	7	2	"As defined by the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF), participation and environment are multidimensional constructs that have been challenging to measure" [38, p. 238]. The ICF provided an initial framework for the measure's development.	

NDD, but since potential subsequent psychometric studies were not included in this study, it is difficult to provide comment on the overall rigor of the state of function-focused tools in this field. Future research should examine levels of rigor found in the psychometric properties of the listed tools.

The 14 measures varied in their constructs of interest, age ranges, and diagnoses. These constructs ranged from very specific functional skills [i.e., BFMF: bimanual fine motor function (43)] to broader areas of interest [i.e., ICF-CY-Based Questionnaire: building a functional profile for children diagnosed with ASD (49)]. For age applicability, two measures [CAP-HAND (37) and CAPE & PAC (39)] had expanded upper-age ranges to 21 years old. Many measures focused on specific diagnoses: CP, ASD, and communication disorders. With the broad spectrum of diagnoses involved in DSM-5's definition of NDD, this highlights the need for great representation in other NDD populations. To fill these gaps, measures like the ICF-CS have been continually adapted with subsequent publications to explore the clinical utility of this measure in multiple communities within disability research and practice, including within NDD (50). These diagnosis-based populations include ASD, CP, and ADHD, but the outreach in these diagnosis populations continue to grow today (50, 51).

Furthermore, these results indicated that measures such as the CAP-HAND (37), CAPE & PAC (39), and PEM-CY (38) could be potentially used with any child or youth, regardless of whether they are diagnosed with any condition of NDD, as these measures are not diagnosis-specific. In addition, although a key population of the users of FOCUS(® (46) is young children with communication disorders, this tool is designed to address communication needs across all young children with or without disabilities. These findings are important, as they illustrate function-focused measures that examine abilities across diagnoses/conditions – an emerging trend (15). With the various diagnoses categorized within NDD, these measures have a wider scope in reaching different communities, thus creating more opportunities to utilize the concepts of the ICF in clinical and research settings. It is important to note that the ICF is still considered a contemporary framework, and that measures are continuing to be developed, such as the MEVU (48) that was published 1 month prior to conducting the database search for this narrative review.

With the heterogeneity of functional abilities within NDD, and the emerging measures that are being developed without a focus on any specific diagnosis, non-diagnostic ICF-based measures create opportunities for further examination of the continuum of abilities across diagnoses. By doing so, the goal of these measures shifts toward capturing profiles of individual abilities as well as unique differences among children (12). Furthermore, there is some evidence in today's literature that indicates that neurological similarities (i.e., brain structure/activity) that may affect an individual's social communication abilities may exist across diagnoses such as autism and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder; this shows that a child's overall abilities may also overlap across diagnoses (52). This example can be used to challenge the ways in which we can define, diagnose, and "treat" NDD, specifically with how we approach functional perspectives for these populations (53). Measurement tools may still involve neurophysiological processes in their design, but by focusing on a more individualistic foundation, this shift in thinking may better suit the cultural direction of how functionfocused care is understood with today's ideas (12). By utilizing these measures across the populations of NDD, we better understand the diversity in the needs of children within their communities. These needs may exist beyond the core domains

(i.e., addressing participation needs), and can potentially extend to how we can utilize these measures to improve the overall quality of life of children with NDD (13, 27, 28). As the ICF promotes this understanding that these four domains can build a unique functional profile of a child, the ICF can be seen as a supporting resource within the use of family-centered care to support a child's individualized needs. When this type of care continues to play prominent roles in the design and development of intervention plans for these individuals with disabilities, this may need to be more apparent in the tools that we develop as well. This approach utilizes the biopsychosocial model and will be a more relevant application of the ICF. Furthermore, with children receiving school supports that are often integrated with health services, exploring function-focused measures that are applicable in educational settings, such as the Functional Abilities Classification Tool (54), is also important to examine in future work.

The development studies demonstrated variability in how ICF concepts were foundational within their measures. Some studies explicitly stated that their measure was conceptually based in the ICF whereas others used the ICF to develop their measure's items or constructs. Both the Participation and Activities domains were predominately represented throughout all measures whereas Contextual Factors and Body Structures and Function were not as prominent. The ICF-CS (41) and ICF-CY-Based Questionnaire (49) utilized a holistic approach of the framework rather than focusing on specific domains, and this is evident simply looking at the naming of these tools. Other measures utilize the ICF combined with other frameworks, such as the CAP-HAND (37), that uses the definitions provided by both the framework and what is described by the authors of the PEM-CY (38) to configure a definition for participation that is suitable for the needs of CAP-HAND (37). These results align with the literature, specifically regarding the shift in thinking the ICF proposes: this framework has motivated health service providers to focus beyond "body structures and functions" to include the other roles (i.e., activities, participation) that can impact a child's level of functioning and health (55, 56).

There are different ways that tools and measures interact with the components of the ICF, and some measures can still utilize this framework without using it for its conceptual basis. It is here that the use of the ICF linking rules may become more relevant, as the rules provides an effective method to link meaningful "concepts" of non-ICF-based measures to the most precise category(s) in the ICF framework (57). These concepts could describe health condition, functional activities or any of the contextual factors (31, 57). This "linking process" differentiates from what is being studied in this narrative review, in that we are examining the extent to which ICF-based measures involve the domains of the framework, and the dynamic interactions they capture. This review focused on identifying measures that used the ICF for the initial conception, rather than the measures that have only considered the ICF post-publication or in an "after-the-fact" exploration. With the linking process, the developers of non-ICF based measures undergo the steps required in understanding the ICF to link certain items of their measure to the most relevant domains of the framework (58). However, the use of linking individual concepts of a measure to the ICF framework may not be as effective in demonstrating the interaction between the concepts, especially between activities/participation and contextual factors (59). Of the identified measures, 71% utilized more than one domain of the ICF, often highlighting the various ways in which the nuanced interactions influenced the development of the tool. For example, the PEM-CY (38) evaluates both participation and environmental factors in different settings, and can provide problem-solving strategies to adjust contextual factors within these settings to support further participation (38). As described earlier, the dynamic nature of the interaction of these non-linear domains is one of the most easily identifiable components of the framework. Although there is variability with how these interactions are explicitly described, when a measure is ICFbased and correctly utilizes the framework as a core component, the interactions of the domains are more likely to be inherently captured within the use of the measure.

## LIMITATIONS

There are a couple of limitations to report about this study. To begin, there were varying levels of psychometric data that emerged across the initial development studies of the selected measures. While psychometric testing of measures is an ongoing process, we recognize that the original development manuscripts would only have captured psychometric testing at its initial development, and that subsequent studies could have tested additional properties, potentially with other populations of children. We also recognize that the contributors of the development studies may have differed from the original developers of the measure. The aim of this review was to provide an overview of the current ICF-based measures developed for children with NDD, in which we focused on using the development studies as the main sources for this work.

A second limitation relates to study screening process. We selected measures that explicitly used the ICF in the screening of study abstracts in the identified health databases, either in the development study, or in a subsequent published study of the measure that was used to locate the original manuscript. Although there is the potential for other measures to incorporate the ICF framework in some capacity in the development and/or design of their measure, the focus of this work was to identify the measures that explicitly used the ICF and its domains as a foundational element in its work.

## CONCLUSION

This narrative review can serve as a potential resource for clinicians/researchers looking to use measures grounded in the ICF framework for children with NDD. These 14 measures can play important roles in creating effective applications of the ICF for exploring child functioning in both research and practice (15, 54, 60). As measures are continuing to be developed using the ICF framework at their foundation, this emerging knowledge

can help inform function-focused care. By understanding how function-focused care is operationalized within the measures that we create, we are also able to better understand functioning in clinical care for children with NDD, and whether there are gaps in what is measured. These gaps are also evident in NDD populations where these ICF-based tools are not applied. Future research can explore the expansion of existing ICF-based measures across NDD populations and ages (i.e., adults), in addition to examining measures that impact functioning in other childhood contexts (e.g., home and educational settings).

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KS completed the search and wrote the manuscript with support from BD, PR, and MZ. BD supervised the project, with help from PR and MZ as part of the supervising committee. PR, MZ, and

## REFERENCES

- American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 5th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013). doi: 10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- Miller A, Shen J, Måsse LC. Child Functional Characteristics Explain Child and Family Outcomes Better Than Diagnosis: Population-Based Study of Children with Autism or Other Neurodevelopmental Disorders/Disabilities. (2016). Available online at: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/ 2016006/article/14635-eng.htm (accessed May 7, 2021).
- Boyle CA, Boulet S, Schieve LA, Cohen RA, Blumberg SJ, Yeargin-Allsopp M, et al. Trends in the prevalence of developmental disabilities in US children. *Pediatrics*. (2011) 127:1034–42. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-2989
- Halfon N, Houtrow A, Larson K, Newacheck PW. The changing landscape of disability in childhood. *Future Child*. (2012) 22:13–42. doi: 10.1353/foc.2012.0004
- Allard A, Fellowes A, Shilling V, Janssens A, Beresford B, Morris C. Key health outcomes for children and young people with neurodisability: qualitative research with young people and parents. *BMJ Open.* (2014) 4:e004611. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004611
- Anaby D, Hand C, Bradley L, Di Rezze B, Forhan M, DiGiacomo A, et al. The effect of the environment on participation of children and youth with disabilities: a scoping review. *Disabil Rehabil*. (2013) 35:1589–98. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2012.748840
- King G, Law M, King S, Rosenbaum P, Kertoy MK, Young NL. A conceptual model of the factors affecting the recreation and leisure participation of children with disabilities. *Phys Occup Pediatr.* (2003) 23:63– 90. doi: 10.1080/J006v23n01\_05
- World Health Organization. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health: ICF (?2001)?. Available online at: https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/42407 (accessed March 7, 2021).
- Stucki G, Cieza A, Ewert T, Kostanjsek N, Chatterji S, Ustün TB. Application of the international classification of functioning, disability and health (ICF) in clinical practice. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2002) 24:281–2. doi: 10.1080/09638280110105222
- Miller AR, Rosenbaum P. Perspectives on "disease" and "disability" in child health: the case of childhood neurodisability. *Front Public Health.* (2016) 4:226. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2016.00226
- Lee AM. Using the ICF-CY to organise characteristics of children's functioning. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2011) 33:605–16. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.505993
- Simeonsson RJ, Leonardi M, Lollar D, Bjorck-Akesson E, Hollenweger J, Martinuzzi A. Applying the international classification of functioning, disability and health (ICF) to measure childhood disability. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2003) 25:602–10. doi: 10.1080/0963828031000137117

BD conceived the original idea. All authors reviewed the results and contributed ideas to the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

Funding support for this study was provided by the following: Hamilton Health Science Research Early Career Award (ECA) for BD (2018–2021), and the Innovation Fund of the Alternative Funding Plan for the Hamilton Academic Health Sciences Organization (HAHSO).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Laura Banfield and Dr. Stephen Gentles for their insight and guidance for helping build and advance this study.

- McDougall J, Wright V, Rosenbaum P. The ICF model of functioning and disability: incorporating quality of life and human development. *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2010) 13:204–11. doi: 10.3109/17518421003620525
- Miller A, Shen J, Mâsse LC. Child functional characteristics explain child and family outcomes better than diagnosis: population-based study of children with autism or other neurodevelopmental disorders/disabilities. *Health Rep.* (2016) 27:9–18. Available online at: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/82-003-x/2016006/article/14635-eng.pdf
- Castro S, Ferreira T, Dababnah S, Pinto AI. Linking autism measures with the ICF-CY: functionality beyond the borders of diagnosis and interrater agreement issues. *Dev Neurorehabil.* (2013) 16:321–31. doi: 10.3109/17518423.2012.733438
- Simeonsson RJ. ICF-CY: a universal tool for documentation of disability. J Policy Pract Intellect Disabil. (2009) 6:70–2. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-1130.2009.00215.x
- Dajani DR, Llabre MM, Nebel MB, Mostofsky SH, Uddin LQ. Heterogeneity of executive functions among comorbid neurodevelopmental disorders. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:36566. doi: 10.1038/srep36566
- Kapp SK, Gillespie-Lynch K, Sherman LE, Hutman T. Deficit, difference, or both? Autism and neurodiversity. *Dev Psychol.* (2013) 49:59–71. doi: 10.1037/a0028353
- Bumiller K. Quirky citizens: autism, gender, and reimagining disability. Signs J Women Cult Soc. (2008) 33:967–91. doi: 10.1086/528848
- Baron-Cohen S. Editorial perspective: neurodiversity a revolutionary concept for autism and psychiatry. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2017) 58:744–7. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12703
- Darrah J, Law MC, Pollock N, Wilson B, Russell DJ, Walter SD, et al. Context therapy: a new intervention approach for children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2011) 53:615–20. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.03959.x
- Ostensjø S, Carlberg EB, Vøllestad NK. Everyday functioning in young children with cerebral palsy: functional skills, caregiver assistance, and modifications of the environment. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2003) 45:603–12. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2003.tb00964.x
- Ketelaar M, Vermeer A, Helders PJ. Functional motor abilities of children with cerebral palsy: a systematic literature review of assessment measures. *Clin Rehabil.* (1998) 12:369–80. doi: 10.1191/026921598673571117
- McConachie H, Parr JR, Glod M, Hanratty J, Livingstone N, Oono IP, et al. Systematic review of tools to measure outcomes for young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Health Technol Assess.* (2015) 19:1–506. doi: 10.3310/hta19410
- 25. Resnick B, Galik E, Boltz, M. Function focused care approaches: literature review of progress and future possibilities. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2013) 14:313–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2012.10.019
- Rosenbaum, P. The ABC s of clinical measures. Dev Med Child Neurol. (2015) 57:496. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12735

- 27. Waters E, Davis E, Ronen GM, Rosenbaum P, Livingston M, Saigal S. Quality of life instruments for children and adolescents with neurodisabilities: how to choose the appropriate instrument. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2009) 51:660–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009.03324.x
- Sparrow SS, Cicchetti DV, Saulnier CA. Vineland Adaptive Behavior Scales. Third Edition (Vineland-3). San Antonio: Pearson (2016).
- 29. Harrison P, Oakland T. *Adaptive Behavior Assessment System (ABAS-3)*. San Antonio: The Psychological Corporation (2015).
- 30. Reynolds, CR, Kamphaus RW. *Behavior Assessment System for Children.* 3rd ed. Bloomington: Pearson (2015).
- Fayed N, Cieza A, Bickenbach JE. Linking health and health-related information to the ICF: a systematic review of the literature from 2001 to 2008. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2011) 33:1941–51. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2011.553704
- Green BN, Johnson CD, Adams A. Writing narrative literature reviews for peer-reviewed journals: secrets of the trade. J Chiropr Med. (2006) 5:101–17. doi: 10.1016/S0899-3467(07)60142-6
- Baethge C, Goldbeck-Wood S, Mertens S. SANRA—a scale for the quality assessment of narrative review articles. *Res Integr Peer Rev.* (2019) 4:5. doi: 10.1186/s41073-019-0064-8
- 34. Veritas Health Innovation. *Covidence Systematic Review Software*. (2021). Available online at: www.covidence.org (accessed March 27, 2021).
- Rosenbaum PL, Palisano RJ, Bartlett, DJ, Galuppi BE, Russell DJ. Development of the gross motor function classification system for cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2008) 50:249–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2008.02045.x
- 36. Di Rezze B, Rosenbaum P, Zwaigenbaum L, Hidecker MJ, Stratford P, Cousins M, et al. Developing a classification system of social communication functioning of preschool children with autism spectrum disorder. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2016) 58:942–8. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13152
- Chien CW, Rodger S, Copley J. Development and psychometric evaluation of a new measure for children's participation in hand-use life situations. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2015) 96:574–83. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.11.013
- Coster W, Law M, Bedell G, Khetani M, Cousins M, Teplicky R. Development of the participation and environment measure for children and youth: conceptual basis. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2012) 34:238–46. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2011.603017
- 39. King G, Law M, King S, Hurley P, Hanna S, Kertoy M, et al. *Children's* Assessment of Participation and Enjoyment (CAPE) and Preferences for Activities of Children (PAC). San Antonio: Harcourt Assessment Inc (2004).
- Page MJ, McKenzie J, Bossuyt P, Boutron I, Hoffmann T, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- 41. Selb M, Escorpizo R, Kostanjsek N, Stucki G, Üstün B, Cieza A. A guide on how to develop an international classification of functioning, disability and health core set. *Euro J Phys Rehabil Med.* (2015) 51:105–17. Available online at: https://www.minervamedica.it/en/journals/europa-medicophysica/article. php?cod=R33Y2015N01A0105
- 42. Eliasson AC, Krumlinde-Sundholm L, Rösblad B, Beckung E, Arner M, Ohrvall AM, et al. The Manual Ability Classification System (MACS) for children with cerebral palsy: scale development and evidence of validity and reliability. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2006) 48:549–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2006.tb01313.x
- Beckung E, Hagberg G. Neuroimpairments, activity limitations, and participation restrictions in children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2002) 44:309–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2002.tb00816.x
- Hidecker MJ, Paneth N, Rosenbaum PL, Kent RD, Lillie J, Eulenberg JB, et al. Developing and validating the communication function classification system for individuals with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2011) 53:704–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2011.03996.x
- 45. Thomason P, Tan A, Donnan A, Rodda J, Graham HK, Narayanan U. The gait outcomes assessment list (GOAL): validation of a new assessment of gait function for children with cerebral palsy. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2018) 60:618–23. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13722
- 46. Thomas-Stonell NL, Oddson B, Robertson B, Rosenbaum PL. Development of the FOCUS (Focus on the outcomes of communication under six), a communication outcome measure for preschool children. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2010) 52:47–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2009.03410.x
- Tuffrey C, Bateman BJ, Colver AC. The questionnaire of young people's participation (QYPP): a new measure of participation frequency for disabled young people. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2013) 39:500–11. doi: 10.1111/cch.12060

- Deramore Denver B, Froude E, Rosenbaum P, Imms C. Measure of early vision use: development of a new assessment tool for children with cerebral palsy. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2021) 1–11. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2021.1890241
- Gan SM, Tung LC, Yeh CY, Wang CH. ICF-CY based assessment tool for children with autism. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2013) 35:678–85. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2012.705946
- Schiariti V, Mahdi S, Bölte S. International classification of functioning, disability and health core sets for cerebral palsy, autism spectrum disorder, and attention-deficit-hyperactivity disorder. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2018) 60:933–41. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13922
- Bölte S, de Schipper E, Robison JE, Wong VC, Selb M, Singhal N, et al. Classification of functioning and impairment: the development of ICF core sets for autism spectrum disorder. *Autism Res.* (2014) 7:167–72. doi: 10.1002/aur.1335
- 52. Kushki A, Anagnostou E, Hammill C, Duez P, Brian J, Iaboni A, et al. Examining overlap and homogeneity in ASD, ADHD, and OCD: a data-driven, diagnosis-agnostic approach. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2019) 9:318. doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0631-2
- 53. Baribeau DA, Dupuis A, Paton TA, Hammill C, Scherer SW, Schachar RJ, et al. Structural neuroimaging correlates of social deficits are similar in autism spectrum disorder and attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: analysis from the POND network. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2019) 9:72. doi: 10.1038/s41398-019-0382-0
- Klein B, Kraus de Camargo. A proposed functional abilities classification tool for developmental disorders affecting learning and behaviour. *Front Educ.* (2018) 3:2. doi: 10.3389/feduc.2018.00002
- 55. Cunningham BJ, Washington KN, Binns A, Rolfe K, Robertson B, Rosenbaum P. Current methods of evaluating speech-language outcomes for preschoolers with communication disorders: a scoping review using the ICF-CY. J Speech Lang Hear Res. (2017) 60:447–64. doi: 10.1044/2016\_JSLHR-L-15-0329
- McLeod S, Threats TT. The ICF-CY and children with communication disabilities. *Int J Speech Lang Pathol.* (2008) 10:92–109. doi: 10.1080/17549500701834690
- 57. Cieza A, Fayed N, Bickenbach J, Prodinger B. Refinements of the ICF linking rules to strengthen their potential for establishing comparability of health information. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2019) 41:574–83. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2016.1145258
- Cerniauskaite M, Quintas RUI, Boldt C, Raggi A, Cieza A, Bickenbach JE, et al. Systematic literature review on ICF from 2001 to 2009: its use, implementation and operationalisation. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2011) 33:281–309. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.529235
- 59. Ballert CS, Hopfe M, Kus S, Mader L, Prodinger B. Using the refined ICF linking rules to compare the content of existing instruments and assessments: a systematic review and exemplary analysis of instruments measuring participation. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2019) 41:584–600. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2016.1198433
- 60. Moran M, Bickford J, Barradell S, Scholten I. Embedding the international classification of functioning, disability and health in health professions curricula to enable interprofessional education and collaborative practice. *J Med Educ Curric Dev.* (2020) 7:2382120520933855. doi: 10.1177/2382120520933855

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Shanmugarajah, Rosenbaum, Zubairi and Di Rezze. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Assessing the Quality of Life of Parents of Children With Disabilities Using WHOQoL BREF During COVID-19 Pandemic

#### Usman Ali, Vardah Bharuchi, Nasreen Gulzar Ali and Sidra K. Jafri\*

Department of Pediatric and Child Health, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan

**Background:** Caring for a child with disabilities is a challenging journey, as the parents must meet greater demands when compared with the parents of children without disabilities. Looking after a child with disabilities requires additional financial, social, emotional, and physical resources. Coronavirus 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has made this even more challenging and impacted the quality of life of parents of children with disabilities.

**Methods:** The study was an analytical cross-sectional design with two comparison groups: parents of children with developmental disabilities and parents of children

without disabilities. The Urdu version of the WHO Quality of Life Measure Abbreviated

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Patricia Welch Saleeby, Bradley University, United States Beth Pfeiffer, Temple University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Sidra K. Jafri sidrakaleemjafri@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 12 May 2021 Accepted: 15 July 2021 Published: 13 August 2021

#### Citation:

Ali U, Bharuchi V, Ali NG and Jafri SK (2021) Assessing the Quality of Life of Parents of Children With Disabilities Using WHOQoL BREF During COVID-19 Pandemic. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:708657. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.708657 version (WHOQOL-BREF) was used to measure the quality of life (QoL) among parents. Sociodemographic data were also obtained from the parents. **Results:** Parents of children with disabilities had lower overall scores when different domains of QoL were considered (physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment) using WHOQoL-BREF. Statistically significant differences

were observed in the physical and environmental domains of parental QoL. Keywords: quality of life, parents, children with developmental disabilities, COVID-19, WHOQoL

## INTRODUCTION

Caring for a child with developmental disabilities is a challenging journey, as the parents must meet greater demands when compared with the parents of children without disabilities. Such parents require additional financial, social, emotional, and physical resources, which may conflict with the competing needs of the other family members. This life-long journey of parents navigating through the medical, developmental, and educational interventions in addition to caregiving responsibilities affects their quality of life (QoL) (1).

Quality of life refers to the overall well-being of individuals in multiple aspects of life; however, its definition has evolved through time (2). It is a multifaceted concept that comprises perceived psychological, social, emotional, and physical functioning of an individual and is often used to examine the well-being of and burdens in families with neurodevelopmental disorders. WHO defines QoL as "an individual's perception of their position in life in the context of the culture and value systems in which they live and in relation to their goals, expectations, standards and concerns" (3). QoL is therefore affected by physical health, psychological state, personal beliefs, social relationships, and relationship with the environment of a person (4).

Quality of life is a difficult concept to define and measure, and there are over a thousand instruments designed to measure the QoL (5). The WHO Quality of Life (WHOQOL)-BREF instrument was developed by the WHO as a result of a global project based on a cross-culturally sensitive concept and is considered appropriate for use across different nationalities (6–8). WHOQoL-BREF measures four domains of QoL, physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment, through a set of 24 items (2). In addition to crossculture applicability, this tool has good to excellent reliability and validity (6–10).

Understanding the different aspects of QoL is essential for parents having a child with developmental disabilities to guide the healthcare workers and policymakers to have a better insight into the struggle faced by parents for planning and implementing different interventions (11).

COVID-19 pandemic, an unexpected catastrophe, has overwhelmed the capacity of the healthcare systems and affected nearly all facets of QoL for the general population. COVID-19 has major ramifications for global health, including the disability community. It has also caused school closures, limited availability of support services, and income loss (12, 13). Children with severe disabilities are physically more demanding and their parents are expected to experience increased caregiver burden during this unprecedented pandemic.

This study aimed to assess the QoL in parents of children with developmental disabilities when compared to typically developing peers in the four domains, namely physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment, and overall QoL during the Covid 19 pandemic. Additionally, we aimed to compare the WHOQoL-BREF scores between different developmental disabilities.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

This analytical cross-sectional study with a comparison group was performed at the Pediatric Outpatient Department at the Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, Pakistan, after approval by the Institutional Ethics Review Committee (ERC-2020-5476-14718). Parents of children (2–18 years) with developmental disabilities, such as cerebral palsy (CP), autism spectrum disorder (ASD), global developmental delay (GDD), intellectual disability (ID), attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), speech delays, learning disabilities (LD), or any syndrome or condition with any of these conditions and receiving services, were included in the study group.

Parents of typically developing children (aged 2–18 years) visiting the Pediatric Outpatient Department (OPD) for routine check-ups or common pediatric problems without any underlying disability were included in the comparison group.

Parents were excluded if they did not understand Urdu or could not fill out the questionnaire.

Parents were included using a consecutive sampling technique. GPower software was utilized to calculate the sample size using the difference in parental QoL of children with disabilities and those of children without disabilities. Literature reports the effective size of the difference in QoL among the two groups is in the range of 0.3–0.4 in various domains (14). Being a ow-middle-income country (LMIC), we anticipated higher intensity of the effect in our population. A sample size of minimum of 100 children per group was required at 80% power and Cronbach's alpha of 0.05 to detect the difference of at least 0.7 points with SD of 2.2; however, we inflated our sample size to 150 participants in each group.

Study participants were administered a questionnaire that contained demographic questions followed by WHO-QOL-BREF-Urdu. The demographic information included the parental age, parent gender, family status(nuclear/joint), marital status (married/divorced/separated/widowed), education level of both parents (no education, can read or write, primary (Grade 5), secondary (Grade 10), graduate, postgraduate), work status of both parents (full-time, part-time, unemployed), monthly family income (<PKRs25K, PKRs25–50K, PKRs50–100K, > PKRs100K), the health status of the parents (healthy/known comorbidity), and age, gender, and diagnosis of the children.

The forms were collected by one of the co-investigators, and the participants were assigned unique codes to protect their identity and to maintain confidentiality.

World Health Organization Quality of Life-BREF questionnaire contained 24 items covering four domains: physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment (10). The mean score of items within each domain was used to calculate the mean domain score, after which the mean scores were multiplied by four to make domain scores comparable with the scores used in the WHOQOL-100, as per the instructions of the measure used. Domain scores were scaled in a positive direction with a score range of 0–100 with higher scores denoting higher QoL.

## **Data Analysis**

Data were analyzed using IBM SPSS version 23. The sociodemographic variables were analyzed using descriptive statistics. The Chi-square test and the Mann–Whitney *U*-tests were carried out to observe the statistical differences between the sociodemographic variables of the parents of children with disabilities and those of children without disabilities. An independent samples *t*-test was used to analyze the difference between the scores of parents of typically developing children and parents of children with disabilities on the subdomains of WHOQoL-BREF. A multiple regression was carried out to evaluate which sociodemographic variables can significantly predict the scores of the subdomains and the overall score of WHOQoL-BREF.

## RESULTS

A total of 301 participants were recruited for the study, out of which 151 participants were the parents of children without disabilities and 150 participants were the parents of children with developmental disabilities. The demographic data of the participants are given in **Table 1**. **TABLE 1** | Sociodemographic data of parents with children without developmental disabilities (group A) and children with developmental disabilities (group B).

151 (50.2) 15 (9.93) 53 (35.10) 52 (34.44) 20 (13.25) 11 (7.28) 49 (32.45) 102 (67.55) 149 (98.68)	150 (49.8) 6 (4.0) 56 (37.33) 56 (37.33) 26 (17.33) 6 (4.0) 60 (40.00) 89 (58.33)
53 (35.10) 52 (34.44) 20 (13.25) 11 (7.28) 49 (32.45) 102 (67.55) 149 (98.68)	56 (37.33) 56 (37.33) 26 (17.33) 6 (4.0) 60 (40.00) 89 (58.33)
53 (35.10) 52 (34.44) 20 (13.25) 11 (7.28) 49 (32.45) 102 (67.55) 149 (98.68)	56 (37.33) 56 (37.33) 26 (17.33) 6 (4.0) 60 (40.00) 89 (58.33)
52 (34.44) 20 (13.25) 11 (7.28) 49 (32.45) 102 (67.55) 149 (98.68)	56 (37.33) 26 (17.33) 6 (4.0) 60 (40.00) 89 (58.33)
20 (13.25) 11 (7.28) 49 (32.45) 102 (67.55) 149 (98.68)	26 (17.33) 6 (4.0) 60 (40.00) 89 (58.33)
11 (7.28) 49 (32.45) 102 (67.55) 149 (98.68)	6 (4.0) 60 (40.00) 89 (58.33)
49 (32.45) 102 (67.55) 149 (98.68)	60 (40.00) 89 (58.33)
102 (67.55)	89 (58.33)
102 (67.55)	89 (58.33)
149 (98.68)	
. ,	
. ,	
0	149 (99.33)
0	1 (0.67)
0	0
60 (39.74)	73 (48.76)
91 (61.26)	77 (51.33)
3 (1.99)	5 (3.33)
7 (4.64)	6 (4.00)
11 (7.28)	9 (6.00)
. ,	28 (18.67)
	79 (52.67)
	23 (15.33)
( /	
0	3 (2.00)
2 (1.32)	4 (2.67)
	9 (6.00)
. ,	31 (20.67)
	60 (40.00)
	43 (28.67)
( - )	
18 (11.92)	26 (17.33)
	7 (4.67)
. ,	117 (78)
- ()	( - )
136 (90.07)	135 (90.00)
	12 (8.00)
	1 (0.67)
( )	()
9 (5.96)	8 (5.33)
	40 (26.67)
	56 (37.33)
	46 (30.67)
137 (90 73)	144 (96.00)
	6 (4.00)
11(0.21)	0 (4.00)
140 (92 72)	136 (90.67)
	14 (9.33)
	91 (61.26) 3 (1.99) 7 (4.64)

Missing data: Group A missing: marital status: 2; father education status: 3; work status of mother: 1; work status of father: 2; health status of father: 2; gender of child: 1, Group B missing gender: 11; work status of father: 2. Total missing: type: 2; diagnosis of child: 2.

**TABLE 2** | Demographic table of parents with children without developmental disabilities (group A) and children with developmental disabilities (group B).

Variable	Group A <i>n</i> (%)	Group B <i>n</i> (%)	
Age of the parent			
<5 years	104 (68.9)	96 (64.9)	
5-<12 years	43 (28.5)	45 (30.4)	
12–18 years	4 (2.6)	7 (4.7)	
Diagnosis			
Autism spectrum disorder	O (O)	74 (50.0)	
Attention deficit hyperactivity disorder	O (O)	9 (6.1)	
Cerebral palsy	O (O)	23 (15.5)	
Global developmental delay	O (O)	27 (18.2)	
Learning disability	O (O)	3 (2.1)	
Speech delay	O (O)	12 (8.1)	

**TABLE 3** Comparison of parents with children without developmental disabilities (group A) and children with developmental disabilities (group B).

Variable	Value	p*
Gender	2.247	0.134
Education level of mother	3.034	0.695
Education level of father	4.437	0.488
Work status of mother	1.462	0.481
Work status of father	1.985	0.371
Marital status	1.010	0.315

\*2-tailed level of significance: p < 0.05.

Children with different disabilities were identified. The common disabilities observed were ASD, GDD, and CP. The details are depicted in **Table 2**.

The Chi-square test was carried out to see the statistical differences between parents of children without disabilities (group A) and parents of children with disabilities (group B) in terms of gender, education level, work status, and marital status. No significant differences were observed (**Table 3**).

The Mann–Whitney *U*-test was carried out between parents of non-disabled children (group A) and parents of children with disabilities children (group B). No significant differences were observed between the scores of the two groups.

An independent samples *T*-test was used to analyze the difference between the scores of parents of children without disabilities and parents of children with disabilities. Parents of children with disabilities scored *lower* overall when different domains of QoL were considered (physical health, psychological health, social relationships, and environment) (**Tables 4** and 5). Significant differences were observed for physical health in parents of children without disabilities (M = 66.09, SD = 12.629) and children with disabilities (M = 61.80, SD = 15.652); *t* (285.945) = 2.609, *p* = 0.010. Similarly, significant differences were also observed for social relationships in parents of children without disabilities (M = 73.40, SD = 16.272) and those of children with disabilities (M = 68.37, SD = 18.368); *t* (297) = 2.509, *p* = 0.013.

TABLE 4 | Comparison between the mean scores of parents of children without developmental disabilities (group A) and children with developmental disabilities (group B).

Item	п	Mean rank	Z	p*
Age of the parent			-0.812	0.417
Group A	151	146.18		
Group B	148	153.90		
Monthly family income			-929	0.353
Group A	151	154.35		
Group B	148	145.56		
Age of the child			-0.828	0.408
Group A	151	146.63		
Group B	148	153.44		

<sup>\*</sup>2-tailed. Level of significance: p < 0.05.

TABLE 5 | Comparison of quality of life (QoL) between parents of children without developmental disabilities (group A) and children with disabilities (group B).

Variable	п	Mean	SD	т	<b>p</b> *
Domain 1: physical health				2.614	0.009
Group A	151	66.09	12.629		
Group B	148	61.80	15.652		
Domain 2: psychological health				1.333	0.183
Group A	151	65.51	14.834		
Group B	148	63.25	14.475		
Domain 3: social relationships				2.506	0.013
Group A	151	73.40	16.272		
Group B	148	68.37	18.368		
Domain 4: environment				2.696	0.007
Group A	151	71.99	13.510		
Group B	148	67.79	13.401		
WHO QOL (BREF)				2.96	0.003
	151	89.75	10.35		
	148	85.81	12.56		

\*2-tailed. Level of significance: p < 0.05. SD, standard deviation.

Significant differences were observed for environment between parents of children without disabilities (M = 71.99, SD = 13.510) and those of children with disabilities (M = 67.79, SD = 13.401); t (296.957) = 2.696, p = 0.007. No significant difference was observed in psychological health between parents of children without disabilities (M = 65.51, SD = 14.834) and those of children with disabilities (M = 63.25, SD = 14.475); t (286.994) = 1.333, p = 0.183. The overall score of WHOQoL-BREF also showed a significant difference between children without disabilities (M = 89.75, SD = 10.35) and children with disabilities (M = 85.81, SD = 12.56); t (284.41) = 2.96, p = 0.003.

A multiple regression analysis was carried out to identify potential risk factors for QoL in parents. It was done to predict the score of physical health of parents from the domains of diagnosis of education status, health status, work status, gender of parents, monthly income, family status, gender, age, and diagnosis of children (**Table 6**). These variables statistically significantly predicted the score on the physical health domain of WHOQoL-BREF (14, 276) = 1.886, p = 0.028, with an R<sup>2</sup> of.087.

However, the health status variable of the father (B = -8.649, p = 0.016) contributed statistically significantly to the prediction.

A multiple regression analysis was also carried out to predict the score of psychological health of parents from the domains of education status, health status, work status, gender of parents, monthly income, family status, gender, age, and diagnosis of children (**Table 7**). These variables showed statistically significantly predicted the score on the psychological health domain of WHOQoL, F(14, 276) = 2.890, p = 0.000, with an R<sup>2</sup> of.128. However, the health status variable of the father (B = -15.787, p = 0.000) contributed statistically significantly to the prediction.

A multiple regression analysis was carried out to predict the score of social relationships of parents from the domains of education status, health status, work status, gender of parents, monthly income, family status, gender, age, and diagnosis of children (**Table 8**). These variables statistically significantly predicted the score on the social relationships domain of WHOQoL, F (14, 276) = 1.835, p = 0.034, with an R<sup>2</sup> of.085.

However, no single variable contributed significantly to the prediction of the model.

Another multiple regression analysis was carried out to predict the score of the environment on parents from the domains of education status, health status, work status, gender of parents, monthly income, family status, gender, age, and diagnosis of children (**Table 9**). These variables statistically significantly predicted the score on the environment domain of WHOQoL, *s* (14, 276) = 4.654, *p* = 0.000, except for the age of parents variable (*p* = 0.044), with an R<sup>2</sup> of.185. However, the education status of the mother (B = 2.495, *p* = 0.005), work status of the mother (B = 2.680, *p* = 0.027), and monthly income (B = 2.833, *p* = 0.003) variables contributed statistically significantly to the prediction.

A multiple regression was carried out to predict the overall general score of parents on WHOQoL from the domains of education status, health status, work status, gender of parents, monthly income, family status, gender, age, and diagnosis of children (**Table 10**). These variables statistically significantly predicted the overall score of WHOQoL, *F* (14, 276) = 3.535, p = 0.000, with an R<sup>2</sup> of 152. However, the education status of the mother variable (B = 1.727, p = 0.027) contributed statistically significantly to the prediction.

### **Summary of Key Results**

- No statistically significant difference was observed between parents of children without disabilities (group A) and parents of children with developmental disabilities (group B) in terms of gender, education level, work status, and marital status.
- No significant difference was observed between parents of children without disabilities (group A) and parents of children with developmental disabilities (group B) in terms of parental age, monthly income, and age of children.
- Parents of children with disabilities had a lower overall score when different domains of QoL were considered (i.e., physical health, psychological health, social relationships, environment, and overall QoL). Significant differences were observed for physical health, social relationships, environment, and overall QoL. No significant difference was observed for psychological health.

Multiple regression analysis results:

- The health status of the father provided a statistically significant score to the predictive model on the physical health subdomain of WHOQoL-BREF.
- To predict the score of psychological health of parents, the health status of the father added statistical significance to the prediction.
- To predict the score of social relationships of parents, no single variable added statistical significance to the prediction.
- To predict the score of the environment of parents, the education status of the mother, the work status of the mother, and the monthly income added statistical significance to the prediction.
- To predict the overall general score of parents on WHOQoL, the education status of the mother significantly predicted the score on WHOQoL.

TABLE 6   Summary of a multiple regression analysis of physical health in
WHOQoL-BREF.

	Physical health		
	В	SE B	В
Constant	83.113	16.870	
Туре	-8.953	4.911	-0.311
Age	0.623	1.010	0.043
Gender	-0.401	1.795	-0.013
Family status	1.024	1.780	0.035
Education status of mother	1.252	0.996	0.099
Education status of father	0.558	1.095	0.040
Work status of mother	1.279	1.357	0.062
Work status of father	-3.472	2.693	-0.082
Monthly income	-0.820	1.062	-0.050
Health status of mother	0.610	3.684	0.010
Health status of father	-8.649	3.584	-0.159
Age of children	-0.587	1.761	-0.023
Gender of child	0.022	1.735	0.001
Diagnosis of child	-0.770	0.709	-0.184
R-squared	0.087		
Adjusted R- square	0.041		
F for change in R square	1.886*		
No. of observations	290		

\*Level of significance: p < 0.05. SE, standard error.

## DISCUSSION

Global estimates demonstrate that 15% of the world population is affected by some form of disability (15). Among these, between 110 and 190 million individuals have significant functional limitations and participation restrictions (16). No estimates based on actual measurement of the number of children with disabilities are available; however, a UK study estimated the national prevalence of childhood disability at 7.3% of the population with the highest prevalence of childhood disability seen in the poorest income quintile (17). The epidemiology of disability in Pakistan is limited; however, the prevalence of childhood disability was found to be 5.5 out of 1,000 in rural Sindh (18). According to UNICEF, in developing countries like Pakistan, children at an early age are exposed to harsh living conditions, such as poor sanitation, malnutrition, communicable diseases, and lack of integrated management of childhood illnesses (19).

Children with developmental disabilities often have complex health issues and high unmet health needs (20). As a result of caregiving responsibilities, the parents of children with developmental disabilities report lower QoL and a sense of isolation (21). Children are dependent on parents, thus, having a child with a disability has a negative impact on the parental life, as it requires many adjustments for the family members (22).

This study showed significantly lower scores in the overall QoL compared to control groups. In the four domains of QoL, significant differences were observed in the physical

TABLE 7   Summary of a multiple regression analysis of psychological health in
WHOQoL-BREF.

TABLE 8	Summary of a multiple regression analysis of social relationships in
WHOQoL-I	BREF.

	Psychological health		
	В	SE B	В
Constant	84.921	16.539	
Туре	-2.192	4.815	-0.076
Age	1.388	0.990	0.095
Gender	-1.775	1.760	-0.059
Family status	0.360	1.745	0.012
Education status of mother	1.214	0.976	0.095
Education status of father	-0.156	1.074	-0.011
Work status of mother	0.299	1.330	0.015
Work status of father	-0.426	2.640	-0.010
Monthly income	-0.955	1.041	-0.059
Health status of mother	-3.008	3.611	-0.052
Health status of father	-15.787	3.514	-0.289
Age of children	-2.708	1.727	-0.104
Gender of child	2.263	1.701	0.078
Diagnosis of child	-0.015	0.695	-0.004
R-squared	0.128		
Adjusted R- square	0.084		
F for change in R square	2.890*		
No. of observations	290		

*Level of significance: p	< 0.05. SE, standard error.	
---------------------------	-----------------------------	--

and environmental domains while no statistically significant differences were observed in the social and psychological domains. While the overall QoL scores were low in all domains for study and control groups, the scores were lower in the study group (p = 0.01). These findings are similar to a recent study by Pecor et al. (23) who reported overall lower scores in parental QoL during the COVID-19 outbreak. The lower overall QoL in parents of children with disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic can be attributed to increased caregiver burden. Another recent study by Shah *et al.* reported worsening of symptoms in pediatric patients with ADHD and an increase in the number of negative interactions with parents during COVID-19 (24).

The physical domain of QoL relates to physical health, sleep, pain, and coping with everyday life and daily physical activities. The mean scores in the physical domain of QoL scores were low overall; however, statistically significant differences were observed in the physical health domain of QoL between the study and control groups. The lower QoL score in the physical domain of QoL is aligned with the findings of prior studies (25–28). The overall low scores in the both study and control groups may be attributed to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, which has seen its second and third waves in Pakistan (29, 30). Numerous studies have explored the negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the physical, social, and psychological domains of QoL (23, 31–34).

We did not find any statistically significant difference in the psychological domain of QoL between the study and control

	Social relationships		
	В	SE B	β
Constant	59.603	20.571	
Туре	3.741	5.989	0.107
Age	-1.757	1.232	-0.099
Gender	2.688	2.189	0.074
Family status	0.725	2.170	0.021
Education status of mother	-0.088	1.214	-0.006
Education status of father	0.076	1.335	0.004
Work status of mother	1.940	1.654	0.078
Work status of father	-1.131	3.283	-0.022
Monthly income	1.427	1.295	0.072
Health status of mother	-3.909	4.492	-0.055
Health status of father	-8.390	4.371	-0.127
Age of children	1.961	2.148	0.062
Gender of child	0.107	2.115	-0.003
Diagnosis of child	1.287	0.865	0.253
R-squared	0.085		
Adjusted R- square	0.039		
F for change in R square	1.835*		
No. of observations	290		

\*Level of significance: p < 0.05. SE, standard error.

groups, which is similar to findings reported by Leung et al. (14). Other studies have reported significant differences in the psychological domain of QoL (25-28). Further research may help to uncover the underlying reasons for this observation.

The social domain of QoL is related to satisfaction with personal relationships and support structure. We did not find any statistically significant differences in the social domain of QoL; however, prior studies have found significant impairment in the social domain of QoL (25, 27, 28, 35). This is an interesting finding, with the plausible explanation being the cultural differences that exist in parental experiences toward child disability (36, 37). The absence of differences in the social domain of QoL could be explained by the Muslim values and the South Asian family-oriented structure of Pakistani society, which may serve as a source of informal support in disability. In a study exploring perceptions toward disability, Ow et al. (38) reported that 48% of Chinese mothers having a child with disabilities had at least one formal source of support; however, none of the Muslim mothers reported needing a formal source of support. Mohamed Madi et al. (36) reported that religious beliefs and cultural norms were major factors in the perceptions of mothers towards child disability in Saudi Arabia, another Muslim majority country.

The environmental domain of QoL is related to physical safety and security, home environment, and health and social care. We observed significantly lower mean scores in the environmental domain of QoL in the study group. This is similar to the findings published in several other studies (14, 25, 27, 28). The greater Diagnosis of child

Adjusted R- square

No. of observations

F for change in R square

R-squared

**TABLE 9** | Summary of a multiple regression analysis of the environment in

 WHOQoL-BREF.

	Environment		
	В	SE B	В
Constant	35.784	14.960	
Туре	-0.739	4.355	-0.027
Age	-1.692	0.869	-0.118
Gender	2.820	1.592	0.100
amily status	0.034	1.578	0.001
Education status of mother	2.495	0.883	0.209
Education status of father	0.200	0.971	0.015
Work status of mother	2.680	1.203	0.139
Work status of father	3.261	2.388	0.081
Monthly income	2833	0.941	0.185
Health status of mother	6.80	3.267	0.012
Health status of father	-4.426	3.178	-0.086
Age of children	1.793	1.562	0.073
Gender of child	1.915	1.538	0.070

0.432

0.191

0.150

4 654\*

290

0.629

0.110

TABLE 10 | Summary of a multiple regression analysis of overall WHOQoL-BREF.

	Total raw score		
	В	SE B	β
Constant	75.890	13.147	
Туре	-1.654	3.827	-0.071
Age	-0.508	0.787	-0.043
Gender	2.074	1.399	0.086
Family status	0.351	1.387	0.015
Education status of mother	1.727	0.776	0.168
Education status of father	0.957	0.853	0.084
Work status of mother	2.046	1.057	0.123
Work status of father	-1.762	2.098	-0.051
Monthly income	0.461	0.827	0.035
Health status of mother	-1.189	2.871	-0.025
Health status of father	-5.306	2.793	-0.121
Age of children	-0.125	1.373	-0.006
Gender of child	-0.011	1.352	0.000
Diagnosis of child	0.284	0.553	0.084
R-squared	0.152		
Adjusted R- square	0.109		
F for change in R square	3.535*		
No. of observations	290		

\*Level of significance: p < 0.05. SE, standard error.</li>

\*Level of significance: p < 0.05. SE, standard error.

caregiver burden of having a child with developmental disorders, such as limited socio-adaptive functioning, difficult behaviors and limited social skills, inability to understand the condition of the child, difficulty obtaining the correct diagnosis, and stressful experiences with professionals, contributes to lower scores on the environment domain (25, 26, 28, 36). In addition, limited access to support services due to the COVID-19 pandemic and financial difficulties may further worsen the stress burden.

Prior research has identified that parental QoL is also impacted by the type and degree of disability in the child (39, 40). Disability, depending on the type of disability variable, favors parents having a child with a learning disability, followed by parents having a child with a physical disability, parents having a child with an intellectual disability, and finally parents having a child with Autism, who have the lowest degree of QoL (39).

The subset analysis based on the type and degree of disability could not be performed in this study, due to a disproportionately large sample of parents having children with ASD in the study group, which is a limitation of this study.

Further exploration of this subject with a larger sample size may reveal differences in the degree to which different developmental disabilities in the children affect parental QoL.

This study showed an overall low score in all domains, namely, physical health, environment, social relationships, and psychological health, for both groups. This might be due to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the results were consistent with many other studies done on QoL during the COVID-19 pandemic (23, 41–44). Future efforts aimed at therapeutic interventions

in child disability might benefit from focusing on physical and environmental domains of QoL in addition to strengthening support structures through informal approaches.

## CONCLUSION

This study demonstrates statistically significant differences in the WHOQoL-BREF scores in the physical and environmental domains of parents of children with developmental disabilities during the COVID-19 pandemic. No significant differences were observed in the psychological and social domains of QoL between the study and control groups.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Review Committee, Aga Khan University Hospital, Karachi, ERC-2020-5476-14718. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

UA: drafting, data acquisition, interpretation, and revision. VB: design of the work, data analysis, interpretation, and drafting. NA: conception, data acquisition, interpretation, and drafting. SJ: conception, supervision of data acquisition, drafting, critical revision, and final approval. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### REFERENCES

- sGothwal VK, Bharani S, Reddy SP. Measuring coping in parents of children with disabilities: a rasch model approach. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0118189. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0118189
- Theofilou P. Quality of life: definition and measurement. Eur. J. Psychol. (2013) 9:132. doi: 10.1037/e528452013-013
- The Whoqol Group. The World Health Organization quality of life assessment (WHOQOL): development and general psychometric properties. Soc Sci Med. (1998) 46:1569–85. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(98)00 009-4
- WHOQOL Group. Study protocol for the World Health Organization project to develop a Quality of Life assessment instrument (WHOQOL). Qual Life Res. (1993) 2:153–9. doi: 10.1007/BF00435734
- Ubel PA, Loewenstein G, Jepson C. Whose quality of life? A commentary exploring discrepancies between health state evaluations of patients and the general public. *Qual Life Res.* (2003) 12:599–607. doi: 10.1023/A:1025119931010
- Skevington SM, Lotfy M, O'Connell KA, WHOQOL Group. The World Health Organization's WHOQOL-BREF quality of life assessment: psychometric properties and results of the international field trial. A report from the WHOQOL group. *Qual Life Res.* (2004) 13:299–310. doi: 10.1023/B:QURE.0000018486.91360.00
- Ohaeri JU, Awadalla AW. The reliability and validity of the short version of the WHO Quality of Life Instrument in an Arab general population. *Ann Saudi Med.* (2009) 29:98–104. doi: 10.4103/0256-4947.51790
- Kalfoss MH, Reidunsdatter RJ, Klöckner CA, Nilsen M. Validation of the WHOQOL-Bref: psychometric properties and normative data for the Norwegian general population. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. (2021) 19:13. doi: 10.1186/s12955-020-01656-x
- Agnihotri K, Awasthi S, Chandra H, Singh U, Thakur S. Validation of WHO QOL-BREF instrument in Indian adolescents. *Indian J Pediatr.* (2010) 77:381– 6. doi: 10.1007/s12098-010-0041-1
- Lodhi FS, Raza O, Montazeri A, Nedjat S, Yaseri M, Holakouie-Naieni K. Psychometric properties of the Urdu version of the World Health Organization's quality of life questionnaire (WHOQOL-BREF). *Med J Islam Repub Iran.* (2017) 31:853–9. doi: 10.14196/mjiri.31.129
- The World Health Organization quality of life assessment (WHOQOL): position paper from the World Health Organization. Soc Sci Med. (1995) 41:1403–9. doi: 10.1016/0277-9536(95)00112-K
- Courtenay K, Perera B. COVID-19 and people with intellectual disability: impacts of a pandemic. *Ir J Psychol Med.* (2020) 37:231–6. doi: 10.1017/ipm.2020.45
- Trabacca A, Russo L. COVID-19 and child disabilities: whom to protect and how. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med.* (2020) 56:372– 3. doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.20.06309-1
- Leung CYS, Li-Tsang CWP. Quality of life of parents who have children with disabilities. *Hong Kong J Occupat Ther.* (2003) 13:19– 24. doi: 10.1016/S1569-1861(09)70019-1
- Campbell J, Oliver M. Disability politics: understanding our past, changing our future. *Routledge*. (2013). doi: 10.4324/9780203410639
- 16. World Health Organization. *World Report on Disability 2011*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2015).
- 17. Blackburn CM, Spencer NJ, Read JM. Prevalence of childhood disability and the characteristics and circumstances of disabled children in the UK:

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Dr. Shahnaz Ibrahim, Dr. Prem Chand, Dr. Khair-un-Nissa Mukhtiar, and Dr. Quat-ul-Ain Khalid for providing continued guidance and emotional support throughout the study period. Gratitude is also owed to Dr. Noman Khan who helped with the technical aspects of the study and helped refine the manuscript.

secondary analysis of the Family Resources Survey. BMC Pediatr. (2010) 10:21. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-10-21

- Ibrahim SH, Bhutta ZA. Prevalence of early childhood disability in a rural district of Sind, Pakistan. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2013) 55:357– 63. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.12103
- 19. UNICEF, Others. Situation Analysis of Children in Pakistan. Government of Pakistan (2017).
- Funke A. Improving the quality of life of parents of children with developmental disabilities. Dev Med Child Neurol. (2019) 61:1242. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14254
- Resch JA, Aaron Resch J, Mireles G, Benz MR, Grenwelge C, Peterson R, et al. Giving parents a voice: a qualitative study of the challenges experienced by parents of children with disabilities. *Rehabil Psychol.* (2010) 55:139– 50. doi: 10.1037/a0019473
- 22. Peshawaria R, Venkatesan S. Behavioral Assessment Scales for Indian Children with Mental Retardation (Basic-MR). Secunderabad (1992).
- Pecor KW, Barbyannis G, Yang M, Johnson J, Materasso S, Borda M, et al. Quality of life changes during the COVID-19 pandemic for caregivers of children with ADHD and/or ASD. Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2021) 18:3667. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18073667
- Shah R, Venkatesh Raju V, Sharma A, Grover S. Impact of COVID-19 and lockdown on children with ADHD and their families—an online survey and a continuity care model. *J Neurosci Rural Pract.* (2020) 12:071– 9. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1718645
- Mugno D, Ruta L, D'Arrigo VG, Mazzone L. Impairment of quality of life in parents of children and adolescents with pervasive developmental disorder. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. (2007) 5:22. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-5-22
- 26. Fernández-Ávalos MI, Pérez-Marfil MN, Ferrer-Cascales R, Cruz-Quintana F, Clement-Carbonell V, Fernández-Alcántara M. Quality of life and concerns in parent caregivers of adult children diagnosed with intellectual disability: a qualitative study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:8690. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17228690
- Okurowska-Zawada B, Kułak W, Wojtkowski J, Sienkiewicz D, Paszko-Patej G. Quality of life of parents of children with cerebral palsy. *Prog Health Sci.* (2011) 1:116–23.
- Malhotra S, Khan W, Bhatia MS. Quality of life of parents having children with developmental disabilities. *Delhi Psychiatry J.* (2012) 15:171–6.
- Shahid R, Zeb S. Second wave of COVID-19 pandemic: its deleterious and mortal repercussion in Pakistan. J Rawalpindi Med Coll. (2020) 24:288– 9. doi: 10.37939/jrmc.v24i4.1554
- Mumtaz S, Gul S. Third wave of COVID-19 epidemic in Pakistan. *Life Sci.* (2021) 2:1. doi: 10.37185/LnS.1.1.198
- Zhang Y, Ma ZF. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and quality of life among local residents in liaoning province, China: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:2381. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17072381
- Ferreira LN, Pereira LN, da Fé Brás M, Ilchuk K. Quality of life under the COVID-19 quarantine. *Qual Life Res.* (2021) 30:1389–405. doi: 10.1007/s11136-020-02724-x
- Ravens-Sieberer U, Kaman A, Erhart M, Devine J, Schlack R, Otto C. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on quality of life and mental health in children and adolescents in Germany. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2021). doi: 10.1007/s00787-021-01726-5. [Epub ahead of print].
- Shek DTL. COVID-19 and quality of life: twelve reflections. Appl Res Qual Life. (2021) 16:1–11. doi: 10.1007/s11482-020-09898-z

- Vasilopoulou E, Nisbet J. The quality of life of parents of children with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Res Autism Spectrum Disord.* (2016) 23:36–49. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2015.11.008
- Mohamed Madi S, Mandy A, Aranda K. The perception of disability among mothers living with a child with cerebral palsy in Saudi Arabia. *Glob Qual Nurs Res.* (2019) 6:2333393619844096. doi: 10.1177/23333936198 44096
- Marshall J, Doone E, Price M. Cultural models of child disability: perspectives of parents in Malaysia. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2019) 41:2653– 62. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1474497
- Ow R, Tan NT, Goh S. Diverse perceptions of social support: asian mothers of children with intellectual disability. *Famil Soc J Contemp Soc Serv.* (2004) 85:214–20. doi: 10.1606/1044-3894.327
- Haimour AI, Abu Hawwash RM. Evaluating Quality Of Life of parents having a child with disability. *Int Interdisciplin J Educ*. (2012) 1:1–7.
- Christodoulou P, Christopoulou F, Stergiou A, Christopoulos K. Quality of life of parents of children with disabilities. *Eur J Educ Pedagogy*. (2020) 1. doi: 10.24018/ejedu.2020.1.1.1
- Epifanio MS, Andrei F, Mancini G, Agostini F, Piombo MA, Spicuzza V, et al. The impact of COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown measures on quality of life among italian general population. J Clin Med Res. (2021) 10:289. doi: 10.3390/jcm10020289
- 42. Algahtani FD, Hassan S-U-N, Alsaif B, Zrieq R. Assessment of the quality of life during COVID-19 pandemic: a cross-sectional survey from the kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:847. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18030847

- Slimani M, Paravlic A, Mbarek F, Bragazzi NL, Tod D. The relationship between physical activity and quality of life during the confinement induced by COVID-19 outbreak: a pilot study in Tunisia. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:1882. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01882
- Choi EPH, Hui BPH, Wan EYF, Kwok JYY, Tam THL, Wu C. COVID-19 and health-related quality of life: a community-based online survey in Hong Kong. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:3228. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18063228

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Ali, Bharuchi, Ali and Jafri. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## **Developmental Disability: Families and Functioning in Child and Adolescence**

#### Peter Rosenbaum\*

CanChild Centre, Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

The WHO's International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) provides an integrated framework for health for everyone. Several aspects of this approach to health allow us to see people's lives in a richer and more holistic manner than has traditionally been the case based on diagnosis alone. These features include the positive language (emphasizing in particular "activity," "participation," and "personal factors"); the interconnections of the parts of this "dynamic system," in which every component can influence every other one; and the formal inclusion of "contextual factors"-personal and environmental-that are otherwise too easy to take for granted and then ignore. This paper addresses the "environmental" dimension of the ICF framework-specifically referring to "family" as the central environmental force in the lives of children and adolescents. The perspectives of the author are those of a developmental pediatrician, whose career has focused on children with conditions that challenge their development, and their families. Lessons learned from a lifetime of work-including teaching and research as well as clinical services-are offered. Particular emphases will be on (i) the importance of focusing on the family in a non-judgmental "family-centered" way; (ii) how conceptual ideas about child (and family) development and parenting are as important as technical approaches to intervention; and (iii) how the ICF framework "allows" — indeed encourages — such a focus to have value and importance equal to the best of biomedical interventions. Examples from current research will illustrate how these ideas can be implemented.

Keywords: childhood disability, ICF, F-words, family well-being, family-centered service

## INTRODUCTION

## The Author's Perspective

This paper is not a conventional literature review, but rather a personal essay about a topic in which the author has longstanding interest and engagement. It draws on my perspectives and experiences as a developmental pediatrician—a clinician, teacher, and health services researcher in childhood disability. The ideas offered here are predicated on two statements of the obvious. First, in the field of child health, we work with families. Every child we ever see comes wrapped in a family. By "family" I refer to one or more responsible adults who have a central on-going caregiving role to protect and nurture that child. In the current era, families appear in a variety of constellations. Whatever their make-up, however, they must be the unit of our clinical attention. That means that we cannot consider only the child without an equal interest in, and focus on, their "family." Second,

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Yvonne Heerkens, HAN University of Applied Sciences, Netherlands Mary Gannotti, University of Hartford, United States

> \*Correspondence: Peter Rosenbaum rosenbau@mcmaster.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 14 May 2021 Accepted: 30 July 2021 Published: 23 August 2021

#### Citation:

Rosenbaum P (2021) Developmental Disability: Families and Functioning in Child and Adolescence. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:709984. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.709984 if it is true that "It takes a village to raise a child," it is equally true that a child's challenges of health or development affect the whole family (and beyond, as I shall argue). This means that the child's issues cannot be addressed solely as an individual's predicament.

## **Modern Thinking About Health**

The centrality of the family in children's lives is not simply the author's personal view. The World Health Organization's 2001 framework for health was formulated within its International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (1) (the ICF). This framework formally identifies "contextual" factors that include "environment." The nuclear environment of the child is their family. In its efforts to bring the ICF framework to life, CanChild researchers wrote a whimsical paper about "The F-words for Child Development" (2) (see Figure 1), in which the "f-word" family is used to illustrate the "environmental factors" component of the ICF.

What are the implications of this interest in family? I believe that all our considerations of the health, development and wellbeing of children and youth need to be built around a set of values, namely: (i) an understanding of each specific family, with its strengths, resources and challenges; (ii) acceptance of each family's individuality and culture, within which, as service providers, we need to operate; and (iii) the importance of a working relationship with families based on a shared, mutually respectful partnership. The famous physician and educator Sir William Osler offered the opinion that: "The good physician treats the disease; the great physician treats the patient who has the disease." (3). In our field, one might rephrase this idea and state: "The good child health professional treats the family of the child who has the condition."

## How Can We Think About Our Work With Families?

In reflecting on how health professionals can work most effectively with families of children and youth with chronic conditions, we will explore both the *processes* by which we should engage with families, including consideration of the values that underpin our interactions, and the *content* and nature of our advice and counsel. Both the processes and content of our work with families continue to evolve, as will be outlined briefly in the respective sections of this paper.

## WHAT DO WE MEAN BY THE *PROCESSES* OF WORKING WITH FAMILIES OF CHILDREN AND YOUTH?

## **Family-Centered Service**

The concept of "family-centered care" emerged in the US in the 1960s, promoted by parents of children who required hospitalization, and whose engagement with their child's care in hospital was very limited. In fact, in the later 1960s when I trained at a major children's hospital, there were *visiting hours for parents*! One hopes that in the twenty-first century this strange situation is a historical anomaly, and no longer a reality anywhere. What do we mean by the term "family-centered service" or FCS? (We prefer the term "service" to "care," as professionals are "service providers.") We see FCS as "... a set of values, attitudes and approaches to service for children with special needs and their families. The family works together with service providers to make informed decisions about the services and supports the child and family receive. In FCS, the strengths and needs of all family members are considered." (4) FCS is built on three premises: (i) parents/caregivers are the experts on their child's needs and abilities; (ii) each family is unique; and (iii) the family is the constant in the child's life.

## How Does FCS Work? How Do We Do It?

If one accepts the premises outlined above, it becomes apparent that we need to work in a mutually respectful partnership with families. As the world's experts on their child (they know them best), parents/caregivers must be involved in decision-making about issues that concern their child and family, and should have ultimate responsibility for the care of their children. The uniqueness and individuality of every family means that we cannot assume anything about their values or beliefs based on ethnicity, religion, skin color or any other external characteristic. Rather, it is essential to understand their predicament as they experience it. A wise parent expressed this idea very clearly when she told me: "You have textbooks; we have story books!" (5). In other words, to provide the optimal services for children and their families we need each other's special insights-service providers' understanding of the clinical realities of diagnosis, prognosis, effective interventions for these conditions, and so on, and families' stated values, beliefs, hopes, expectations, resources, and so on.

## Yes, but What About...?

FCS concepts and practices have taken root in many settings, but there remain people who may be uncomfortable with the idea of FCS. They wonder whether we are now simply expected to do a family's bidding, regardless of our own judgment; or whether we have to wait for parents to decide that they want and need before we can act. They are asking, in effect, "Is the tail wagging the dog?" They also wonder whether FCS actually matters. There are good answers to both these concerns.

Needless to say, we need to understand families' requests and wishes, as a basis for discussion and shared problem-solving. This can happen when we build mutually respectful relationships with families, whereby everything can be discussed and addressed thoughtfully. Our perspectives and interpretations of parents' concerns can be the foundation for conversations about the deeper meaning of a parent's wishes, and possible approaches to address them. As an example, imagine a young child who cannot speak clearly, for whom the parent's main goal is for the child to talk. We can reframe the situation to help parents see that what they want is to understand what's on their child's mind—in which case alternate modes of communication may be an excellent approach while the child continues to develop speech (6).



Here is another strategy that can be effective: when parents are uncertain how best to proceed, we can lay out the range of approaches that other families in this predicament have considered. By providing families an understanding of their options, and listening carefully to their questions, we may be able to "precipitate" a course of action for them based on what they ask us, and on their ideas. Using their words, we may be able to say "It sounds to me like following course of action would make most sense to you at this point." For example, parents may be uncertain as to whether their child with toewalking associated with spasticity in calf muscles should have any intervention, and if so, might this be a brace or botulinum toxin injections? Parents seeking long-term changes may find the bracing option more palatable than repeated injections, whereas parents wanting to know if changes in muscle activity improve gait are more likely to opt for a trial of botulinum toxin. This approach has, on many occasions, helped me in my work with families-an example of how we can help them help us help them!

Another less appreciated aspect of being interested in families is to understand what the grandparents know and think (7, 8). We most often meet "parents"—the people who bring their children to us with their concerns. We can forget that most (young) parents have their own living parents—and are therefore also someone's "child!" The people we are seeing as parents are thus living in a "generational sandwich," and their parents may "suffer twice"—for their grandchild and for their (adult) child's predicament. This reality opens up opportunities for us to ask about and try to understand the roles and influences of grandparents in the lives of the parents and children with whom we are working. Offering parents the opportunity to invite the grandparents to attend clinic visits with them is a powerful and very rewarding way to be family-centered.

It is a statement of the obvious that grandparents are a generation older that their (adult) children. Thus, their perspectives, beliefs, and attitudes about disability may be dated relative to, for example, current ICF-based thinking. Being able both to hear and explore their questions and fears, and share ideas such as those offered here, enables them to at least consider their views in light of concepts and evidence that they otherwise had no reason to know. Although I have never explored this approach systematically, I have done this scores of times and recall these experiences clearly as among the most memorable of my clinical career (I will add that many parents, when offered this opportunity to engage their parents, are convinced that the grandparents will not be interested only to have the grandparents seize the opportunity and engage actively.)

We have argued that "Parenting is a dance led by the everchanging child" (9). I believe that this metaphor also applies to our relationships with families. Parents develop and change, become better informed with time and experience, and see their changing child's abilities and needs emerging. When we have been able to create relationships that are built on trust, respect and confidence in each other, each of us can help the other succeed in our shared "dance" toward goals for their child and family.

## Yes, but Does FCS Matter?...

As for the value of FCS to families, there is good evidence of important relationships between parents' reports of their experiences of FCS, using validated tools created with parents for parents (10) and parents' reports of their satisfaction with services, their mental health, and the stress they experience in working with us (11).

In summary, FCS can be learned and practiced, and it does make a difference to parents and families. FCS does "work" (12).

## IN WHAT WAYS DOES THE CONTENT OF OUR ADVICE MATTER TO PARENTS AND FAMILIES?

### What Do They Know Already?

It is important to remember that as specialist service providers we rarely if ever are a family's first-contact experience. That means that it is essential to understand what families "know" already. It is on that foundation of facts, beliefs, information, misconceptions, expectations and values that we will build our relationships with families, as outlined above, and add our advice and ideas to the mix of what is already "there."

After introductions, and my routine opening question to all parents—"What do you want to boast about concerning your child?"—we need to understand what they have been told. An open-ended question such as "Tell me about your child" or "Tell me how I can be helpful?" allows parents to tell their story in their own words before we bombard them with questions. We want to listen for and learn: Has there been a diagnosis given? What was the tone of the conversations that preceded the referral to us? What have parents been told we (service providers) can/will do? An additional good way to find out both what parents are focusing on and what they have learned is to ask what websites they have explored.

I am especially interested in the idea of what I call the "catalog of doom"—the long list of things that parents have been told their child will *not* be able to do. Conversations with families in which people present a bleak outlook can be devastating to the parents, and are often ill-informed. They may be offered with good intentions, because of a belief that preparing people for the worse is appropriate. My own approach to this "catalog" catastrophizing is to remind parents of three ideas: first, we are rarely as accurate at predicting as we would wish to be; second, children are constantly changing and developing, so an early effort to understand the "story" and its outcome should be avoided, because the plot will continue to unfold; and third, I tell parents that the children rarely "listen" to

these bleak prognostications, and often achieve much more than was originally predicted! [A thoughtful exploration of this complex issue of communicating "bad news" is offered by Siegler (13).]

## What Are We Offering in Our Counseling and Advice?

Building on the details that parents have reported in our initial conversations described above, and the specific questions they have for us, we need to address their issues as clearly, specifically, and honestly as possible. Parents may have been told that our services will offer "therapies," with a more or less explicit implication that these will fix their child's issues. Parents have often read about specific therapies-be they chemical (e.g., botulinum toxin injections), physical (e.g., physical, occupational, and speech-language therapies), technical (e.g., bracing or special Velcro outfits), electronic (e.g., muscle stimulation treatment), etc.-that are reported to be exactly what their child needs. Some of this advice may be relevant to their situation, while other elements may reflect advertisements for what are often referred to as "complementary and alternative therapies" of uncertain value (14, 15). At the same time, if we are honest, we have to acknowledge that much of our accepted conventional intervention is also of uncertain value much of the time.

The reality is that we almost always recommend "programs" of intervention with a mix of ideas and advice, and rarely offer just individual "treatments." This is because we are trying to promote functioning and development, and not simply to address a specific impairment as one might do in rehabilitating and strengthening weakened thigh muscles after a broken leg.

## What Can We Do Differently?

For these reasons, I believe that we should provide both a context for, and an interpretation of, parents' concerns, and offer a modern view of our thinking. With colleagues in Australia, our CanChild team is involved in a research study to assess the impact of the introduction of a specific programmatic set of ideas we believe are important for parents. These five interactive workshops present (i) WHO's ICF ideas about health and the F-words framework; (ii) Ideas about child, family and sibling development; (iii) "Parenting is a dance led by the child;" (iv) Strategies for looking after myself; and (v) Communicating, collaborating and connection with others (about our child and family). It is hoped that what one parent has called "early intervention for parents" will positively influence their approach to their child and family's development and functioning (16).

The ideas we are promoting are built around the F-words concepts described earlier in this paper. We want to encourage parents to take a *strengths-based approach* to child and family *development*; to help families understand that while we cannot "fix" developmental impairments we can *promote functioning*— however it is done—and enable parents to see their children as *having capability* even in the face of impairments. It is essential to *recognize the enormous diversity in human functioning*, and to move away from the tyranny of "normal" and *celebrate* 

*achievement, however it is accomplished.* Finally, we encourage people to take a *life-course approach* to their predicaments, based on their ever-changing child (and family) and the continuing evidence of what they can do if given the opportunities.

We are offering these ideas to parents in an effort to help them "reset" their thinking about themselves, their child, their control over their lives. Understanding the concepts of *capacity* and *performance* can be useful, reminding parents that what we do at our best (*capacity*) is not always how we *perform* on a day to day basis. This idea can be important if it allows parents, and us, to explore the factors associated with the gap between capacity and performance, and to recognize opportunities—often with environmental interventions, but also perhaps with counseling to minimize this gap and maximize performance.

## That All Sounds Lovely in Theory, but...

Our work to promote understanding and uptake of the F-words for Child Development is enabling us to acquire a considerable body of evidence of the currency and power of these ideas around the world. For many parents, these ideas are transformative. I can do no better than to end this essay with the words of parents and colleagues, whose anecdotes and testimonials speak volumes about how the *content* of our ideas has impacted them and their families.

"Thank you for making [a podcast about an editorial (6)] as this came in perfect timing for our family. X... (child with CP) is working on potty training by herself and the other day (we didn't know she was in the bathroom) she had a BM and tried to clean herself, but obviously it was messy and got all over the toilet. I had to take a deep breath because I wanted to yell at her for the mess, but then you popped into my mind. At one of our check-ups with you, a long time ago, you had said you cared about function rather than it being perfect. So instead of yelling at her I applauded her for the great try and that we would work on getting better." (A parent, May 2021)

"Today in clinic I saw a child (who has CP and is functioning at a GMFCS V)—whose mother attended CP-NET Science and Family Day last Wednesday. She reported to me that her entire approach

## REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). (2001). Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Rosenbaum PL. Gorter JW. The "F-Words" in childhood disability: i swear this is how we should think! *Child Care Health Dev.* (2012) 38:457– 63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01338.x
- 3. Robb-Smith AHT. Osler's changing influence. J R Coll Physicians Lond. (1993) 27:456–64.
- Rosenbaum P, King S, Law M, King G, Evans J. Family-centred services: a conceptual framework and research review. *Phys Occup Ther Ped.* (1998) 18:1–20. doi: 10.1080/J006v18n01\_01
- Rosenbaum P. "You have textbooks; we have story books." Disability as perceived by professionals and parents. *Editorial Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2021) 62:660. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14491
- Rosenbaum P. To enhance function, promote children's development. Dev Med Child Neurol. (2021) 628:14838. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14838
- 7. Rosenbaum P. Developmental disability: shouldn't grandparents have a place at the table? *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2016) 58:528. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13125

to raising her son has shifted from one of 'fixing' to embracing the *F*-words and a wellness approach. She came to clinic with her goals related to the *F* words all worked out and felt very empowered! I couldn't be more pleased." (From a colleague, May 2017)

"Today I saw a 6-year-old girl with CP GMFCS V, refugee from XXX via YYY, parents tried Stem cell therapy in ZZZ and came here (Canada) with hopes to help her. We had a long consult with a whole team of therapists, social work, resident and myself... trying to answer all the questions they had. I tried to explain what we understand by a functional approach and what the purpose of therapy is and that the exact etiology (nyd) probably won't change this approach. At the end, I showed them the F-words poster in Arabic, they read carefully, asked if these words are meant to be the child speaking and I confirmed. The mom commented under tears "this is beautiful, that's what I wish for my daughter." (From a colleague, July 2019)

In summary, our work with families of children and youth with long-term challenges of health or development can be incredibly rewarding and productive. The ICF's biopsychosocial framework for health, and the F-words ideas that bring these concepts to life for parents and families, provide a common language and approach for families and service providers to connect and share ideas. The f-word "family" reminds people that the nuclear environment of the child is potentially the most important of all, and demands attention from us regarding what we do and how we do it. By working as a team, in partnership with parents (and with children whenever possible), we can formulate shared goals, strive to empower families and young people to achieve their goals however they do so, and live lives that are rich and successful in their own terms. What we say and do, and how we do it, are under our control. I hope this paper has provided some evidence to support this assertion.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

- Novak-Pavlic M, Abdel Malek S, Rosenbaum P, Macedo LG, Di Rezze B. A scoping review of the literature on grandparents of children with disabilities. *Disab Rehab.* (2021) 2020:1–15. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1857850
- Rosenbaum PD. Google versus the health practitioner: can we still deliver? Editorial Dev Med Child Neurol. (2018) 60:530. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13710
- King G, Law M, King S, Rosenbaum P. Parents' and service providers' perceptions of the family-centredness of children's rehabilitation services in Ontario. *Phys Occup Ther Ped.* (1998) 18:21–40. doi: 10.1080/J006v18n01\_02
- King G, King S, Rosenbaum P, Goffin R. Family-centred caregiving and wellbeing of parents of children with disabilities: linking process with outcome. J Ped Psychol. (1999) 24:41–52. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/24.1.41
- King S, Teplicky R, King G, Rosenbaum P. Family-centred service: does it make difference for children with cerebral palsy or other disabilities? *Sem Ped Neurol.* (2004) 11:78–86. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2004.01.009
- Siegler M. Pascal's wager and the hanging of crepe. N Engl J Med. (1975) 293:853–7. doi: 10.1056/NEJM197510232931705
- Rosenbaum P, Stewart D. Alternative and complementary therapies for children and youth with disabilities. *Infants Young Child.* (2002) 15:51– 9. doi: 10.1097/00001163-200207000-00008

- Rosenbaum P. Complementary and alternative therapies: what are our responsibilities? *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2019) 61:1352. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14340
- Rosenbaum PL, Novak-Pavlic M, Akhbari Ziegler S, Hadders-Algra M. Role of the family. In: Hadders-Algra M, editor. *Early Detection and Early Intervention in Developmental Motor Disorders – From Neuroscience to Participation in Daily Life*. London: Mac Keith Press (2021). p. 173–84.

**Conflict of Interest:** The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor declared a past co-authorship with the author.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Rosenbaum. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Reconceptualizing the Family to Improve Inclusion in Childhood Disability Research and Practice

Michelle Phoenix<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Meaghan Reitzel<sup>1,2</sup>, Rachel Martens<sup>1</sup> and Jeanine Lebsack<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup> CanChild, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Health Sciences, School of Rehabilitation Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Bloorview Research Institute, Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital, Toronto, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> IWK Strongest Families Research Institute, Halifax, NS, Canada

The World Health Organization's International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health recognizes that environmental factors impact well-being and life participation for children with disabilities. A primary environment in which children grow and learn is the family. The importance of family has long been recognized in family-centered practice and family-centered research. Although family-centered services and research have been critically explored, the concept of family has received less critical attention in rehabilitation literature. The family construct is due for an updated conceptualization with careful consideration of the implications for childhood disability rehabilitation practice and research. Interrogating the family construct asks questions such as: who is included as a part of the family? Which family structures are prioritized and valued? What is the potential harm when some families are ignored or underrepresented in childhood disability practice and research? What implications could a modern rethinking of the concept of family have on the future of childhood rehabilitation practice and research? This perspective article raises these critical questions from the authors' perspectives as parents of children with disabilities, child focused rehabilitation professionals, and researchers that focus on service delivery in children's rehabilitation and family engagement in research. A critical reflection is presented, focused on how the construct of family affects children's rehabilitation practice and research, integrating concepts of equity, inclusion and human rights. Practical suggestions for children's rehabilitation service providers and researchers are provided to aid in inclusive practices, critical reflection, and advocacy.

## OPEN ACCESS

## Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Björn Enno Hermans, Medical School Hamburg, Germany Patricia Welch Saleeby, Bradley University, United States

> \***Correspondence:** Michelle Phoenix phoenimp@mcmaster.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

Received: 16 May 2021 Accepted: 16 August 2021 Published: 10 September 2021

#### Citation:

Phoenix M, Reitzel M, Martens R and Lebsack J (2021) Reconceptualizing the Family to Improve Inclusion in Childhood Disability Research and Practice. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:710580. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.710580 Keywords: family, childhood disability, rehabilitation, family-centered services, inclusion, family systems theory

## **INTRODUCTION**

As parents (JL, RM), practitioners (MP, MR), and researchers (MP, MR) we acknowledge that children grow and develop in the context of their family. Family is the most immediate and powerful influence on a child's formative years that affects their lifelong trajectory (1). As such we focus on the family as a part of care and generally recognize family-centered service as a preferred framework to guide service delivery for children with disabilities (2). Family-centered services have been described as a philosophy and framework that recognizes families as the constant in a child's life, values parents' knowledge of their child, and their partnership in services (3). Despite the widespread adoption of family-centered service there are reported challenges with implementation, such as difficulties collaborating between parents and service providers (4) and a lack of services

that focus on the well-being of the whole family (5). The language used to refer to family caregivers is complex reflecting the informal and typically unpaid role that many family members assume when caring for someone with a disability (6). The concept of family-centered services has been critically examined, recognizing the tension between the family's therapy preferences, cultural norms and expectations, and competing organizational considerations such as service delivery models and funding (7).

Similar to family-centered services, family-centered research has been proposed as a form of patient-oriented research that prioritizes families' interests and perspectives (8). In familycentered research an equal partnership can be created that invites families to engage throughout the research process and share their ideas and critiques in informing the study design, conduct, and knowledge sharing (8). The concept of patient-oriented research has drawn critical attention, raising questions of how to engage patients authentically (9), how to compensate patients (10), how to engage families that are underrepresented in research (11) and regarding the methods that may be used to promote reflexivity throughout the collaborative research processes (12). The conceptual theory underlying patient engagement in health settings and what it means to include 'the patient voice' has been critically explored (13). Raising these questions has helped to advance practices in this area, generating recommendations that guide researchers to examine and inform their practices to improve quality and inclusivity in research.

While family-centered service and family-centered research have been critically examined, the underlying concept of family has yet to undergo formal critical scrutiny as applied in childhood disability research and practice. Traditionally childhood disability scholars and practitioners focused on the child and their health condition in isolation (14). However, application of a biopsychosocial model in the World Health Organization's International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) shifted thinking to a contextual view of the child, recognizing that children's function is impacted by both children's health conditions and their social environments (e.g., families, communities) (15). Sociologists and psychologists have a history of studying the family unit in which family systems theory, social ecological models, and structural-functional theories were used to examine the interdependence of family member identities, roles, and functions (14). These micro and macrolevel theories account for how family members construct their individual and family identities as situated within their culture.

Traditionally, the nuclear family structure that represents white heterosexual norms and values was viewed as the typical or even ideal family, including a married mother and father residing with their unmarried biological children (14). Overtime, cultural and legal norms have expanded to recognize other family structures that include adoptive families, divorced families, and step-parent relationships (16). In some cultures, multigenerational families are recognized, with grandparents holding prominent roles in the child's care and home responsibilities (14). There continues to be controversy over whether lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender (LGBT) couples are recognized by law and allowed to marry, and these families may face additional prejudice and judgement in their communities (17). Little is known about the experiences of LGBT parents who are raising children with disabilities (11, 14). Clinical practice and research with foster-families are complicated by informal kinship arrangements, formalized kinship, or non-kinship foster family status (18). There are family structures that are rarely included in research, such as polyamorous and polygamous families that may face negative judgement and marginalization when seeking health care for their families (17, 19).

It has been said that "it takes a village" to raise a child and this may be especially true for children with disabilities and their families; however "the village" is typically unrecognized in rehabilitation services and research (20). A family's culture and ethnicity may shape "their village" to include cousins, aunts, uncles, grandparents and non-relative members, such as Godparents and these roles may reflect culturally formed expectations regarding financial support, caregiving, and provision of advice (14, 17, 21). People with disabilities (22) and parents of children with disabilities (21) have also included friends and peer support networks in "their village." These individuals contribute to their well-being, due to an empathetic understanding of peoples' needs, and the availability and willingness to provide physical, emotional, spiritual care, or guidance (21, 22). Despite the high value placed on these relationships and their potentially transactional nature, friendships are not legally recognized with the same rights as family relationships (22).

Family Systems Theory is applied in this article to conceptualize family as:

- i) a system of individuals that are bonded together through their co-constructed identity as family members,
- ii) people with roles and functions that tie members to one another and influence individual and collective family outcomes,
- iii) the sharing of a social location in a broader environment that(a) shapes families' identity and (b) allows families to shape the culture in which they are embedded.

This article provides a critical reflection on how the conceptualization of family affects rehabilitation practice and research for children with disabilities and their families. The parents on our authorship team (RM, JL) initiated conversation with the researchers (MP, MR) to raise concerns about how family is defined in the childhood disability research and care contexts. They described the high demands placed on mothers, devaluing of non-related family members in their social support networks, and the need to consider research and policy implications (e.g., who is counted on research demographic forms and who qualifies for respite care). We advanced these ideas and generated recommendations through iterative discussions and draft revisions that integrated theoretical concepts and literature with examples from parents', practitioners', and researchers' lived experience.

## HOW DOES THE CONCEPTUALIZATION OF FAMILY AFFECT CHILDREN'S REHABILITATION PRACTICE?

The definition of family used in a clinical setting has major implications for service delivery. At the outset of service, legal guardians, or parents need to consent to a referral, assessment or therapy plan (23, 24). They often provide insight on goals for the child and take responsibility for the implementation of home programs. Parents typically have the right to access information about the child's therapy and progress, for example through the receipt of written or verbal reports from service providers or electronic health records (24). One family member is often called upon to share their child's therapy information with other people who are involved in the child's life, for example their partner, daycare providers, grandparents, or other professionals (25). Often tasks such as providing consent, setting goals, sharing information, and implementing home programs are taken up by the parent who attends therapy, even in dual parent families (25, 26). The heightened demands placed on a parent in single parent families or families that co-parent when only one parent attends therapy have been reported and should be considered when developing a service plan with parents (26).

## How Can We Create Clinical Environments That Are Inclusive of Diverse Family Structures?

- 1. At the point of intake ask open ended questions to determine how the family members view their family. For example, "Would you mind telling me about your family?" This may provide insightful information about the adults in the child's life, siblings, step-family members, and living situation. Use these insights when completing contact information forms and case history questions.
- 2. Consider sharing your pronouns to signify that clients and family members are invited to do the same. Consistently use the pronouns that people tell you they identify with when you interact with family members and in clinical reporting. Use gender inclusive language when referring to family members, for example, "does your partner also work during the day, what is their phone number?"
- 3. Ask families about who they would like to be a part of their therapy and how they would like to communicate with you. For example, a grandparent may work with you because the child is cared for by the grandparents during the day. Can that be accommodated? Would parents like for you to send them progress updates directly or via the grandparents?
- 4. Use available literature and conversation with clients to reflect on your own biases and heighten your understanding of the care experiences for people whose family structures do not match dominant cultural ideas of family. For example, would individual therapy be more comfortable for a transgender parent than a group program where they may fear and experience judgement from other families?

## What Are the Potential Risks When a Nuclear Family Structure Is Reinforced in Existing Rehabilitation Practices?

If children's rehabilitation service providers do not think critically about how diverse family construction affects their practice, we risk reinforcing existing stereotypes and barriers to service use. Families may feel unwelcome and avoid or delay service use. This may lead to missed opportunities to provide early intervention for children with a cascade of negative outcomes (e.g., missed diagnosis, delayed therapy). In assessment, a holistic understanding of the child's skills, needs, and goals may be lacking if only one parent provides information and other people who are close to the child are not invited to participate. In therapy, service providers who do not discuss family member roles may make erroneous assumptions about the resources and supports that are available to facilitate therapy participation (e.g., bringing children to appointments or doing home practice). Often the burden for sharing information about therapy progress and plans is carried by the adult who attends sessions. A fulsome understanding of who is regarded as family and obtaining necessary consents may allow the service provider to directly share relevant information with each individual. This would reduce the responsibilities for the adult who attends appointments and potentially avoid conflict when sensitive information or recommendations need to be communicated (e.g., a diagnosis).

## HOW DOES THE CONCEPTUALIZATION OF FAMILY AFFECT CHILDREN'S REHABILITATION RESEARCH?

The conceptual definition of "family" affects who is recruited, the data collected, and the findings produced in family focused research (16). This is particularly true for families that do not fit traditionally recognized structures, such as, families created through surrogacy or adoption, divorced or blended families, LGBT families, polygamous families, or multigenerational families (16, 17). Researchers who focus solely on the nuclear family may miss opportunities to understand and appreciate broader conceptualization of families that also includes social support networks (e.g., religious communities) and kin who may be relatives or non-relatives (14, 16, 21).

When designing a study protocol, developing inclusionexclusion criteria, and creating recruitment materials it is necessary to carefully consider the desired sample and to justify the accompanying methodological choices (e.g., sampling strategy, recruitment terminology, venues, and processes). These decisions have tangible implications for the research completed and the potential application of findings. For example, stress and coping in families of children with disabilities are frequently studied, however close examination of this literature demonstrates that it is typically mothers' stress and coping that are documented, with few studies on siblings, grandparents, or fathers (20, 27). When family researchers attempt to include diverse members, such as stepparents, they may face barriers due the stigma associated with particular labels or a presumption that general labels (e.g., sibling) do not include step-siblings or half-siblings (16). In polygamous families, individuals may use invented language, such as "tribal aunt" to signify belonging, and these terms may be unknown and underutilized by researchers (17). By intentionally or unintentionally excluding the people who consider themselves to be family members of a child with a disability, we are missing opportunities to generate data that would inform our understanding of their perspectives and to inform clinical practices.

Research rarely examines the experience of children with disabilities who are raised by parents who are LGBT (11, 17) and siblings and grandparents are often overlooked in the literature. Siblings can be highly involved in therapy and may assume care responsibilities as adults, however research focuses more on parents therapy involvement (28). Research about grandparents of children with disabilities has increased over the past decade, revealing heterogeneity in grandparents' acceptance of the disability, frequent worries for family, high levels of support, and family cohesiveness (29). A paucity of research may reinforce exclusion, under representation and stigma for diverse families, for example families who have undergone divorce or remarriage (16) or polygamous families (17).

Data analysis provides researchers with an opportunity to critique their assumptions, for example are you comparing the family experiences and outcomes to a presumed ideal or normative family type? Are you applying a deficit-based lens to problematize unfamiliar family experiences and could this be reframed from a strengths-based position? For example, research on polygamous families indicates that these families may have challenges and fears about disclosing their relationships to their children and about child custody. However, research also notes the benefits of collaborative parenting in polygamous communities such as, shared resources and increased adults to spend time with the children (17). Engaging members of the community when creating your research question and during data analysis may help to ensure that these strengths-based questions and interpretations are not overlooked (11).

## How Can We Create Research That Is Inclusive of Diverse Family Structures?

- 1. When designing a study, carefully justify your participant selection criteria and choose language that matches the language used in your target communities. This may require collaboration or pilot testing of your recruitment materials with members of the chosen community.
- 2. If your research is about families of children with disabilities consider whether your question is inclusive to all family members (e.g., siblings, grandparents) and family structures (e.g., kinship communities, co-parents who do not live together) and justify your decisions. Check whether your data collection forms (e.g., demographic questions) and survey or interview questions allow all family members to contribute data and be included (e.g., how are gender questions worded)?
- 3. Embed critical reflexivity into your research to interrogate your own position and beliefs and the potential impact on your research. When it is appropriate invite collaboration and

critical questioning from people who have a family experience that is different from your own.

# What Are the Potential Risks When a Nuclear Family Structure Guides the Research?

If researchers do not embrace a holistic definition of family that is inclusive of the people recognized as family in the lives of children with disabilities, there is a risk of excluding people from research and reinforcing a narrow understanding of family life. This limited evidence-base will make it challenging to draw from the study findings for use in clinical practice with individuals beyond the client and their mother and father. There will be missed opportunities to understand and reinforce the value and strength in diverse families.

## DISCUSSION

The discussion and recommendations presented thus far were intended to support children's rehabilitation service providers and researchers to (i) develop inclusive practices and (ii) consider the potential risks of maintaining focus on the nuclear family. While we hope that these strategies may be taken up to improve research and practice at the individual level, we recognize that collective advocacy is needed to promote widespread acceptance of diverse families of children with disabilities.

The WHO-ICF highlights three environmental factors that are relevant to this discussion of family: support and relationships, attitudes, and services, systems, and policies (30). Under supports and relationships there is clear evidence to promote the inclusion of families in service delivery and research; however, advocacy may be needed to expand consideration of "who counts" as a family member. For example, do regulatory bodies and privacy guidelines allow grandparents who hold informal guardianship roles to consent to therapy on behalf of a child who resides with them, even if parents hold legal custody? Our clinical experiences as Speech-Language Pathologists and Occupational Therapists in Ontario, Canada suggest that parental consent is required for all treatment decisions, unless legal guardianship has been transferred. Perhaps advocacy is needed to allow flexibility in these circumstances, such that parents could provide a blanket consent allowing grandparents to make therapy related decisions. In research, manuscript reporting guidelines may request that authors justify the congruency between their research question and sample. For example, if your question is about well-being in parents of children with disabilities were both mothers and fathers recruited? If it was about family well-being, were siblings, grandparents or other family members included? Grant priority funding may be allocated for groups that are often excluded in childhood disability family research, e.g., informal kinship or friendship networks, LGBT parents, polyamorous and polygamous families.

Attitudinal environmental barriers to functioning indicate that children with disabilities and their families are likely to experience disability related stigma and this experience may be heightened for families who hold other identities that are devalued in society (e.g., LGBT parents, families with low socioeconomic status, and racial or ethnic minority families) (14). Implicit bias training for children's rehabilitation service providers and researchers may help people to increase awareness of their own biases about families and to mitigate the potential for negative consequences in client care (31) and research conduct (e.g., how questions are framed and data is interpreted).

Service providers and researchers have a critical role to play in advocating for health services, systems, and policies that promote the inclusion, functioning and well-being of children with disabilities and their families (32). At the broadest level, we should align with Article 5 of the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (CRC), which recognizes that the following people have a duty help children to exercise their own rights over time "... parents or, where applicable, the members of extended family or community as provided for by local custom, legal guardians or other persons legally responsible..." (33) and Article 2, which protects children from discrimination, including that which stems from their parent's or guardian's sex, ethnic or social origin, political or other opinion (33). The WHO-ICF personal factors may aid researchers and service providers in identifying aspects of the individual's background (e.g., age, race, gender) that may interact with a health condition and environment to impact function and participation in everyday life (34). These applications of the CRC and ICF may support service providers' and researchers' efforts to critically examine the identity of clients and families and equitably support their inclusion in services and research.

We recommend that future research be conducted with families, clinicians and researchers to: (i) understand how they conceptualize family, (ii) identify biases in how families experience inclusion in care and research, (iii) promote critical reflection in practice and research, and (iv) advance inclusive practices with diverse families in clinical care and research. To honor the CRC and enact family-centered care and research the

## REFERENCES

- Ketelaar M, Bogossian A, Saini M, Visser-Meily A, Lach L. Assessment of the family environment in pediatric neurodisability: a state-of-the-art review. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2017) 59:259–69. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13287
- Kuhlthau KA, Bloom S, Van Cleave J, Knapp A, Romm D, Klatka K, et al. Evidence for family-centered care for children with special health care needs: a systematic review. *Acad Pediatr.* (2011) 11:136–43. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2010.12.014
- Rosenbaum P, King S, Law M, King G, Evans J. Family-centred service : a conceptual framework and research review. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (1998) 86:1–20. doi: 10.1080/J006v18n01\_01
- An M, Palisano RJ. Family-professional collaboration in pediatric rehabilitation: a practice model. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2014) 36:434– 40. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2013.797510
- King G, Williams L, Hahn Goldberg S. Family-oriented services in pediatric rehabilitation: a scoping review and framework to promote parent and family wellness. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2017) 43:334–47. doi: 10.1111/cch.12435
- Stall NM, Campbell A, Reddy M, Rochon PA. Words matter: the language of family caregiving. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2019) 67:2008–10. doi: 10.1111/jgs.15988
- Phoenix M, Vanderkaay S. Client-centred occupational therapy with children: a critical perspective. *Scand J Occup Ther.* (2015) 22:318– 21. doi: 10.3109/11038128.2015.1011690

ICF personal and environmental factors can be usefully applied to critically examine our conceptualization of children and their families and advocate for full inclusion in rehabilitation services, research, and society.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study reflect the personal experiences and reflections of the authors, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MP was primarily responsible for writing this article. The ideas presented were developed by all authors from their combination of lived experience as parents of children with disabilities, clinical experience in children's rehabilitation, and academic research. All authors have had an opportunity to review, revise, and approve the article. Authors share responsibility for the information presented in this article.

## FUNDING

The authors are grateful for the Rowe Scholarship that supports the PhD work of MR and funding from The Hallman Foundation that supports the research of MP.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful for the opportunities that CanChild provides in which partners such as families, clinicians and researchers can collaborate and for their commitment to familycentered services and research. We appreciate the early feedback on our conceptual ideas and the sharing of resources kindly provided by Dr. Barbara Gibson.

- Rosenbaum P. Family-centred research: what does it mean and can we do it? *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2011) 53:99– 100. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.2010.03871.x
- Black A, Strain K, Wallsworth C, Charlton SG, Chang W, McNamee K, et al. What constitutes meaningful engagement for patients and families as partners on research teams? *J Health Serv Res Policy*. (2018) 23:158– 67. doi: 10.1177/1355819618762960
- Canadian Institutes of Health Research. Considerations When Paying Patient Partners in Research (2019). Available online at: https://cihr-irsc.gc.ca/e/ 51466.html (accessed May 15, 2021).
- Gonzalez M, Phoenix M, Saxena S, Cardoso R, Canac-Marquis M, Hales L, et al. Strategies used to engage hard-to-reach populations in childhood disability research: a scoping review. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2020). doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1717649. [Epub ahead of print].
- Moll S, Wyndham-West M, Mulvale G, Park S, Buettgen A, Phoenix M, et al. Are you really doing 'Codesign'? Critical reflections when working with vulnerable populations. *BMJ Open.* (2020):11:e038339. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-0 38339
- Rowland P, McMillan S, McGillicuddy P, Richards J. What is "the Patient Perspective" in patient engagement programs? Implicit logics and parallels to feminist theories. *Health*. (2017) 21:1. doi: 10.1177/13634593166 44494
- Seligman M, Darling RB. Ordinary Families, Special Children, Third Edition: A Systems Approach to Childhood Disability. New York, NY: Guilford Publications (2007).
- World Health Organization. Towards a Common Language for Functioning, Disability and Health ICF. (2002). Available online at: http://www.who.int/ classifications/icf/training/icfbeginnersguide.pdf (accessed May 15, 2021).
- Sanner C, Ganong L, Coleman M. families are socially constructed: pragmatic implications for researchers. J Family Issues. (2020) 42:422– 44. doi: 10.1177/0192513X20905334
- 17. Goldberg AE, Allen KR, editors. *LGBT-Parent Families Innovations in Research and Implications for Practice*. New York, NY: Springer (2013).
- Berrick JD, Barth RP, Needell B. A comparison of kinship foster homes and foster family homes: implications for kinship foster care as family preservation. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (1994) 16:33–63. doi: 10.1016/0190-7409(94)90015-9
- Arseneau E, Landry S, Darling EK. The polyamorous childbearing and birth experiences study (polybabes): a qualitative study of the health care experiences of polyamorous families during pregnancy and birth. CMAJ. (2019):191:E1120-7. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.190224
- Byrns E. "It Takes a Village": factors related to coping in families raising children with disabilities. U Sask Undergrad Res J. (2021) 7:1. doi: 10.32396/usurj.v7i1.414
- Jacobs L, Lawlor M, Mattingly C. I/we narratives among African American families raising children with special needs. *Cult Med Psychiatry*. (2011) 35:3–25. doi: 10.1007/s11013-010-9196-5
- 22. Besner L. Friendship is magic. But is it legally protected? In the postpandemic world, we need a clearer answer. *Globe Mail.* (2021). Available online at: https://www.theglobeandmail.com/opinion/article-friendship-is-magic-but-is-it-legally-protected-in-the-postpandemic/
- 23. College of Occupational Therapists of Ontario. *Standa rds for Consent.* Toronto, ON: College of Occupational Therapists of Ontario (2017).
- 24. Information and Privacy Commssioner/Ontario. A Guide to the Personal Health Information Protection Act. Toronto, ON: Information and Privacy Commissioner (2004).
- Phoenix M, Jack SM, Rosenbaum PL, Missiuna C. A grounded theory of parents' attendance, participation and engagement in children's developmental rehabilitation services: part 2 the journey to child health and happiness. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2020) 42:2151–60. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1555618
- Phoenix M, Jack SM, Rosenbaum PL, Missiuna C. Parents' attendance, participation and engagement in children's developmental rehabilitation services: part 1. contextualizing the journey to child health and happiness. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2020) 42:2141–50. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1555617
- 27. Bogossian A, King G, Lach LM, Currie M, Nicholas D, McNeill T, et al. (Unpacking) Father involvement in the context of childhood

neurodisability research: a scoping review. Disabil Rehabil. (2019) 41:110-24. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2017.1370497

- Lynam A, Smith MM. Sibling involvement in interventions for children with a disability: a systematic review. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2021). doi: 10.1080/09638288.2021.1913247. [Epub ahead of print].
- Novak-Pavlic M, Abdel Malek S, Rosenbaum P, Macedo LG, Di Rezze B. A scoping review of the literature on grandparents of children with disabilities. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2021). doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1857850. [Epub ahead of print].
- Schneidert M, Hurst R, Miller J, Ustun B. The role of environment in the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF). *Disabil Rehabil.* (2003) 25:588–95. doi: 10.1080/0963828031000137090
- Sukhera J, Watling C. A framework for integrating implicit bias recognition into health professions education. *Acad Med.* (2018) 93:35–40. doi: 10.1097/ACM.00000000001819
- Donaldson AL, Chabon S, Lee-Wilkerson D, Kapantzoglou M. Mirror, mirror on the wall: reflections on speech-language pathologists' image as advocates, activists, and aides. *Psychol Schools*. (2017) 54:1285–93. doi: 10.1002/pits.22083
- UNICEF. Convention on the Rights of the Child. (1990). Available online at: https://www.unicef.org/child-rights-convention (accessed May 15, 2021).
- 34. Geyh S, Peter C, Müller R, Bickenbach JE, Kostanjsek N, Ustün BT, et al. The personal factors of the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health in the literature - a systematic review and content analysis. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2011) 33:1089–102. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010.5 23104

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Phoenix, Reitzel, Martens and Lebsack. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Critically Examining the Person–Environment Relationship and Implications of Intersectionality for Participation in Children's Rehabilitation Services

#### Meaghan Reitzel<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Lori Letts<sup>1</sup>, Briano Di Rezze<sup>1,2</sup> and Michelle Phoenix<sup>1,2,3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Rehabilitation Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Bloorview Research Institute, Toronto, ON, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Mats Granlund, Jönköping University, Sweden Beatrix Algurén, University of Gothenburg, Sweden

\*Correspondence:

Meaghan Reitzel reitzelm@mcmaster.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

Received: 14 May 2021 Accepted: 16 August 2021 Published: 14 September 2021

#### Citation:

Reitzel M, Letts L, Di Rezze B and Phoenix M (2021) Critically Examining the Person–Environment Relationship and Implications of Intersectionality for Participation in Children's Rehabilitation Services. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:709977. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.709977 Participation of children in rehabilitation services is associated with positive functional and developmental outcomes for children with disabilities. Participation in therapy is at risk when the personal and environmental contexts of a child create barriers to accessing services. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) provides a framework for conceptualizing the personal and environmental factors linked to a child. However, it does not facilitate critical examination of the person–environment relationship and its impact on participation in children's rehabilitation. This perspective study proposes the use of intersectionality theory as a critical framework in complement with the ICF to examine the impact of systemic inequities on the participation in therapy for children with disabilities. Clinicians are called to be critical allies working alongside children and families to advocate for inclusive participation in children's rehabilitation by identifying and transforming systemic inequities in service delivery.

Keywords: ICF, intersectionality theory, participation, personal factors, environmental factors, children's rehabilitation, childhood disability

# INTRODUCTION

The International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) holistically conceptualizes everyday functioning and disability across the interconnected domains of the following: body functions and structure, activity, and participation (1). The ICF defines participation as the "involvement in a life situation" (1, 2). Participation at home, school, and community has positive outcomes for child development and provides children the opportunity to develop skills required to support the transition into adulthood (3–6). Children with disabilities experience opportunity limitations and restrictions in participation when compared with their peers without disabilities (7–9). Given its association with improved developmental outcomes, understanding, measuring, and optimizing participation for children with disabilities is a common aim in children's rehabilitation (3, 6, 10–12). The ICF provides a common language to classify, understand, and study health and its related outcomes (1). Although the ICF can be used as a tool to raise awareness of necessary social change (1), it does not facilitate critical examination of how systemic health inequities are sustained by the uneven distribution of power and resources as well as

dominant social practices (13, 14). Application of a critical lens could enhance the potential of the ICF to advance social change through the critical examination of the personal and environmental factors that can impact participation and health outcomes.

For children with disabilities, participation in rehabilitation is linked with positive functional outcomes (15). Participation in children's rehabilitation can be described as the active involvement of children and parents in all aspects of the therapeutic process (16). Goals related to optimizing life participation for children with disabilities can be a focus of rehabilitation services (17, 18). Given the improved developmental and participation outcomes associated with participation in rehabilitation services, it is critical that families who chose to engage in children's rehabilitation have adequate access to services available to them. Of notable concern, is when a family experiences barriers to accessing rehabilitation services as a result of factors such as the age of a child, parental stress, and culture or socio-economic status (SES) (19, 20). Participation in therapy may be limited when personal and environmental factors create barriers to service use. For example, language barriers and navigating unfamiliar health systems have been identified by immigrant mothers as barriers to accessing available services for their child with a disability (21), which would have negative implications for participation in children's rehabilitation. At a health systems level, families who experience barriers (e.g., transportation, working hours of parent) to consistently attend appointments may be systematically excluded from participating in rehabilitation by policies, which result in families being discharged after missing a specified number of visits (22). The personal and environmental factors should be considered with respect to the societal influences and systemic inequities that may limit therapy participation for some children and families (23). Systemic inequities are defined as disparities in health outcomes as a result of the uneven distribution of power, goods, and services (24, 25). This perspective study describes how an intersectional lens can be applied to critically examine the potential impact of systemic inequities on participation in therapy for children with disabilities.

Grounded in a biopsychosocial model of disability, the ICF acknowledges the impact of environmental and personal contextual factors on the experiences of the participation of individuals (1, 2, 26, 27). In the ICF, the term environment is used broadly to represent the physical, social, attitudinal, and institutional context in which a person is situated (1, 2, 12, 28). The environment has been demonstrated to influence experiences of participation, with the potential to act both as a facilitator or barrier to participation for children with disabilities (6, 7, 28, 29). Parents of children with disabilities described features of the environment as making it harder for their children to participate in community-based activities (7), including participation in rehabilitation services. The potential influence of the social environment on participation was demonstrated in a systematic review examining the impact of family factors such as family structure, socio-demographic factors, parental behavior, and family resources on participation outcomes for children with disabilities, both generally and with specific reference to accessing the rehabilitation services of children (19, 29).

The ICF framework identifies personal factors that have been shown to affect participation such as gender, age, and ethnicity (1, 2). These personal factors contribute to the make-up of the unique identity of a person and are distinct from the disability or health condition (1). Individual categories of personal factors are not defined in the ICF (1). Examining the need for more specificity within the ICF personal factors has been identified in the literature (30, 31); however there is concern that classifying personal factors with single categorical distinctions risks discrimination and misrepresenting the personal factors with which a person does or does not identify (32-34). When single-identity categories (e.g., age, gender, or ethnicity) are considered in isolation service providers may lack sufficient information to set tailored goals collaboratively with clients, risk-making assumptions about how clients position themselves in relation to their personal factors and underestimate the environmental opportunities and challenges that may impact participation resulting from the person-environment relationship. Therefore, this paper proposes intersectionality theory as a means of bridging the understanding of the ICF personal and environmental factors that can impact participation in therapy. By applying an intersectional lens, all facets of the identity of a child are considered simultaneously, with specific acknowledgment for the environmental context in which a child with a disability is situated.

Intersectionality theory can be used to holistically identify and critically examine the aspects of identity by exploring the relationships that exist between facets of the identity of an individual (i.e., ICF personal factors) and the larger societal systems in which a person participates (35). Intersectionality allows for the application of a critical lens to examine how the ICF personal factors as experienced by a child with a disability contribute to whether society views them as belonging to groups of socially-perceived advantage or disadvantage. This social construction of the identity and place of a child in the society has implications for their participation in therapy. It is important to note that in this context the term critical is used to describe the process of thinking deeply about the intended and unintended consequences associated with our actions (36). Intersectionality theory explains that identity cannot be understood by examining individual elements of identity (37). Instead, we examine the socially constructed privilege and oppression associated with the interaction between multiple aspects of the identity of an individual and their environments (37, 38). Literature and frameworks related to childhood disability and participation illustrate the relationship between factors external to the child (ICF environment factors), factors internal to the child (ICF personal factors), and participation outcomes (12, 26, 28). The family of participation-related constructs model embeds participation within the surrounding environmental contexts and makes explicit the bidirectional relationship between factors intrinsic to an individual and participation (28). In childhood disability literature, next steps should include a critical exploration of how the personal factors of an individual are privileged or oppressed, impacting their life participation. For example, it is understood in the literature that the environmental context mediates participation frequency and level of involvement in activities (6). Given that many personal factors cannot be changed, modifying the environment has been discussed as an approach to facilitate participation (6). Critically examining the social, attitudinal, and institutional environments in which children with disabilities are situated creates opportunities to identify barriers to life participation. As a result, participation-enhancing solutions, focused on modifying the systemic environmental context in which inequities exist, can be developed. Intersectionality theory provides the critical lens needed to examine contextual factors identified using the ICF to examine potential systemic inequities impacting participation.

# CRITICALLY EXAMINING PARTICIPATION IN CHILDHOOD DISABILITY

Children with disabilities have unique identities, in part, shaped by the physical, social, attitudinal, and institutional environments around them (39). The social environment referenced in the ICF includes the family of a child. Parents are the most proximal environment to a child, playing a critical role in facilitating opportunities for participation and providing care for children with disabilities. However, the broader environments in which the family and child are situated need to be considered (40) to understand the implications for participation in children's rehabilitation. Personal factors such as age, sex, or ethnicity do not alone determine therapy participation. Instead, implications for the participation of a child arise when the interplay between their unique personal factors and the broader environmental context results in experiences of systemic inequities such as ageism, sexism, racism, or ableism. Experiences of discrimination risk limiting a child with a disability from fully participating in important aspects of their lives, including rehabilitation therapies. Applying a critical intersectional lens to participation in therapy allows clinicians to holistically consider how the identity of a child interacts with the surrounding environment to better understand implications for participation. Opportunities for participation in therapy are created or repressed according to the complex interaction between a the personal identity factors and the systemic inequities of a child that exist in rehabilitation environments.

Examining the personal factors of a child individually does not provide an adequate foundation for understanding implications for participation in pediatric rehabilitation services. Applying an intersectional lens allows us to critically consider how personal factors, as outlined by the ICF, interact with the ICF environmental domains to maintain systemic inequities and impact participation in therapy. This creates an opportunity for the rich examination of potential facilitators and barriers to participation. As an example, let us briefly explore the personal factors of sex and culture in relation to disability. In some developing countries there continues to be a gap in participation opportunities between boys and girls in life activities such as schooling and employment (41–43). Additionally in some cultures, stigmatization of disability prevents parents from seeking therapy services for a child with a disability (44, 45). In this context, opportunities for participation, including participation in therapy, for a girl with a disability may be limited due to the possibility of sexist and ableist discrimination resulting from person-environment interactions. This example demonstrates the need to explore the intersection between the personal factors of sex and culture as influenced by disability and the environment in which the family is situated to understand implications for participation in therapy. This example illustrates how intersectionality theory can be applied in complement to the ICF by contributing a critical lens to examine the interaction between the ICF personal (i.e., sex, culture) and the environmental factors (i.e., stigma) to identify potential participation restrictions resulting from systemic discrimination. Although this study focuses on implications for participation in therapy, this perspective can be applied when examining how children with disabilities participate in a variety of life contexts.

# DISCUSSION

Applying a critical perspective facilitates an in depth understanding of how the person-environment relationship potentially impacts the participation of children with disabilities in rehabilitation services. But what do we as childhood disability clinicians do with the insights gleaned from critically examining the interplay between the intersectional identity and surrounding environment of a child? How can this information be used to optimize participation and inclusion of this population in childhood rehabilitation? By considering how the personal and environmental context of a child might impact their participation in therapy, clinicians have the opportunity to conceptualize solutions to enhance access for an individual family as well as identify patterns in participation limitations that could drive system-level change. At the clinical practice level, the use of a family-centered and solution-focused approach, whereby the family is actively engaged as collaborators in therapy, may be a way for clinicians to gain an understanding of how the person-environment relationship creates barriers to therapy participation and involve families in developing solutions (46, 47). A family-centered approach to care recognizes the expert knowledge of a parent about their child and has been associated with improved access and health outcomes in children with special needs (47, 48). Therefore, a familycentered approach to identifying and co-creating individualized solutions addressing parent-identified barriers to participation in children's rehabilitation is recommended. Inclusion of diverse stakeholders has been identified as critical in policy development (49). Clinicians can advocate for the representation of the family voice in the development of policy that supports inclusive participation in therapy.

As a critical approach, intersectionality seeks not only to understand lived experience of others and highlight oppression, it also aims to generate new knowledge that calls for change to inequitable social practices (37, 50–52). Clinicians are well positioned to become allies, working alongside families and children to understand their experiences of being included and excluded from opportunities to participate in therapy and identify potential inequities resulting from the personenvironment relationship. This information provides a platform to highlight the role of society in facilitating or hindering participation in rehabilitation services and advocate for systemlevel changes, such as resource allocation, program, and service design or policy reform that optimize inclusion. The discomfort clinicians may experience while acting as critical allies is important to acknowledge. On one hand, equity is a core component of health ethics and should be advocated for (14, 53) but on the other hand, clinicians have a commitment to follow the rules and practices of the health system by which they are employed. Critical allyship may require clinicians to advocate in opposition to the dominant policies and practices of the system they work in. Although there is no clear solution to address the paradox created by critical allyship, clinicians can make use of frameworks such as the 7-step framework for critical analysis to reflect on the impact of their actions in practice and consider the potential harms and benefits associated with different courses of action (36).

There is a need for careful consideration on how clinicians align themselves and act upon this advocacy role to avoid employing a disempowering approach aiming to "fix" those in a position of socially constructed disadvantage (i.e., children with disabilities) (54). In the coin model of privilege and critical allyship, Nixon (2019) describes "practicing critical allyship" as an approach for individuals in a position of privilege (i.e., clinicians) to work in partnership with those experiencing oppression to identify and take action on the systems perpetuating inequities (i.e., restrictions in therapy participation). Critical allyship calls individuals in positions of power to acknowledge their experiences of privilege and how their advantaged position may contribute to sustaining dominant inequitable social practices (54). As critical allies, clinicians can learn from parents and children about their experiences to better understand the impact of system inequities on participation in children's rehabilitation (54). Additionally, under the guidance of parents and children, clinicians can use their privileged positioning to advocate for system change among other powerprivileged groups (i.e., health service decision makers) (54).

By applying an intersectional lens to examine the impact of the person–environment relationship on participation in therapy for children with disabilities, clinicians have the opportunity

### REFERENCES

1. World Health Organization. *International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health.* Geneva (2001). Available online at: http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/42407/9241545429.

pdf;jsessionid=BCF0745E5D9AEFAAE06DECC31047D6B5?sequence=1. 2. World Health Organization. *Towards a Common Language for Functioning*,

- World Health Organization. *Towards a Common Language for Functioning,* Disability Health ICF. Geneva (2002). Available online at: https://www.who. int/classifications/icf/icfbeginnersguide.pdf (accessed January 13, 2021).
- McConachie H, Colver AF, Forsyth RJ, Jarvis SN, Parkinson KN. Participation of disabled children: how should it be characterised and measured? *Disabil Rehabil.* (2006) 28:1157–64. doi: 10.1080/096382805005 34507

to practice critical allyship alongside children and parents to transform inequitable systems. However, applying a critical lens to participation in therapy may be a new approach for some clinicians. How as a group of professionals do we implement and become comfortable critically examining participation outcomes for children with disabilities? We suggest looking toward the ICF as a framework to get started. The ICF is a wellrecognized, familiar, and frequently referenced framework in the childhood disability literature (26, 55-57). Through listening to the thoughts and feelings shared by families of children with disabilities, clinicians can apply the ICF to conceptualize the personal and environmental factors relevant to the individualized family context. Literature is available to provide clinicians with pragmatic guidance for integrating the ICF into their practice (58). Critical examination of how the dominant ways of thinking in our society impact participation in therapy is currently underrepresented in the literature. An intersectional lens can be used in complement the ICF to critically examine contextual factors, identify barriers and facilitators to participation in children's rehabilitation, and create actionable change toward more inclusive systems.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MR, LL, BD, and MP contributed to the conception of this work, contributed comments and edits to the initial and subsequent versions of the manuscript, read, and approved the final manuscript. MR wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MP is the senior author of this manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

Funding for publishing this open access article was obtained through of the McMaster University School of Rehabilitation Science Dr. Ian and Shirley Rowe Scholarship 2021–2022 awarded to the first author (MR).

- Gorter JW, Stewart D, Woodbury-Smith M. Youth in transition: care, health and development. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2011) 37:757–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01336.x
- Larson RW. Toward a psychology of positive youth development. Am Psychol. (2000) 55:170–83. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.170
- Anaby D, Law M, Coster W, Bedell G, Khetani M, Avery L, et al. The mediating role of the environment in explaining participation of children and youth with and without disabilities across home, school, and community. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2014) 95:908–17. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.01.005
- Bedell G, Coster W, Law M, Liljenquist K, Kao YC, Teplicky R, et al. Community participation, supports, and barriers of school-age children with and without disabilities. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2013) 94:315– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2012.09.024

- Hilton CL, Crouch MC, Israel H. Out-of-school participation patterns in children with high-functioning autism spectrum disorders. *Am J Occup Ther*. (2008) 62:554–63. doi: 10.5014/ajot.62.5.554
- King G, Law M, Hurley P, Petrenchik T, Schwellnus H. A developmental comparison of the out-of-school recreation and leisure activity participation of boys and girls with and without physical disabilities. *Int J Disabil Dev Educ.* (2010) 57:77–107. doi: 10.1080/10349120903537988
- Sakzewski L, Ziviani J, Abbott DF, MacDonell RA, Jackson GD, Boyd RN. Participation outcomes in a randomized trial of 2 models of upper-limb rehabilitation for children with congenital hemiplegia. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2011) 92:531–9. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010.11.022
- van Tol E, Gorter JW, DeMatteo C, Meester-Delver A. Participation outcomes for children with acquired brain injury: a narrative review. *Brain Inj.* (2011) 25:1279–87. doi: 10.3109/02699052.2011.613089
- King G, Rigby P, Batorowicz B. Conceptualizing participation in context for children and youth with disabilities: an activity setting perspective. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2013) 35:1578–85. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2012.748836
- Braveman PA, Kumanyika S, Fielding J, LaVeist T, Borrell LN, Manderscheid R, et al. Health disparities and health equity: the issue is justice. *Am J Public Health.* (2011) 101:S149. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2010.300062
- Braveman P, Gruskin S. Defining equity in health. J Epidemiol Community Heal. (2003) 57:254–8. doi: 10.1136/jech.57.4.254
- Chen CC, Heinemann AW, Bode RK, Granger C V, Mallinson T. Impact of pediatric rehabilitation services on children's functional outcomes. *Am J Occup Ther.* (2004) 58:44–53. doi: 10.5014/ajot.58.1.44
- Phoenix M, Jack SM, Rosenbaum PL, Missiuna C. Parents' attendance, participation and engagement in children's developmental rehabilitation services: part 1. Contextualizing the journey to child health and happiness. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2020) 42:2141–50. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1555617
- King G, Schwellnus H, Keenan S, Chiarello LA. Youth engagement in pediatric rehabilitation: service providers' perceptions in a real-time study of solution-focused coaching for participation goals. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (2018) 38:527–47. doi: 10.1080/01942638.2017.1405864
- Anaby D, Korner-Bitensky N, Law M, Cormier I. Focus on participation for children and youth with disabilities: supporting therapy practice through a guided knowledge translation process. *Br J Occup Ther.* (2015) 78:440– 9. doi: 10.1177/0308022614563942
- Sapiets SJ, Totsika V, Hastings RP. Factors influencing access to early intervention for families of children with developmental disabilities: a narrative review. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. (2020) 34:695–711. doi: 10.1111/jar.12852
- Boag-Munroe G, Evangelou M. From hard to reach to how to reach: a systematic review of the literature on hard-to-reach families. *Res Pap Educ.* (2012) 27:209–39. doi: 10.1080/02671522.2010.509515
- Khanlou N, Haque N, Sheehan S, Jones G. "It is an issue of not knowing where to go": service providers' perspectives on challenges in accessing social support and services by immigrant mothers of children with disabilities. J Immigr Minor Heal. (2015) 17:1840–7. doi: 10.1007/s10903-014-0122-8
- 22. Ballantyne M, Rosenbaum PL. Missed appointments: more complicated than we think. *Paediatr Child Health.* (2017) 23:164–5. doi: 10.1093/pch/pxx039
- 23. Bronfenbrenner U. Ecology of the family as a contexto for human development. *Dev Psychol.* (1986) 22:723–42. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.22.6.723
- 24. World Health Organization. *Closing the Gap in a Generation-Health Equity Through Action on the Social Determinants of Health.* (2008). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/WHO-IER-CSDH-08.1.
- Marmot M, Friel S, Bell R, Houweling TA, Taylor S. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. *Lancet.* (2008) 372:1661–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61690-6
- Simeonsson RJ, Leonardi M, Lollar D, Bjorck-Akesson E, Hollenweger J, Martinuzzi A. Applying the international classification of functioning, disability and health (ICF) to measure childhood disability. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2003) 25:602–10. doi: 10.1080/0963828031000137117
- FitzGerald E, DiRezze B, Banfield L, Nichol GK, Rosenbaum P. A scoping review of the contextual factors impacting employment in neurodevelopmental disorders. *Curr Dev Disord Rep.* (2021) 8:142– 51. doi: 10.1007/s40474-021-00229-x
- 28. Imms C, Granlund M, Wilson PH, Steenbergen B, Rosenbaum PL, Gordon AM. Participation, both a means and an end: a conceptual analysis of

processes and outcomes in childhood disability. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2017) 59:16–25. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.13237

- Arakelyan S, Maciver D, Rush R, O'Hare A, Forsyth K. Family factors associated with participation of children with disabilities: a systematic review. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2019) 61:514–22. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14133
- Simeonsson RJ, Lollar D, Björck-Åkesson E, Granlund M, Brown SC, Zhuoying Q, et al. ICF and ICF-CY lessons learned: pandora's box of personal factors. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2014) 36:2187–94. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2014.892638
- 31. Geyh S, Schwegler U, Peter C, Müller R. Representing and organizing information to describe the lived experience of health from a personal factors perspective in the light of the international classification of functioning, disability and health (ICF): a discussion paper. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2018) 41:1727–38. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2018.1445302
- Stuber J, Meyer I, Link B. Stigma, prejudice, discrimination and health. Soc Sci Med. (2008) 67:351–7. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.023
- Link BG, Phelan JC. Stigma and its public health implications. *Lancet.* (2006) 367:528–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68184-1
- Geyh S, Peter C, Müller R, Bickenbach JE, Kostanjsek N, Üstün BT, Stucki G, et al. The personal factors of the international classification of functioning. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2011) 33:1089–102. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2010. 523104
- Jones SR. Constructing identities at the intersections : an autoethnographic exploration of multiple dimensions of identity. J Coll Stud Dev. (2009) 50:287– 304. doi: 10.1353/csd.0.0070
- Nixon SA, Yeung E, Shaw JA, Kuper A, Gibson BE. Seven-step framework for critical analysis and its application in the field of physical therapy. *Phys Ther.* (2017) 97:249–57. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20160149
- Crenshaw K. Mapping the margins: intersectionality, identity politics, and violence against women of color. *Stanford Law Rev.* (1991) 43:1241. doi: 10.2307/1229039
- Hankivsky O. An intersectionality-based policy analysis an intersectionality-based policy analysis framework. *Vancouver*. (2012) 13, 119. doi: 10.1186/s12939-014-0119-x
- Priestley M. Childhood disability and disabled childhoods agenda for research. Childhood. (1998) 5:207–23. doi: 10.1177/0907568298005002007
- Sontag JC. Toward a comprehansive theoretical framework for disability research: bronfenbrenner revisited. J Spec Educ. (1996) 30:319–34. doi: 10.1177/002246699603000306
- Lloyd CB. Girls' Schooling in Developing Countries: Highlights From Population Council Research Population Council Research. (2011). Available online at: https://knowledgecommons.popcouncil.org/departments\_sbsr-pgy (accessed May 7, 2021).
- Murphy-Graham E, Lloyd C. Empowering adolescent girls in developing countries: the potential role of education. *Policy Futur Educ.* (2016) 14:556– 77. doi: 10.1177/1478210315610257
- Verick, S. Female labor force participation in developing countries. *IZA World Labor*. (2014) 87. doi: 10.15185/izawol.87
- Bernier R, Mao A, Yen J. Psychopathology, families, and culture: autism. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Clin N Am.* (2010) 19:855–67. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2010.07.005
- Ali Z, Fazil Q, Bywaters P, Wallace L, Singh G. Disability, ethnicity and childhood: a critical review of research. *Disabil Soc.* (2001) 16:949– 67. doi: 10.1080/09687590120097845
- Baldwin P, King G, Evans J, McDougall S, Tucker MA, Servais M. Solution-focused coaching in pediatric rehabilitation: an integrated model for practice. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (2013) 33:467–83. doi: 10.3109/01942638.2013.784718
- Rosenbaum P, King S, Law M, King G, Evans J. Family-centred service a conceptual framework and research review. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (1998) 18:1–20. doi: 10.1080/J006v18n01\_01
- Kuhlthau KA, Bloom S, Van Cleave J, Knapp AA, Romm D, Klatka K, et al. Evidence for family-centered care for children with special health care needs: a systematic review. *Acad Pediatr.* (2011) 11:136–43. doi: 10.1016/j.acap.2010.12.014
- Riege A, Lindsay N. Knowledge management in the public sector: stakeholder partnerships in the public policy development. *Artic J Knowl Manag.* (2006) 10:24–39. doi: 10.1108/13673270610670830

- Abrams JA, Tabaac A, Jung S, Else-Quest NM. Considerations for employing intersectionality in qualitative health research. *Soc Sci Med.* (2020) 258:113138. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113138
- Nash JC. Re-thinking intersectionality. Fem Reivew. (2008) 89:1–15. doi: 10.1057/fr.2008.4
- 52. Cho S, Crenshaw KW, McCall L. Toward a field of intersectionality studies: theory, applications, and praxis. *Signs J Women Cult Soc.* (2013) 38:785-810. doi: 10.1086/669608
- 53. Blackmer J. Ethical issues in rehabilitation medicine. Scand J Rehabil Med. (2000) 32:51-5. doi: 10.1080/003655000750045541
- Nixon SA. The coin model of privilege and critical allyship: implications for health. BMC Public Health. (2019) 19:1637. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-7884-9
- McLeod S, Threats TT. The ICF-CY and children with communication disabilities. Int J Speech Lang Pathol. (2008) 10:92–109. doi: 10.1080/17549500701834690
- Rosenbaum P, Gorter JW. The "F-words" in childhood disability: i swear this is how we should think! *Child Care Health Dev.* (2011) 38:457– 63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.01338.x
- Simeonsson RJ, Scarborough AA, Hebbeler KM. ICF and ICD codes provide a standard language of disability in young children. J Clin Epidemiol. (2006) 59:365–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005. 09.009

Kraus de Camargo O, Simon L, Ronen GM, Rosenbaum PL, editors. *ICF-A Hands-On Approach for Clinicians and Families*. London: Mac Keith Press (2019).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Reitzel, Letts, Di Rezze and Phoenix. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Canadian Resources for Siblings of Youth With Chronic Health Conditions to Inform and Support With Healthcare Management: A Qualitative Document Analysis

Linda Nguyen <sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Hanae Davis<sup>3</sup>, Samantha Bellefeuille<sup>3</sup>, Jessica Havens<sup>3</sup>, Susan M. Jack<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Briano Di Rezze<sup>1,2</sup>, Marjolijn Ketelaar<sup>2,7</sup> and Jan Willem Gorter<sup>1,2,8</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Rehabilitation Science, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Sibling Youth Advisory Council, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> School of Nursing, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>5</sup> Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>6</sup> Offord Centre for Child Studies, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>7</sup> Centre of Excellence for Rehabilitation Medicine, University Medical Center Utrecht and De Hoogstraat Rehabilitation, Utrecht, Netherlands, <sup>8</sup> Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University and McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton, ON, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

### Reviewed by:

Melanie Penner, University of Toronto, Canada Julia Schuchard, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States

\*Correspondence:

Linda Nguyen nguyel7@mcmaster.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 13 June 2021 Accepted: 27 August 2021 Published: 05 October 2021

#### Citation:

Nguyen L, Davis H, Bellefeuille S, Havens J, Jack SM, Di Rezze B, Ketelaar M and Gorter JW (2021) Canadian Resources for Siblings of Youth With Chronic Health Conditions to Inform and Support With Healthcare Management: A Qualitative Document Analysis. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:724589. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.724589 **Background:** As children and adolescents with a chronic health condition (CHC) age and transition to adulthood, many will increasingly assume responsibilities for the management of their healthcare. For individuals with CHCs, family members including siblings often provide significant and varied supports. There are a range of resources in Canada to support siblings of individuals with a CHC, but these resources are not synthesized and the extent to which they relate to healthcare management remains unclear.

**Purpose:** The purpose of this document review was to identify, describe, and synthesize the types of resources currently available to provide general information and healthcare management information about how siblings can provide support to individuals with CHCs in Canada.

**Methods:** Print and electronic resources were systematically identified and retrieved from the websites of organizations, treatment centers, and children's hospitals that are part of Children's Healthcare Canada. Each unique resource was treated as a text document. Documents that met the following inclusion criteria were included: addressed the topic of siblings of individuals with a CHC and written in English. Data were extracted from included documents and qualitative conventional content analysis was conducted. Throughout the process of this review, we partnered with a Sibling Youth Advisory Council.

**Results:** The systematic search yielded 1,628 non-duplicate documents, of which 163 documents met the inclusion criteria. Of the total of 163 documents, they were delivered in the following formats: 17 (10%) general informational products (e.g., booklets, videos) about a CHC and sibling relationships, 39 about support programs and workshops (24%), 34 news articles (21%) that described the roles of siblings, and 6 (3%)

79

healthcare management informational products (e.g., toolkit, tipsheets), 31 blogs (19%) and 39 interviews (24%) with parents and siblings. In the blogs and interviews, siblings and parents described how siblings developed knowledge and skills for healthcare management, as well as their role and identity over time.

**Significance:** This study identified that there are limited resources available about healthcare management for siblings of CHC in Canada. Resources are needed to facilitate conversations in the family about the role of siblings with healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC.

Keywords: chronic health condition, siblings, qualitative analysis, pediatrics, family-centered services, healthcare management, transition to adulthood

# INTRODUCTION

In North America, ~15 to 18% of all youths have a chronic health condition (CHC) (1, 2). The term "chronic health condition" encompasses congenital and acquired diseases, as well as physical and mental health conditions (3). There has been a shift toward providing care for a family of a child with a CHC using a non-diagnostic approach (4). Instead of focusing on a specific diagnosis or condition alone, increasing care, and supports focus on providing comprehensive care to address the holistic needs of the individual and family (4, 5).

Families often express significant concerns about how they can best support their child during the transition from the pediatric to adult healthcare systems (6). During this time, youth with CHCs will need to learn how to manage their healthcare, for example learning how to navigate the process of filling prescriptions, scheduling healthcare appointments, and answering questions from healthcare providers. Typically, support is provided by family members through this transition period. In addition to healthcare management, individuals with CHCs are also exploring their interests and goals, including school, work, and leisure (6-9) and learning to navigate new environments, including healthcare for adults, education, transportation, recreation, and social services (7). Throughout the lifespan, families typically can provide support, given their past experiences coordinating their family member's or child's care and knowledge of their child's strengths, areas of improvement, and goals (10).

In addition to parents, siblings are a part of the family who can provide support for their sibling with a CHC. Within the typical lifelong bonds between siblings, these relationships are highly dynamic and can change over time depending on the needs, roles, and commitments of the whole family (11–13). Each sibling relationship is different with varying levels of emotional closeness, social connectedness, and expectations of each other (14). During childhood and adolescence, sibling relationships are unique as they often live and grow up in their shared home environment where they can act as peers, confidants, or role models (15). At a young age, siblings of individuals with a CHC often recognize that they need to support their family in different contexts (16, 17). When there is future planning involved from the whole family, siblings often feel closer to each other and with their family, and they have a clearer understanding about their role for the future during adulthood (18, 19).

In some families, there may not be discussions about the role of siblings but siblings may be expected to become carers to their sibling with a CHC (20). In 2018, the Siblings Needs Assessment Survey was conducted in Canada among young adults who were ages 20 years or older, who had a sibling with a disability and received a total of 360 responses (21, 22). Siblings described concerns for their sibling's future such as finding employment or living independently (12, 23). Siblings might have worries for new responsibilities, such as guardianship or financial responsibilities, when their parents can no longer be the primary caregivers (13, 24, 25). These concerns can affect the extent to which siblings are involved in the healthcare of their sibling with a CHC.

Typically developing siblings might want to support their sibling with a disability, but they require knowledge and skills on how to do this. There are currently "Sibshops" that are offered across ten countries, including the United States and Canada (26). These Sibshops provide an opportunity for siblings to connect with people with similar experiences and share stories. A survey was conducted to evaluate Sibshops, in which 66% of respondents identified that they learned coping strategies, 75% reported that Sibshops had a positive impact on their adult lives, and 94% stated that they would recommend Sibshops to others (27). Often, one of the goals of Sibshops is to provide a space for siblings to meet and share experiences with other siblings of individuals with a CHC in a recreational setting (28). Some SibTeen sessions are also held for adolescents ages 13-17 years old to offer a community of support (29). Although there are support groups for siblings of individuals with a CHC, such as Sibshops and SibTeen sessions, there are no tailored resources or programs for typically developing siblings to share their concerns about supporting their sibling with a CHC specifically for healthcare management. There are many ways that siblings can provide support to their sibling with a CHC. These can be categorized as: concrete support such as taking on responsibilities and providing assistance; emotional support such as listening and empathizing; advice support such as offering information; and esteem support, such as expressing encouragement (30). Siblings can offer these different types of supports to help their sibling with a CHC manage their healthcare.

Informational needs have been identified to be a critical need for siblings (31). Siblings who wish to have a caregiving role often seek knowledge in how to provide care to their sibling with a CHC, how to navigate disability services, and how to seek supports for themselves (31). While there is information available and advertisements of services for siblings on websites of children's hospitals and organizations, many families and siblings identified that they were not aware of this information (32, 33). Siblings identified that they want to have an open, constructive dialogue with their parents about the future, including expectations and responsibilities (13, 24). Often, siblings had to learn how to care for their sibling on their own as information was not always passed down from parents to the siblings (11, 24).

Informational needs are also increasingly being addressed by individuals, including siblings and their families, through the use of the Internet. Siblings can share their experiences and needs online in various formats, such as blogs. Among the few studies that have analyzed the content of blogs, researchers identified how individuals who write these blogs can share experiences that might be different from what might be shared in a research study. Young adults and families have previously written blogs to document their experiences in healthcare, including their emotions and challenges (34–36). Similarly, blogs written by siblings in order to prepare for their roles with healthcare management. There is a gap with little information known about the types of needs about healthcare management that siblings of individuals with CHC are sharing online.

Individuals may also choose to find information online for various reasons, including medical information, such as options for therapy, treatments and health services (37, 38). Siblings of individuals with a CHC require information on how they can provide support with healthcare management. In the Canadian Sibling Needs Assessment Survey, the majority of respondents across all age groups identified online websites as their preferred method for resources, information and tools (22). Programs, such as Sibshops and SibTeen sessions in North America, are often promoted online and share information about eligibility criteria and registration. In other countries, initiatives to support the needs of siblings of individuals with a CHC include Siblings Australia developed in 1999 (39), Sibs in the United Kingdom in 2001 (40), and the Sibling Leadership Network in the United States in 2007 (41). These initiatives in Australia, the United Kingdom, and the United States have been established for many years, and includes an array of support programs and resources for siblings of individuals with a CHC. In Canada, the Sibling Collaborative was established in 2017 and offers online support groups with some resources such as information about the COVID-19 vaccine, finances, and stories from siblings (42). Despite the availability of many resources, as a team, we have heard from siblings that resources about healthcare are not easily accessible or retrievable in Canada. The resources are often posted on certain websites by children's hospitals and organizations, but the websites are not easy to navigate. In Canada, there is no national systems approach to store resources for siblings of individuals with a CHC. Considering the important and multi-faceted roles that siblings can have, it is important to identify and summarize the different types of resources that are available to siblings of individuals with a CHC.

This review aims to identify and describe:

- i. the types of resources currently available in Canada to provide both general information and specific healthcare management information about how siblings can provide support to their sibling with a CHC; and
- ii. key topics discussed in resources created by siblings and families.

# METHODS

# Integrated Knowledge Translation

An integrated knowledge translation approach was used throughout the process of this review to partner with the Sibling Youth Advisory Council (SibYAC) comprised of six young adults who have a sibling with a disability. The SibYAC were first involved with the idea and concept, as well as the research question of this review. The SibYAC shared their experiences with searching for information to support their roles as siblings, and they identified a need to identify and synthesize resources that are available to siblings of individuals with a CHC. These experiences from the SibYAC provided a clear rationale to support our review aims. There were individual check-in meetings with each SibYAC member, and an engagement framework (43) and Involvement Matrix (44) were used as tools to ask about the tasks and roles that they would like to have in this review. The SibYAC were further involved in data analysis by sharing their perspectives for the retrieved documents to ensure that the extracted data are synthesized meaningfully for siblings, families, and other stakeholders. They were then involved with the interpretation of results and drawing conclusions. Meetings were held with the SibYAC to ask about their reflections of the summary of results with guiding questions including: How do the documents and websites support siblings in their role? Based on the documents and websites, what are some needs, information, or questions that you still have as a sibling? For example, in healthcare or in general. Reflections from the SibYAC helped to identify the gaps and future directions about resources to support siblings in their roles, including with healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC.

# **Qualitative Document Analysis**

Qualitative document analysis involves a systematic search of documents and resources, which includes both printed and electronic resources (45). A variety of documents can be analyzed, including books, brochures, diaries, journals, event programs, or news articles.

# **Search Strategy**

A comprehensive search was conducted on publicly available websites of thirty-one organizations, including children's hospitals, and rehabilitation centers that are part of Children's Healthcare Canada (46). These were selected to provide an initial understanding about the types of resources that are available for siblings of individuals with a CHC in a healthcare setting. The websites were searched in August 2020. A broad search strategy was employed in the search engine of each website with the terms: "sibling," "brother," or "sister." All documents from the search were digitally retrieved using a feature called NVivo Capture and imported into NVivo (Version 11.4.3). Duplicates of documents across websites were removed.

# **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

Text from all retrieved documents was initially scanned in NVivo for the key terms of "sibling," "brother," or "sister." Documents that included at least one of these key terms were read by the first author (LN). Identified documents were included in the review if they: (1) addressed the topic of relationships between siblings with and without a CHC; and (2) were published in English. Documents were excluded if the sibling was mentioned but did not discuss supports of siblings or the relationship between siblings of individuals with a CHC.

# **Ethical Considerations**

Ethics approval was not required to retrieve and analyze documents that are publicly available on the Internet. An assessment of online documents can be conducted to identify the intent of online documents and its use in research, and documents that are written for public intent do not require consent from the creators or authors of the documents (47). In the analysis of retrieved documents, there was careful consideration to protect the privacy of the creators for the documents, and all personal identifiers were removed from included documents.

# **Data Extraction and Analysis**

A data extraction template was created using Microsoft Excel Version 16.41 to collect data from each document (48). This template included the following categories: document source, document type, purpose/goals, and key content. For document types coded as "blog" or "interview," content data for two additional categories were extracted: (1) family characteristics; and (2) CHC of an individual in the family. Additionally, all blogs and interviews were read and re-read in an iterative process to achieve immersion in the data and understand the stories shared by siblings and parents. Conventional content analysis was conducted by the first author (LN) for documents that were coded as blogs or interviews (49). Initial codes were developed based on the full text of the blogs and interviews, and these codes were then organized into categories to depict how they were related and linked to each other. Codes were grouped into meaningful clusters or categories based on their similarities in concepts. An Excel spreadsheet was created, that included extracted quotes and codes that were grouped into categories. Each category was expanded into a short statement to describe the key topic shared by siblings and families. Two analysis meetings were then held with individuals familiar with the content (e.g., SibYAC) and qualitative analysis (e.g., graduate students, co-author SJ) to review and name the categories, and identify additional properties and dimensions of each meaningful cluster. Analytic notes were written by the first author (LN) about how the categories related to each other to form meaningful clusters. While the content of all documents was analyzed to identify information and supports for healthcare management of an individual with a CHC, conventional content analysis allows for the identification of key topics from included documents that describe the experiences of siblings of individuals with a CHC beyond healthcare management. In this review, recognizing that gender is nonbinary, we refer to siblings as a "brother" or "sister" based on the information provided in the resources included in this review with the recognition that siblings may identify themselves along a spectrum.

# **Data Credibility**

To ensure credibility of the data, an audit trail and multiple analyst triangulation were used as two strategies. An audit trial was created to describe the steps and document decisions that were made about data extraction, as well as the identification of codes, categories, meaningful clusters, and key topics identified in the documents (50, 51). Sufficient time was also spent reviewing each source of information to identify recurrent patterns and key topics of the documents (52). The first author (LN) spent extensive time to read and re-read all documents, and took field notes of emerging ideas for each document in an Excel document (e.g., What is the main message about this document? How does this document relate to other documents?). To further enhance the credibility and dependability of the data, the lead author engaged in reflexivity and documented their own biases, preferences, and preconceptions about the topic in a series of memos (53, 54). Analyst triangulation was employed, in which multiple individuals with different backgrounds and expertise offered their perspectives about the preliminary and final findings (54). Two initial meetings were held to review and discuss how to organize preliminary findings: first with a group of graduate students with expertise in mixed methods and qualitative research, and then with the SibYAC. Two additional meetings were held with the SibYAC to share their reflections about the meaning of the findings in this review to them, describe whether the key topics from the blogs and interviews resonated with, or differed from, their experiences as young adult siblings of individuals with a disability, and identify gaps for future directions. All SibYAC members present at the meeting described that the key topics were similar to their experiences, and they provided suggestions for future directions in the development and enhancement of resources for siblings of individuals with a CHC. All authors of this review are from a multidisciplinary backgrounds including cognitive psychology, education, nursing, occupational therapy, physiatry, rehabilitation, patient-oriented research, and lived experiences, and all provided their perspectives on the synthesis of findings.

# RESULTS

The systematic search yielded 1,628 non-duplicate documents and resources, with 1,015 documents and resources that included keywords of "sibling," "brother," or "sister." There were 163

#### **Children's Healthcare Canada Organizations**

#### **British Columbia**

BC Association for Child Development and Intervention -0BC Children's Hospital - 19 Fraser Health Authority - Central City tower - 71 Island Health – 72 Northern Health - 19 Provincial Health Services Authority - 99

#### Alberta

Alberta Children's Hospital – 0 Glenrose Rehabilitation Hospital - 297 Stollery Children's Hospital, Alberta Health Services - 19

#### Saskatchewan

Saskatchewan Health Authority - 23

#### Manitoba

Children's Hospital – Health Sciences Centre – 0 Children's Hospital at London Health Sciences Centre - 65 Rehabilitation Centre for Children - 8

#### Ouebec

Lethbridge-Layton-Mackay Rehabilitation Centre - 12 Nova Scotia Shriners Hospital for Children Canada - 0 The Montreal Children's Hospital – McGill University Health Centre – 144 IWK Health Centre – 37

#### Ontario

Bayshore HealthCare - 8 The Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario (CHEO) - 154 Children's Treatment Network of Simcoe York - 87 Empowered Kids Ontario - 4 Halton Healthcare - Oakville Trafalgar Memorial Hospital - 7 Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital - 505 Kingston Health Sciences Centre - 19 Lakeridge Health Corporation - 24 McMaster Children's Hospital - 106 North York General Hospital - 17 SE Health Care - 1 SickKids-172 Sinai Health System - 14 The Safehaven Project for Community Living -9 Thunder Bay Regional Health Sciences Centre - 49 Trillium Health Partners - 4

#### Newfoundland Eastern Health - 15

#### **Prince Edward Island** Health PEI - 613



documents and resources that met the inclusion criteria (See Figure 1).

All resources were identified from treatment centers that provide inpatient and outpatient services to children and adolescents with a CHC. Some documents discussed CHCs as a broad group of conditions, while others referred to specific conditions such as autism spectrum disorder, cerebral palsy, Down syndrome, epilepsy, genetic disorders, juvenile arthritis,

intellectual disorders, or mental health disorders. The documents included 6 books (55-60), 1 podcast (61), 34 programs and 5 workshops [references provided to websites where ongoing programs (62-67) and workshops (63) are advertised], 7 films and videos (68-74), and 34 news articles. Among the 34 news articles, they referred to 2 announcements (75, 76), 6 "awareness" recognition of different days or months of CHCs (77-82), 5 events (82-86), 10 research studies (87-94), 4 participation in research [references provided to websites where active research studies are posted (95, 96)] and 7 stories (97-103). Three documents referenced a toolkit (104-106), 3 booklets (107-109), and 3 tip sheets (110-112). Of the total of 163 documents, there were 31 blogs (19%), of which 13 (8%) written by parents and 18 (11%) written by siblings, and thirty-eight interviews (23%) with 12 (7%) interviews with parents and 26 (16%) interviews with siblings, and one interview with a family that included both the parents and siblings. Table 1 provides details about the document type, source of documents, number of documents and references, target audience, purpose and goals, and summary of key content.

# Types of Resources for General Information

The majority of resources were general informational products for siblings of individuals with a CHC, which are available in a variety of formats. **Supplementary Table 1** presents detailed descriptions of these resources.

- i. *Booklets and books.* Books were available for siblings and families, in which some highlighted the need to understand the importance of sibling relationships, for example, creating a space for siblings to understand their emotions when they have a sibling with a CHC. Booklets were also available to provide guidance to parents and teachers about how to communicate with siblings of someone with a CHC.
- ii. *Podcasts.* Personal stories from families, including siblings, were shared through podcasts, films, and videos. These stories described the journey of the whole family, and one podcast discussed the relationship between the siblings in which one sibling has a CHC.
- iii. Programs and workshops. There are advertisements that announced past programs (n = 34) and workshops (n = 5) available to siblings and families. Among these 39 documents, 17 were in-person, 8 were virtual due to COVID-19, and 14 did not indicate the type of format. Most programs offered were sibling support groups, such as Sibshops, that are available throughout the year for siblings who are ages 7–25 years old. There were programs specifically for families to connect with other families of children with autism spectrum disorder available for free [reference to ongoing advertisement about the program (57)].
- iv. News articles. All stories that were published as a news article were authored either by parents (n = 1), mothers (n = 2), or a sibling (n = 3), both a mother and sibling (n = 1). Articles authored by mothers focused on stories of their child's lived experience, parenting multiple children with a CHC or the same CHC, and/or the roles that other children may assume when there is a child with a CHC.

Siblings discussed topics, such as sharing their emotions about their sibling relationship, providing support with healthcare management, and transitioning into different roles as a sibling, such as becoming a caregiver. Throughout the year, there were news articles with announcements about initiatives that were inspired by the stories of siblings. For example, there were announcements about various "awareness" days and months about specific disabilities and health conditions, which provided an opportunity for siblings to share stories about their sibling with a CHC (69-74). News articles also advertised research studies that were completed or actively recruiting sibling participants. The topics of these studies included genetic studies for specific health conditions, such as autism spectrum disorder and lymphoma, successful organ transplants between siblings, effectiveness of assistive equipment, and a survey to understand the needs and feelings of siblings of youth with a CHC.

# Type of Resources for How Siblings Can Provide Support With Healthcare Management

There are few resources that provided information for siblings about their roles with respect to the healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC. When resources were available, they were formatted as either tip sheets or as a toolkit.

### **Toolkit and Tip Sheets**

Both parents and siblings could refer to different sheets that were available for download online, which included tip sheets (110-112), and a toolkit (104). These sheets also focused on strategies for how siblings can provide support to their sibling with a CHC. For example, there was a tip sheet that described strategies for siblings of inpatients at a children's hospital (112). Some strategies for how siblings can be included as part of the inpatient stay were being a part of their sibling's care team, doing fun activities together, talking to their sibling, and helping the sibling to decorate their room (112). While the resources primarily focused on providing knowledge about a CHC to siblings, some resources provided additional strategies for siblings to support the healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC. A toolkit was also co-designed with siblings, clients, parents and clinical staff for brothers and sisters of children who have an acquired brain injury (104). The toolkit was described as a resource that siblings can use to learn knowledge about their sibling with an acquired brain injury and learn how to explain this injury to other adults who can provide help, when needed (104).

# **Blogs and Interviews**

Siblings and families described different types of CHCs in blogs and interviews. Some siblings also had the same CHC as other siblings in the family. The age of siblings and individual with a CHC discussed in blogs and interviews ranged from infancy to older adults. The size of families ranged from one to five children. Based on an analysis of the content from blogs and interviews shared by siblings and parents, a conceptual map was developed

#### TABLE 1 | Description of documents.

Document type	Source of documents	Number of documents and references	Target audience for resource	Purpose and goals	Summary of key content
Resources about ge	neral information				
Booklets	One hospital in Ontario and one service provider in Prince Edward Island	3 (107–109)	Parents and educators of an individual with a CHC	To offer strategies for parents and educators of an individual with a CHC and their siblings	Two booklets, one for parents and one for educators of individuals with autism spectrum disorder, included a booklist relevant for siblings to learn about autism. One booklet offered strategies for educators to support siblings of individuals with childhood cancer
Books	Two hospitals in Ontario	6 (55–60)	Public	To share about the importance of relationships of siblings, when a sibling has a CHC	The books recognize how there is a needed space and role of siblings
Podcast	One hospital in Ontario	1 (61)	Public	To tell the stories of people with a CHC, including the experiences of siblings in families with a child with a CHC	One podcast spoke about the stories of siblings of people with a CHC
Programs	Four hospitals and two service providers in Ontario	34* (62–67)	Parents/caregivers and siblings of an individual with a CHC	The purposes of the programs included providing opportunities for families, including siblings, to connect with other families of individuals with a CHC, spend together as a family through various community events, providing support to siblings to understand the CHC and develop coping strategies	<ul> <li>Programs included:</li> <li>Family Nights held on a regular basis (e.g., monthly) for siblings and families of individuals with a CHC to connect with each other</li> <li>Informal family playgroups that have regular events (e.g., monthly) for families to participate in the community, e.g., indoor playground, escape room, arts and crafts, board games</li> <li>Support program, including the Sibshops with sessions for siblings with a range of ages from 7-25 year olds to support siblings who may have questions or are seeking coping strategies with their brother or sister with a CHC</li> <li>Bravery Beads Program that allows children an opportunity to collect a different bead for each procedure or event while visiting the hospital for a treatment. An example of how the beads were used between siblings, where the sister educated the class on what her brother went through and still has to go through</li> </ul>
Workshops (one-time event)	One hospital in Ontario	5* (13)	Siblings and parents of a child with a CHC	The purposes of the workshops were to provide opportunities for siblings to connect with other siblings, discuss ways that parents can support siblings of individuals with a CHC in the family, and advertise other ongoing programs for siblings and families	An opportunity for parents and siblings (either in separate groups or together) to ask questions, including to a panel of adult siblings about their experiences. Workshops were provided both online and virtually

Sibling Resources in Healthcare Management

Nguyen et al.

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Document type	Source of documents	Number of documents and references	Target audience for resource	Purpose and goals	Summary of key content
Films and videos	One hospital in Ontario	7 (68–74)	Public	To share about the experiences of families, including the perspectives of siblings and parents, about growing up with a child with a CHC	The types of CHCs covered in the films and videos included autism spectrum disorder, Down syndrome, brain damage, and Type 1 diabetes
News articles					
Announcements	One hospital in Ontario	2 (75, 76)	Public	To share information about results, which included a donation to create a center in Canada to support adults with disabilities, a partnership to build rehabilitation capacity for children with a CHC between institutions, and the winner of a "filmpossible" award	Donation and partnership were inspired by the experience of a family with an individual with a CHC. Stories about the experiences of siblings of an individual with a CHC shared in the announcement
Awareness about CHCs	Two hospitals in Ontario and one hospital in Quebec	6 (77–82)	Public	To raise awareness on specific days to appreciate different disabilities and roles, in which siblings have a part in the awareness of CHCs	Each document described the awareness of different days: • Sibling Appreciation Day • Purple Day for Epilepsy • Cerebral Palsy Awareness Month • Childhood Cancer Awareness Month • Children's Grief Awareness Day • International Day of Persons with Disabilities To raise awareness of these different days, siblings shared stories about their brother or sister with a CHC
Events	One hospital in Ontario and one hospital in Quebec	5 (82–86)	Public	To raise awareness about the stories and roles of siblings	Events included advocacy for individuals with disabilities, as well as events for siblings to attend
Research Studies	Two hospitals in Ontario and one hospital in Quebec	10** (87–94)	Public	To share the findings of research studies	The topics of research studies included genetic information for siblings of individuals with ASD, genetic mutation that lead to lymphoma, survey findings about the experiences of siblings of a brother or sister with a developmental disability, successful donor liver transplant between siblings, rare autoinflammatory disease based on research of two siblings with juvenile idiopathic arthritis, immunotherapy, trials about accessible equipment, and accessible video games for children with disabilities
Participation in research	One hospital in Ontario and one health center in Nova Scotia	4* (95, 96)	Public	To recruit participants for a research study	The topics of the research studies were assessments of early behavioral signs of autism spectrum disorder in infants and the experiences o sibling including their needs and feelings

(Continued)

Sibling Resources in Healthcare Management

Sibling Resources in Healthcare Management

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

Document type	Source of documents	Number of documents and references	Target audience for resource	Purpose and goals	Summary of key content
Stories	Health service provider in British Columbia, three hospitals in Ontario	7 (97–103)	Public	To share the stories of families who have an individual with a CHC	Stories were shared by mothers and siblings about their experiences with a person with a CHC. For some sibling relationships, both siblings had a CHC, and shared how they supported each other
Resources for how s	biblings can provide support wit	h healthcare managem	ent		
Toolkit	One hospital in Ontario	3 (104–106)	Siblings of an individual with a CHC	To offer strategies for siblings of individuals with an acquired brain injury	All documents referred to one toolkit, the SibKit 1.0 (105), which provides information about strategies for siblings of individuals with an acquired brain injury
Tip sheets	One hospital in Ontario and one hospital in British Columbia	3 (110–112)	Parents and siblings of an individual with a CHC	To offer strategies for parents to support siblings, and for siblings to support their sibling with a CHC	One tip sheet described how parents can support siblings of an individual with a CHC. Two tip sheets offered strategies for siblings to cope with the surgery of their brother or sister, as well as, when their brother or sister is an inpatient
Interviews					
With Siblings	Three hospitals in Ontario and one hospital in Quebec	26***	Public	To share about the experiences of siblings of a child with a C	Key topics discussed during the interviews and blogs are presented in <b>Table 2</b>
With Parents	One hospital in Ontario	12***	Public	To share about the parents' experiences when they have multiple children including a child with a CHC	
Blogs				-	
Written by siblings	Three hospitals in Ontario	18***	Public	To share key messages from siblings about their experiences when they have a sibling with a CHC	
Written by parents	Two hospitals in Ontario and a health service provider in British Columbia	13***	Public	To share the stories of families of a child with a CHC and the siblings from the parents' perspective	

\*Programs, workshops, and participation in research studies are advertised and updated on an ongoing basis on the websites of the children's hospital and/or treatment centers. The number of documents refers to the advertisements and newsletters that was posted on the websites.

\*\*Two documents are no longer available on the website, but was included in the analysis.

\*\*\*References were not provided in order to ensure confidentiality of the authors and families mentioned in the blogs and interviews.

to describe the codes, categories, and key topics discussed in these documents (See **Figure 2**). Detailed descriptions about these key topics are described in detail below. The frequency that these topics were identified in the blogs and interviews are provided in **Table 2**.

#### Siblings' Development of Knowledge and Skills for Healthcare Management

Siblings described how they needed to learn about the meaning of disability. Some siblings did not understand specific CHCs, such as the different treatments and services their siblings had to receive to manage their CHC. Siblings often described that they simply saw their sibling for who they were, regardless of the CHC. Parents shared stories in their blogs about the forming of relationships between their children. Young children learned how to develop their relationship with their sibling with a CHC. A mother shared the story of how she saw her two children interact with each other, where her young daughter asked to hug her brother or hold his hand when he was using an assistive device to walk. As siblings began to develop an understanding about the CHC, some siblings offered support with healthcare management. For example, a mother described how her daughter learned to be present and hold her brother's hand when he was using a suction machine. Siblings shared in interviews about how they learned different ways to support their siblings. For example, a sister observed her mother apply breathing techniques with her brother and she learned how to do the same. There was a process in which siblings first needed to learn about the CHC and develop a relationship with their sibling with a CHC, which then allowed them to learn how to offer support with healthcare management.

#### Siblings' Development of Role and Identity

The role of being a sibling to someone with a CHC provided them with experiences about a CHC, and the sibling role became a part of their identity. Young adult siblings shared in written blogs about how they were developing their own identity, such as moving away for university and developing their career. For some siblings, the experience of growing up in a family of an individual with a CHC motivated them to pursue a career to support other children with a CHC, such as healthcare professions and research about a CHC. Siblings would bring their personal experiences about a CHC into their professions, such as an understanding about a CHC in research or how to interact with families. Their personal experiences about a CHC also motivated them to use their academic knowledge to create resources, such as mobile applications or tools that children with a CHC could use. Both parents and siblings identified multiple roles that siblings had in the family. Siblings continued to maintain a close relationship, and when one sibling had an acquired CHC, the siblings would learn how to provide support to each other. For example, a sibling described how he went to therapy appointments with his brother who had an acquired brain injury. The sibling provided both support and humor by being present at the therapy appointments, and the parents described how the sibling became a part of the care team. Adult siblings described challenges that they had when they became a caregiver, such as the sacrifices that they had to make with living with their sibling with a CHC or not being able to work full-time.

### Emotional Outlet and Support for Siblings

Siblings wrote in blogs that they shared with the community about both the positive aspects of their relationship with their sibling with a CHC as well as the challenges. Siblings shared the message about how they are not alone, where their thoughts and feelings matter. Some siblings pursued their own goals and happiness, and also chose their roles with their sibling with a CHC. Some adult siblings experienced guilt when they did not voice their opinions. One adult sibling shared her sense of guilt when her brother was sent to an institution that the family believed was a good option at the time. Siblings spoke about how their emotions were connected to the emotions that their parents were experiencing, such as frustrations and stresses. Some siblings wanted to find ways to address the challenges such as learning how to help their sibling with a CHC. With the different emotions that siblings were feeling, they sought ways to have an outlet to express their emotions. A Photovoice program was offered to siblings and young patients with cancer, where they took photographs that represented their experiences that were later displayed at an event for the public community. Siblings were developing skills in how to cope with their emotions, and parents identified how these siblings would develop personal skills such as being caring and empathetic. Siblings also shared about the importance of open communication with parents because siblings might have hidden emotions. Siblings identified that they might not initiate discussions with parents about their feelings, and parents should create a space for these discussions.

# Advocacy to Raise Awareness About Disability and Role of Siblings

Some siblings became advocates, in which they expressed a need to explain what disability was to their peers. For example, a sibling of a brother with autism described how she read a book to her class to explain autism and she often took the time to answer questions from her classmates. Siblings valued the connection that they had with other siblings who had similar experiences. Some siblings grew up without knowing about other siblings who have a sibling with a CHC. Siblings wanted to connect to a community of siblings to not only advocate for CHC and disability awareness and supports, but also learn about the role that siblings can have. For example, some siblings did not realize that they developed skills that could be well-suited for healthcare professions. One sibling described how she learned about the profession of a child health specialist after connecting with another sibling. Furthermore, adult siblings who were caregivers or guardians of their sibling with a CHC they identified how their roles were often not recognized at work. For example, employers recognized when co-workers needed to leave to take care of their child but not for their sibling with a CHC. Siblings identified how there should be recognition of the important role that they have. They all wanted to be part of a community where they can create change and advocate for a diverse community that their own sibling with a CHC could meaningfully participate in.



# Meaningful Participation in the Family and Community

Families identified the importance of creating an inclusive environment where a child with a CHC can participate in activities. Some families planned trips and made sure that they rented adaptive equipment to ensure that their child with a CHC could participate in activities, such as hiking, biking, or kayaking. In their daily lives, young siblings shared in their blogs that they made sure that their sibling with a CHC was included in the games that they played with their friends. One family thought about different ways that every member of the family could participate in activities. When a sibling might be attending speech therapy, other family members could coordinate to have the other siblings participate in a sports activity at the same time. Parents identified how it was important to make sure that all siblings could meaningfully participate in the community. Both parents and adult siblings expressed their concerns about opportunities for their sibling with a CHC to participate in the community in the future. Siblings shared the positive value of a job for their sibling with a CHC, which provided a sense of pride to participate in the community. Some siblings wanted to address concerns about how to create an inclusive community for people with CHCs, and they created mobile applications to encourage their sibling with a CHC to develop the skills needed to participate in the community. For example, one sibling created a mobile application with a set of cards with which an individual with autism could practice the skills they needed to carry out an activity, such as taking public transportation. Both parents and siblings sought opportunities for a sibling with a CHC to participate in the community as they grow older.

### Doing the Best as a Family

During separate interviews, parents shared about how they were doing the best that they could as a family and siblings shared how the journey of every family was different. A mother shared in her blog about experiences with raising her children, including children with a learning disability and Down syndrome, and she needed to time to learn about her children. For other parents, they learned about the different types of supports that would be appropriate for their child with a CHC and there was no "one size fits all" approach. Some parents initially chose to keep their life private, and they did not want to burden others with the responsibilities in caring for their child with a CHC that they feel were their own. They gradually recognized how it was important to reach out to others for support, such as their children and neighbors. Some parents also sought respite services to take care of their own health in order to optimize the care that they could provide to all of their children. In addition to services, TABLE 2 | Frequency of topics identified in interviews and blogs with parents and siblings.

Topics	Sil	olings	Parents		
		Blogs	Interviews	Blogs	Interviews
		( <i>n</i> = 18)	( <i>n</i> = 26)	( <i>n</i> = 13)	( <i>n</i> = 12)
Siblings' development of:	a) knowledge and skills for healthcare management	7	8	4	5
	b) role and identity	12	16	4	6
Emotional outlet and support for siblings		7	12	-	3
Advocacy to raise awareness about disability and role of siblings		6	3	_	_
Doing the best as a family		_	2	5	6
Meaningful participation in he family and community		6	4	-	5

-Topic was not identified.

\* Multiple topics may be identified in each interview and blog.

parents described the value of building a network of supports, such as connecting with other families with similar experiences. They wanted to have opportunities to meet other families and participate in activities that included the whole family. Some families created videos and films to share their story of both the positive experiences and challenges with other families.

### **SibYAC Reflections on the Findings**

After synthesizing the findings from this review, the SibYAC members were asked to share their perspectives about the meaning of these findings. There were key topics raised in the blogs and interviews included in this review, and the SibYAC members were asked about whether these topics resonated with their own experiences of siblings of individuals with a disability. Siblings who wrote the blogs and inteviews included in this review identified that they wrote blogs as a way to share their stories so that other siblings would know that they are not alone, and writing blogs was an outlet for their emotions. Similarly, SibYAC members also wrote personal blogs about their personal experiences as a sibling and the roles that they have had. One SibYAC member shared an excerpt of her journal while her brother, who has cerebral palsy, was in a rehabilitation hospital after orthopedic surgery: "As my brother began to see progress into the next day, so did I. As he found a rhythm and learned the shuffles of the hallway, so did I. And before I knew it, I fell head over heels into the routine of physical and psychological exhaustion but unimaginable emotional fulfillment." She shares that her personal experience is a clear example of why consciously integrating siblings into the family-centered care model is so important.

While the findings of this review help to identify key resources for general information and information of how siblings can provide support with healthcare management, the SibYAC continued to identify that there is a need for advocacy to raise awareness about the important roles that siblings have. They often had to learn to develop knowledge and skills, in order to have a role with supporting their sibling with a disability with healthcare management. A SibYAC member shared: "There is no handbook for special needs siblings. It's not something that's majorly talked about and kind of always felt like a big secret. Every day, I am learning more about how to appropriately support my sibling through the transition from pediatric into adult healthcare." While this review identified that there are resources available for siblings of individuals with a CHC, few resources offer support for how siblings can be involved with the healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC.

As the SibYAC reflected on these findings, there is a critical gap in which there are no online resources available from Children's Healthcare Canada to support siblings in conversations about healthcare management and future planning to their sibling with a CHC, even though many siblings might already be part of the care team. A SibYAC member shared her personal experiences with this gap: "There has never been planning about the present, day-to-day things, let alone future planning, that has included me. The extent that I have been involved with my siblings is equal to the amount of intention and force I used to create a space for myself." The SibYAC shared how discussions about future planning can be helpful for families to ensure that there is clear communication about the role of siblings.

# DISCUSSION

This review identified a variety of resources and documents available in English for siblings and families of children with CHCs across organizations of Children's Healthcare Canada. Most resources consisted of general information for siblings and families: to become aware and learn about different CHCs through books, news articles, and podcasts. There is an increasing trend in the use of the Internet for health information among patients, their families and general public (113), and each family requires different types of information based on their needs (114). In a qualitative study to explore the experiences of parents of children with disabilities who sought information, parents used online information to supplement the information provided by professionals (38). When healthcare professionals did not provide enough information during a consultation, some parents searched on websites of hospitals and rehabilitation centers for additional medical information (38). In the search for information, parents may also identify resources for how they can support the siblings of a child with a CHC. This review retrieved booklets for parents about how to communicate with siblings of children of individuals with a CHC.

In this review, few resources were identified to support siblings in the role of healthcare management with their sibling with a CHC. Similar to parents, siblings might also have questions and would like to have more information to support their roles in the healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC. Siblings of individuals with a CHC require skills and knowledge if they choose to have an active role in the healthcare management their sibling with a CHC. There are tip sheets that provided guidance for siblings to build a relationship with their sibling with a CHC, such as playing games or doing activities, as well as how to be a part of the care team (111, 112). There is also a toolkit that originally developed for siblings of individuals with an acquired brain injury, recently expanded to include different disabilities (105). It is important to consider and tailor different resources to prepare for the roles that siblings might choose to have, including with healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC.

This review highlighted a key gap in the needs of siblings based on the personal stories that they shared through blogs; many identified a need for emotional support. Blogs can be helpful for siblings, where they might find comfort to know that they are not alone (115). Siblings require acknowledgment of their emotions, and for some siblings, they are learning how to address their emotions as they continue to have a role in healthcare to their sibling with a CHC. Siblings might choose to seek online support to be part of a community with others who have similar experiences (115). Parents and families have previously described the importance of being a part of an online community where they can seek resources and connect with other families (38, 116), and siblings might have similar motivations to connect with other siblings online.

Siblings also shared, in blogs and interviews, their perspectives about the importance of advocacy to raise awareness about CHCs and their own roles. Siblings may need to advocate for their role in the family. This review identified that siblings require additional resources in order to learn and be prepared for their future roles. The extent of discussions about future planning can vary in families, and siblings are often not included in these discussions (13, 117). While some parents may wish for the siblings to have their own separate lives, siblings shared in qualitative studies that they chose to have active roles such as being a caregiver and they identified the need to have conversations with their parents about future planning (118, 119). Discussions about future planning can be helpful for families, providing an opportunity for siblings to identify new or changing roles and to facilitate the sharing of information between parents and siblings (31, 33). These discussions can be ongoing to adapt to the changing situations of the family over time. While these discussions can be challenging and complex for families, siblings identified the need to have clear plans so that they can be prepared for their future roles (117, 119, 120).

Many families shared how they are learning from experience and doing the best that they can with their family member with a CHC. In this review, both parents and siblings described the positive value of creating a supportive and inclusive environment of a person with a CHC. This inclusive environment applied to the family environment where some families sought opportunities to participate in different activities, as well as in the community such as having a job. Both parents and siblings described the concern that they had for an individual with a CHC after graduating from high school, and they were worried that there may be fewer opportunities to participate in the community. This concern about the transition to adulthood for individuals with a CHC has been raised in the literature (121, 122), and current news noting that there are  $\sim$ 12,000 young and middle-age adults with disabilities in Ontario, Canada who are on a waiting list to seek supports and residential care (123). In addition to employment opportunities, both parents and siblings have future worries for their child with a CHC such as the navigation from pediatric to adult healthcare services (122, 124). Some siblings shared in blogs and interviews how they gradually learned to take on caregiving responsibilities. Siblings are becoming adults and they may take on future caregiving responsibilities. They are often learning through experience about how to care for their sibling with a CHC throughout the lifespan (119).

# **Strengths and Limitations**

A strength of this review is the involvement of the SibYAC as advisors throughout the process of this review. They provided their perspectives on the aims of the review, data analysis of resources, and future directions on how to disseminate the findings and develop future resources. Another strength of this review is that the resources identified have been compiled and can be applied to enhance existing resources for siblings of individuals with a CHC and inform the co-development of future resources. A limitation of this review is that the information that can be extracted from the documents included may be restricted by the purpose of the document and the content that the creators choose to share. Another limitation is that all documents were identified from children's hospitals and treatment centers that are part of Children's Healthcare Canada were in English and excluded documents in French. The documents and resources from the websites of organizations that are part of Children's Healthcare Canada might be selectively published and might not include information about the care that these organizations provide. The information may not be reflective of the entire landscape of resources for Canadian siblings of individuals with a CHC. In addition, at the time of this review, documents and resources were retrieved from 31 organizations that were a part of Children's Healthcare Canada. Since then, eight additional organizations have been included. Most organizations that are part of Children's Healthcare Canada are children's hospitals and rehabilitation centers, and resources from services offered in the community, such as mental health services, might have been missed. However, the resources and documents in this review provided a starting point for identifying general information and information about how siblings can support their sibling with healthcare management. Additionally, while data extraction and coding was conducted by a single analyst which limits our ability to report on inter-coder reliability, the categories and meaningful clusters of data that were developed were reviewed and discussed by two key stakeholder groups, a form of analyst triangulation and peer debriefing that enhances overall data credibility.

# **Future Directions**

This review highlighted key gaps that can be addressed in the future in order to optimize supports for siblings of individuals with a CHC. First, access to existing resources for siblings should be improved by compiling and storing them in one place. As knowledge translation and dissemination can include multiple strategies, there can be multiple formats of resources created, such as infographics, toolkits, videos or podcasts. The Health Hub in Transition in Canada (125) and the F-words for Child Development Knowledge Hub (126) are examples of where information and tools are available online. The uptake and impact of the knowledge translation and dissemination strategies should be evaluated. Second, there should be resources to support siblings in the healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC. In this review, both parents and siblings shared in blogs and interviews the important role of siblings in healthcare management. Despite the important role that siblings might want to have with healthcare management, there are few resources available to support and empower siblings in this role. Third, this review identified that there are no resources in English available within the online materials from the organizations through Children's Healthcare Canada for parents or siblings to facilitate ongoing conversations about the roles that siblings would like to have with their sibling with a CHC. The conversations could also include the topic of healthcare transition about how youth, siblings, families, and healthcare professionals can help youth prepare for the transfer to adult healthcare (127). Tools could be developed to facilitate these discussions in the family and with healthcare professionals (32, 118). Finally, resources could be developed for other professionals, including teachers and healthcare providers, to encourage discussions about the experiences and roles of siblings beyond healthcare management. Siblings have identified that they wanted more information about future responsibilities, such as legal and financial information regarding the care of their sibling with a CHC (22, 24).

# CONCLUSION

This review identified resources for siblings that are available from children's hospitals and organizations that are part of Children's Healthcare Canada. Resources that are available for siblings of individuals with a CHC mainly address general information, such as support programs and workshops. There are some resources, such as tip sheets and a toolkit, to offer strategies

for siblings to learn about the healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC but these resources are only available at two children's hospitals. Siblings shared about their experiences in blogs and interviews, including their development of knowledge and skills for healthcare management, as well as roles and identity that often relate to the healthcare management of their sibling with a CHC. There is a key gap in available resources, in which siblings and parents identified that knowledge and skills for healthcare management is an important role for siblings but there are few resources that provide this information. Given the needs expressed by siblings, future resources should be developed to share information about healthcare management for siblings, as well as tools to facilitate family discussions about the roles that siblings would like to have in the future. A synthesis of the identified resources could be shared in an accessible format, such as in an online hub, for siblings and families.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LN, BDR, SJ, MK, and JWG contributed to the conceptualization and design of this review, and perspectives from HD, SB, and JH informed the review aims. LN drafted the manuscript. HD, SB, and JH contributed to the draft of the Reflections section. All authors provided input for the analysis, interpreted the findings, revised and reviewed the manuscript, and provided their final approval.

# FUNDING

This review was supported by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Patient-Oriented Research Award—Transition to Leadership Stream—Phase 1 held by LN. The partnership with the Sibling Youth Advisory Council was financially supported by the Graduate Student Fellowship in Patient-Oriented Research through the CHILD-BRIGHT Network held by LN. During the work presented in this article, the Scotiabank Chair in Child Health Research was held by JWG.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge our partnership with the Sibling Youth Advisory Council throughout all phases of the review. We would like to thank Peter Rosenbaum for his constructive feedback and edits of the manuscript draft.

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fresc. 2021.724589/full#supplementary-material

# REFERENCES

- Perrin JM, Bloom SR, Gortmaker SL. The increase of childhood chronic conditions in the United States. JAMA. (2007) 297:2755. doi: 10.1001/jama.297.24.2755
- Newacheck PW, Strickland B, Shonkoff JP, Perrin JM, McPherson M, McManus M, et al. An epidemiologic profile of children with special health care needs. *Pediatrics*. (1998) 102:117–23. doi: 10.1542/peds.102. 1.117
- Knecht C, Hellmers C, Metzing S. The perspective of siblings of children with chronic illness: a literature review. J Pediatr Nurs. (2015) 30:102– 16. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2014.10.010
- 4. Stein REK, Jessop DJ. A noncategorical approach to chronic childhood illness. *Public Health Rep.* (1982) 97:354–62.
- King S, Teplicky R, King G, Rosenbaum P. Family-centered service for children with cerebral palsy and their families: a review of the literature. *Semin Pediatr Neurol.* (2004) 11:78–86. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2004. 01.009
- Arnett JJ. Emerging adulthood: a theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *Am Psychol.* (2000) 55:469–80. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.55.5.469
- Stewart DA, Law MC, Rosenbaum P, Willms DG, Stewart DA, Law MC, et al. A qualitative study of the transition to adulthood for youth with physical disabilities. *Phys Occup Ther Pediatr.* (2009) 21:3– 21. doi: 10.1080/J006v21n04\_02
- Gorter JW, Stewart D, Woodbury-Smith M. Youth in transition: care, health and development. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2011) 37:757–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2011.0 1336.x
- Gorter JW, Stewart D, Smith MW, King G, Wright M, Nguyen T, et al. Pathways toward positive psychosocial outcomes and mental health for youth with disabilities: a knowledge synthesis of developmental trajectories. *Can J Community Ment Health.* (2014) 33:45–61. doi: 10.7870/cjcmh-2014-005
- 10. Rosenbaum P, King S, Law M, King G, Evans J. Family-centred service. *Phys* Occup Ther Pediatr. (1998) 18:1–20. doi: 10.1300/J006v18n01\_01
- Atkin K, Tozer R. Personalisation, family relationships and autism: conceptualising the role of adult siblings. J Soc Work. (2014) 14:225– 42. doi: 10.1177/1468017313476453
- Moyson T, Roeyers H. "The overall quality of my life as a sibling is all right, but of course, it could always be better". Quality of life of siblings of children with intellectual disability: the siblings' perspectives. *J Intellect Disabil Res.* (2012). 56:87–101. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2788.2011.01393.x
- Heller T, Kramer J. Involvement of adult siblings of persons with developmental disabilities in future planning. *Intellect Dev Disabil.* (2009) 47:208–19. doi: 10.1352/1934-9556-47.3.208
- 14. Bowen M. Clinical view of the family. Fam Syst. (1995) 2:153-6.
- Whiteman SD, McHale SM, Soli A. Theoretical perspectives on sibling relationships. J Fam Theory Rev. (2011) 3:124– 39. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-2589.2011.00087.x
- Corsano P, Musetti A, Guidotti L, Capelli F. Typically developing adolescents' experience of growing up with a brother with an autism spectrum disorder. *J Intellect Dev Disabil.* (2017) 42:151–61. doi: 10.3109/13668250.2016.12 26277
- Latta A, Rampton T, Rosemann J, Peterson M, Mandleco B, Dyches T, et al. Snapshots reflecting the lives of siblings of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2014) 40:515–24. doi: 10.1111/cch. 12100
- McHale SM, Sloan J, Simeonsson RJ. Sibling relationships or children with autistic, mentally retarded, and nonhandicapped brothers and sisters. J Autism Dev Disord. (1986) 16:399–413. doi: 10.1007/BF015 31707
- McHale SM, Updegraff KA, Feinberg ME. Siblings of youth with autism spectrum disorders: theoretical perspectives on sibling relationships and individual adjustment. J Autism Dev Disord. (2016) 46:589–602. doi: 10.1007/s10803-015-2611-6
- 20. Davys D, Haigh C. Older parents of people who have a learning disability: perceptions of future accommodation needs. *Br J*

*Learn Disabil.* (2008) 36:66–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-3156.2007. 00447.x

- The Sibling Collaborative. Understanding the Sibling Experience: Sibling Needs Assessment Survey 2017 (2018). p. 1–19. Available online at: http://cdn.agilitycms.com/partners-for-planning/ UnderstandingtheSiblingExperience-March2018-Final.pdf (accessed January 2, 2021).
- Redquest BK, Tint A, Ries H, Goll E, Rossi B, Lunsky Y. Support needs of Canadian adult siblings of brothers and sisters with intellectual/developmental disabilities. J Policy Pract Intellect Disabil. (2020) 17:239–46. doi: 10.1111/jppi.12339
- Mascha K, Boucher J. Preliminary investigation of a qualitative method of examining siblings' experiences of living with a child with ASD. Br J Dev Disabil. (2006) 52:19–28. doi: 10.1179/096979506799103659
- Arnold CK, Heller T, Kramer J. Support needs of siblings of people with developmental disabilities. *Intellect Dev Disabil.* (2012) 50:373– 82. doi: 10.1352/1934-9556-50.5.373
- Krauss MW, Seltzer MM, Gordon R, Friedman DH. Binding ties: the roles of adult siblings of persons with mental retardation. *Ment Retard*. (1996) 34:83– 93.
- Sibling Support Project. *The Sibling Support Project* (2020). Available online at: https://www.siblingsupport.org/ (accessed November 15, 2020).
- Johnson AB. Sibshops: A Follow-Up of Participants of a Sibling Support Program. Seattle, WA: University of Washington (2005).
- D'Arcy F, Flynn J, McCarthy Y, O'Connor C, Tierney E. Sibshops. An evaluation of an interagency model. J Intellect Disabil. (2005) 9:43– 57. doi: 10.1177/1744629505049729
- 29. Opening Hearts. *SibTeens* (2019). Available online at: https://www.openinghearts.ca/sibteens/ (accessed June 2, 2021).
- Cutrona CE. Social support principles for strengthening families: messages from the USA. In: Canavan J, Dolan P, Pinkerton J, editors. *Family Support: Direction From Diversity*. London: Jessica Kingsley (2000). p. 103–22.
- Arnold CK, Heller T. Caregiving experiences and outcomes: wellness of adult siblings of people with intellectual disabilities. *Curr Dev Disord Rep.* (2018) 5:143–9. doi: 10.1007/s40474-018-0143-4
- Dyke P, Mulroy S, Leonard H. Siblings of children with disabilities: challenges and opportunities. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr.* (2009) 98:23– 4. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2008.01168.x
- Hall SA, Rossetti Z. The roles of adult siblings in the lives of people with severe intellectual and developmental disabilities. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. (2018) 31:423–34. doi: 10.1111/jar.12421
- Keim-Malpass J, Baernholdt M, Erickson JM, Ropka ME, Schroen AT, Steeves RH. Blogging through cancer: young women's persistent problems shared online. *Cancer Nurs.* (2013) 36:163–72. doi: 10.1097/NCC.0b013e31824eb879
- Marcus MA, Westra HA, Eastwood JD, Barnes KL, Group MMR. What are young adults saying about mental health? An analysis of internet blogs. J Med Internet Res. (2012) 14:e1868. doi: 10.2196/jmir.1868
- 36. Clarke JN, Lang L. Mothers whose children have ADD/ADHD discuss their children's medication use: an investigation of blogs. Soc Work Health Care. (2012) 51:402–16. doi: 10.1080/00981389.2012.6 60567
- Rice RE. Influences, usage, and outcomes of internet health information searching: multivariate results from the pew surveys. *Int J Med Inform*. (2006) 75:8–28. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2005.07.032
- Alsem MW, Ausems F, Verhoef M, Jongmans MJ, Meily-Visser JMA, Ketelaar M. Information seeking by parents of children with physical disabilities: an exploratory qualitative study. *Res Dev Disabil.* (2017) 60:125– 34. doi: 10.1016/j.ridd.2016.11.015
- Siblings Australia. Available online at: https://siblingsaustralia.org.au/ (accessed July 22, 2021).
- 40. Sibs. Available online at: https://www.sibs.org.uk/ (accessed July 22, 2021).
- Sibling Leadership Network. Available online at: https://siblingleadership.org/ (accessed July 22, 2021).
- 42. *The Sibling Collaborative*. Available online at: https://sibcollab.ca/ (accessed July 22, 2021).
- 43. Ontario Brain Institute. *Ways Community Members can Participate in the Stages of Research.* Toronto, ON: Ontario Brain Institute (2019).

- 44. Smits D-W, van Meeteren K, Klem M, Alsem M, Ketelaar M. Designing a tool to support patient and public involvement in research projects: the involvement matrix. *Res Involv Engagem.* (2020) 6:30. doi: 10.1186/s40900-020-00188-4
- Bowen GA. Document analysis as a qualitative research method. *Qual Res J.* (2009) 9:27–40. doi: 10.3316/QRJ0902027
- Children's Healthcare Canada. Our Members and Patrons (2021). Available online at: https://www.childrenshealthcarecanada.ca/members-patrons (accessed April7, 2021)
- Orr E, Jack S, Sword W, Ireland S, Ostolosky L. Understanding the blogging practices of women undergoing in vitro fertilization (IVF): a discourse analysis of women's IVF blogs. *Qual Rep.* (2017) 22:1364– 82. doi: 10.46743/2160-3715/2017.2927
- Altheide DL, Schneider CJ. Process of document analysis. In: *Qualitative Media Analysis*. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications Inc (2013). p. 39–74. doi: 10.4135/9781452270043
- Hsieh H-F, Shannon SE. Three approaches to qualitative content analysis. Qual Health Res. (2005) 15:1277–88. doi: 10.1177/10497323052 76687
- Bowen GA. Supporting a grounded theory with an audit trail: an illustration. *Int J Soc Res Methodol.* (2009) 12:305–16. doi: 10.1080/136455708021 56196
- Lincoln Y, Guba EG. Naturalistic Inquiry. Beverly Hills: SAGE (1985). doi: 10.1016/0147-1767(85)90062-8
- Krefting L. Rigor in qualitative research: the assessment of trustworthiness. *Am J Occup Ther.* (1991) 45:214–22. doi: 10.5014/ajot.45.3.214
- Moser A, Korstjens I. Series: practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *Eur J Gen Pract.* (2018) 24:9–18. doi: 10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Patton MQ. Enhancing the quality and credibility of qualitative analysis. *Health Serv Res.* (1999) 34 (5 Pt. 2):1189–208.
- Kinross L. A Twin's Bond Sparks Brilliance (2015). Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/twins-bondsparks-brilliance (accessed March 12, 2021).
- 56. Kinross L. New Book Explores Sibling Emotions About Disability (2016). Available online at: https://www.hollandbloorview. ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/new-book -explores-sibling-emotions-about-disability (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. "Why Do You Love Jacob More Than Us?". Holland Bloorview (2014). Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/why-do-youlove-jacob-more-us (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 58. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Around the World, Brothers and Sisters Are No Longer an Afterthought in a Disabled Child's Care (2019). Available online at: https://holland bloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/around-worldbrothers-and-sisters-are-no-longer-afterthought (accessed May 29, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Everything You Want to Know About Siblings (2014). Available online at: https://holland bloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/everything-youwant-know-about-siblings (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 60. Children's Hospital of Eastern Ontario. Hospitalization and Surgery. Available online at: https://www.cheo.on.ca/en/resources-and-support/hospitalization-andsurgery.aspx#Books (accessed March 14, 2021).
- 61. Kinross L. BBC Ouch: Brothers, Sisters and Disability (2016). Available online at: https://www.hollandbloorview.ca/ stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/bbc-ouch-brothers-sisters-and-disability (accessed March 12, 2021).
- 62. Children's Treatment Network. *Events*. Available online at: https://www.ctnsy.ca/Events.aspx (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Family Workshops and Resources. Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/services/family-workshops-resources (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Children's Hospital–London Health Sciences Centre. *Hematology and Oncology* (2021). Available online at: https://www.lhsc.on.ca/hematology-oncology (accessed May 30, 2021).

- McMaster Children's Hospital. Autism Program (2021). Available online at: https://www.hamiltonhealthsciences.ca/mcmaster-childrens-hospital/areasof-care/developmental-pediatrics-and-rehabilitation/autism-program/ (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Bayshore HealthCare. Canada's Young Caregivers (2019). Available online at: https://www.bayshore.ca/2019/07/19/canadas-young-caregivers/#: :text= InToronto%2CTheYoungCarers,illness%2Corlanguagebarrier (accessed May 30, 2021).
- SickKids. Women's Auxiliary Volunteers (WAV) (2021). Available online at: https://www.sickkids.ca/en/careers-volunteer/volunteering/womensauxiliary-volunteers/#bravery (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Kinross L. A Brother With Down Syndrome is the Focus of the Film "Music and Clowns" (2020). Available online at: https://research.holland bloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/brother-downsyndrome-focus-film-music-and-clowns (accessed May 29, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. A Magical Bond (2020). Available online at: http://bloom-parenting kidswithdisabilities.blogspot.com/2014/03/a-magical-bond\_12.html (accessed May 29, 2021).
- Kinross L. These Parents Took a Year Off to Learn to "Speak Oskar" (2017). Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/ stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/these-parents-took-year-learn-speak-oskar (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Kinross L. When a Child Has a Chronic Illness, Every Family Member Adapts (2018). Available online at: https://hollandbloor view.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/when-child-has-chronicillness-every-family-member-adapts (accessed March 12, 2021).
- 72. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. "The People That Have the Voice Are Too Tired to Raise Their Voice" (2018). Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/peoplehave-voice-are-too-tired-raise-their-voice (accessed March 12, 2021).
- BBC. My Autism and Me (2014). Available online at: https://holland bloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/my-autism-and-me (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 74. Kinross L. Single Mom Embraces "Life of Triage" With Autistic Boys (2016). Available online at: https://hollandbloor view.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/single-mom-embraces-lifetriage-autistic-boys (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Kinross L. New Hub to Address Developmental Disabilities, Mental Illness (2018). Available online at: https://hollandbloor view.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/new-hub-address-developmentaldisabilities-mental-illness (accessed March 12, 2021).
- 76. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Director Owen McIntyre's Film "My Life With My Brother Rhys" Wins the Filmpossible Award, Presented by Holland Bloorview in Partnership TIFF Kids International Film Festival (2016). Available online at: https://hollandbloor view.ca/stories-news-events/news/director-owen-mcintyres-film-my-life-mybrother-rhys-wins-filmpossible (accessed March 12, 2021).
- 77. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Malakhai and Nathaniel. Available online at: https://foundation. hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/stories/malakhai-and-nathaniel (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Montreal Children's Hospital. Seizing the Moment: Sarah's Journey. Available online at: https://www.thechildren.com/patientsfamilies/patient-testimonials/seizing-moment-sarahs-journey (accessed March 12, 2021).
- CBC News. Hospital for Sick Children's Celebrates Patients' Siblings (2015). Available online at: https://www.cbc.ca/ news/canada/toronto/hospital-for-sick-children-celebratespatients-siblings-1.3103361 (accessed June 2, 2021).
- SickKids. "Grieving in Chunks": Helping Kids Cope With the Death of a Loved One. (2017). Available online at: https://www.sickkids.ca/en/news/archive/ 2017/grieving-in-chunks-helping-kids-copewith-the-death-of-a-lovedone (accessed September 7, 2021).
- Rehabilitation 81. Holland Bloorview Kids Hospital. After Fall (2014). Available online at: https://holland the bloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/voice-andrew (accessed May 30, 2021).

- SickKids. Photovoice: The Power of Photography Brings Teen Cancer Patients and Siblings Together (2019). Available online at: https://www.sickkids.ca/en/news/archive/2019/photovoice-the-power-ofphotography-brings-teen-cancer-patients-and-siblings-together-/ (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. A Voice for ANDREW (2013). Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/voiceandrew (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Montreal Children's Hospital. Former Volunteer Brings Siblings Together at the Just for Kids Sibling Park (2019). Available online at: https://www.thechildren.com/news-and-events/latest-news/formervolunteer-brings-siblings-together-just-kids-sibling-park (accessed May 30, 2021).
- 85. Kinross Young Other L. Carers and Pieces Disability News (2017). Available online of at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/youngcarers-and-other-pieces-disability-news (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Montreal Children's Hospital. Sibling drop-off program launches in the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) (2017). Available online at: https://www.thechildren.com/news-and-events/latest-news/sibling-dropprogram-launches-neonatal-intensive-care-unit-nicu (accessed May 30, 2021).
- SickKids. Genome Testing for Siblings of Individuals With Autism May Detect Diagnosis Before Symptoms Appear (2019). Available online at: https://www.sickkids.ca/en/news/archive/2019/genome-testing-for-siblingsof-individuals-with-autism-may-detect-diagnosis-before-symptoms-appear/ (accessed June 2, 2021).
- Montreal Children's Hospital. Seeing Double: Siblings Diagnosed With Same Rare Disease (2018). Available online at: https://www.thechildren.com/news-and-events/latest-news/seeing-doublesiblings-diagnosed-same-rare-disease (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Siblings Say Depression in Adults 89. Kinross L. Disabled Their Тор Worry (2018). Available is online at https://hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/siblingssay-depression-disabled-adults-their-top-worry (accessed May 30, 2021).
- SickKids. SickKids-Led Team Sheds More Light on New Autoinflammatory Disease (2018). Available online at: https://www.sickkids.ca/en/news/archive/2018/sickkids-led-team-shedsmore-light-on-new-autoinflammatory-disease-/ (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Here's One Video Game Parents Will Welcome Into Their Home. Available online at: https://foundation.hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/stories/heresone-video-game-parents-will-welcome-their-home (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Jones M. Maritza's Dream: Games That Make Therapy Fun (2015). Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/ stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/maritzas-dream-games-make-therapy-fun (accessed March 12, 2021).
- Montreal Children's Hospital. Scientific Breakthrough: Promising New Target for Immunotherapy (2018). Available online at: https://muhc.ca/newsroom/news/scientific-breakthrough-promising-newtarget-immunotherapy (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Sharp MK. Taking Steps, Together, With "Upsee" (2014). Available online at: http://bloom-parentingkidswithdisabilities.blogspot.com/2014/ 04/taking-steps-together-with-upsee.html (accessed May 30, 2021).
- IWK Health Centre. Active Research Areas. Available online at: https://www.iwk.nshealth.ca/research/active-research-areas (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Participate in Research. Available online at: https://research. hollandbloorview.ca/get-involved-give/participate-in-research (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Kinross L. How Difficult Could Caregiving be? This Sister Found Out. (2016). Available online at: http://bloomparentingkidswithdisabilities.blogspot.com/2016/02/how-difficultcould-caregiving-be-this.html (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Isn't a Person More Than a Brain? (2013). Available online at:

http://bloom-parentingkidswithdisabilities.blogspot.com/2013/07/isntperson-more-than-brain.html (accessed May 30, 2021).

- Montreal Children's Hospital. One Breath at a Time. Available online at: https://www.thechildren.com/patients-families/patient-testimonials/ one-breath-time (accessed May 30, 2021).
- 100. Hamilton Health Sciences. Opting for an Ostomy: A Young Woman's Journey With Crohn's (2017). Available online at: https://www. hamiltonhealthsciences.ca/share/abby-colling/ (accessed Mar 12, 2021).
- Provincial Health Services Authority. *Rosalind's Story*. Available online at: http://www.phsa.ca/health-info/hearing-loss-early-language/storiesfrom-families/rosalinds-story (accessed May 30, 2021).
- 102. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. Special Needs Parents: Here's How to Make Sure Your Other Kids Are Supported (2020). Available online at: https://holland bloorview.ca/stories-news-events/news/special-needs-parents-hereshow-make-sure-your-other-kids-are-supported (accessed May 30, 2021).
- Reid K. The Inherited Metabolic Disorders News (2011). Available online at: https://www.lhsc.on.ca/media/2486/download (accessed June 2, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. SibKit. Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/sites/default/files/2020-06/ABI-SibKit-May2020-Accessible.pdf (accessed June 2, 2021).
- Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. *SibKits*. Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/services/family-workshops-resources/familyresource-centre/online-family-resources-centre/sibkits (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 106. Kinross L. A Child's Brain Injury Has Ripple Effects on Siblings. SibKit is a Safe Space to Explore Them (2019). Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/stories-news-events/BLOOM-Blog/childsbrain-injury-has-ripple-effects-siblings-sibkit-safe-space (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 107. Timmons V, Breitenbach M, MacIsaac M. A Resource Guide for Parents of Children with Autism: Supporting Inclusive Practice (2016). Available online at: https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/sites/default/files/publications/eelc\_ autism\_guide\_for\_parents.pdf (accessed June 2, 2021).
- Timmons V, Breitenbach M, MacIsaac M. Educating Children about Autism in an Inclusive Classroom (2016). Available online at: https://www.princeedwardisland.ca/en/publication/educating-childrenabout-autism-inclusive-classroom (accessed June 2, 2021).
- 109. Children's Hospital–London Health Sciences Centre. *Helping Schools Cope With Childhood Cancer* (2011). Available online at: https://www.lhsc.on.ca/media/1491/download (accessed June 2, 2021).
- 110. Holland Bloorview Hospital. Kids Rehabilitation Parent Tipsheet: Siblings Supporting (2018). Available online https://hollandbloorview.ca/services/family-workshopsat: resources/family-resource-centre/online-family-resources-centre/parent-0 (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 111. BC Children's Hospital. *Tips to Help Your Child Cope With a Brother's or Sister's Surgery*. Available online at: http://www.bcchildrens.ca/Child-Life-site/Documents/Surgerytipsheet-SIBLINGS.docx (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 112. Holland Bloorview Kids Rehabilitation Hospital. *Tips for Inpatient Siblings*. Available online at: https://hollandbloorview.ca/services/family-workshops-resources/familyresource-centre/online-family-resources-centre/tips (accessed May 29, 2021).
- 113. Zhao Y, Zhang J. Consumer health information seeking in social media: a literature review. *Health Info Libr J.* (2017) 34:268–83. doi: 10.1111/hir.12192
- 114. Freeman M, Stewart D, Cunningham CE, Gorter JW. Information needs of young people with cerebral palsy and their families during the transition to adulthood: a scoping review. J Transit Med. (2018) 1:1– 16. doi: 10.1515/jtm-2018-0003
- Dansby RA, Turns B, Whiting JB, Crane J. A phenomenological content analysis of online support seeking by siblings of people with autism. J Fam Psychother. (2018) 29:181–200. doi: 10.1080/08975353.2017.1395256
- 116. Russell DJ, Sprung J, McCauley D, Kraus de Camargo O, Buchanan F, Gulko R, et al. Knowledge exchange and discovery in the age of social media: the journey from inception to establishment of a parent-led web-based research

advisory community for childhood disability. J Med Internet Res. (2016) 18:e293. doi: 10.2196/jmir.5994

- Davys D, Mitchell D, Haigh C. Futures planning, parental expectations and sibling concern for people who have a learning disability. *J Intellect Disabil.* (2010) 14:167–83. doi: 10.1177/1744629510385625
- Tozer R, Atkin K. "Recognized, valued and supported"? The experiences of adult siblings of people with autism plus learning disability. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. (2015) 28:341–51. doi: 10.1111/jar.12145
- 119. Leane M. "I don't care anymore if she wants to cry through the whole conversation, because it needs to be addressed": adult siblings' experiences of the dynamics of future care planning for brothers and sisters with a developmental disability. *J Appl Res Intellect Disabil.* (2020) 33:950–61. doi: 10.1111/jar.12716
- Davys D, Mitchell D, Haigh C. Futures planning adult sibling perspectives. Br J Learn Disabil. (2015) 43:219–26. doi: 10.1111/bld.12099
- 121. Leonard H, Foley K-R, Pikora T, Bourke J, Wong K, McPherson L, et al. Transition to adulthood for young people with intellectual disability: the experiences of their families. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2016) 25:1369– 81. doi: 10.1007/s00787-016-0853-2
- 122. Waldboth V, Patch C, Mahrer-Imhof R, Metcalfe A. Living a normal life in an extraordinary way: a systematic review investigating experiences of families of young people's transition into adulthood when affected by a genetic and chronic childhood condition. *Int J Nurs Stud.* (2016) 62:44– 59. doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.07.007
- 123. Goldman B, CBC Radio. Cake, Balloons, Goodbye: What Happens When Your Special Needs Child Ages Out of the System CBC Radio (2018). Available online at: https://www.cbc.ca/radio/whitecoat/cake-balloons-goodbye-what-happenswhen-your-special-needs-child-ages-out-of-the-system-1.4528167 (accessed May 9, 2021).
- 124. Joly E. Transition to adulthood for young people with medical complexity: an integrative literature review. J Pediatr Nurs. (2015) 30:e91–103. doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2015.05.016

- 125. Children's Healthcare Canada. *Health Hub in Transition* (2021). Available online at: https://www.transitionhub.ca/ (accessed March 31, 2021).
- 126. Cross A, Rosenbaum P, Grahovac D, Brocklehurst J, Kay D, Baptiste S, et al. A web-based knowledge translation resource for families and service providers (the "F-words" in childhood disability knowledge hub): developmental and pilot evaluation study. JMIR Rehabil Assist Technol. (2018) 5:e10439. doi: 10.2196/ 10439
- 127. Nguyen T, Henderson D, Stewart D, Hlyva O, Punthakee Z, Gorter JW. You never transition alone! exploring the experiences of youth with chronic health conditions, parents and healthcare providers on self-management. *Child Care Health Dev.* (2016) 42:464–72. doi: 10.1111/cch. 12334

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Nguyen, Davis, Bellefeuille, Havens, Jack, Di Rezze, Ketelaar and Gorter. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# A Mixed-Methods Feasibility Study of Integrated Pediatric Complex Care: Experiences of Parents With Care and the Value of Parent Engagement in Research

Oksana Hlyva<sup>1</sup>, Charlene Rae<sup>1</sup>, Shelby Deibert<sup>1</sup>, Rakhshan Kamran<sup>2</sup>, Haniah Shaikh<sup>2</sup>, Lehana Thabane<sup>3</sup>, Peter Rosenbaum<sup>1</sup>, Anne Klassen<sup>1</sup> and Audrey Lim<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Michael G. DeGroote School of Medicine, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Health, Research Methods, Evidence & Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

# Reviewed by:

Patricia Welch Saleeby, Bradley University, United States Britta Gebhard, South Westphalia University of Applied Sciences, Germany

> \*Correspondence: Audrey Lim limau@mcmaster.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Disability, Rehabilitation, and Inclusion, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

> Received: 15 May 2021 Accepted: 15 September 2021 Published: 28 October 2021

#### Citation:

Hlyva O, Rae C, Deibert S, Kamran R, Shaikh H, Thabane L, Rosenbaum P, Klassen A and Lim A (2021) A Mixed-Methods Feasibility Study of Integrated Pediatric Complex Care: Experiences of Parents With Care and the Value of Parent Engagement in Research. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:710335. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.710335 **Introduction:** Children with medical complexity (CMC) are among the most vulnerable children in society. These children and their families face challenges of fragmented care and are at risk for poorer health outcomes. Families with CMC play a vital role in providing care and navigating the complexities of healthcare systems. It is essential to understand the best ways to engage these families in research to improve the care and optimize the health of CMC.

**Objectives:** This study explored parent engagement within the context of a feasibility study evaluating an Integrated Tertiary Complex Care (ITCC) clinic created to support CMC closer to home. This paper aimed: (1) to understand the family experiences of care and (2) to explore parent engagement in the study.

**Method:** This mixed-methods feasibility study included three components. First, feedback from focus groups was used to identify the common themes that informed interviews with parents. Second, one-on-one interviews were conducted with parents to explore their experience with care, such as the ITCC clinic, using an interpretative description approach. Third, the questionnaires were completed by parents at baseline and 6-months post-baseline. These questionnaires included demographic and cost information and three validated scales designed to measure the caregiver strain, family-centered care, and parental health. The recruitment rate, percentage completion of the questionnaires, and open-ended comments were used to assess parent engagement in the study.

**Results:** The focus groups involved 24 parents, of which 19 (14 women, five men) provided comments. The findings identified the importance of Complex Care Team (CC Team) accessibility, local access, and family-centered approach to care. The challenges noted were access to homecare nursing, fatigue, and lack of respite affecting caregiver well-being. In this study, 17 parents participated in one-on-one interviews. The identified themes relevant to care experience were proximity, continuity, and coordination of care.

The parents who received care through the ITCC clinic appreciated receiving care closer to home. The baseline questionnaires were completed by 44 of 77 (57%) eligible parents. Only 24 (31%) completed the 6-month questionnaire. The challenges with study recruitment and follow-up were identified.

**Conclusion:** Family engagement was a challenging yet necessary endeavor to understand how to tailor the healthcare to meet the complex needs of families caring for CMC.

Keywords: qualitative, mixed methods, feasibility study, children medical complexity, complex care, patient engagement

# INTRODUCTION

Children with medical complexity (CMC) are among the most vulnerable children in society. They have multiple chronic conditions and significant functional limitations and are dependent on life-sustaining technology, such as tracheostomy, home mechanical ventilation, and enteral feeding tubes for daily survival (1-3). CMC are at very high risk of multiple and prolonged hospitalizations, frequent medical errors, and poor health outcomes (4, 5). CMC comprise only 0.67% of all children in Ontario (6), but this group utilizes about one-third of all the provincial child health resources, thereby having a substantial impact on the healthcare system (1, 7, 8). A study from the Canadian Institute for Health Information reported that over a 2year period, the hospital costs associated with children and youth with medical complexity were \$866 million (9). CMC accounted for 37% of all hospital admissions and 54% of total days in the hospital (9). Similarly, the impact of caring and coordinating complex, fragmented care for such children is substantial for the families.

Care for CMC requires close monitoring by multiple healthcare providers (10-12). Different care delivery models exist for CMC, such as primary care-centered frameworks, consultative or co-management-centered models, and episodebased models (10). The primary care-centered frameworks can be based in the community or tertiary care centers and focus on providing coordinated care for CMC through a dedicated primary care center (10). These models, where offered, serve as the first entry-point for CMC to access the healthcare (10). The co-management-centered models, on the contrary, are not the first entry-point for CMC and encompass subspecialty providers in tertiary centers coordinating care with primary care providers in the community (10). Last, episode-based models focus on providing care during a discrete and acute period of illness and are usually time-limited in nature (10). Examples of episodebased models include transitional care homes where CMC are between hospitalization and home. The successful complex care programs at tertiary care centers deliver better care at a lower cost due to a reduction in preventable inpatient and emergency department visits (12-15).

Despite the benefits of different models of care, CMC and their families still face barriers when accessing the complex care programs in tertiary centers. Since many children do not live near the tertiary care centers (16), traveling to these centers can present financial, physical, and social challenges for the caregivers and their CMC. Further, poor communication across the healthcare settings may limit the appreciation of tertiary healthcare providers of the breadth of community services that can provide additional support to CMC (10, 17). The strategies to overcome these barriers include creating enhanced primary care center-based complex care programs dedicated to care for CMC with resources and staff centralized at a tertiary center, care coordinators, and standardized care coordination quality improvement tools (1, 10, 14, 15, 18, 19). Integration of a tertiary care center with a community-oriented pediatrics team, different from the previous CMC care models, has been shown to provide cost-saving benefits, increased family-centeredness, decreased hospitalization rates, decreased parental work loss, and higher family and healthcare provider satisfaction (20-22).

The Integrated Tertiary Complex Care (ITCC) clinic is the first clinic of its kind where a tertiary complex care clinic is embedded in a treatment center of children. The ITCC clinic is located within the Niagara Children's Center, 80 km from the McMaster Children's Hospital (MCH), a large tertiary hospital for children (23). Established in 2015, the ITCC clinic is a collaboration between a tertiary academic hospital and regional children's treatment center, created to coordinate, support, and bring care closer to home for CMC. Implemented as a monthly full-day clinic, the MCH CC Team consisting of a pediatrician, nurse practitioner, and respiratory therapist travel to Niagara to conduct clinics in partnership with the allied health and community team at Niagara Children's Center (24). The aim of the ITCC clinic is to provide comprehensive, holistic care for CMC, improving communication between the tertiary, community healthcare partners, and parents of CMC while alleviating the travel burden to a tertiary center. It is important to evaluate the ITCC in comparison with the existing models of care to ensure CMC are receiving optimal care.

To evaluate the ITCC clinic, parent engagement is necessary to capture the perspective of the user of this system. Parent engagement can include consulting, providing information to inform decisions, sharing leadership, and defining agendas (25). It is notable that the higher levels of engagement, such as shared leadership, are not always desired by the patients and families, and not always the most effective, depending on the research and clinical context (25). Increasingly, the researchers and clinicians view parent engagement as an essential way to inform better care and include patient experiences to help balance an unstated bias toward the clinical and system outcomes (25). A recent literature examining the quality of care for CMC has emphasized the need for parent research involvement through consultation to evaluate the implemented improvements in care provision and provide crucial feedback to the providers to facilitate the sustainable changes (26).

A pilot study was conducted to evaluate the ITCC clinic model of care for CMC, reported in a forthcoming paper. This paper outlines the findings of a secondary data analysis of the pilot study, aiming: (1) to understand family experiences of care and (2) to explore parent engagement.

# **METHODS**

This mixed-methods feasibility study involved a Family Engagement Day with focus groups, one-on-one interviews with parents, and the completion of questionnaires. The study took place from October 2016 to March 2018 at MCH and the newly created ITCC clinic within Niagara Children's Center in the Niagara Peninsula. Ethics approval for all aspects of this study was obtained from the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board prior to the recruitment (#1011).

# **Participants**

The parents of CMC, from two different models of care, within the catchment area of MCH who were followed by the CC Team were recruited for the study. The parents who met the study eligibility criteria and consented to be contacted by the research team were invited to participate. They were subsequently screened for eligibility with the following criteria: they were the primary caregiver(s) to the patient and they could read and understand English. The parents were excluded from the pilot study for reasons that included caregiver hardship (such as the parent being ill or child being acutely ill). An informed written consent was obtained from all the participants through clinic visits or by mail.

# **Data Collection**

This study is a secondary analysis using data collected as part of a pilot feasibility study evaluating an ITCC model of care. It involved three sources: focus groups, one-on-one interviews, and questionnaires. The data collection methods used in the feasibility study are described below.

### Family Engagement Day

As part of a Family Engagement Day held in March 2016 at MCH, focus group discussions were facilitated by the CC Team. The focus groups were designed to engage parents and healthcare providers to identify the challenges and facilitators with the goal of improving the delivery of care to CMC. The day involved 24 parents, 24 healthcare providers, and 12 stakeholders (e.g., managers of Local Health Integration Unit (LHIN), CEOs, and school board representatives). There were five breakout groups, each consisting of a facilitator (member of the CC team), parents (ITCC and tertiary care), a healthcare provider, and a stakeholder. The breakout groups were used during the two sessions. In the first session, "Understanding Your Needs –

Value Stream Mapping Exercise," the participants were asked the following: (1) Describe your ideal care and current challenges; (2) What does a typical care journey look like?; and (3) Describe how you feel during your care journey. During the second session, "What Matters Most? Interactive Discussion," the participants were asked to discuss the key elements for successful complex care and coordination, such as: Medical Care Coordination, Home and Community Care Coordination, Knowledge Building for Families, and Community/Partner Engagement. The key findings in the feasibility study included the needs of families: (1) better communication between inpatient and outpatient services, between agencies, and between the hospital and community services, (2) coordination of multiple appointments, and (3) trained professionals that are competent and willing to care for a child with medical complexity. These findings were used to structure the questions in the interview guide for the next stage of the study. Focus group sessions were audiotaped and transcribed. The manual identification of themes was done by two coders using a line-by-line approach as a unit of analysis.

### **One-On-One Interviews**

Recruitment for one-on-one interviews took place from August to December 2017. A purposeful sample of parents was recruited from tertiary hospital catchment regions with a focused representation of parents from the Niagara region. A written consent was obtained at the time of the interview or through mail. Informed by the focus group findings, the aim of the interviews was to gain an in-depth understanding of the family experiences of care at both the tertiary care site and the ITCC clinic, as well as care coordination through the new model of care at the ITCC clinic.

The interviews were conducted by an experienced qualitative researcher who used a semi-structured interview guide. After the initial eight interviews were completed, an interim analysis was conducted to further refine the interview guide. The interviews were transcribed, de-identified, and analyzed using NVivo 10 software. The interviews were coded line-by-line to identify the themes and subthemes relating to family experiences of care and parent engagement. The interviews were conducted until no new concepts were identified. Prior to analysis, the codes and full interview transcripts were reviewed by OH to ensure that coding accurately captured information in the full transcripts. Informed by the interpretive description method, the interviews were analyzed using a rigorous constant comparative and iterative approach to identify and describe the themes and subthemes (27). The results were then shared with the team, discussed, and refined.

### Questionnaires

During the feasibility study, the parents were invited by phone or in person to complete the questionnaire online or using a paper booklet. Timing of completion was either during a clinic on the day of scheduled appointment of their child with the CC Team, or outside the clinic at the time convenient for the family. All data were entered into a Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap, Vanderbilt University, TN, USA) database supported by the Department of Pediatrics at McMaster University, ON, Canada. A link to complete the 6-month follow-up questionnaire directly into REDCap was sent *via* email to the parents who provided an email. Those who did not provide an email were given a paper copy of the questionnaire in the clinic.

The questionnaire included demographic questions, collected through standardized survey questions, such as caregiver age, gender, race, marital status, relationship to child, and education. The parents were also asked about their health and medical condition of their child. The impact of the chronic illness of the child on their family was measured using the Impact on Family Scale, a 15-item scale that notably examines the financial burdens as well as emotional concerns for families (28). Parental perceptions of whether the care provided displayed familycenteredness were assessed using the Measure of Process of Care (MPOC-20). The MPOC-20 is comprised of five subscales: respectful and supportive care, enabling and partnership, providing general information, providing specific information, and coordination and comprehensive care (29). The EQ5D-5L (EuroQol Office, The Netherlands) was used to assess the health status of the caregivers. This scale asks about five dimensions: mobility, self-care, usual activities, pain/discomfort, and anxiety/depression (30). A series of questions focused on out-of-pocket costs for medical care were included to assess how well this data could be obtained from the parents. Finally, at the end of the questionnaire, an open space was available for parents to provide any additional comments they had for the research team. The open-ended comments were coded to identify the themes and subthemes relating to family experiences of care and parent engagement.

Parent engagement was further examined in questionnaire data by assessing both the response rates to the questionnaires as well as completion rates of each section of the questionnaire.

# RESULTS

# Aim #1: Family Experience With Care

This section draws on the focus groups, one-on-one interviews, and open-ended comments from the questionnaires.

### Focus Group and One-On-One Interviews

The focus groups involved 24 parents, 19 (14 women, five men) of which provided comments during the session. The analysis of the focus group sessions identified the importance of available tertiary care providers, a coordinated care plan, local access to care, and a family-centered approach to care delivery. The findings included the challenges related to accessing trained community nursing, social isolation, and lack of respite, all of which contributed to the burden of care and adversely affected the well-being of caregivers. The participants welcomed and valued the integration of complex care services into the community.

One-on-one interviews were conducted with 17 parents (as shown in **Table 1**). The key themes from the interviews illustrate family experiences related to the following: proximity and continuity of care closer to home, care coordination, accessibility and communication, and family-centered care. Themes 1 and 2 are specific to the ITCC clinic while the continuity and

TABLE 1   Demographic characteristics of participants in one-on-one inte	rviews
(N = 17).	

Characteristic	N
Gender	
Female	13
Male	4
Age	
20–29	2
30–39	7
40–49	6
Missing	2
Race	
White	15
Other	2
Marital status	
Common law/Married	13
Single/Separated	4
Relationship to child	
Biological Mother	12
Biological Father	4
Foster Parent	1
Education	
University or College Degree/Diploma	12
Some Post-Secondary (University or College)	3
Missing data	2
Employment status	
Employed full-time	9
Employed part-time	4
Receiving social assistance	2
Receiving unemployment insurance	1
Student	1

coordination of care were also reported to be valuable to the partcipants receiving their care at the MCH.

# *Theme 1: Complex Care—Proximity and Continuity of Care Closer to Home*

This theme builds on the findings from the Family Engagement Day focus groups that highlighted the challenges associated with disjointed care, travel, and long-distance appointments. In the one-on-one interviews, the parents whose child received care through the ITCC clinic appreciated the proximity of care to their home and the easier access to the allied health professionals. Receiving care closer to home was reported to have many advantages. The parents appreciated that, in addition to being close, the team came well prepared with the medical supplies and had access to the medical records of their child:

I think what works for me is that it's close and that it's Dr. [name]. And they ... come equipped with quite a few things. So, last time ... normal saline... nebules [were] on back order, and ... they had some. And they had silver nitrate ... that they were able to give us [for granulation tissue]. So, they come well prepared. ... And it's nice that they have access to [child's] lab values... so we were able to bring that  $up \dots I$  just love that it's close... It's still 40 min [drive], but it's not an hour and a half, so it's less than a couple hours in the car. (P1)

Since the proximity of the clinic meant shorter travel times to the appointments, the parents reported easier logistics, requiring fewer arrangements regarding the time taken off work, childcare for other children, packing all the necessary medical equipment, and navigating unfamiliar hospital and parking environments. Having appointments in the community was less disruptive to the lives and schedules of families:

So, for [child] to go to [the tertiary center], [they miss] a whole day of school... and [they're] already behind, so missing a lot of days, it impacts [them] a lot... If [child] just has to go up the road... then [they] only miss half a day, if that. (P16)

Receiving care through the Children's center also meant a unique benefit for children attending the preschool on site. The parents appreciated the convenient access to the allied health professionals at the center, with some parents wishing for an extension of these services for school-aged children as well.

In addition to proximity, the parents emphasized that familiarity of the team with their child made the process of receiving care less overwhelming for the family:

I love that it's Dr [name]. [With another physician] ... I'm having to retell [child's] story, and they don't know [child] ... If it's any other physician, then I will ask ... to schedule me in when Dr [name] is going to be in Niagara. ... I love that it is a team ... and ... the same nurse practitioner every time. (P17)

I know that group of people well.... [the nurse and respiratory therapist]... know the kids well ... [and] ... all the pertinent questions to ask. It's an easy... process. Easy to remember everything you need to talk about and you get things done. (P1)

With proximity and continuity came important relationships that allowed for more proactive and timely care, sometimes eliminating the need to go to the Emergency Department (ED) or Emergency Room (ER):

And just being able to say, "This is what's going on. What do you think?" And for [the physician] to say, "You need to go to the ER or we're running a clinic today. Why don't you come in to the clinic? And we've been able to treat [the sick child] that way. So... having the close relationship and the continuity... is pretty important. (P1)

Some parents suggested increasing the number of clinic days at the Niagara Children's Center and emphasized the need for access to the trained staff on a regular basis to meet extensive and often unexpected medical needs of their child:

There's a couple of times [when the child had an episode] ... and it's just we've been fortunate enough that it's been a Complex Care day ... and the team has been down here. So, we were able just to drive the 7 min to it... (P14)

Given the complexities of their children, parents often emphasized the vital importance of continuity in their care:

[Child]'s very complex, and unless you see [them] often... And I know... we are one of very many patients part of the Complex Care team. So, it's really hard to invest in your patients when you see them a few times a year... With that said, I think that we get excellent care. (P17)

The continuity of care, consistency, and expertise were valued more highly than proximity of the clinic to their home, so that some families would still be prepared to take the drive to the tertiary center to be seen by the CC Team familiar with the medical complexity of their child.

#### Theme 2: Care Coordination

Having experienced fragmented care, the parents overwhelmingly expressed their appreciation for care coordination through the CC Team. A complex care system navigator scheduling and coordinating appointments with various subspecialty clinics made a significant difference: It minimized travel to the hospital and distress to children and their family.

Given the systemic challenges parents often face with care coordination, the parents attending the ITCC clinic appreciated the simplified process and the effort of team to coordinate and streamline the complex care of the child despite the inherent challenges:

*They try to make things easier when they can. Dr. [name] is always pushing to try and get appointments together. [Doctor] would like to see me not have to travel as much. (P1)* 

Care coordination by the CC Team reduced the stress in very important ways. For example, having all involved healthcare providers communicate and synchronize their plans at the ITCC clinic provided a comprehensive holistic approach to care and was reported to be very helpful to families:

They can... share information with therapists at the Children's Center as well.... Any issue, they can speak with each other about it ... to come up with a plan. And it's not me having to go and try and find things out... get information from this person here, and then get information from this person there. They're all linked together. So, everybody is in sync. It's less stressful. (P16)

Care coordination was often described as easier to manage, less time intensive, and less anxiety-provoking.

#### Theme 3: Accessibility and Communication

All parents agreed that different communication options, such as phone, text, or email made the CC Team members more accessible. In the group followed at the tertiary hospital, parents described access to the CC Team as excellent and the team as very responsive and accommodating, often allowing for parents to receive the clinic appointments when needed and allowing for same-day scheduling. Access to the team reduced the ED visits and other urgent care appointments for parents in both the tertiary hospital and the ITCC groups. Being able to reach the team over the phone often allowed parents to get faster care, or to determine if travel to the hospital was indeed necessary. Some parents valued the opportunity to send pictures and get professional guidance with advice that allowed them to manage the situation on their own. Access to the team minimized the need to travel, and reduced the stress and healthcare resource use for parents:

If I run out of a prescription or something wasn't [available]... Sometimes... I'll call to reorder a med, and they just don't send it.... The names on the bottle is often different doctors, right, and then it doesn't get to that same doctor. So, I know that I can always text and ... it gets taken care of within 24 h.... So, that's extremely helpful. That takes a lot of stress and pressure off... otherwise it would be visit to come in and get a new prescription, 'cause you ... can't go without it. (P1)

Understandably, since many parents described travel with their child as stressful, costly, and emotionally exhausting, the parents valued the ability to access care virtually whenever it was possible.

#### Theme 4: Family-Centered Care

All parents agreed that the CC Team provided family-centered care and appreciated the relationships they had with the CC Team. For many parents, being validated and treated by the team as partners in the care and decision-making of their child was very important:

It's more... personalized. And you feel...included and ... valued and you feel like, "I'm not just like a nobody here. I matter to them too. Or my opinion matters here too." ... They do a really good [job] in making sure that you feel like part of the team. (P16)

Personalized care also meant the CC Team attended to the social and educational needs of the child, and not only their medical needs. For example, the CC Team offering to do a school visit was not expected, but highly appreciated by one parent:

Right now I'm emailing back and forth with [doctor] to see if we can organize a school visit where ... the team can come into [child's] class and answer... any questions students might have, and help in the social aspect ... in school. So, even little things like that.... I would have never thought that that's a service that they provide... you only think it's just... medical. But they go far more than just the medical. (P16)

The parents who attended the ITCC clinic described the team as responsive, respectful, and understanding, giving them time to ask questions and acknowledging that their child may present differently. Such understanding often translated into flexible thinking and treating each child as an individual first:

I never feel rushed. I always feel like I can ask as many questions as I want. I never feel ... that they're watching the clock and they're waiting for the next patient to come in, which I really do appreciate. And I always feel that we are asked how things are going and what we think is going on, because [child] presents very differently. For an ear infection, [child] is not pulling at [child's] ear or rubbing it ... [child] usually doesn't spike a temp. [child] is usually throwing up because it's causing [child's] gag reflex to be all out of whack. So, they respect our opinion. (P17)

The positive relationships with physicians, nurses, and staff were frequently reported to be a very important aspect of familycentered care throughout all the interviews. The parents highly regarded the responsiveness and accessibility of the CC Team to the needs of their child:

The relationship with the doctors here is excellent. I can always rely on them... to get the kids what they need.... I can always call when I have a problem. (P1)

The parents felt grateful and often emotional when describing the team members as "saint[s]" and "guardian angels" who are "passionate about the patients" and show that they value their child by "treating their child as gold":

Doctors and people involved is that ... five percent of people within their field who are not only experts, but they are empathetic. They get it. They understand your life is not typical ... I ... feel really fortunate that a lot of the five percent people have come into my life. ... I always say that if I could change any... everything for [child], I would in a heartbeat, but I would... [crying] I think I would feel lost because I've met so many great people because of [child]. (P17)

#### **Open-Ended Responses From the Questionnaire**

In total, 21 parents chose to provide open-ended comments *via* free form text at the end of the questionnaire.

In terms of family experience of care, most comments expressed appreciation of the parents for the care their children received through the CC Team. The team was described as "professional," "supportive," "caring," "kind," and "exceptional." The parents reported that they trusted the knowledge and expertise of the team about the care of their child and felt listened to and not rushed during their appointment. The parents were grateful for the help of the team with their concerns, coordination of appointments in an accommodating way, and how the team celebrated the milestones of their child' with enthusiasm. The parents appreciated how the team tried to make their lives easier and were understanding of their circumstances, which they noted was not the case outside of the complex care clinics. Overall, the parents highlighted that it was difficult advocating for their child on their own and they underscored the role of the CC Team beyond a "transactional" one. Some parents were grateful to the team for teaching them how to care for their child during very difficult times, whereas others attributed reduced hospital visits and the success of their child directly to the expert guidance of their CC Team. An example quote from a follow-up questionnaire shows the support from the perspective of a parent:

The complex care team is by far the most effective and competent team that we've dealt with over the past couple of years. You can tell they care and are invested in helping us make our child's health as best [as] it can be. They also work collectively to ensure there aren't gaps in our child's care. They go above and beyond to make sure we have what we need to care for our child and they give us hope

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 2}}\xspace$  ] The demographic characteristics of participants in the questionnaire study.

Characteristic	Asse	ssment 1	Assessment 2 36.7 (7.2)		
Age (mean (SD))	37	.3 (6.8)			
		Ν	%	N	%
Region	Hamilton or other	40	90.9	22	92
	Niagara	4	9.1	2	8
Gender	Female	39	88.6	19	79
	Male	5	11.4	5	21
Race	White	39	88.6	20	83
	Other	5	11.4	4	17
Relation to child	Biological Mother	35	79.5	19	79
	Biological Father	5	11.4	5	21
	Foster Parent	4	9.1	0	0

that this is what the health care system could look like if everyone invested the same time and energy into their patients. (P46)

#### Aim #2: Parent Engagement in Research Focus Group and One-On-One Interviews

In total, 24 parents of CMC were invited to attend the focus group, with 19 actively participating contributing comments in the transcripts. For the one-on-one interviews, 17 parents participated, with interviews lasting between 60 and 90 min.

In the one-on-one interviews, the parents viewed their engagement in research as validating their complex lives and as an indicator of family-centered care.

Doing these type of studies ... of trying to figure out how it's affecting us. ... It just goes to show how family-centered it really is. (P16)

#### Questionnaires

In total, 49 (64%) of 77 eligible primary caregivers consented to complete a questionnaire. Of these, 44 (57%) completed the initial questionnaire and 24 (31%) completed the 6-month follow-up questionnaire. The initial sample included four parents of children who attended the ITCC clinic, of whom two also completed the follow-up survey. The demographic characteristics for the sample are shown in **Table 2**.

For the three survey tools that were administered, the sub-scale and overall scores were obtained for the majority of parents ( $\geq$ 92%), with the exception of two sub-scales of the MPOC. The MPOC sub-scales of "Providing General Information" and "Providing Specific Information," during the initial assessment, had slightly lower completion rates of 82 and 86%, respectively. **Table 3** provides summary statistics by assessment for the questionnaires.

To capture the cost-related data proved challenging. The completion of cost data ranged from 78 to 96% for parents reporting out-of-pocket costs. The costs were reported for visits to the emergency room, community pediatrician, and family doctor, as well as hospital admissions. The costs provided included transportation [bus, taxi, and personal vehicle (km)]

and parking. The lowest completion rate at both assessment points was cost associated with visits to the community pediatricians. Prescription medication used by the child was reported by 34 and 18 parents at the initial assessment and followup, respectively. The complete cost data for both prescription and over-the-counter medication was reported as high (>90%) at both the initial and follow-up assessments. For devices and supplies at the initial assessment, 36 parents reported purchasing devices and supplies related to care, with nine having full coverage of costs by insurance. Of the 27 parents reporting outof-pocket costs, 21 provided costs estimates. At the follow-up assessment, the completion rates for device and supply costs increased with 20 parents reporting this cost, and five reporting full insurance coverage. In total, 14 of 15 parents with outof-pocket costs provided cost estimates with this variable. The overall costs could be calculated for all the questionnaires. However, only 32 of 44 and 18 of 24 parents at the initial and follow-up assessments, respectively, had complete cost data for all the elements. The remaining parents had at least one area of missing cost data, therefore the total cost value calculated might not be reflective of their experience.

Furthermore, the detailed open-ended comments from 21 parents provided insight into various areas of care as well as the questionnaire administration.

Challenges with the questionnaire completion identified by the parents related to time constraints and applicability of the questions to their family. The parents dedicated time to complete the questionnaire because they felt passionate about helping with the study and improving the care for the patient population. Some respondents indicated they would have preferred to engage in a conversation over the phone or in person, instead of completing a questionnaire. Feedback in the baseline questionnaires suggested that certain questions pertaining to costs needed to be "time specific" and to consider existing funding models:

If I was asked to complete this survey every year of [child's] life from birth to now, they would all look very different (far more medical appointments in [child's] first year–over 120). (P41)

This survey would be easier and more accurate if you did a yearly overall expense of medical supplies and found out how much ADP [public] funding parents received...as opposed to individual items like catheters etc. (P3)

Finally, the parents pointed out the unique circumstances of their family that made some questions not applicable (e.g., foster parents, parents who work full-time, and parents who work flexible hours). Some alluded to multiple complex factors in addition to the illness of their child's which "made some questions difficult to answer" and reminded the research team that "extraordinary expenses and circumstances do not fit in boxes but happen nonetheless." Some parents emphasized the often overlooked "opportunity cost" when the promised services and funding failed to deliver.

	Initial Assessment ( $N = 44$ )			Follow-up Assessment ( $N = 24$ )			
	Mean	SD	% complete	Mean	SD	% complete	
MPOC							
Respectful & Supportive Care	5.7	1.1	95	6.1	1.0	96	
Enabling & Partnership	5.6	1.1	95	6.0	1.1	96	
Providing General Information	4.0	1.7	82	4.0	1.6	96	
Providing Specific Information	4.6	1.8	86	5.0	1.7	96	
Coordination & Comprehensive Care	5.5	1.2	95	5.9	1.2	96	
EQ5D							
EQ5D Overall Score using CDN valuation	0.8	0.11	95	0.8	0.1	92	
Impact on Family							
Impact on Family Burden Score	43.8	9.1	95	45.1	8.2	96	
Impact on Family Financial Burden Score	14.4	4.0	95	14.4	3.0	96	

TABLE 3 | Summary statistics for the Measure of Process of Care (MPOC), EQ5D, and Impact on Family measures.

# DISCUSSION

This mixed-methods pilot study focused on the first integrated complex care clinic embedded in a children's treatment center that was implemented to provide multi-disciplinary complex care closer to home for CMC and their families. The ITCC clinic provided coordinated care for CMC and alleviated the burden of travel for families. Access to specialists trained to understand the comprehensive needs of their children in the community was an important aspect of the model of care to meet the continuous, intense needs of their children. Building on the knowledge gained from the Family Engagement Day focus groups, interviews, and questionnaires was used to understand family experiences of care and explore the parent engagement in the research study. Further, the data collected provided important information on the best ways to engage these families in research to improve care and optimize health of CMC. The parental perspectives provided valuable insights into the experience of their families with care, further demonstrating the importance of parent engagement in research (25, 26). The finding in our study regarding the parent capacity to fulfill the multitude of roles and tasks that go with caring and care coordinating for CMC is consistent with the other studies (31, 32). A recent systematic review suggests a growing body of research focusing on the health and well-being of CMC parents as primary caregivers (33). A scoping review on the interventions to improve the health and well-being of parents of children with special healthcare needs calls for careful tailoring to ensure that such interventions are both feasible for delivery within routine care settings, as well as relevant and accessible (34). The present study contributes to our understanding of feasibility in conjunction with the relevance and accessibility to families of CMC; however, future studies are needed to understand the feasibility and tailoring of interventions aimed to further alleviate the caregiver burden.

The care experience of the parents with the CC Team was overwhelmingly positive. The parents who were within the ITCC model of care reported to have reduced stress, disruption of daily life, and less travel time. The parents were very appreciative of the decreased burden related to care coordination and advocacy for multifaceted needs of their child, such as social and educational needs. Continuity, accessibility, and positive personalized relationships with the CC Team members were very highly regarded and valued. The parents felt heard, valued, and supported by the CC Team as partners in care of their child.

The information and communication were found to be important aspects of family experience. Improvements in the communication between the CC Team and allied health professionals were reported to have enhanced the management of CMC. Additionally, the parents indicated a strong need for proactive communication, with collaboration among all the stakeholders across different systems. This finding is consistent with other research on the vital importance of communication for parents of CMC (35) and other populations where the institutional policies regarding privacy adversely impacted the communication flow among all the stakeholders. In this respect, our pre-pandemic study illustrating the importance of accessibility via different communication modes is relevant to the present world of virtual care and is aligned with the call for a new "normal" in the post-pandemic care delivery (36). This new normal would include expanding the range, nature, and locations of services and supports for families as well as hybrid blended care delivery models since families still value hands-on, relationship-based, and personalized approaches.

The cost-related impact of caring for CMC is a relevant area of family experience. In the open-ended responses, the parents emphasized that extraordinary costs and lost opportunity costs cannot be captured adequately through the quantitative data. Our study underscores the extraordinary costs, which are not always medical and are associated with parenting and ensuring quality of life and optimal health outcomes for CMC. A self-directed funding and understanding what goes into the cost of raising a child with medical complexity would be important steps toward a positive change.

In addition to the intense involvement of parents in the care of their child, parents shared insights pertinent to our understanding of their engagement in research. The parents

appeared to be more engaged in qualitative compared with the quantitative data collection, as demonstrated by the response rates and completion of interviews. The Family Engagement Day was very well attended and was an effective method of engaging parents in shaping the next phases of the feasibility study that include the design of interview guides. While the questionnaires had a high rate of completion, overall quantitative data collection was challenging. Recruitment rates and consent rates for the study were low, and it was difficult to engage parents to complete the follow-up questionnaires. It was evident from the qualitative data that loss to (research) follow-up was likely due to time constraints, caregiver fatigue, or limited applicability of the questionnaire items to their child. The openended responses of the questionnaire offered useful insights and revealed the amenability of parents to qualitative over the quantitative data collection. Furthermore, the length of the interviews (up to 90 min) points to a possible preference for more personal, narrative, and reflective forms of engagement. The mixed-methods approach was useful to explore the areas of care deemed important by parents but not captured within the questionnaire design. It also allowed for some insights into the parental engagement within different research methods. It would be useful to further integrate the design of the questionnaire used in the quantitative data collection into Family Engagement Days and one-on-one interviews. This would help to ensure that the questionnaire developed is capturing data in a way that is meaningful for parents, potentially improving the response rates. Their involvement in the questionnaire design may help to improve the response rates by making the questions more meaningful to them, and easier for them to complete.

In addition to building research capacity to capture the complex "story books" of the families (37), the balance with regard to the extent and sustainability of parent engagement should be explored in the future studies. It is known that the families of CMC are consumed with managing health of their child, which often limits their ability to engage in research (38). The multitude of often-invisible roles and tasks parents perform as caregivers, and considerations for complex daily realities of these families require further exploration. While patient and family engagement has been around for the last 20 years, the relationships of the researchers with families are still in their early stages (22). More studies are needed on the impact of patient engagement on research (39) and care, as well as guidance on engaging patients and their families (22, 40).

Several limitations of this study merit consideration. First, recruitment for the questionnaire survey was low for several reasons. Some parents were ineligible for the study due to language, social considerations, and burden of illness/stress in this population. Of eligible parents, some parents were not available for the study recruitment discussions in the clinic prior to or following the appointment of their child and others approached in the clinic did not want to take part due to already prolonged duration of complex care appointments. The transition to telephone recruitment proved effective and moderately improved the recruitment rates. Although we invited all the eligible parents on patient lists to participate in this study, the perspectives of some parents might have been missed as it

is likely that those parents that are most engaged participated. Future research should aim to explore diverse methods of recruiting and engaging with parents who might not regularly participate in the research. Second, very few parents were recruited from the ITCC clinic (5 of 17 parents). A larger sample is needed from this clinic to capture a wider perspective from the parents to prevent potential bias. Third, even though the questionnaires were generally well-accepted, a few parents felt that some questions did not apply to the unique circumstances of their family, thus suggesting qualitative means may allow more nuanced ways to capture the temporal, contextual, and individual variability.

# CONCLUSION

Overall, the family experience of care was generally positive for the parents of CMC. In particular, the ITCC clinic model of care offers a positive experience for the CMC and families. The ITCC clinic provides CMC and families with holistic, multidisciplinary healthcare close to their home communities, which minimizes disruptions due to travel burden and offers coordinated care between the specialists from a tertiary center and community care providers. Even though the sample size was small, it appears that the models of care may have substantial influence on the experience of care of parents. Parent engagement in research through qualitative methods allowed for richer data collection and the ability to capture information, which might have been missed through a survey. Open-ended response options in the surveys provide a means of improving survey-based engagement methods. However, we found that the participant engagement remained low despite including open-ended response options in our survey compared with the qualitative components of our study. Knowing how best to engage families of CMC in research studies is necessary for future research to understand how to evaluate and tailor the healthcare to the complex needs of families caring for CMC.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

OH analyzed the qualitative data, drafted and edited the manuscript based on the critical feedback. HS, RK, CR, and SD assisted with the data analysis and writing of the paper. PR involved at various stages in discussions about the design of the

study and contributed to writing the final paper. AK assisted in the design of the study, the analysis, and critically reviewed the paper. LT provided statistical leadership, contributed to the design, and supervision of this study. AL contributed to the conception and design of the study, interpretation of the data, and revising the manuscript and edited the final version for submission. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This study was funded by a grant from the Hamilton Health Sciences Foundation.

### REFERENCES

- Cohen E, Kuo DZ, Agrawal R, Berry JG, Bhagat SKM, Simon TD, et al. Children with medical complexity: an emerging population for clinical and research initiatives. *Pediatrics*. (2011) 127:529–38. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-0910
- Burke RT, Alverson B. Impact of children with medically complex conditions. *Pediatrics*. (2010) 126:789–90. doi: 10.1542/peds.2010-1885
- Srivastava R, Stone BL, Murphy NA. Hospitalist care of the medically complex child. *Pediatr Clin North Am.* (2005) 52:1165– 87. doi: 10.1016/j.pcl.2005.03.007
- Slonim AD, LaFleur BJ, Ahmed W, Joseph JG. Hospital-reported medical errors in children. *Pediatrics*. (2003) 111:617–21. doi: 10.1542/peds.111.3.617
- Kelly AM, Kratz B, Bielski M, Rinehart PM. Implementing transitions for youth with complex chronic conditions using the medical home model. *Pediatrics*. (2002) 110:1322–7.
- 6. Canadian Association of Paediatric Health Centres (CAPHC), Complex Care Community of Practice. CAPHC Guideline for the Management of Medically Complex Children and Youth Through the Continuum of Care. Ottawa: Canadian Association of Paediatric Health Centres. (2018). Available online at: https://www.macpeds.com/documents/CAPHC%20National%20Complex %20Care%20Guideline%202018\_final.pdf
- Cohen E, Berry JG, Camacho X, Anderson G, Wodchis W, Guttmann A. Patterns and costs of health care use of children with medical complexity. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 130:e1463–1470. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-0175
- 8. Berry J. What children with medical complexity, their families, and healthcare providers deserve from an ideal healthcare system. What Children with Medical Complexity, Their Families, and Healthcare Providers Deserve from an Ideal Healthcare System. xWiki. (2015). Available online at: http://www.lpfch.org/sites/default/files/field/publications/idealhealthcaresystem.pdf
- Canadian Institute for Health Information (CIHI). Children and youth with medical complexity in Canada. Report. Available online at: https://www.cihi. ca/sites/default/files/document/children-youth-with-medical-complexityreport-en.pdf
- Pordes E, Gordon J, Sanders LM, Cohen E. Models of care delivery for children with medical complexity. Pediatrics. (2018). 141:S212– 23. doi: 10.1542/peds.2017-1284F
- Cohen E, Friedman J, Nicholas DB, Adams S, Rosenbaum P. A home for medically complex children: the role of hospital programs. J Healthcare Quality. (2008) 30:7–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1945-1474.2008.tb 01137.x
- Gordon JB, Colby HH, Bartelt T, Jablonski D, Krauthoefer ML, Havens P, et al. tertiary care-primary care partnership model for medically complex and fragile children and youth with special health care needs. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2007) 161:937. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.161.10.937
- Casey PH, Lyle RE, Bird TM, Robbins JM, Kuo DZ, Brown C, et al. Effect of hospital-based comprehensive care clinic on health costs for medicaid-insured medically complex children. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (2011) 165:392– 8. doi: 10.1001/archpediatrics.2011.5

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the support of Dr. Roy who was instrumental in the establishment of the complex care clinic at the Niagara Children's Center; Drs. O'Toole, MacNay, and the MCH Complex Care team; Oksana Fisher (CEO) and Dorothy Harvey (Director, Clinical Service) and allied health team at the Niagara Children's Center for their partnership and collaboration; Susan Dimitry and Dr. Oyefeso for their assistance in data collection and analysis of the Family Engagement Focus group. Finally, special thanks to the families who participated in this study and shared their time and insight.

- Klitzner TS, Rabbitt LA, Chang R-KR. Benefits of care coordination for children with complex disease: a pilot medical home project in a resident teaching clinic. J Pediatr. (2010) 156:1006–10. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2009.12.012
- Mosquera RA, Avritscher EBC, Samuels CL, Harris TS, Pedroza C, Evans P, et al. Effect of an enhanced medical home on serious illness and cost of care among high-risk children with chronic illness: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. [2014] 312:2640. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.16419
- Mayer ML. Are we there yet? Distance to care and relative supply among pediatric medical subspecialties. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 118:2313–21. doi: 10.1542/peds.2006-1570
- Leyenaar JK, Desai AD, Burkhart Q, Parast L, Roth CP, McGalliard J, et al. Quality measures to assess care transitions for hospitalized children. *Pediatrics.* (2016) 138:e20160906. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-0906
- Kelly A, Golnik A, Cady R. A medical home center: specializing in the care of children with special health care needs of high intensity. *Matern Child Health* J. (2008) 12:633–40. doi: 10.1007/s10995-007-0271-7
- Cooley WC, McAllister JW. Building medical homes: improvement strategies in primary care for children with special health care needs. *Pediatrics*. (2004) 113:1499–506.
- Palfrey JS, Sofis LA, Davidson EJ, Liu J, Freeman L, Ganz ML, et al. The Pediatric Alliance for Coordinated Care: evaluation of a medical home model. *Pediatrics.* (2004) 113:1507–16.
- Ahgren B, Axelsson R. Evaluating integrated health care: a model for measurement. Int J Integr Care. (2005) 5:e01. doi: 10.5334/ijic.134
- Cohen E, Lacombe-Duncan A, Spalding K, MacInnis J, Nicholas D, Narayanan UG, et al. Integrated complex care coordination for children with medical complexity: A mixed-methods evaluation of tertiary care-community collaboration. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2012) 12:366. doi: 10.1186/1472-6963-12-366
- 23. About us. Hamilton Health Sciences. Available online at: https://www. hamiltonhealthsciences.ca/mcmaster-childrens-hospital/about-us/
- 24. About Us. Niagara Children's Centre. Available online at: https:// niagarachildrenscentre.com/ncc/about-us
- Baker GR, McGillion MH, Gavin F. Engaging with patients on research to inform better care. CMAJ. (2018) 190:S6–8. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.180816
- Ming DY, Jackson GL, Sperling J, Gray M, Wyman Roth N, Spears T, et al. Mobile complex care plans to enhance parental engagement for children with medical complexity. *Clin Pediatr (Phila)*. (2019) 58:34– 41. doi: 10.1177/0009922818805241
- Thorne S, Kirkham SR, O'Flynn-Magee K. The analytic challenge in interpretive description. *Int J Qualitat Methods*. (2004) 3:1–11. doi: 10.1177/160940690400300101
- Stein REK. Jessop DJ. The impact on family scale revisited: further psychometric data. J Dev Behav Pediatr. [2003] 24:9– 16. doi: 10.1097/00004703-200302000-00004
- 29. King S, King G, Rosenbaum P. Evaluating health service delivery to children with chronic conditions and their families: development of a refined measure of processes of care(MPOC-20). *Children's Health Care.* (2004) 33:35–57. doi: 10.1207/s15326888chc3301\_3

- Orgeta V, Edwards RT, Hounsome B, Orrell M, Woods B. The use of the EQ-5D as a measure of health-related quality of life in people with dementia and their carers. *Qual Life Res.* (2015) 24:315–24. doi: 10.1007/s11136-014-0770-0
- Page BF, Hinton L, Harrop E. Vincent C. The challenges of caring for children who require complex medical care at home: 'The go between for everyone is the parent and as the parent that's an awful lot of responsibility'. *Health Expect.* (2020) 23:1144–54. doi: 10.1111/hex.13092
- Altman L, Zurynski Y, Breen C, Hoffmann T, Woolfenden S. A qualitative study of health care providers' perceptions and experiences of working together to care for children with medical complexity (Cmc). BMC Health Serv Res. (2018) 18:70. doi: 10.1186/s12913-018-2857-8
- Barnert ES, Coller RJ, Nelson BB, Thompson LR, Tran J, Chan V, et al. Key population health outcomes for children with medical complexity: a systematic review. *Matern Child Health J.* (2019) 23:1167–76. doi: 10.1007/s10995-019-02752-1
- Bradshaw S, Bem D, Shaw K, Taylor B, Chiswell C, Salama M, et al. Improving health, wellbeing and parenting skills in parents of children with special health care needs and medical complexity – a scoping review. *BMC Pediatr.* (2019) 19:301. doi: 10.1186/s12887-019-1648-7
- Adams S, Beatty M, Moore C, Desai A, Bartlett L, Culbert E, et al. Perspectives on team communication challenges in caring for children with medical complexity. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2021) 21:300. doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06304-8
- Rosenbaum PL, Silva M, Camden C. Let's not go back to 'normal'! lessons from COVID-19 for professionals working in childhood disability. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2021) 43:1022–8. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1862 925
- 37. Rosenbaum P. 'You have textbooks; we have story books.' Disability as perceived by professionals and parents. *Editorial Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology.* (20210) 62:660. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14491

- Fayed N, Guttmann A, Chiu A, Gardecki M, Orkin J, Hamid JS, et al. Familyprovider consensus outcomes for children with medical complexity. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (2019) 61:1093–100. doi: 10.1111/dmcn.14110
- Manafo E, Petermann L, Mason-Lai P, Vandall-Walker V. Patient engagement in Canada: a scoping review of the "how" and "what" of patient engagement in health research. *Health Res Policy Syst.* (2018) 16:5. doi: 10.1186/s12961-018-0282-4
- Witteman HO, Chipenda Dansokho S, Colquhoun H, Fagerlin A, Giguere AMC, Glouberman S, et al. Twelve lessons learned for effective research partnerships between patients, caregivers, clinicians, academic researchers, and other stakeholders. J Gen Intern Med. (2018) 33:558–62. doi: 10.1007/s11606-017-4269-6

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Hlyva, Rae, Deibert, Kamran, Shaikh, Thabane, Rosenbaum, Klassen and Lim. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




## Investigating the Associations Between Child Autistic Symptoms, Socioeconomic Context, and Family Life: A Pilot Study

Frank Koziarz<sup>1\*</sup>, Caroline Roncadin<sup>2</sup>, Anna Kata<sup>3</sup>, Eric Duku<sup>3</sup>, Amber Cauwenbergs<sup>2</sup>, William Mahoney<sup>2</sup>, Briano Di Rezze<sup>4,5</sup>, Colleen Anderson<sup>2</sup>, Irene Drmic<sup>2</sup>, Judy Eerkes<sup>2</sup>, Kathleen Dekker<sup>2</sup>, Katholiki Georgiades<sup>3</sup>, Lorraine Hoult<sup>2</sup>, Olaf Kraus de Camargo<sup>5,6</sup>, Olivia Ng<sup>2</sup>, Peter Rosenbaum<sup>5,6</sup>, Ronit Mesterman<sup>6</sup>, Stephen J. Gentles<sup>7,8</sup>, Sue Robertson<sup>2</sup>, Teresa Bennett<sup>3</sup> and Stelios Georgiades<sup>3</sup>

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Julia Patrick Engkasan, University of Malaya, Malaysia

#### Reviewed by:

Julia Schuchard, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, United States Kate Simpson, Griffith University, Australia

#### \*Correspondence:

Frank Koziarz frank.koziarz@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

Received: 27 July 2021 Accepted: 21 October 2021 Published: 01 December 2021

#### Citation:

Koziarz F, Roncadin C, Kata A, Duku E, Cauwenbergs A, Mahoney W, Di Rezze B, Anderson C, Drmic I, Eerkes J, Dekker K, Georgiades K, Hoult L, Kraus de Camargo O, Ng O, Rosenbaum P, Mesterman R, Gentles SJ, Robertson S, Bennett T and Georgiades S (2021) Investigating the Associations Between Child Autistic Symptoms, Socioeconomic Context, and Family Life: A Pilot Study. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:748346. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.748346 <sup>1</sup> Department of Health Research Methods, Evidence, and Impact, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Autism Program, McMaster Children's Hospital, Hamilton Health Sciences, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>3</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Rehabilitation Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>6</sup> CanChild Centre for Childhood Disability Research, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>6</sup> Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>7</sup> Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences, Faculty of Health Sciences, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>8</sup> Department of Community Health, Wilfrid Laurier University, Waterloo, ON, Canada

**Objective:** The day-to-day experience of families with an Autistic child may be shaped by both, child characteristics and available resources, which often are influenced by the socioeconomic context of the family. Using a socioecological approach, this study explored the quantitative associations between child autistic symptoms, family socioeconomic status, and family life.

**Methods:** Data came from the Pediatric Autism Research Cohort—PARC Study (pilot). Parents of children with a recent diagnosis of autism completed a set of assessments, including the Autism Family Experience Questionnaire, Autism Impact Measure, and a Sociodemographic Questionnaire. A series of multiple, iterative linear regression models were constructed to ascertain quantitative associations between child autistic symptoms, socioeconomic context, and family life.

**Results:** A total of 50 children (mean age: 76 months; SD: 9.5 months; and 84% male) with data on the variables of interest were included in the analysis. The frequency of child autistic symptoms was associated with family life outcomes (p = 0.02 and  $R^2 = 24\%$ ). Once autistic symptom frequency, symptom impact, and sociodemographic variables were considered, parents of higher educational attainment reported worse family life outcomes compared to their lesser-educated counterparts. This cumulative regression model had considerable explanatory capability (p = 0.01,  $R^2 = 40\%$ ).

**Conclusion:** This study demonstrates the utility of using a socioecological approach to examine the dynamic interplay between child characteristics and family circumstances. Our findings suggest that family life for parents (of an autistic child) who have obtained higher education is reported (by the parents themselves) as less satisfactory compared

to that of parents without higher education, once adjusted for the autistic symptom frequency of child, symptom impact, and income. These findings can inform the design and delivery of more family-centered care pathways during the years following a diagnosis of autism.

Keywords: autism spectrum disorder, socio-ecological framework, socio-economic context, autism symptom severity, family life

## INTRODUCTION

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by impairments in reciprocal social communication and social interaction, alongside patterns of restricted, repetitive behavior (1). Autism is a complex and heterogeneous condition with variability in etiology, clinical presentation, and developmental course throughout the life span (2, 3). Considering the multifactorial presentation of autism, parents and other caregivers find themselves needing to address a wide range of concerns related to child symptoms, behaviors, day-to-day functioning, and a diverse set of caregiver and family support needs (4). In some cases, behaviors such as tantrums or sleep disturbance can lead to circumstances for the family that are quite difficult to manage (4-7). The day-to-day experience of families with a child diagnosed with autism may be shaped by access to resources, such as childcare and other support systems, which often are strongly influenced by the socioeconomic context of the family (8).

To date, several studies have examined the interplay between family context (in families with Autistic children) as it relates to finances, marital relationship, and the presence of siblings. However, most of this research has focused on the quality of life of the parents and respective relatives (9-12). Although quality of life presents a useful measure to determine the state of a physical and emotional well-being of a family, these measures often do not capture the family experience holistically. We posit that a socioecological approach may be advantageous because it considers the various interrelations among individuals and their respective immediate environments (13, 14). More specifically, this conceptual framework attempts to address the dynamic interplay between the impact that the child has on the parent, and the parent on the child. Using a socioecological approach, this study explored the quantitative associations between child autistic symptoms, family socioeconomic status, and family life.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Participants**

A sample of 50 newly diagnosed preschool-aged children was recruited from April to December of 2019 as part of the Pediatric Autism Research Cohort—PARC Study (pilot) being conducted at McMaster Children's Hospital in Ontario, Canada. Participants were recruited into the pilot study *via* consecutive sampling who met the inclusion criteria of being <6 years of age (<6 years) at the time of ASD diagnosis. The data reported and analyzed in the current study were conducted when the cohort of children averaged 76 months of age. Families with insufficient knowledge of English to understand the consent process and complete questionnaires were not included in enrollment. After agreeing to be contacted about the study, consent forms were mailed out that contained a package of questionnaires. The consenting parents or legal guardians of the children with autism received a phone call to discuss the contents and instructions of the questionnaires. Families then mailed back signed consent forms with completed questionnaires in stamped business reply envelopes. This study was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (ID: 2902).

## **Autism Family Experience Questionnaire**

The Autism Family Experience Questionnaire (AFEQ) is an ecologically valid, parent-nominated measure of family experience, quality of life, and prioritized outcomes for early intervention in pediatric autism populations (15). The AFEQ is organized into four domains: Experience of Being a Parent of a Child with Autism, Family Life, Child Development Understanding and Social Relationships, and Child Symptoms. For both the total score and the domain scores, a higher score is indicative of a poorer outcome. The AFEQ includes statements that are both positively and negatively worded. To best capture the association of family context, in alignment with considerations of the socioecological model, the Family Life subdomain was used as the primary outcome. Family Life, as part of the AFEQ measure, provides a quantitative value to the holistic family experience of parents, considering they have a child diagnosed with autism. More specifically, the Family Life subdomain asks parents to quantitatively document the levels of family functioning experiences that are unique to families with a child diagnosed with ASD. The Family Life domain is operationalized in the form of a Likert scale with ranges from 1 to 5 ("always" through "never") with some items being reversed scored. Examples of items in the Family Life domain include "Family life is a battle," "I feel confident to go out to family events with my child," "I feel comfortable about having visitors to our home," and "My child is flexible in adapting to the demands of family life." An example of a reverse-scored item is as follows: "I feel guilty about not giving other members of the family enough attention."

## **Autism Impact Measure**

The Autism Impact Measure (AIM) is a 41-item measure that provides clinically useful information about both the frequency and the functional impact of the core symptoms of ASD (16). The measure is divided into five domains: *Repetitive Behavior*, *Communication*, *Atypical Behavior*, *Social Reciprocity*, and *Peer Interaction*. A higher score is indicative of a poorer outcome for each domain and the total score (i.e., the cumulative score of all domains). For each item, the frequency score is obtained using a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5 ("never" through "always"); the impact score is obtained by asking parents to rate the magnitude of the effect of each symptom on the everyday functioning of a child on a five-point Likert scale ranging from 1 to 5 ("not at all" through "severely"). For this study, the Frequency and Impact total scores (i.e., across all domains) were used to document the frequency and perceived impact that the core symptoms exerted on the family variables (i.e., AFEQ). To adjust appropriately for the heterogeneity of symptom presentation, the AIM was incorporated for analysis as a predictor variable for AFEQ: Family Life.

## Socioeconomic Context

The family socioeconomic context considered the socioeconomic status of the parents providing care for the child with ASD. Variables of total annual income and the highest education attained were included as an adapted Hollingshead index. The total annual income in households was stratified according to the following groups: low income (0-\$39,999), medium income (\$40,000-\$89,000), and high income (≥\$90,000). For educational attainment, data were organized in three levels: the "degree of high school or equivalent" was a composite outcome that included the following: no schooling, some elementary schooling, elementary schooling completed, some high school, and secondary (high) school graduation certificate or equivalent. The "degree of trade school or community college" collectively included: diploma or certificate from trade, technical, or vocational school or business college, diploma or certificate from community college, or other non-university certificate or diploma. The "degree of University or higher education" was a category comprising the following: University certificate or diploma below Bachelor's level, Bachelor's (university) degree or teacher's college, a degree in medicine, dentistry, veterinary medicine, or optometry (university certificate or diploma above bachelor level), Master's degree, and earned doctorate. The legal guardian who was responsible for filling out the questionnaire reported on their own educational attainment.

## **Statistical Analysis**

A series of iterative multiple linear regression analyses were performed to examine the relationship between *f* amily *life* (indexed by the AFEQ subscale), child symptom severity (indexed by the AIM Frequency and Impact scale), and the socioeconomic context of the family (annual family income and highest education level attained by the legal guardian).

The following predictor variables were determined for use in the exploratory analysis *a priori*: AIM Frequency total score, AIM Impact total score, annual income, and highest degree attained by the parent of the child with ASD.

An initial model was tested in which AFEQ Family Life was regressed onto AIM Frequency. A second model was constructed to determine associations between Family Life and AIM Impact scores once adjusted for AIM Frequency scores. A final multiple linear regression model was constructed that added annual income and highest education level as variables into the model. There were some missing data for five items (percent missing in parentheses): AFEQ Family Life (0%), AIM Frequency (3%), AIM Impact (3%), annual income (4%), and highest education level (2%). We, therefore, conducted predictive mean matching for both continuous and categorical data, creating five multiple imputed datasets using the statistical package *mice* in RStudio. Results across the five imputed datasets demonstrated little variation; therefore, the partial *F*-tests and ANOVAs were performed with the first imputed dataset. All analyses were twotailed with a level of significance of 0.05. Statistical analysis was performed using RStudio version 1.4.1103.

## RESULTS

The 50 participants in this cross-sectional study had a mean age of 76 months and a SD of 9.5 months at the time of assessment. The sample composition was 84% male (n = 42) and 16% female (n = 8). Of the 50 households sampled, a total of 47 legal guardians stated they were the mother who completed the questionnaire on behalf of the child, and three represented the father of the child. From the sample, descriptive statistics on the continuous variables of AFEQ-Family Life and AIM-Impact and Frequency, and categorical variables, namely, income and education are shown in Table 1. The mean of AFEQ-Family Life, AIM Impact, and AIM Frequency was 24.2, 99.36, and 122.74, respectively. The income levels (high, medium, and low) were relatively evenly distributed amongst the parents of children in the study. Regarding education, most participants had completed trades or a community college as their highest formal educational attainment at 42% (n = 21).

In linear regression model 1, the outcome variable of Family Life was assessed by AFEQ with AIM Frequency scores regressed as the predictor variable. Statistical associations can be found in **Table 2**. The results have indicated that AIM Frequency had a statistically significant association with Family Life (beta = 0.11, p = 0.02). The understanding is that for every unit increase in AIM Frequency score, the AFEQ Family score is expected to be 0.11 units greater. In addition, the model attained an adjusted  $R^2$  of 24% with a *p*-value of <0.001 (see **Table 2**).

In model 2, both AIM Frequency and AIM Impact were included as predictor variables and regressed onto Family Life. Only AIM Impact displayed a statistically significant association with the outcome variable (beta = 0.07, p = 0.04). The understanding is that for every unit increase in AIM impact, the AFEQ Family score is expected to increase by 0.07, once AIM Frequency was adjusted for in the model. However, AIM Frequency was not statistically associated with Family Life after adjusting for AIM Impact. Overall, the model exhibited an adjusted  $R^2$  of 29% with a *p*-value of <0.001. The partial *F*-statistic determined that once AIM Impact was considered within the nested model of model 1, the inclusion of AIM Impact exhibited a statistically significant increase in model fit (Partial *F*-statistic; p = 0.0035; see **Table 3**).

Model 3, the final cumulative model, included the predictor variables of the previous two models (AIM Impact and AIM Frequency) but was adjusted for family socioeconomic context. Outcome variable

#### TABLE 1 | Sample descriptive statistics.

Study variables	Mean	Minimum	Maximum	SD
Continuous variables				
AFEQ-family life (9-45)	24.2	10	36	5.58
AIM-impact (41-205)	99.36	41	170	29.16
AIM-frequency (41-148)	122.74	60	165	25.51
Categorical variables	N	%		
Income				
Low	14	28%		
Medium	18	36%		
High	18	36%		
Education				
High school	11	22%		
Trades/community college	21	42%		
University or higher education	18	36%		

	Mean (SD)		Mean (SD)			
Income		Education				
Low	22.9 (6.18)	High School	21.6 (5.89)			
Medium	23.4 (4.90)	Trades/Community College	24.7 (5.83)			
High	26 (5.58)	University or Higher	25.2 (4.89)			

AFEQ: family life

AFEQ, Autism Family Experience Questionnaire; AIM, Autism Impact Measure.

TABLE 2 | Model 1: linear regression of family life and AIM frequency.

Predictor variable	Beta coefficient	Standard error	t-value	p-value
Intercept	10.52	3.41	3.09	0.03**
AIM frequency	0.11	0.03	4.10	0.02***

Adjusted R<sup>2</sup> = 24%, p = 0.0001608\*\*\*.

 $p \le 0.05; p \le 0.01; p \le 0.001$ 

Once adjusted for income and education, only the predictors of AIM Frequency and parents/guardians who had pursued higher education exhibited a statistically significant association with the outcome of *Family Life*. The beta coefficient for AIM Frequency was determined to be 0.09 with a *p*-value of 0.017, whereas the coefficient for University or higher education was 4.48 with a *p*-value of 0.01. The understanding is that for every unit increase in AIM Frequency score, the AFEQ family score is expected to increase by 0.09 once AIM Impact and education are adjusted for in the model. For higher education, the understanding is that on average participants who have obtained a higher education have on average a 4.48-point increase in Family Life score (i.e., doing worse) compared to those who attained only a high school education.

The final model attained an adjusted  $R^2$  of 40%. The remaining predictor variables were not statistically significantly associated with Family Life. The partial *F*-statistic determined that once education and income were considered in Model 2, the inclusion of socioeconomic context exhibited a statistically significant increase in model fit (Partial *F*-Statistic, p = 0.028),

**TABLE 3** | Model 2: multiple linear regression of family life, AIM frequency, and AIM impact.

Beta coefficient	Standard error	t-value	p-value
10.08	3.30	3.10	0.04**
0.061	0.04	1.76	0.08
0.07	0.03	2.17	0.04*
	10.08	0.061 0.04	10.08         3.30         3.10           0.061         0.04         1.76

Adjusted  $R^2 = 29\%$ ,  $p = < 0.001^{***}$ .

Partial F-Statistic (F = 4.7135, df = 1),  $p = 0.035^*$ . \* $p \le 0.05$ ; \*\* $p \le 0.01$ ; \*\*\* $p \le 0.001$ .

 $p \le 0.03, p \le 0.01, p \le 0.00$ 

**TABLE 4** | Model 3: multiple linear regression of family life, AIM frequency, AIM impact, and socioeconomic context.

Predictor variables	Beta coefficient	Standard error	t-value	p-value
Intercept	5.73	3.34	1.72	0.093
Symptom severity				
AIM frequency	0.09	0.03	2.49	0.017*
AIM impact	0.06	0.03	2.04	0.05
Income				
Low income	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference group
	group	group	group	
Medium income	-2.25	1.68	-1.34	0.19
High income	1.08	1.63	0.66	0.51
Education				
High school	Reference group	Reference group	Reference group	Reference group
Trades/community college	1.87	1.66	1.12	0.27
University or higher education	4.48	1.71	2.62	0.01*

Adjusted  $R^2 = 40\%$ ,  $p = < 0.001^*$ .

Partial F-Statistic (F = 2.9949, df = 4), p = 0.028\*.

 $p \le 0.05; p \le 0.01; p \le 0.001; p \le 0.001.$ 

AFEQ, Autism Family Experience Questionnaire; AIM, Autism Impact Measure.

which indicates that there is sufficient association to conclude that the regression model fits the data better than the model with variables only accounting for autism symptom severity (see **Table 4**).

Evaluating the impact of socioeconomic context may present the issue of multicollinearity. For example, level of education and annual family income can be expected to exhibit some relationship to one another. The variance inflation factor (VIF) was used to examine the magnitude of multicollinearity between predictor variables. Because none of the predictor variables was found within the accepted range of 4–10, it can be assumed that no issues of multicollinearity impacted the model.

#### DISCUSSION

This study examined the associations between child autistic symptoms, family socioeconomic context, and family life. Using a socioecological approach and a series of multiple linear regression models, our findings demonstrate the importance of

the iterative process of exploring the cumulative contribution of several factors-at both the child and family level-when trying to understand the association between symptom presence and impact, socioeconomic context, and family life. Specifically, each iteration of the regression model exhibited a considerably greater ability to explain the phenomenon under investigation. The initial model, which included only the frequency of core autistic symptoms, accounted for 24% of the variance explained for family life. This is an important finding which aligns with previously published research documenting similar associations between child symptom severity and parental quality of life (16-18). For example, parents of children with autism have reported experiencing a greater frequency of depressive episodes and negative emotions as the symptom severity increases (19, 20). However, it is important to acknowledge the temporal aspect of our analysis; data were collected around age 6 when the effects of symptom presentation were likely compounded with the relatively recent news of the diagnosis along with the preparation for additional and demanding responsibilities for the care of a child with autism. In the second model, where the *impact* of those symptoms was considered, 29% of the variance was explained. However, with the addition of socioeconomic context in the final model, adjusted for symptom frequency and impact, 40% of the variance was explained. This significant explanatory power demonstrates the utility of a socioecological approach that can offer insights into evaluating the cumulative quantitative associations among various child and family variables. Specifically, our findings highlight the importance of considering the socioeconomic context of the family above and beyond the symptom severity of a child to gain a better understanding of current family life and circumstances.

Because the evaluation of the construct of family life is closely related to other measures akin to the quality of life, it is important to assess the potential convergent validity of our findings. Studies have shown that income exhibits conflicting relationships as a predictor of quality of life and life satisfaction for parents of children diagnosed with ASD (21). In one study, the severity of ASD symptom presentation was a significant predictor of parental quality of life; however, once adjusted for family income, there was no relationship between quality of life and symptoms (22). In our current study, it was observed that once income was taken into account and adjusted for, a statistically significant relationship was observed between AIM Frequency scores and family life. By contrast, parental education level exhibited a statistically significant relationship even after adjusting for symptom frequency, symptom impact, and family income. On average, parents with higher educational attainment reported worse family life experiences than their counterparts with less education. Previous research documents effects that may provide some context for our findings. Hidalgo et al. (23) conducted an analysis of socioeconomic context on life satisfaction of parents with children with ASD and determined that mothers with a high school education or less were more likely to be satisfied with the current services and care than mothers with higher educational attainment (22, 24). The researchers speculated that parents with higher education were more aware of the diversity of autism interventions and exhibited greater concern over whether their child was receiving the optimal care. However, parents with less education were not aware of the diversity of care and thus it was speculated, for this reason, parents of higher education reported lower levels of satisfaction.

Results from the current study suggest that, compared to parents with lesser education, parents who have obtained a University degree or higher education considered their family life to be less satisfactory, once adjusted for child autistic symptom frequency, symptom, impact, and income. Previous research has suggested that raising a child with ASD can interfere with the development of a professional career of a parent, and based on that we speculate that our results may reflect parents who have attained higher education but have experienced a mismatch between their level of education and employment status and/or professional development and, as such, view their family life as less satisfying (25). An important clinical implication of our results is that service planning should be both child- and familycentered and take into account ways of achieving improved family life, such as encouraging parents to join support groups and both share their concerns and learn from experiences and perceptions of other parents.

Strengths of this study include the use of a socioecological approach, recruitment soon after initial diagnosis, a minimal amount of missing data, and lack of multicollinearity among variables under investigation, which may have affected the relatively small sample size. Two important limitations of this study are: (a) the small sample size for the number of predictors, which affects the power to detect differences between groups and (b) the cross-sectional nature of the data. An additional limitation involves the timing of data accumulation analysis. A recent diagnosis of autism for parents is a difficult and often burdening moment in their lives. Considering that the data were collected near the time of diagnosis, these findings may not generalize to parents who have begun to develop effective routines and coping strategies. Large, longitudinal mixed-method studies containing follow-up assessments of both quantitative and qualitative components are required to further explore the study findings. Conducting interviews with parents of children with ASD would better provide researchers the opportunity to understand the variability in family life between households rather than relying solely on quantitative data from a set of static questionnaires.

Using a socioecological approach and a series of multiple linear regression models, this study explained considerable variance in family life after accounting for the child's autistic symptoms and family socioeconomic context. Our results suggest that family life for parents (of an autistic child) who have obtained a University degree or higher education is considered (by parents themselves) less satisfactory compared to that of parents with less education, once adjusted for child's autistic symptom frequency, symptom impact, and income. The significant explanatory power demonstrates the utility of a socioecological approach that can offer insights into the cumulative quantitative associations among various child and family variables and family life that has clinical implications. In line with the evidence-based care model outlined by Sackett et al., our study highlights the importance of considering family socioeconomic context when planning clinical care and allocation of service resources (26). Such an approach would inform the design and delivery of more family-centered, holistic yet pragmatic, and feasible care pathways that consider both, the characteristics of the child and the family circumstances during the years following a diagnosis of autism.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by McMaster Research Ethics Board McMaster

## REFERENCES

- 1. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*. 4th ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2000).
- Georgiades S, Tait PA, McNicholas PD, Duku E, Zwaigenbaum L, Smith IM, et al. Trajectories of symptom severity in children with autism: variability and turning points through the transition to school. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2021) 11:1–0. doi: 10.1007/s10803-021-04949-2
- Szatmari P, Georgiades S, Duku E, Bennett TA, Bryson S, Fombonne E, et al. Developmental trajectories of symptom severity and adaptive functioning in an inception cohort of preschool children with autism spectrum disorder. J Am Med Assoc Psychiatry. (2015) 72:276–83. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2014.2463
- Gentles SJ, Nicholas DB, Jack SM, McKibbon KA, Szatmari P. Parent engagement in autism-related care: a qualitative grounded theory study. *Health Psychol Behav Med.* (2019) 7:1–8. doi: 10.1080/21642850.2018.1556666
- Boulter C, Freeston M, South M, Rodgers J. Intolerance of uncertainty as a framework for understanding anxiety in children and adolescents with autism spectrum disorders. *J Autism Dev Disord*. (2014) 44:1391– 402. doi: 10.1007/s10803-013-2001-x
- Adler BA, Wink LK, Early M, Shaffer R, Minshawi N, McDougle CJ, et al. Drug-refractory aggression, self-injurious behavior, and severe tantrums in autism spectrum disorders: a chart review study. *Autism.* (2015) 19:102– 6. doi: 10.1177/1362361314524641
- Devnani PA, Hegde AU. Autism and sleep disorders. J Pediatr Neurosci. (2015) 10:304. doi: 10.4103/1817-1745.174438
- Lindsey RA, Barry TD. Protective factors against distress for caregivers of a child with autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2018) 48:1092– 107. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3372-1
- Hartley SL, Papp LM, Bolt D. Spillover of marital interactions and parenting stress in families of children with autism spectrum disorder. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol. (2018) 47(sup.1):S88– 99. doi: 10.1080/15374416.2016.1152552
- Vasilopoulou E, Nisbet J. The quality of life of parents of children with autism spectrum disorder: a systematic review. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2016) 23:36–49. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2015.11.008
- Hoefman R, Payakachat N, van Exel J, Kuhlthau K, Kovacs E, Pyne J, et al. Caring for a child with autism spectrum disorder and parents' quality of life: application of the CarerQol. J Autism Dev Disord. (2014) 44:1933– 45. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2066-1
- 12. McStay RL, Trembath D, Dissanayake C. Stress and family quality of life in parents of children with autism spectrum disorder: parent gender

University. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors have contributed significantly to the content of the article and have read and approve of the manuscript submission.

### FUNDING

This study was supported by the Faculty of Health Sciences and Department of Psychiatry and Behavioural Neurosciences at McMaster University, McMaster Children's Hospital Research Collaborative, Hamilton Health Sciences, and by an award from the Autism Spectrum Disorders Research Project of Grand Master Paul E Todd-2017-19.

and the double ABCX model. J Autism Dev Disord. (2014) 44:3101–18. doi: 10.1007/s10803-014-2178-7

- Härkönen U. The Bronfenbrenner Ecological Systems Theory of Human Development. Daugavpils: Scientific Articles of V International Conference.
- Bronfenbrenner U. Toward an experimental ecology of human development. Am Psychol. (1977) 32:513. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X. 32.7.513
- Leadbitter K, Aldred C, McConachie H, Le Couteur A, Kapadia D, Charman T, et al. The Autism Family Experience Questionnaire (AFEQ): an ecologicallyvalid, parent-nominated measure of family experience, quality of life and prioritised outcomes for early intervention. J Autism Dev Disord. (2018) 48:1052–62. doi: 10.1007/s10803-017-3350-7
- Hall HR, Graff JC. The relationships among adaptive behaviors of children with autism, family support, parenting stress, and coping. *Issues Compr Pediatr Nurs.* (2011) 34:4–25. doi: 10.3109/01460862.2011. 555270
- Siman-Tov A, Kaniel S. Stress and personal resource as predictors of the adjustment of parents to autistic children: a multivariate model. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2011) 41:879–90. doi: 10.1007/s10803-010-1112-x
- Hayes SA, Watson SL. The impact of parenting stress: a meta-analysis of studies comparing the experience of parenting stress in parents of children with and without autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord. (2013) 43:629–42. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1604-y
- Ingersoll B, Hambrick DZ. The relationship between the broader autism phenotype, child severity, and stress and depression in parents of children with autism spectrum disorders. *Res Autism Spectr Disord*. (2011) 5:337– 44. doi: 10.1016/j.rasd.2010.04.017
- Zablotsky B, Anderson C, Law P. The association between child autism symptomatology, maternal quality of life, and risk for depression. *J Autism Dev Disord.* (2013) 43:1946–55. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1745-z
- Mazurek MO, Carlson C, Baker-Ericzén M, Butter E, Norris M, Kanne S. Construct validity of the autism impact measure (AIM). J Autism Dev Disord. (2020) 50:2307–19. doi: 10.1007/s10803-018-3462-8
- Hsiao YJ. Autism spectrum disorders: family demographics, parental stress, and family quality of life. J Policy Pract Intellect Disabil. (2018) 15:70– 9. doi: 10.1111/jppi.12232
- Hidalgo NJ, McIntyre LL, McWhirter EH. Sociodemographic differences in parental satisfaction with an autism spectrum disorder diagnosis. J Intellect Dev Disabil. (2015) 40:147–55. doi: 10.3109/13668250.2014.994171

- Pozo P, Sarriá E, Brioso A. Family quality of life and psychological wellbeing in parents of children with autism spectrum disorders: a double ABCX model. J Intellect Disabil Res. (2014) 58:442–58. doi: 10.1111/jir. 12042
- 25. Ou JJ, Shi LJ, Xun GL, Chen C, Wu RR, Luo XR, et al. Employment and financial burden of families with preschool children diagnosed with autism spectrum disorders in urban China: results from a descriptive study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2015) 15:1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12888-015-0382-4
- Sackett DL, Rosenberg WM, Gray JM, Haynes RB, Richardson WS. Evidence based medicine: what it is and what it isn't. *BMJ*. (1996) 312:71– 2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.312.7023.71

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Koziarz, Roncadin, Kata, Duku, Cauwenbergs, Mahoney, Di Rezze, Anderson, Drmic, Eerkes, Dekker, Georgiades, Hoult, Kraus de Camargo, Ng, Rosenbaum, Mesterman, Gentles, Robertson, Bennett and Georgiades. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Child Maltreatment and the Child Welfare System as Environmental Factors in the International Classification of Functioning

#### Katherine Kim<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Corinne Moss<sup>1</sup>, Jane Jungyoon Park<sup>1</sup> and Christine Wekerle<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pediatrics, McMaster University, Hamilton, ON, Canada, <sup>2</sup> Temerty Faculty of Medicine, University of Toronto, Toronto, ON, Canada

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Liane Simon, Medical School Hamburg, Germany

#### Reviewed by:

Stefanus Snyman, South African Medical Research Council, South Africa Ripudaman Minhas, Unity Health Toronto, Canada

> \*Correspondence: Katherine Kim kimy76@mcmaster.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Human Functioning, a section of the journal Frontiers in Rehabilitation Sciences

Received: 16 May 2021 Accepted: 13 December 2021 Published: 17 January 2022

#### Citation:

Kim K, Moss C, Park JJ and Wekerle C (2022) Child Maltreatment and the Child Welfare System as Environmental Factors in the International Classification of Functioning. Front. Rehabilit. Sci. 2:710629. doi: 10.3389/fresc.2021.710629

The WHO defines child maltreatment as any form of neglect, exploitation, and physical, emotional, or sexual abuse, committed against children under the age of 18. Youth involved in the child welfare system report more maltreatment experiences and environmental turbulence (e.g., number of moves, caseworkers), placing them at greater risk for poorer physical and mental health. The International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) provides a framework to describe health conditions and severity of disabilities for an individual and/or group in the context of environmental factors. The Maltreatment and Adolescent Pathways (MAP) study is a longitudinal study, assessing self-reports on variables (e.g., child maltreatment history, trauma symptoms, dating violence, and substance use) of youth in an urban child protection service system. This study focuses on 11 of the 24 MAP publications that pertain to health and functioning, which can be considered applicable to the ICF framework, following established linking rules. The purpose of this study is to analyze these MAP sub-studies, with maltreatment and involvement in the child welfare system as environmental factors that impact the functioning of child welfare-involved youth. Findings indicate significant relationships across environmental factors (i.e., child maltreatment histories, child welfare system involvement), health conditions (i.e., trauma symptomatology, psychological distress, intellectual disabilities), and functioning problems (i.e., substance use, adolescent dating violence, sexual risk-taking, coping motives, sleep problems). The interrelated nature of these factors in the MAP sub-studies suggests the value of the ICF model to a holistic health view of use to practitioners supporting system-involved youth, clarifying unattended environmental factors in guiding service provision for foster care and/or maltreated youth.

Keywords: child welfare, foster care, child maltreatment, mental health, functioning, youth, adolescence, disability

## INTRODUCTION

Child maltreatment is a significant public health issue. While most countries have child welfare systems, many maltreated youths are undetected by practitioners, and practitioners experience hesitation in fulfilling mandatory reporting duties [e.g., (1)]. According to the WHO, child maltreatment is defined as: "All forms of physical and/or emotional ill-treatment, sexual abuse, neglect or negligent treatment or commercial or other exploitation, resulting in actual or potential harm to the child's health, survival, development, or dignity in the context of a relationship of responsibility, trust or power" [(2); refer to Table 1 for definitions of types]. In North America, the median prevalence of physical abuse was 24.3% for boys and 21.7% for girls. The prevalence of sexual abuse was 14.1% for boys and 20.4% for girls. Emotional abuse was 28.4% for boys and 23.8% for girls. Median rates of neglect differed substantially between girls (40.5%) and boys (16.6%) (4). It is well-recognised that polyvictimisation describes many youths in the child welfare system and is related to poorer outcomes (5). Studies have demonstrated a dose-response relationship, where an increased number of childhood maltreatment experiences correlated with elevated dysfunction (6, 7). While estimates of the cost to the victims and their communities are unquantifiable, the service system costs have been estimated. Based on official reporting data, the cost of non-fatal child maltreatment in 2015 was estimated to be \$830,928 per case, and fatal outcomes cost \$16.6 million in the United States (8). Furthermore, the total economic burden in the United States for substantiated incident cases was \$428 billion in 2015 (8). It is clearly established that maltreatment yields lifespan impact to physical, mental, and financial health.

The victim of child maltreatment is probabilistically more likely to face challenges, with greater risk of poverty, and the likelihood of finding themselves homeless, couch-surfing within their communities, or street-involved (9). Living in such circumstances brings another level of harm risk, such as increased access to a greater array of substances, opportunities to make money by selling substances, increased likelihood of violence victimisation, as well as vulnerability to recruitment for sex trafficking (10). Child maltreatment is associated with multiple negative outcomes, most notably in the areas of mood disorders (e.g., anxiety, depression), substance use problems, relationship violence, and chronic physical health conditions or non-communicable diseases, as stress pathways are triggered with cascading potentials (11-16). In addition to adverse events being more prominent, there is also a lack of positive or benevolent childhood events (e.g., presence of a positive person in which to confide, opportunities for school achievement, secure parent-child attachment relationships) (17). There has been much discussion over poverty risk and child neglect, as families with socioeconomic disadvantage come to the attention of the child welfare system to a greater extent than more affluent families (18). If child welfare system engagement creates a safety net around the child, mandatory reporting may be considered part of prevention planning for re-victimisation risk (1). In over 30 countries, mandatory reporting laws direct suspected abuse and neglect events or risks thereof to the responsible child welfare TABLE 1 | Definitions of childhood maltreatment types (3).

Term	Definition
Physical abuse	"A caregiver inflicting physical harm or engaging in actions that create a high risk of harm"
Emotional abuse	"Inflicting emotional harm through the use of words or actions"
Sexual abuse	"Any action with a child that is done for the sexual gratification of an adult or significantly older child"
Neglect	"Failure to meet a child's basic physical, emotional, educational, and medical needs"

authorities (19). The most comprehensive laws and policies are in the United States, Canada, and Australia, yet many other highincome countries do not have such laws as policy (e.g., Hong Kong, Germany, Hungary, etc.). Entry into the child welfare system may bring a wide range of financial, medical, and other social services to the child and/or family. As a foster care youth living in an out-of-home arrangement, there may be a linkage to a caring home and a stable caseworker, or there may be experiences of revictimization in care and a prolonged lack of permanency (20), multiple residential transitions (21, 22), as well as multiple changes in caseworkers (23). According to Waid et al. 40.8% of youth in foster care had experienced at least one placement change throughout 18 months (24). Furthermore, caseworker turnover rates have been reported to be 30-40% annually (25). However, the system-specific risk may be heightened when a youth "ages out of care" in adolescence or early adulthood, potentially without transition services and a social safety net.

## Maltreatment, Adolescence, and Child Welfare

According to the United States Department of Health and Human Services (USDHHS) Child Maltreatment 2019 report (26), infants (up to age 2) are the largest group for entry into foster care, representing 28% of all cases, or a rate of 26.7 per 1,000 children (27). Youths aged 12 and older are the next highest timeframe for coming into care (28). As of 2020, the number of youths in care in the United States is  $\sim$ 424,000 (29). The WHO defines adolescence from 10 to 19 years of age, which is noted as a critical development period. With the onset of puberty, increases in sex hormones contribute to rapid changes in physical growth, the brain, and behaviour (30). In terms of maltreatment types, adolescence is a higher time of sexual violation among females: ages 14 and above represented about 72% of sex trafficking cases in child welfare (27). Thus, it is important to focus on child sexual abuse (CSA) when considering the functioning of adolescents, in terms of risk, as well as in terms of its potential impact on the adolescent developmental task of becoming attuned to and involved in romantic relationships. Furthermore, adolescence is a known high period of cognitive development, wherein risk-taking, and abstract and strategic thinking becomes refined (31). Studies have highlighted the potential negative impact of stressful life experiences during adolescence, which may disrupt normal neural development and

contribute to adolescent vulnerability to mental diseases, such as anxiety and/or depression (32–34). Among children investigated by child protection services (CPS) in the National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-being (NSCAW) II, approximately half were noted as having developmental issues (35). As compared to children without disabilities, child welfare-involved children with intellectual disabilities were at greater risk of experiencing placement instability, challenges with adoption, and not being able to reunite with kin (36). Child welfare-involved youth are also at higher risk for re-victimisation in their dating relationships (37). Dating violence victimisation is associated with self-reported post-traumatic stress symptomatology (PTSS), drug use, and previous dating violence perpetration (37–39).

While entry into child welfare indicates a sentinel maltreatment risk event, there is a wide range of experiences that may occasion re-victimisation, such as visitation with kin or parents, experiences in the alternate care environment, street involvement, and the use of restraints in institutional care. This potential for further trauma needs to be regarded as an active "rule out" when child welfare youth are cared for in the medical home (40). As youth-reported maltreatment experiences have been shown to be higher than official recordings of victimisation, it is critical to ask youth directly about their victimisation experiences [e.g., (41)].

# The International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health

The International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health (ICF) by the WHO provides a standardised language and framework for describing an individual's health, functioning, and disability (42). The guiding document for definitions, categories, and codes for the ICF is the ICF Red Book (42). The ICF is a hierarchal classification, based on the biopsychosocial model which views functioning as an outcome of the dynamic interactions of both health conditions (e.g., diseases, disorders, and injuries) and contextual factors (e.g., social, child welfare system involvement) (42). The ICF is structured into two parts: (1) functioning and disability, and (2) contextual factors. Within these two parts are six levels ordered as a hierarchy, from general to more detailed and specific entities: components, domains, constructs, positive aspects, and negative aspects. Functioning and disability include these components: body functions (e.g., sleep, pain, and emotional functions) and structures (e.g., nervous, reproductive, and endocrine system), as well as activities (e.g., basic learning, self-care, and mobility) and participation (e.g., communication, interpersonal relationships, and education). Contextual factors include the components: personal (e.g., sex, age, and ethnicity) and environmental (e.g., technology, social support, and policies) factors (43). Domains, constructs, positive aspects, and negative aspects progressively detail the aspects of functioning. This study will focus on the components of functioning and disability and contextual factors.

As applied to an individual, the ICF can provide a snapshot in time that allows one to consider a wide array of variables to obtain a more holistic analysis of the individual's historical factors and current functioning. This model may be particularly beneficial in the context of child maltreatment. For example, youth with higher exposure to maltreatment report higher levels of chronic pain (44). Pain in identified locales, or chronic generalised pain, would appear in the ICF body functions domain. When encountering youth in chronic pain without a clear medical condition, the differential diagnosis may be to rule out child maltreatment history, noting most victims do not disclose (45). The ICF model would be more likely to detect this child maltreatment history as a barrier to functioning, due to its more holistic approach. The ICF is, therefore, well-suited to frame the "whole" youth in terms of inter-connecting domains of functioning, for example, multiple problems that may ensue from the presence of post-traumatic stress symptoms (PTSS) of arousal (e.g., sleep disturbance, sexual risk-taking/multiple partners), negative cognitions and mood (e.g., depression), avoidance (e.g., substance abuse) and re-experiencing (e.g., re-victimisation) (46). The principle of multi-finality (47) reflects that many outcomes may arise from a common event (e.g., maltreatment experiences as the abuse of power and negligence).

The application of the ICF to conceptualising or matching service needs within child welfare has been under-utilised. Most of the research in child welfare has focused on rehabilitation services, related to physical or cognitive disability, to the relative exclusion of mental health and related problems as disability or risk thereof. Only one child welfare study was found, to our knowledge, that explored disability (i.e., physical, medical, intellectual), as well as mental health conditions via the ICF framework (48). Indeed, the overlap with a physical and cognitive disability, and other areas of functioning compromise, is an area of research gap. It is critical to take into account disability in terms of complex trauma or ongoing mental health challenges, which facilitate other problems such as alcohol use and dating violence. As such, a focus on adolescent functioning within child welfare represents a valid start to considering the application and utility of an ICF approach, for integration across disability types, mental health problems, and environmental factors. It must also be considered that many child welfare system-involved youth show remarkable resilience (49). The progression through child welfare may involve case openings and closings before an out-of-home care option is sought permanently. Thus, the ICF application may be best understood in terms of distal or historical domains, compared to current or proximal influences.

In this study, we review a selection of studies that use data from the first comprehensive research study on child welfare system-involved youth in Canada, known as the Maltreatment and Adolescent Pathways (MAP) study. This longitudinal study captures data from adolescents in a large urban CPS system in Ontario, Canada, with study entry between ages 14 and 17, and followed up to 3 years. Most youth will exit the child welfare system in the age ranges of 16–18 years, with some extending support to age 21. By investigating these MAP substudies in the context of the ICF framework, we aim to explore the complex interactions of factors that affect the functioning and health of maltreated, system-detected youth and propose a model of distal and proximal considerations. Given the mobility of child welfare-involved youth and the rapidity with which most cases are closed or transferred to other services, a functioningoriented approach seems essential to guide youths' health and well-being, wherever they are at in their trajectory through child welfare services. The goal herein was to examine the MAP set of findings and identify those that could be considered within the ICF framework to illustrate maltreatment and the child welfare system involvement as environmental factors, in conjunction with mental health problems and disabilities as health conditions. While the MAP study did consider selected resilience factors [e.g., self-compassion (50)], and these should be integrated into an ICF framework, they were not the focus of the current exploration.

## **METHODS**

## The Maltreatment and Adolescent Pathways (MAP) Study

A multi-disciplinary research team, guided by a child welfare advisory board, developed and implemented the MAP study. The MAP study collected information about physical health (e.g., sleep quality), mental health (e.g., PTSS), and cognition (e.g., IQ and memory) in adolescents from a large urban CPS system catchment area. The MAP study recruited participants drawn *via* a random numbers table from a CPS agency-provided list of all active caseloads of adolescents (average age = 15.8 years), refreshed every 6 months given the rate of case closures. These included the largest agencies in Canada (50, 51).

Among the 24 MAP sub-studies, 11 were selected for analysis due to their fit with the ICF framework. The fit was determined based on whether the sub-study investigated data on health conditions, contextual factors, and functioning or disability of child welfare-involved youth, so it could be holistically applied to the ICF framework. A description of each included MAP sub-study can be found in Table 3. Linking rules were used to connect the concepts in MAP sub-studies with the appropriate ICF categories and to enhance the transparency of the linking process (52, 53). A paediatric consultant, with expertise in the ICF, supported our linking procedures. The MAP sub-studies use a diverse range of measures, as seen in Table 2, and our goal is to link these measure outcomes to ICF categories, with the focus on childhood trauma exposures and adolescent mental health and resilience. The linkage to the ICF was completed by an ICF specialist, child welfare/mental health specialist, and medical student with a background in the study of maltreated youth.

Health conditions in the ICF refer to any diseases, disorders, and/or injuries, which may include other circumstances such as stress, ageing, pregnancy, congenital anomality, and genetic predisposition (42, 43). In this study, we identified mental health problems (trauma symptoms and psychological distress) and intellectual disabilities, as measured in the MAP study, such as health conditions. Contextual factors in the ICF include environmental and personal factors, which facilitate or act as barriers to functioning. For the purposes of this study, environmental factors included: child welfare system experience (length of time in the system, foster care or non-foster care, number of residential moves; e5258), caseworker relationship, (number of visits, identification with caseworkers;

e360), child maltreatment experience (e310, e398), and exposure to intimate partner violence (IPV; e310, e398) as measured by the Childhood Experiences of Violence Questionnaire [CEVQ; (57)]. Personal factors included sex, age, ethnicity, attachment style, and past experiences (youth-reported history of child maltreatment types) and were coded as personal factors (pf). Activity limitations represent the difficulties an individual would have in executing any given task or action (e.g., walking, eating). Participation restrictions encompass the problems an individual may experience with others during the involvement of life situations (e.g., employment, education). Activity limitations and participation restrictions are considered one component due to their correlated nature. Among youth in child welfare, we have identified substance use (d5702), sexual risk-taking (d5702), and adolescent dating violence (ADV; d7202, d7700) in this component. While ADV may fall under contextual factors (i.e., current victimisation can be environmental; victimization; and/or perpetration history can be personal), they are defined as participation restrictions for the purposes of this study in so far as they reflect the abuse of power and control, with potential limits to the access of other peers and family (socially isolating the partner), and capacity to exit a romantic partnership and/or begin new ones (69). Romantic relationships are an important and under-considered domain of the child welfare system-involved youths' functioning. Especially given the relative lack of close relationships and supportive family for child welfare-involved youth, there may be an early entry into these relationships with peers or older adults (70). Finally, body functions describe the physiological and psychological functions of body systems. We have placed coping motives (b1301) and sleep disturbances (b1340, b1341, b1342) in this component. Coping motives were specifically considered mental functions, as they encompass the motivations to engage in certain behaviours. Body structures (i.e., anatomical body parts) were not explored in this review.

The ICF offers a snapshot in time of functioning. Youth in the child welfare system context, however, face instability, such as frequent moves, varying lengths of placements, and recurring victimisation at different time points. Such instability contributes to the need for an analysis of proximal (now or recent) and distal (historical or lifetime) factors that impact the functioning of child welfare-involved youth. For the purposes of this study, proximal factors include factors measured currently or within the past year. Distal factors include factors measured beyond a year or based on frequency, therefore being lifetime (Refer to **Figures 1**, **2** for our distribution of factors from the MAP study, respectively).

It is important to note that the listed factors measured by the MAP study are not exhaustive of all relevant variables. For example, sexual orientation was reported by youth and fluctuated across MAP assessments over time, which is consistent with the concept of sexual identity exploration, with an overall higher representation of sexual minority status than expected in the population (75, 76). Sex at birth, gender identification, and sexual orientation are currently considered in more expansive categories than were evaluated in the MAP study [e.g., transgender, non-binary, gender queer, etc. (77)]. While sex

#### TABLE 2 | MAP study measures.

Outcome	Measure(s) used	Corresponding code
Child maltreatment (i.e., physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional abuse, neglect)	<ul> <li>Childhood Trauma Questionnaire [CTQ; (54, 55)]</li> <li>70-item self-administered inventory with 5-point Likert-type scales</li> <li>Addresses five types of maltreatment (emotional abuse, physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional neglect, and physical neglect)</li> <li>CTQ-short form [CTQ-SF; (56)]</li> <li>28-item version of the original CTQ</li> </ul>	e310 (immediate family), e398 (support and relationships)
Exposure to intimate partner violence (IPV) (i.e., physical and verbal)	<ul> <li>Childhood Experiences of Victimisation Questionnaire [CEVQ; (57)]</li> <li>Brief 18-item self-report measure of victimisation among adolescents</li> <li>Addresses peer-on-peer violence, witnessing domestic violence, emotional abuse, physical punishment, physical abuse and sexual abuse</li> </ul>	e310 (immediate family), e398 (support and relationships)
Adolescent dating violence (ADV)	<ul> <li>Conflict in Adolescent Dating Relationships Inventory [CADRI; (58)]</li> <li>46-item self-report questionnaire, with bidirectional questions (victim/perpetrator)</li> <li>Measures abusive behaviour among adolescent dating partners</li> </ul>	d7202 (regulating behaviours within interactions), d7700 (romantic relationships)
Trauma symptoms (i.e., anger, anxiety, depression, dissociation, sexual concerns, PTSS)	<ul> <li>Trauma Symptom Checklist for Children [TSCC; (59)]</li> <li>54-item self-report of trauma symptoms</li> <li>Assesses severity of post-traumatic stress and related psychological symptomatology (anxiety, depression, dissociation, anger, sexual concerns)</li> </ul>	Health conditions are coded by ICD-10 and not ICF
Psychological distress	<ul> <li>Brief Symptom Inventory [BSI; (60)]</li> <li>53-item self-report of clinically relevant psychological symptoms in adolescents and adults</li> <li>Addresses somatization, obsession-compulsion, interpersonal sensitivity, depression, anxiety, hostility, phobic anxiety, paranoid ideation, and psychoticism</li> </ul>	Health conditions are coded by ICD-10 and not ICF
Substance abuse (i.e., alcohol misuse, marijuana misuse, use of drugs)	<ul> <li>Rutgers Alcohol Problem Index [RAPI; (61)]</li> <li>23-item self-administered screening tool for assessing adolescent problem drinking Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test (AUDIT; (62))</li> <li>10-item questionnaire covering the domains of alcohol consumption, drinking behaviour, and alcohol-related problems</li> <li>CRAFFT (63, 64)</li> <li>Substance use screening tool for adolescents</li> </ul>	d5702 (maintaining one's health)
Sleep disturbances (i.e., taking longer than half an hour to fall asleep, waking up before intended, having non-restorative sleep)	<ul> <li>11 self-report questions adapted from standardised sleep disorders questionnaire</li> <li>[SDQ; (65)]</li> <li>SDQ</li> <li>Short self-rating questionnaire with 18 questions on different sleep problems</li> </ul>	b1340 (amount of sleep, b1341 (onset of sleep), b1342 (maintenance of sleep)
Intelligence [i.e., intelligence quotient (IQ)]	<ul> <li>Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test [KBIT; (66)]</li> <li>Individually administered measure of intelligence</li> <li>Developed specifically for screening and related purposes</li> </ul>	Health conditions are coded by ICD-10 and not ICF
Drinking motives	<ul> <li>Drinking Motives Questionnaire Revised [DMQ-R; (67)]</li> <li>Self-reported questionnaire with 20 reasons why people might be motivated to drink alcoholic beverages</li> <li>Addresses social, coping, enhancement, and conformity motives</li> </ul>	b1301 (motivation)
Sexual risk-taking	<ul><li>US Youth Risk Behaviour Survey [YRBS; (68)]</li><li>Monitors health-related behaviours among youth and adults (e.g., alcohol use, unhealthy dietary behaviours, inadequate physical activity)</li></ul>	d5702 (maintaining one's health), b1301 (motivation)

may be a distal category, gender may be better considered as a proximal variable.

#### oximal variable. Among the included 11 sub-studies, data were extracted dependently by three authors (KK CM and IP) For

independently by three authors (KK, CM, and JP). For each study eligible for full-text assessment, the number of participants, characteristics of participants (e.g., age, sex, etc.), health conditions, and components of the ICF framework (i.e., environmental factors, personal factors, body functions, activities, and participation) were identified. Any discrepancies regarding these extractions were resolved by discussion among the authors.

## RESULTS

A total of 11 publications were included in our selective review. All 11 publications were published between 2009 and 2019, and used the same MAP study dataset, but varied in their selection of data to analyze (available complete data). Sample sizes ranged from a select sample of 73 (i.e., a sample of youth who completed IQ testing) to its full sample of over 500 subjects. Borderline to mild intellectual disabilities (defined as IQ scores between 60 and 84) were present in 24% of the Weiss et al. (78) study. All analyses reflected more females than males (ranging from 51.8 to 64.4%



of participants). Refer to **Table 3** for included sub-studies and additional study characteristics descriptions.

## **Contextual Factors**

The ICF model postulates a dynamic interaction across health conditions, contextual factors, and functioning. The influence of personal and environmental factors presents across the different domains of functioning and disability. Our focus is on child maltreatment as an environmental factor.

## Maltreatment Experiences

Maltreatment and Adolescent Pathways (MAP) youth reported high rates of maltreatment distally. In McPhie et al. (51), 78.1% of the participants reported one or more types of maltreatment histories above the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire [CTQ; (56)] clinical cut-offs for severity. Rates and severity of child maltreatment histories did not differ based on participant IQ, or Indigenous identity (78, 84). In Hudson et al. (81), 37% of participants self-reported CSA histories. CSA histories emerged as a particularly impactful form of maltreatment: it was related to the severity of all types of child maltreatment for both sexes (76). Faulkner et al. (75) investigated both maltreatment histories and lifetime exposure to IPV. In this analysis, 64.6% of participants reported two or more types of childhood maltreatment histories. Respectively, 60.8 and 38.6% of individuals witnessed lifetime verbal violence and physical IPV, according to the CEVQ. High levels of poly-victimisation rates of maltreatment were confirmed in this child welfare-involved sample.

## Child Welfare System Experiences

Most MAP youths had received long-term services, in the 5–6year range, with mid-childhood (ages 9–12), as the most common entry time into care. Multiple placements were the norm: youth in the MAP study moved in the range of 0–5 times in the past 5 years (averaging at 2.1 times). The provision or level of treatment or referral was not known; in this Ontario sample, there were mandated caseworker visits every 90 days to the youth. However, caseworker compliance and the length and nature of caseworker visits were not known. Only identification with caseworkers was investigated in Waechter et al. (84), and it did not differ between Indigenous and non-Indigenous child welfareinvolved youth. In this study, the question of whether positive identification (as compared to negative identification) with a caseworker was considered to understand to some degree the nature of the relationship.

## Health Conditions

## Mental Health Problems

In terms of the relationship of maltreatment types to health conditions, there was a range of significant findings across mental health conditions, with child emotional and sexual abuse showing higher levels of adolescent concern. McPhie et al.



(51) found that 28.2% of the sample reported one or more symptoms of psychological distress within the clinical range in the past week on the BSI measure, which is a proximal distress measure [domains of somatization, anxiety, depression (60)]. Goldstein et al. (80) and Park et al. (82) reported that all types of child maltreatment histories (i.e., physical abuse, sexual abuse, emotional abuse, physical neglect, emotional neglect) had positive, significant correlations with the trauma symptoms, in terms of the TSCC (59) total score, as well as the subscales of PTSS, dissociation, and sexual concerns. As the TSCC does not specify a timeframe, it may be conservatively regarded as reflecting lifetime, rather than current trauma symptoms. Emotional abuse history was a strong predictor of TSCC total score in Wekerle et al. (85), when all other forms of historical maltreatment were taken into account statistically, indicating a unique contribution. CSA history was associated with increased anxiety, depression, anger, and PTSS (81). Trauma symptoms did not differ based on Indigenous identity (84).

# Activity Limitations and Participation Restrictions

#### Adolescent Dating Violence (ADV)

Adolescent dating violence (ADV) was assessed in the timeframe of a romantic partnership in the past year, and a dating relationship was defined as extending 2 or more weeks, based on relationship prevalence information (58). Over 60% of the MAP sample (aged 14–17 years old) endorsed having begun

or been in a dating relationship. While the majority of child welfare-involved youth reported being in a relationship, many were also not reporting a relationship status. Of a 158-participant sample, 77.2% reported perpetrating verbal/emotional ADV, 36.7% threatening violence, 32.9% using physical violence, and 11.4% using sexual violence (75). In Wekerle et al. (85), among MAP dating youths, the majority experienced either form of ADV (i.e., over 60% of females; over 40% of males), noting that perpetration and victimisation behaviours total scores were positively correlated. Male participants with non-foster care status had higher ADV victimisation, as compared to foster care male youth, whereas ADV perpetration did not differ between sexes or foster care status (83). ADV over the MAP assessments were considered in Tanaka et al. (83). From a longitudinal perspective, the minority of child welfare-involved youth (33.6%) were never exposed to ADV, from initial data collection to 2-year follow-up. About 46% of youth reported experiencing repeated ADV (2+ times across assessments), although whether the romantic partner remained the same or varied could not be determined. In terms of types of ADV, verbal and/or emotional abuse was most highly endorsed, and sexual abuse was least endorsed. This is consistent with the view of ADV as a potential participation restriction.

Child maltreatment histories, trauma symptoms (i.e., anger and anxiety), intellectual disabilities, and foster care status were associated with both victimisation and perpetration of ADV. In Wekerle et al. (85), considering sex differences, trauma symptoms

#### TABLE 3 | Study characteristics.

References	Aim of study	Sample	Gender (% female)	Mean age (years) [SD]	Main findings
Faulkner et al. (75)	To examine the relationship between experiencing two child maltreatment types (child abuse and neglect [CAN] and exposure to IPV) and two outcomes (substance use and dating violence) in the past year.	N = 158 Participants remaining in the MAP study at the two-year follow up and who had initiated dating.	62.7%	17.89 [0.98]	<ul> <li>CAN experiences predicted more frequent dating violence perpetration and greater alcohol problems, indirectly via anger.</li> <li>Exposure to caregiver IPV was associated with dating violence, indirectly via anxiety and anger.</li> <li>Exposure to caregiver IPV was associated with marijuana use, indirectly via anxiety and dissociation.</li> <li>Exposure to caregiver IPV was associated with past year occurrence of both marijuana use and dating violence, indirectly via anger</li> </ul>
Goldstein et al. (79)	To develop a framework that identifies risk of alcohol problems and the likelihood of benefiting from preventive interventions among child welfare-involved adolescents.	N = 202 Participants who had consumed alcohol in the past year and had complete data on the variables of interest.	54.5%	15.93 [1.03]	<ul> <li>Child maltreatment was significantly and positively associated with alcohol problems and with coping motives.</li> <li>Coping motives were significantly and positively associated with anxiety symptoms and with alcohol problems.</li> <li>Increased anxiety symptoms were associated with more alcohol problems for adolescents with high coping motives compared to low.</li> <li>Increased depression symptoms were associated with fewer alcohol problems among those with high coping motives compared to low.</li> </ul>
Goldstein et al. (80)	To examine the contribution of post-traumatic stress symptoms to substance use and substance related problems among child welfare-involved adolescents and emerging adults.	N = 253 Participants who had complete data for variables of interest at the initial, 6-month and 1-year assessment points.	61.4%	16.87 [1.04]	<ul> <li>All maltreatment types were positively and significantly associated with all trauma symptoms in TSCC measure (except for the association between sexual abuse and anger).</li> <li>Child maltreatment and dissociation were positively associated with using a greater number of illicit drugs (other than marijuana) in the past year.</li> <li>Anger and dissociation were positively associated with alcohol use and drug problems.</li> <li>Sexual concerns were negatively associated with drug problems.</li> </ul>
Hudson et al. (81)	To examine the gender differences within the links between CSA and alcohol problems in adolescence, via potential emotion-focused mechanisms, among child welfare-involved youth.	N = 301 Participants who had complete data on CSA, negative emotion symptoms, and problem drinking questionnaire items.	56%	16.4 [1.0]	<ul> <li>CSA was positively associated with increased levels of anxiety, depression, and anger.</li> <li>CSA was indirectly associated with problem drinking, via anxiety and anger among female adolescents (full mediation by negative emotions).</li> <li>CSA was indirectly associated with problem drinking, via anger (partial mediation by negative emotions).</li> </ul>
McPhie et al. (51)	To examine the relationship between child maltreatment history and sleep quality among adolescents.	N = 73 Participants in the initial and 2 year time points with complete data on variables of interest.	64.4%	15.9 [1.06]	<ul> <li>Initial severity of child maltreatment predicted sleep problems 2 years later.</li> <li>Psychological distress fully and positively mediated the relationship between child maltreatment and sleep problems.</li> </ul>

(Continued)

Maltreatment and Child Welfare: ICF

122

#### TABLE 3 | Continued

References	Aim of study	Sample	Gender (% female)	Mean age (years) [SD]	Main findings
Park et al. (82)	To examine how PTSS and coping motives mediate the association between child maltreatment and alcohol use.	N = 564 Participants with complete data on childhood trauma, PTSS, drinking motives, and alcohol misuse at initial data collection and 6-month follow-up.	53.7%	15.9 [1.1]	<ul> <li>Child maltreatment was positively correlated with PTSS.</li> <li>PTSS were positively correlated with coping motives.</li> <li>Coping motives were positively correlated with alcohol misuse.</li> <li>PTSS and coping motives mediated the relationship between child maltreatment and alcohol misuse via a serial mediation (i.e., not as single mediators).</li> </ul>
Tanaka & Wekerle (83)	To examine self-reports of ADV victimisation and perpetration among child welfare-involved youth.	N = 341; 110 Participants who completed the ADV measurement at initial data collection; participants who completed the ADV measurement across all data points.	54%	15.8 [1.1]	<ul> <li>ADV verbal/emotional abuse was most highly endorsed.</li> <li>ADV sexual abuse was least endorsed.</li> <li>No significant difference in ADV perpetration and victimisation scores and prevalence across genders.</li> <li>Male ADV victimisation was higher for non-foster care youth compared with foster care youth; male ADV perpetration did not differ.</li> <li>Females did not differ based on CPS status.</li> <li>33.6% of youth have never been exposed to ADV from initial data collection to the 2 year follow up.</li> <li>46.4% reported ADV 2+ assessment points, up to the 2 year follow up.</li> </ul>
Waechter et al. (84)	To examine the relationship between cannabis use and self-reported identification with a caseworker among Indigenous and non-Indigenous adolescents.	N = 476 Participants who self-identified as Indigenous or other.	53%	15.8 [0.99]	<ul> <li>Indigenous youth did not differ from the non-Indigenous youth on their child maltreatment types, IPV, PTSS, cannabis usage, nor identification with CPS workers.</li> <li>Indigenous youth who reported low identification with their caseworker were 5.47 times more likely to have ever used cannabis in the past 12 months compared to non-Indigenous youth with low identification.</li> </ul>
Weiss et al. (78)	To examine attachment styles and ADV in child welfare-involved adolescents with borderline-to-mild intellectual disability.	N = 167 Participants who completed intelligence testing and experienced clinically significant maltreatment histories.	58%	15.8 [0.98]	<ul> <li>Adolescents with borderline-to-mild intellectual disabilities reported significantly more ADV victimisation and perpetration than adolescents with average IQ.</li> <li>Rates and severity of child maltreatment histories were similar across adolescents with intellectual disabilities and with average IQ.</li> <li>Avoidant attachment style significantly predicted ADV victimisation and perpetration, particularly among adolescents with lower IQ.</li> </ul>
Wekerle et al. (76)	To examine sexual motives, CSA, and risky sexual behaviour among child welfare-involved youth. To also evaluate motivations for sexual behaviour as a potential mechanism from CSA to risky sexual behaviour among adolescents.	N = 297 Participants who endorsed being sexually active (defined as having had sexual intercourse at the time of initial assessment).	57.6%	15.83 [1.04]	<ul> <li>CSA was associated with severity of all child maltreatment types for both genders.</li> <li>CSA was associated with witnessing emotional IPV for females only.</li> <li>CSA was associated with more sexual risk taking, particularly among males, compared to youth with no CSA experiences.</li> <li>CSA was associated with greater coping motives, which in turn was associated with increased sexual risk-taking.</li> </ul>
Wekerle et al. (85)	To consider the predictive value of childhood emotional abuse to understand PTSS and ADV. To also assess PTSS as a mediator between childhood emotional abuse and ADV.	N = 402 Participants who had data on childhood maltreatment histories, PTSS and ADV at initial data collection of the MAP study.	51.8%	16.3 [0.99]	<ul> <li>Emotional abuse significantly predicted both PTSS and dating violence among males and females.</li> <li>PTSS significantly mediated the relationship between male emotional abuse and ADV perpetration.</li> <li>PTSS significantly mediated the relationship between female emotional abuse or physical abuse and ADV victimisation.</li> </ul>

Maltreatment and Child Welfare: ICF

mediated the relationship between emotional abuse and ADV perpetration for males, as well as the relationship between emotional abuse or physical abuse and ADV victimisation for females. ADV perpetration was predicted by child maltreatment histories, with adolescent anger functioning as a mediator. In this context, trauma-related anger is, in part, explanatory for aggression against a partner; it should be noted, though, that some of this behaviour may reflect a violent dynamic of back-and-forth, potentially escalating aggression, as the CADRI does not capture the interplay but only presence or frequency. Considering ADV perpetration, exposure to caregiver IPV was a predictor, indirectly, *via* trauma-related anxiety and anger (75).

Intellectual disabilities and adolescent attachment styles also played a role in ADV. Attachment style is conceptualised as a generally consistent variable over time and was measured by Attachment Security Ratings (86). Avoidant attachment denotes discomfort towards long-term relationships (87), and an avoidant style reflects a tendency to avoid emotional closeness. Thus, both intellectual disability and attachment style would be historical, although the attachment style in adolescence is not crystallised and would be expected to change, for example, with intervention (86). Adolescents with borderline to mild intellectual disabilities reported significantly more experiences of ADV victimisation and perpetration, compared to adolescents with average IQ. Particularly among adolescents with lower IQ, having an avoidant attachment style significantly predicted both ADV victimisation and perpetration, indicating the risk in avoidance as a style for interacting with others (78). The secure attachment style reflects flexible responding, and confidence in the other interactant to provide a secure base for development, support, and exploration. An avoidant interpersonal style may be protective in terms of exposure to dangerous persons and situations; however, it represents a limitation in experiencing emotional connectedness.

#### Substance Use

Histories of child maltreatment, trauma symptoms (i.e., anger, anxiety, dissociation, and sexual concerns), and Indigenous identity had significant impacts on substance use among MAP study participants. Greater alcohol problems were predicted by child maltreatment histories and were mediated by adolescent anger (75). In the same sample, 38.6% of youth reported at least one incident of binge drinking in the last 30 days, 40.3% of youth reported alcohol use in the past year, and 10.1% of youth met the cut-off for the development of a drinking problem. Given that the legal drinking age in Ontario (age 19) was outside of all MAP study participants, these numbers are concerning. In Hudson et al. (81), CSA history was associated with problem drinking and was partially mediated by anger for male adolescents, and fully mediated by anxiety and anger for female adolescents.

A significant number of MAP youth reported drug use. Faulkner et al. (75) found that 45.6% of the sample reported cannabis use in the last 30 days. In addition, 19.3% of youth in child welfare reported using illicit drugs. Similarly, child maltreatment history was significantly and positively associated with alcohol problems (79). In Goldstein et al. (80), anger and dissociation symptoms were positively associated with alcohol and drug problems (80). Child maltreatment histories and dissociation were both positively associated with using a greater number of illicit drugs in the past year (80). With regards to cannabis usage specifically, associations were found with exposure to caregiver IPV, mediated by anxiety, dissociation, and anger (75).

Cannabis usage was not dependent on Indigenous identity, as Indigenous and non-Indigenous youth reported no differences in Waechter et al. (84). However, Indigenous youth who reported low positive identity with their caseworker were 5.47 times more likely to have used cannabis in the past 12 months, compared to non-Indigenous youth with a low caseworker identification (84).

#### Sexual Risk-Taking

Sexual health and sexual risk-taking are interconnected. Early entry into sexual relationships was notable for MAP males (25% before age 13), and sexual health practises varied (e.g., 12% of MAP females reported that they never used protection in intercourse) (85). Sexual risk-taking indicators formed a risk-taking score and were assessed as age at first sexual intercourse, alcohol/drug use before engaging in sex, condom use, positive testing for sexually transmitted infections, and a total number of sexual partners. Wekerle et al. (76) reported a significant overall relationship between CSA history and adolescent sexual risk-taking; for instance, adolescents with a history of CSA were more likely than those without a history to have had sex with multiple partners.

## **Body Function Impairments**

#### Coping Motives

Coping motives predominantly acted as mediators for the relationships across child maltreatment histories, trauma symptoms, and alcohol misuse or sexual risk-taking. For example, coping motives (e.g., to become more sociable, comply with peer pressure, forget about worries, feel good) for drinking were significantly and positively associated with child maltreatment and anxiety (79). For those with high maladaptive coping motives, greater anxiety was associated with more alcohol problems, whereas lower depression was associated with fewer alcohol problems. In Park et al. (82), both trauma symptoms and coping motives mediated the positive relationship between child maltreatment and alcohol misuse *via* serial mediation (82), showing that both are important for understanding adolescent substance use.

Child sexual abuse (CSA) was also associated with a greater number of maladaptive coping motives, as compared to non-CSA MAP study youth. CSA youth were significantly higher on having sex to cope with negative emotions, in both males and females than non-CSA youth. CSA history was also associated with greater maladaptive coping motives for sex (i.e., having sex in order to gain peer and/or partner approval), which in turn were associated with increased sexual risk-taking (i.e., a higher number of partners, not using protection during sex, using alcohol or drugs before sex) (76).

#### **Sleep Disturbances**

Sleep disturbances in the past 30 days were analysed by one study and measured with 11 self-report questions adapted from standardised questionnaires. McPhie et al. (51) found that the most reported sleep problems include taking longer than 30 min to fall asleep (61.6%), waking up before intended (46.4%), and having non-restorative sleep (38.4%). It was also reported that the severity of childhood maltreatment was predictive of sleep disturbances, where psychological distress functioned as a mediator. As the distress measure tapped proximal distress, it suggests that such issues as trauma symptoms, anxiety, and anger, as previously noted, are current candidates in determining body or physical regulation.

## DISCUSSION

Multiple outcome research from a large child welfare system dataset with multiple types of mental health and functioning measures support the utility of an ICF approach to understanding the holistic health of maltreated youth who come to the attention of formal child welfare systems. An ICF approach provides added value in directing assessment attention (e.g., adolescent dating violence, sexual risk-taking), in an ongoing fashion, and incorporates domains of clinical relevance (e.g., coping motives), not typically included in assessment models. As indicated in this study, unique and significant challenges are faced by youth in child welfare settings. A distal vs. proximal model seems important to understand the interplay of factors and the changing landscapes of maltreated adolescents receiving child welfare services. Histories of child maltreatment were consistently and positively correlated with mental and physical health conditions (i.e., trauma symptoms, intellectual disabilities) and functioning problems (i.e., substance use, ADV, sleep problems, sexual risk-taking). For example, all maltreatment types and trauma symptoms presented positive relationships, showing the important linkages and mediator role of trauma symptomatology and, hence, the need to assess adolescent trauma symptomatology. In terms of specific types, exposure, and certain maltreatment forms (IPV, CSA, and emotional abuse) emerged as impacting functioning more significantly. Histories of emotional abuse were predictive of both PTSS and ADV in the past year for male and female youth (85), yet, relatively little attention is given to it clinically (88). The practitioner under-attention to emotional or psychological maltreatment prompted a statement from the American Paediatrics Association to review findings and identify that it needs to be considered alongside and independently from the more often considered physical and sexual abuse, in terms of assessment, prevention, and the potential utility of traumafocused treatments (89).

While the popular CTQ measure was primarily used for investigating historical child maltreatment in the MAP substudies, the CEVQ filled the gap of providing information on exposure to IPV. The historical childhood exposure to IPV as a distal factor was significantly linked to the proximal experience of ADV, in which trauma symptomatology emerges as a bridging factor. ADV emerged differently over time, such that at a

mid-adolescent timepoint (i.e., the MAP initial age described youth, on average, ranging from 15 to 16 years), the minority of youth reported ADV. However, with a view from the initial assessment to the 2-year follow-up, where youth are in late adolescence (ages 17-18 years), most youth had experienced some form of ADV. High rates of ADV perpetration and victimisation indicate the need for interventions on relationship skill building and safety skills. Foster care and non-foster care youth vary in their access to resources, so making sure these interventions are equitably distributed is essential. This is especially important when considering the increased prevalence of ADV victimisation among non-foster care male youth, given that greater service provision typically is directed to foster care youth (83). Thus, when it comes to relationship violence, a distal by proximal view seems important and needs to be part of the ongoing inquiry during caseworker visits and in adolescent medicine.

The ICF framework accommodates well the interplay between environmental factors with health conditions. Given the placement disruptions of youth in the MAP study, the risk for disrupted attachments, trauma, and instability in social networks seem more likely. Analyses of child welfare statistics in Canada show that youth in care face increased environmental turbulence, such as multiple placement moves (90). A greater number of moves has been associated with difficulties in building consistent relationships in new schools and community neighbourhood settings, as well as the development of more severe trauma symptoms (91, 92). Practitioners are encouraged to continue checking such quality-of-life factors, particularly for those involved in the child welfare system. Given the consistent mediator role of trauma-related emotionality (distress, anxiety, anger) for both males and females, supporting youth to be more fully engaged in the decision-making is not only a rights-based expectation (i.e., sustainable development goal 16, right to be free from all forms of violence) but also a principle of traumainformed care (93). During adolescence, it is critical for youth to grow and develop in supportive environments, with ample opportunities to connect safely, access resources, and practise adaptive emotion regulation skills. Youth with histories of greater poly-victimisation are more likely to experience maltreatment while in foster care, compared to those with fewer maltreatment experiences (94), and care needs to be prioritised to prevent such re-victimisation and traumatization. The medical home may be an important point of continuity of care.

It was found that child welfare-involved youth with borderline-to-mild intellectual disabilities reported significantly greater dating violence victimisation and perpetration, compared to youth with average IQs (78). Children with disabilities are at greater risk of experiencing child maltreatment, with three times the higher prevalence of maltreatment than the typically developing population (95). When considering the whole child welfare system, ~50% of children investigated by CPS had a developmental disability(ies) (95). More concerning is the understanding that maltreatment rates are likely higher than reported, as those with disabilities may experience communication difficulties that hinder disclosure or self-report to caseworkers or practitioners.

Weiss et al. (78) further detected the role of attachment style, where avoidant attachment styles correlated with both ADV victimisation and perpetration, particularly among adolescents with low IQ. Children with maltreatment histories are less likely to seek abusive attachment figures (e.g., parents, caregivers) for support or comfort, which can, in turn, lead to increased fears related to attachment figures and, hence, the development of avoidant attachment styles (96). Insecure attachment models, which begin at an early age, likely carry out into adolescence in terms of developing a stylistic way of relating which, in turn, can impact the ability to engage in healthy relationships (97). It may, therefore, be useful to consider the maltreated, child welfare-involved youth's experiences with close relationships, and how that influences their approach/avoidance styles. Youth with an avoidant style may not make the connexion to how this style of interaction expresses in a romantic relationship, for example, and understanding this dynamic may help to direct the clinician's anticipatory guidance approach. Research has shown the potential of modifying attachment styles via treatment and can therefore be a goal of intervention for child welfare-involved youth, who are at greater risk for ADV involvement (98).

Child maltreatment experiences, trauma symptoms, and coping motives were frequently linked together in the MAP sub-studies. Emotion regulation emerges as a core issue in understanding both the tendency towards emotion avoidance (e.g., avoidant attachment style) and the mediation by traumarelated symptomatology. The MAP sub-study findings suggest a coherence in the core issue of emotion regulation and coping across diverse outcomes (i.e., ADV, substance use, or sexual risk-taking). Substance use across child welfare settings stood out as a particular concern. Similar to childhood IPV exposure and later dating violence, the social learning theory argues how youth can learn positive or negative behaviours from observing others that inform the experiences of victimisation and later coping strategies (99). If substance use or IPV is prevalent in initial households, as these tend to overlap [e.g., (100)], this could be a contributing factor to later substance use and ADV problems. Indeed, MAP youth with CSA histories identified motivations to have sex as focused on a way to cope with negative affect. Alternatives to coping with trauma-related negative affect and addressing emotion regulation challenges (e.g., emotional reactivity to threat/perceived threat, delayed emotional responding with dissociation) may be an important clinical goal. These higher rates of substance use among MAP youths are consistent with previous studies. For example, youth with four or more adverse childhood experiences are approximately two, seven, five, and 11 times more likely to engage in smoking, alcoholism, illicit drug use, and injected drug use, respectively, than those with fewer ACEs (101). Substance use was also often associated with coping motives, which we considered an impaired body function. Drinking, for example, may serve as a tension-reduction mechanism to cope with feelings of anxiety and, in turn, better allow youth to participate in social events in dampening social anxiety. Such coping may work in tandem with the impact of child maltreatment histories, which are also associated with the inability to develop healthy coping motives. These coping motives were also present in reasons for having sex, particularly among those with CSA histories. Adaptive coping and social skill development are important targets to consider for child welfare system-involved youths.

## **Clinical Implications**

For the practitioner, the ICF model is valuable in guiding service provision to foster care and/or maltreated youth. Currently, the HEADSS (Home; Education and employment, eating and exercise; Activities and peer relationships, social media; Drug use, including prescribed medications, cigarettes, vaping, alcohol and other drugs; Sexuality and gender; Suicide, self-harm, safety, and spirituality) assessment is used as a psychosocial assessment for adolescents by health practitioners (102). In reference to child welfare-involved youth, however, it is a missed opportunity to understand the why behind health-risk behaviours, such as maladaptive coping. For example, coping motives were significant in correlating with alcohol problems and sexual risktaking behaviour (79, 82). Both behaviours are being engaged in for managing negative emotions, which highlights the need for services that directly target the management of emotions (i.e., emotion literacy, adaptive emotion expression, managing distress, alternatives to acting-out behaviours, and resilience strategies). Interventions that support new routines in emotion regulation would seem important, such as Trauma-focused Cognitive Behaviour Therapy, which addresses PTSS with cognitive-behavioural principles (103); and interventions based on behavioural perspectives, which focuses on understanding antecedents and consequences of actions (104). More research is needed to determine which interventions are most effective for child welfare-involved youth particularly. The interrelated nature of the ICF model further reinforces the ways in which contextual factors and health conditions interact to influence functioning, appropriate to the complex nature of youth experiences within child welfare.

Additionally, it may be practical to consider the "medical home" when providing care for child welfare-involved youth (105). A medical home is an approach that integrates patients, families, clinicians, and medical staff, to provide comprehensive primary care. They are well-known in their ability to conduct ongoing screening and facilitate longitudinal relationships, which are critical for the turbulent environment of child welfareinvolved youth. The medical home can stand as a source of stability. Research has shown that youth with special healthcare needs (i.e., requiring additional health-related services due to increased risk of developmental, physical, emotional, and/or behavioural conditions) benefit from the medical home, as seen by improvements in health, school, and work attendance, as well as access to care (106). The medical home, as an environmental factor may, therefore, facilitate functioning in this population. In a meta-analysis, it has also been found that communication with parents about safe sex can act as a protective role in adolescent safer sex behaviour (107). Professionals in the medical home, or caregivers in the child welfare system, can have these conversations or support guardians in this regard, as prevention against sexual risk-taking and compromised sexual health.

It is a given that clinicians interacting with youth from the child welfare system be well-versed in current literature in the child maltreatment area. For developing clinicians and trainees, various resources and guidelines currently exist for clinicians to use in the care for child welfare-involved youth, including The Encyclopaedia of Early Childhood Development (108) and the VEGA (Violence, Evidence, Guidance, Action) Project (109), as open access options for information and training about detecting and responding appropriately to child maltreatment and family violence. Similarly, there are several guidelines and tools for mental health treatment, such as the WHO Mental Health Gap Action Program (110) and the American Academy of Paediatrics primary care tools (111). Using such tools can support better care for vulnerable youth.

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

Strengths of this review include the use of the ICF to analyze the health and functioning of child welfare-involved youth. As seen in the MAP sub-studies, multiple factors were connected and significantly related to one another. Trauma symptoms often functioned as mediators (e.g., relationships between sleep problems and child maltreatment histories; exposure to IPV and substance use, etc.), which aligns with the multi-faceted nature of the ICF model.

Limitations include the incompatibility between the measure timelines and the ICF model. The ICF is a snapshot, meaning it represents the functioning of an individual at a specific time; comparatively, the MAP study measures included a wide range of timeframes. For example, child maltreatment was measured by the CTQ-SF, which reports maltreatment history "while growing up" without a specific time frame; in contrast, the CEVQ reports the frequency of IPV and maltreatment experiences more specifically (e.g., between grades 1–5, grades 6– 8, happening now, etc.) providing better quantification of distal vs. proximal influences. Moving forward, questionnaires should be standardised in a way that can disentangle proximal vs. distal time points, and graphical databases may be implemented to visualise the various timelines.

The MAP sub-studies were also ambiguous in using the terms, "gender" and "sex," interchangeably. This may be attributed to the publication year of some studies, during a time in which definitions of gender and sex definitions were not properly delineated. While sex was analysed in the MAP sub-studies, it can be insightful to expand research to include a range of

## REFERENCES

- Wekerle C. Resilience in the context of child maltreatment: Connections to the practice of mandatory reporting. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2013) 37:93– 101. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.11.005
- World Health Organization. Report of the Consultation on Child Abuse Prevention. (1999). Available online at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/ 10665/65900 (accessed March 31, 1999).
- Pekarsky A. Overview of Child Maltreatment—Pediatrics. Merck Manuals Professional Edition (2020). Available online at: https://www.merckmanuals.

genders, as gender and sexual minorities may be at greater risk of adverse outcomes in child welfare settings (49). Similarly, future steps should involve further analysis of the disproportionate representation of Indigenous youth in child welfare (112). Family and community may both be significant factors of resilience in Indigenous youth, who strongly value and uphold relationships, which can better contribute to appropriate activities and participation in daily life. The MAP study was limited in its analysis of this population, but even then, was able to detect the importance of relationships, as Indigenous youth who experienced good caseworker relationships were significantly less likely to engage in cannabis use. In Ontario, if a youth selfidentifies as Indigenous, they are directed to the Indigenous child welfare agency, if available in that locale. The overrepresentation of diversity sub-groups, and its potential overlap with socioeconomic disadvantage, is an important ongoing area that child welfare continues to contend with, and is addressed with different service models.

## CONCLUSIONS

The environment in which a youth is embedded is critical to their ability to function and navigate life in a healthy manner. This is even more true for youth in child welfare settings, experiencing a high rate of adversity and ongoing risk. Any interventions, or solutions, to promote the well-being of child welfare-involved youth ought to address the various interrelated factors involved, which the ICF framework is well-suited to achieve.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KK, CM, JP, and CW contributed to conceptualising the review topic and aim. KK, CM, and JP extracted and analysed data. KK wrote the majority of the first manuscript draft. All authors contributed to writing parts of the manuscript, provided feedback on an ongoing basis, revised the manuscript, and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This review was funded, in part, by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Team (grant no. TE3-138302) and on a CIHR Indigenous Gender and Wellness (grant no. 171382) (both to CW as principal investigator).

com/en-ca/professional/pediatrics/child-maltreatment/overview-of-child-maltreatment (accessed May 6, 2021).

- Moody G, Cannings-John R, Hood K, Kemp A, Robling M. Establishing the international prevalence of self-reported child maltreatment: a systematic review by maltreatment type and gender. *BMC Public Health*. (2018) 18:1164. doi: 10.1186/s12889-018-6044-y
- 5. Delaney AX, Wells М. Polyvictimization experiences living in foster and depression among youth care. Crim (2017) Iustice Rev. 42:146-62. doi: 10.1177/07340168 17704699

- Griffin E, McClelland G, Holzberg M, Stolbach B, Maj N, Kisiel C. Addressing the impact of trauma before diagnosing mental illness in child welfare. *Child Welfare.* (2011) 90:69–89.
- McMillen JC, Zima BT, Scott LD, Auslander WF, Munson MR, Ollie MT, et al. Prevalence of psychiatric disorders among older youths in the foster care system. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2005) 44:88– 95. doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000145806.24274.d2
- Peterson C, Florence C, Klevens J. The economic burden of child maltreatment in the United States, 2015. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2018) 86:178– 83. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2018.09.018
- Drake B, Jonson-Reid M. Poverty and child maltreatment. In: Korbin JE, Krugman RD, editors. *Handbook of Child Maltreatment*. Springer Netherlands (2014). p. 131–48. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-7208-3\_7
- Jarjoura GR, Triplett RA, Brinker GP. Growing up poor: Examining the link between persistent childhood poverty and delinquency. J Quant Criminol. (2002) 18:159–87. doi: 10.1023/A:1015206715838
- Leeb RT, Lewis T, Zolotor AJ. A review of physical and mental health consequences of child abuse and neglect and implications for practice. *Am* J Lifestyle Med. (2011) 5:454–68. doi: 10.1177/1559827611410266
- Gilbert R, Widom CS, Browne K, Fergusson D, Webb E, Janson S. Burden and consequences of child maltreatment in high-income countries. *Lancet.* (2009) 373:68–81. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)61706-7
- Lanier P, Jonson-Reid M, Stahlschmidt MJ, Drake B, Constantino J. Child maltreatment and pediatric health outcomes: a longitudinal study of low-income children. J Pediatr Psychol. (2009) 35:511–22. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsp086
- Marmot M, Bell R. Solutions for prevention and control of noncommunicable diseases: social determinants and non-communicable diseases: time for integrated action. *BMJ*. (2019) 364. doi: 10.1136/bmj.l251
- Ramo-Fernández L, Boeck C, Koenig AM, Schury K, Binder EB, Gündel H, et al. The effects of childhood maltreatment on epigenetic regulation of stress-response associated genes: An intergenerational approach. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-36689-2
- Zhong X, Ming Q, Dong D, Sun X, Cheng C, Xiong G, et al. Childhood maltreatment experience influences neural response to psychosocial stress in adults: an fMRI study. *Front. Psychol.* (2020) 10:2961. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02961
- 17. Wekerle C, Wolfe DA, Cohen JA, Bromberg DS, Murray L. Childhood maltreatment (2nd edition). Hogrefe. Toronto, ON (2019).
- Hook JL, Romich JL, Lee JS, Marcenko MO, Kang JY. Trajectories of economic disconnection among families in the child welfare system. Soc Probl. (2016) 63:161–79. doi: 10.1093/socpro/spw006
- International Society for the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect. (2021). World Perspectives on Child Abuse (14th ed.). Available online at: https://www.ispcan.org/product/world-perspectives-on-child-abuse-14th-edition/?v=402f03a963ba (accessed May 6, 2021).
- Font SA, Gershoff ET. Foster care: How we can, and should, do more for maltreated children. Soc Policy Rep. (2020) 33:1–40. doi: 10.1002/sop2.10
- Taussig HN. Risk behaviors in maltreated youth placed in foster care: a longitudinal study of protective and vulnerability factors. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2002) 26:1179–99. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00391-5
- Lockwood KK, Friedman S, Christian CW. Permanency and the foster care system. *Curr Probl Pediatr Adolesc Health Care.* (2015) 45:306– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.cppeds.2015.08.005
- 23. Children's Commissioner. Stability Index 2018. Overview and Findings. London (2018).
- 24. Waid J, Kothari BH, Bank L, McBeath B. Foster care placement change: the role of family dynamics and household composition. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2016) 68:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2016.06.024
- National Child Welfare Workforce Institute. Child Welfare Workforce Demographics (2000-2010): Snapshot of the Frontline Child Welfare Caseworker (2011). Available online at: http://ccwwi.org/files/Workforce\_ Demographic\_Trends\_May2011.pdf (accessed May 6, 2021).
- 26. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. *Child Maltreatment 2019* (2021). Retrieved from: https:// www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/research-data-technology/statistics-research/childmaltreatment (accessed May 6, 2021).

- Child Welfare Information Gateway. *Child Maltreatment 2018: Summary* of Key Findings. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Children's Bureau (2020).
- Wildeman C, Emanuel N. Cumulative risks of foster care placement by age 18 for u. S. Children, 2000–2011. PLoS ONE. (2014) 9:e92785. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0092785
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The Adoption and Foster Care Analysis and Reporting System (AFCARS) Report (2020). Retrieved from: https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/documents/cb/ afcarsreport27.pdf (accessed May 6, 2021).
- Chaku N, Hoyt LT. Developmental trajectories of executive functioning and puberty in boys and girls. J Youth Adolesc. (2019) 48:1365– 78. doi: 10.1007/s10964-019-01021-2
- Steinberg L. Risk taking in adolescence: what changes, and why? Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2004) 1021:51–8. doi: 10.1196/annals.1308.005
- Silverman AB, Reinherz HZ, Giaconia RM. The long-term sequelae of child and adolescent abuse: a longitudinal community study. *Child Abuse Negl.* (1996) 20:709–23. doi: 10.1016/0145-2134(96)00059-2
- 33. Grant BF, Stinson FS, Dawson DA, Chou SP, Dufour MC, Compton W, et al. Prevalence and co-occurrence of substance use disorders and independent mood and anxiety disorders: results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. *Arch Gen Psychiatry.* (2004) 61:807– 16. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.61.8.807
- Holder MK, Blaustein JD. Puberty and adolescence as a time of vulnerability to stressors that alter neurobehavioral processes. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2014) 35:4. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2013.10.004
- Helton JJ, Lightfoot E, Fu QJ, Bruhn CM. Prevalence and severity of child impairment in a US sample of child maltreatment investigations. J Dev Behav Pediatrics. (2019) 40:285–92. doi: 10.1097/DBP.000000000 000655
- Slayter E, Springer C. Child welfare-involved youth with intellectual disabilities: pathways into and placements in foster care. *Intellect Dev Disabil.* (2011) 49:1–13. doi: 10.1352/1934-9556-49.1.1
- Jonson-Reid M, Scott LD, McMillen JC, Edmond T. Dating violence among emancipating foster youth. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* (2007) 29:557– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2006.12.008
- 38. Fernet M. "when you're in a relationship, you say no, but your partner insists": Sexual dating violence and ambiguity among girls and young women - mylène fernet, Martine Hébert, Geneviève Brodeur, Valérie Théorêt, 2021 (2019). Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/ 0886260519867149 (accessed November 02, 2021).
- Hébert M, Lapierre A, MacIntosh HB, Ménard AD. A review of mediators in the association between Child sexual abuse and Revictimization in romantic relationships. J Child Sex Abuse. (2021) 30:385–406. doi: 10.1080/10538712.2020.1801936
- Child Welfare Information Gateway (2017). Making and Screening Reports of Child Abuse and Neglect. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Children's Bureau.
- McGee RA, Wolfe DA, Wilson SK. Multiple maltreatment experiences and adolescent behavior problems: Adolescents' perspectives. *Dev Psychopathol.* (1997) 9:131–49.
- 42. World Health Organization. International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health: ICF. Geneva: World Health Organization (2001).
- World Health Organization. *Towards a Common Language for Functioning, Disability and Health ICF* (2002). Retrieved from: https://www.who.int/classifications/icf/icfbeginnersguide.pdf (accessed May 6, 2021).
- Huffhines L, Jackson Y. Child maltreatment, chronic pain, and other chronic health conditions in youth in foster care. J Child Adolesc Trauma. (2019) 12:437–45. doi: 10.1007/s40653-019-0248-x
- Aldridge J, Lamb ME, Sternberg KJ, Orbach Y, Esplin PW, Bowler L. Using a human figure drawing to elicit information from alleged victims of child sexual abuse. J Consult Clin Psychol. (2004) 72:304– 16. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.72.2.304
- 46. Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (US). Trauma-Informed Care in Behavioral Health Services (2014). Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (US). Retrieved from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/books/NBK207201/ (accessed May 6, 2021).

- Howe TR. Multifinality. In: Goldstein S, Naglieri JA, editors. Encyclopedia of Child Behavior and Development. Springer US. (2011). p. 982. doi: 10.1007/978-0-387-79061-9\_1864
- 48. Fuchs D, Burnside L, Marchenski S, Mudry A. Children with disabilities involved with the child welfare system in Manitoba: Current and future challenges. In: *Face on Child Welfare: Voices from the Prairie*. Regina, SK: Prairie Child Welfare Consortium (2007). p. 127–45.
- Collin-Vézina D, Coleman K, Milne L, Sell J, Daigneault I. Trauma experiences, maltreatment-related impairments, and resilience among child welfare youth in residential care. *Int J Ment Health Addict*. (2011) 9:577– 89. doi: 10.1007/s11469-011-9323-8
- Tanaka M, Wekerle C, Schmuck ML, Paglia-Boak A, MAP Research Team. The linkages among childhood maltreatment, adolescent mental health, and self-compassion in child welfare adolescents. *Child Abuse Neglect*. (2011) 35:887–98. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2011.07.003
- McPhie ML, Weiss JA, Wekerle C. Psychological distress as a mediator of the relationship between childhood maltreatment and sleep quality in adolescence: results from the Maltreatment and Adolescent Pathways (Map) Longitudinal Study. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2014) 38:2044–52. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.07.009
- Cieza A, Geyh S, Chatterji S, Kostanjsek N, Ustun B, Stucki G. ICF linking rules: an update based on lessons learned. J Rehabil Med. (2005) 37:212– 8. doi: 10.1080/16501970510040263
- Cieza A, Fayed N, Bickenbach J, Prodinger B. Refinements of the ICF Linking Rules to strengthen their potential for establishing comparability of health information. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2019) 41:574–83. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2016.1145258
- Bernstein DP, Fink L, Handelsman L, Foote J, Lovejoy M, Wenzel, K, et al. Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1994) 151:1132–6. doi: 10.1176/ajp.151.8.1132
- Bernstein DP, Fink L, Handelsman L, Foote J. Childhood trauma questionnaire. In: Assessment of Family Violence: A Handbook for Researchers and Practitioners. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (1998) 158–160. doi: 10.1037/10462-000
- Bernstein DP, Stein JA, Newcomb MD, Walker E, Pogge D, Ahluvalia T, et al. Development and validation of a brief screening version of the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2003) 27:169– 90. doi: 10.1016/S0145-2134(02)00541-0
- Walsh CA, MacMillan HL, Trocmé N, Jamieson E, Boyle MH. Measurement of victimization in adolescence: Development and validation of the childhood experiences of violence questionnaire. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2008) 32:1037–57. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.05.003
- Wolfe DA, Scott K, Reitzel-Jaffe D, Wekerle C, Grasley C, Straatman AL. Development and validation of the conflict in adolescent dating relationships inventory. *Psychol Assess.* (2001) 13:277–93. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.13.2.277
- Briere J. Trauma Symptom Checklist for Children (TSCC): Professional Manual. Odessa, FL: Psychological Assessment Resources (1996).
- 60. Derogatis LR. *Brief Symptom Inventory*. Baltimore, MD: Clinical Psychometric Research (1975).
- 61. White HR, Labouvie EW. Towards the assessment of adolescent problem drinking. *J Stud Alcohol.* (1989) 50:30–7.
- 62. Saunders JB, Aasland OG, Babor TF, De La Fuente JR, Grant M. Development of the alcohol use disorders identification test (Audit): who collaborative project on early detection of persons with harmful alcohol consumption-ii. *Addiction.* (1993) 88:791–804. doi: 10.1111/j.1360-0443.1993.tb02093.x
- Knight JR, Shrier LA, Bravender TD, Farrell M, Vander Bilt J, Shaffer HJ. A new brief screen for adolescent substance abuse. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* (1999) 153:591–6. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.153.6.591
- Knight, John R., Sherritt L, Shrier LA, Harris SK, and Chang G. (2002). Validity of the crafft substance abuse screening test among adolescent clinic patients. *Arch Pediatrics Adolesc Med.* 156:607. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.156.6.607
- Douglass AB, Bomstein R, Nino-Murcia G, Keenan S, Miles L, Zarcone VP, et al. The sleep disorders questionnaire i: creation and multivariate structure of sdq. Sleep. (1994) 17:160–7. doi: 10.1093/sleep/17.2.160
- Kaufman AS, Kaufman NL. Kaufman Brief Intelligence Test—Manual. Circle Pines, MN: American Guidance Service (1990).

- Cooper ML. Motivations for alcohol use among adolescents: development and validation of a four-factor model. *Psychol Assess*. (1994) 6:117–28.
- Eaton DK, Kann L, Kinchen S, Shanklin S, Ross J, Hawkins J, et al. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). youth risk behavior surveillance - United States, 2009. MMWR Surveill Summ. (2010) 59:1–142.
- Harned MS. Abused women or abused men? An examination of the context and outcomes of dating violence. *Viol Victims*. (2001) 16:269– 85. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.16.3.269
- Wekerle C, Wolfe DA, Hawkins DL, Pittman AL, Glickman A, Lovald BE. Childhood maltreatment, posttraumatic stress symptomatology, and adolescent dating violence: considering the value of adolescent perceptions of abuse and a trauma mediation model. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2001) 13:847–71. doi: 10.1017/S0954579401004060
- Sexual risk-taking. In: Goldberg AE, editor. The SAGE Encyclopedia of LGBTQ Studies. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc. (2016). doi: 10.4135/9781483371283.n378
- Roth T. Insomnia: definition, prevalence, etiology, and consequences. J Clin Sleep Med. (2007) 3(5 Suppl):S7–S10. doi: 10.5664/jcsm. 26929
- Chan IYS, Leung M-Y, Liang Q. The roles of motivation and coping behaviours in managing stress: qualitative interview study of hong kong expatriate construction professionals in mainland china. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2018) 15:561. doi: 10.3390/ijerph 15030561
- McPhie MD, Keough MT, Rundle S, Heath LM, Wardell JD, Hendershot CS. Depression, environmental reward, coping motives and alcohol consumption during the covid-19 pandemic. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:574676. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.574676
- 75. Faulkner B, Goldstein AL, Wekerle C. Pathways from childhood maltreatment to emerging adulthood: Investigating traumamediated substance use and dating violence outcomes among child protective services-involved youth. *Child Maltreatment*. (2014) 19:219–32. doi: 10.1177/1077559514551944
- Wekerle C, Goldstein AL, Tanaka M, Tonmyr L. Childhood sexual abuse, sexual motives, and adolescent sexual risk-taking among males and females receiving child welfare services. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2017) 66:101– 11. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2017.01.013
- Sherer I, Hanks M. Affirming pediatric care for transgender and gender expansive youth. *Pediatr Ann.* (2021) 50:e65– 71. doi: 10.3928/19382359-20210115-01
- Weiss JA, MacMullin J, Waechter R, Wekerle C, MAP Research Team. Child maltreatment, adolescent attachment style, and dating violence: considerations in youths with borderline-to-mild intellectual disability. *Int J Mental Health Addict*. (2011) 9:555–76. doi: 10.1007/s11469-011-9321-x
- Goldstein AL, Vilhena-Churchill N, Stewart SH, Wekerle C. Coping motives as moderators of the relationship between emotional distress and alcohol problems in a sample of adolescents involved with child welfare. *Adv Mental Health.* (2012) 11:67–75. doi: 10.5172/jamh.2012.11.1.67
- Goldstein AL, Wekerle C, Tonmyr L, Thornton T, Waechter R, Pereira J, et al. The relationship between post-traumatic stress symptoms and substance use among adolescents involved with child welfare: Implications for emerging adulthood. *Int J Ment Health Addict.* (2011) 9:507–24. doi: 10.1007/s11469-011-9331-8
- Hudson A, Wekerle C, Goldstein AL, Ellenbogen S, Waechter R, Thompson K, et al. Gender differences in emotion-mediated pathways from childhood sexual abuse to problem drinking in adolescents in the child welfare system. *J Child Adolesc Trauma*. (2016) 10:19–28. doi: 10.1007/s40653-016-0125-9
- Park T, Thompson K, Wekerle C, Al-Hamdani M, Smith S, Hudson A, et al. Posttraumatic stress symptoms and coping motives mediate the association between childhood maltreatment and alcohol problems. *J Trauma Stress.* (2019) 32:918–26. doi: 10.1002/jts.22467
- Tanaka M, Wekerle C. Dating violence among child welfare-involved youth: results from the Maltreatment and Adolescent Pathway (Map) Longitudinal Study. Int J Child Adolesc Resil. (2014) 2:29–36. Available online at: https:// ijcar-rirea.ca/index.php/ijcar-rirea/article/view/157
- 84. Waechter R, Leung E, Wekerle C, Bennett M, MAP Research Team. Cannabis use among aboriginal youth in the non-aboriginal child

protection services system. First Peoples Child Family Rev. (2011) 6:114–25. doi: 10.7202/1068900ar

- Wekerle C, Leung E, Wall A-M, MacMillan H, Boyle M, Trocme N, et al. The contribution of childhood emotional abuse to teen dating violence among child protective services-involved youth. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2009) 33:45–58. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.12.006
- Meyer B, Pilkonis PA. Attachment style. *Psychotherapy*. (2001) 38:466– 72. doi: 10.1037/0033-3204.38.4.466
- 87. Bowlby J. Attachment and Loss (2nd ed). New York, NY: Basic Books (1999).
- Wekerle C, Smith S. Emotional maltreatment: an overview. In: Tremblay RE, Boivin M, Peters RDeV, editors. *Encyclopedia on Early Childhood Development* (2019). Available online at: https://www.child-encyclopedia. com/maltreatment-child/according-experts/emotional-maltreatmentoverview (accessed May 14, 2021).
- Hibbard R, Barlow J, MacMillan H, Committee on Child Abuse and Neglect, and American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry Child Maltreatment and Violence Committee. Psychological maltreatment. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 130:372–8. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1552
- Fallon B, Van Wert M, Trocmé N, MacLaurin B, Sinha V, Lefebvre R, et al. Ontario Incidence Study of Reported Child Abuse and Neglect-2013 (OIS-2013). Toronto, ON: Child Welfare Research Portal (2015).
- Barth RP, Lloyd EC, Green RL, James S, Leslie LK, Landsverk J. Predictors of placement moves among children with and without emotional and behavioral disorders. *J Emot Behav Disord*. (2007) 15:46– 55. doi: 10.1177/10634266070150010501
- Raviv T, Taussig HN, Culhane SE, Garrido EF. Cumulative risk exposure and mental health symptoms among maltreated youth placed in out-ofhome care. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2010) 34:742–51. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2010. 02.011
- Bargeman M, Smith S, Wekerle C. Trauma-informed care as a rightsbased "standard of care": a critical review. *Child Abuse Negl.* (2020) 119:104762. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2020.104762
- Katz CC, Courtney ME, Novotny E. Pre-foster care maltreatment class as a predictor of maltreatment in foster care. *Child Adolesc Social Work J.* (2017) 34:35–49. doi: 10.1007/s10560-016-0476-y
- Legano LA, Desch LW, Messner SA, Idzerda S, Flaherty EG, Neglect, C, et al. Maltreatment of children with disabilities. *Pediatrics*. (2021) 147:920. doi: 10.1542/peds.2021-050920
- Mikulincer M, Shaver PR, Pereg D. Attachment theory and affect regulation: The dynamics, development, and cognitive consequences of attachment-related strategies. *Motiv Emot.* (2003) 27:77–102. doi: 10.1023/A:1024515519160
- Weinfield NS, Sroufe LA, Egeland B. Attachment from infancy to early adulthood in a high?risk sample: Continuity, discontinuity, and their correlates. *Child Dev.* (2000) 71:695–702. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00178
- Levy KN, Ellison WD, Scott LN, Bernecker SL. Attachment style. J Clin Psychol. (2011) 67:193–203. doi: 10.1002/jclp. 20756
- 99. Falk R, Kim SS. *The War System: An Interdisciplinary Approach*. New York, NY: Routledge (2019).
- 100. Wekerle C, Wall AM (editors). The Violence and Addiction Equation: Theoretical and Clinical Issues in Substance Abuse and Relationship Violence. New York, NY: Brunner-Routledge (2002).
- 101. Anda RF, Felitti VJ, Bremner JD, Walker JD, Whitfield CH, Perry BD, et al. The enduring effects of abuse and related adverse experiences in childhood. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 256:174– 86. doi: 10.1007/s00406-005-0624-4

- 102. Child and Adolescent Health Service. HEADSS Adolescent Psychosocial Assessment (2020). Available online at: https://www.cahs.health.wa.gov. au/-/media/HSPs/CAHS/Documents/Community-Health/CHM/HEADSSadolescent-psychosocial-assessment.pdf?thn=0 (accessed May 6, 2021).
- Cohen JA, Mannarino AP. Trauma-focused cognitive behavioral therapy for traumatized children and families. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* (2015) 24:557–70. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2015.02.005
- McMillen JC, Katz CC, Claypool EJ. An emotion regulation framework for child welfare intervention and programming. *Social Serv Rev.* (2014) 88:443–68. doi: 10.1086/677656
- 105. American Academy of Pediatrics. What Is Medical Home? Engaging Patients and Families (2021). Available online at: https://www.aap.org/en-us/ professional-resources/practice-transformation/managing-patients/Pages/ what-is-medical-home.aspx (accessed May 6, 2021).
- 106. Mattson G, Kuo DZ, AAP Committee on Psychosocial Aspects of Child and Family Health, AAP Council on Children With Disabilities. Psychosocial factors in children and youth with special health care needs and their families. *Pediatrics*. (2019) 143:e20183171. doi: 10.1542/peds.2018-3171
- 107. Widman L, Choukas-Bradley S, Noar SM, Nesi J, Garrett K. Parent-adolescent sexual communication and adolescent safer sex behavior: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatr.* (2016) 170:52–61. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.2731
- Centre of Excellence for Early Childhood Development. *Encyclopedia on Early Childhood Development* (n.d.). Available online at: https://www.child-encyclopedia.com/ (accessed May 6, 2021).
- 109. VEGA Project. (2009). VEGA (Violence, Evidence, Guidance, Action) Family Violence Education Resources. Available online at: https://vegaproject. mcmaster.ca/ (accessed May 6, 2021).
- 110. World Health Organization. "Mental Health Gap Action Programme (mhGAP)." Mental Health and Substance Use (n.d.). Available online at: https://www.who.int/teams/mental-health-and-substance-use/mentalhealth-gap-action-programme (accessed May 6, 2021).
- American Academy of Pediatrics. *Mental Health Initiatives* (2021). Available online at: https://services.aap.org/en/patient-care/mental-health-initiatives/ (accessed May 6, 2021).
- 112. Nichols N, Schwan K, Gaetz S, Redman M, French D, Kidd S, et al. Child Welfare and Youth Homelessness in Canada: A Proposal for Action. Toronto, ON: Canadian Observatory on Homelessness Press (2017).

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Kim, Moss, Park and Wekerle. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Frontiers in **Rehabilitation Sciences**

## Innovations in optimizing functioning for people who experience disability

An innovative journal which investigates new ways to optimize the functioning and wellbeing of people who experience disability, focusing on rehabilitation as the health strategy of the 21st century.

## **Discover the latest Research Topics**



## Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Swizerland frontiersin.org

### Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact frontiers

Frontiers in **Rehabilitation Sciences** 



